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DEFINITIONS 

The following is a glossary of certain definitions used in this Listing Statement. Terms and abbreviations 
used in this Listing Statement and also appearing in the documents attached as schedules to the Listing 
Statement (including the financial statements) are defined separately if the terms and abbreviations 
defined below are not used therein, except where otherwise indicated. Any capitalized term used but 
not defined in this Listing Statement have the meanings ascribed thereon in the CSE’s Policies. Words 
below importing the singular, where the context requires, include the plural and vice versa, and words 
importing any gender include all genders. 

“Affiliate” means a company that is affiliated with another company as described below. 
A company is an Affiliate of another company if (a) one of them is the 
subsidiary of the other, or (b) each of them is controlled by the same person. A 
company is “controlled” by a person if (a) voting securities of the company are 
held, other than by way of security only, by or for the benefit of that person, 
and (b) the voting securities, if voted, entitle the person to elect a majority of 
the directors of the company. A person beneficially owns securities that are 
beneficially owned by (a) a company controlled by that person, or (b) an 
Affiliate of that person or an Affiliate of any company controlled by that 
person; 

“Associate” has the meaning ascribed to it in the Securities Act (British Columbia), as 
amended. 

“Audit Committee” means the audit committee of the Company. 

“Author” means Leopold J. Lindinger, P.Geo., an independent consulting geologists and 
author of the Technical Report. 

“BCBCA” means the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia), and the regulations 
thereunder, as amended from time to time. 

“Board” means the board of directors of Gaia. 

“CEO” means chief executive officer. 

“CFO” means chief financial officer. 

“Common Share” means a common share in the capital of the Company. 

“company” unless specifically indicated otherwise, means a corporation, incorporated 
association or organization, body corporate, partnership, trust, association or 
other entity other than an individual. 

“Company” or “Gaia” means Gaia Metals Corp., a company incorporated under the laws of the 
Province of British Columbia. 
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“Consolidation” means the October 17, 2019 consolidation of the Company’s Common Shares 
on the basis of 10 pre-consolidation Common Shares for each 1 post-
consolidation Common Share. 

“Corvette-FCI 
Property” 

means, together, the FCI Property and the Corvette Property. 

“Corvette Property” means the 76 mining claims comprising a total of 3,891 ha located in the James 
Bay region of Québec, in the Province of Québec, less than 12 km south of the 
Trans-Taiga all-weather gravel highway, within the Lac Guyer Greenstone Belt, 
which has been optioned to the Company pursuant to the terms and conditions 
of the Québec Properties Agreement, subject to the Québec Properties NSR. 

“CSE” means the Canadian Securities Exchange, operated by CNSX Markets Inc. 

“DG” means DG Resource Management Ltd., a private arm’s length Alberta company. 

“Eastmain Property” means the 21 mining claims comprising a total of 1,109 ha located in the James 
Bay region of Québec, in the Province of Québec, less than 7 km from the 
James Bay all-weather gravel highway, which has been optioned to the 
Company pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Québec Properties 
Agreement, subject to the Québec Properties NSR. 

“FCI East Claims” means the 28 mineral claims comprising a total of 1,434 ha, directly adjoining 
the Corvette Property, located approximately 10 km south of the all-season 
Trans-Taiga Road and powerline infrastructure corridor, within the Lac Guyer 
Greenstone Belt, which has been optioned by the Osisko to the Company 
pursuant to the terms and conditions of the FCI Property Option Agreement. 

“FCI Property” means, together, the FCI East Claims and the FCI West Claims. 

“FCI Property Option 
Agreement” 

means the earn-in and joint venture shareholders agreement dated August 27, 
2018, as amended on September 11, 2018, April 23, 2019, July 6, 2020, and 
January 26, 2021, between the Company and Osisko. 

“FCI West Claims” means the 83 mineral claims comprising a total of 4,253 ha, directly adjoining 
the Corvette Property, located approximately 10 km south of the all-season 
Trans-Taiga Road and powerline infrastructure corridor, within the Lac Guyer 
Greenstone Belt, which has been optioned by the Osisko to the Company 
pursuant to the terms and conditions of the FCI Property Option Agreement. 

“FINRA” means the United States Financial Industry Regulatory Authority. 

“Form 2A” means the CSE’s Form 2A – Listing Statement. 



- 3 - 

“Freeman Creek NSR” means the 2.5% NSR granted by the Company to DG on exercise of the 
Freeman Creek Option, with respect to all net smelter returns from minerals 
mined and removed from the Freeman Creek Property, subject to the Freeman 
Creek NSR Buyback Right. 

“Freeman Creek NSR 
Buyback Right” 

means the right of the Company to repurchase 1.25% of the Freeman Creek 
NSR for a purchase price of $1,500,000, thereby reducing the Freeman Creek 
NSR payable to DG to a 1.25% NSR. 

“Freeman Creek 
Optionors” 

means, collectively, DG, SYD Investment Corp., SCD Investment Corp., and 
Michael Sklavenitis 

“Freeman Creek 
Option Agreement” 

means the option agreement dated July 22, 2020, as amended on March 3, 
2021, among the Company the Freeman Creek Optionors. 

“Freeman Creek 
Property” 

means the 106 mineral claims comprising a total of 886 ha located 
approximately 15 km northeast of Salmon, Idaho, USA, which has been 
optioned by the Freeman Creek Optionors to the Company pursuant to the 
terms and conditions of the Freeman Creek Option Agreement, subject to the 
Freeman Creek NSR. 

“FSE” means the Frankfurt Stock Exchange. 

“GAAP” means generally accepted accounting principles. 

“Golden Frac Sand 
Agreement” 

means the mineral property acquisition agreement dated March 3, 2017 
among the Company, Dahrouge Geological Consulting Ltd. and DG. 

“Hidden Lake 
Agreement” 

means the property purchase agreement dated February 16, 2016, and as 
amended on November 27, 2017, among the Company and the Hidden Lake 
Optionors. 

“Hidden Lake NSR” means the 2% NSR payable to DG with respect to the production of all 
materials from the Hidden Lake Lithium Property, of which 1% can be 
repurchased by the Company for a period of 5 years following the TSXV’s 
approval of the Hidden Lake Agreement for a purchase price of $2,000,000. 

“Hidden Lake 
Optionors” 

means, collectively, DG, Zimtu Capital Corp. and Michael Sklavenitis. 

“Hidden Lake Option-
Out Agreement” 

means the letter agreement dated January 22, 2018 between the Company and 
Far Resources Ltd. 

“Hidden Lake Lithium 
Property” 

means the 5 mineral claims comprising a total of 1,659 ha located just north of 
Highway 4, approximately 40 km northeast of the city of Yellowknife, 
Northwest Territories, which was optioned by Hidden Lake Optionors to the 
Company pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Hidden Lake Agreement, 
subject to the Hidden Lake NSR. 
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“Lac du Beryl 
Property” 

means the 18 mining claims comprising a total of 953 ha located in the James 
Bay region of Québec, in the Province of Québec, less than 16 km from an 
existing powerline associated with one of the hydroelectric power generation 
stations of the James Bay region of Québec, which has been optioned to the 
Company pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Québec Properties 
Agreement, subject to the Québec Properties NSR. 

“Listing” means the listing of the Common Shares for trading on the facilities of the CSE. 

“Listing Statement” means this Form 2A – Listing Statement dated effective May 28, 2021. 

“MD&A” means Management’s Discussion and Analysis. 

“Metals Nevada” means Metals Nevada Corp., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, 
incorporated under the laws of the State of Nevada. 

“NI 43-101” means National Instrument 43-101 – Standards of Disclosure for Mineral 
Projects. 

“NI 51-102” means National Instrument 51-102 – Continuous Disclosure Obligations of the 
Canadian Securities Administrators. 

“NI 52-110” means National Instrument 52-110 – Audit Committees of the Canadian 
Securities Administrators. 

“NSR” means net smelter return royalty. 

“NTS” means the National Topographic System. 

“O3 Mining” means O3 Mining Inc., an arm’s length Ontario company whose common 
shares are listed on the TSXV resulting from a spin-out transaction of Osisko 
pursuant to which certain assets of Osisko, including the FCI Property, were 
transferred to the O3 Mining in exchange for common shares of the O3 Mining. 

“Osisko” means Osisko Mining Inc., an arm’s length Ontario company whose common 
shares are listed on the TSX. 

“Person” is to be construed broadly and includes any individual, company, partnership, 
joint venture, association, trust, trustee, executor, administrator, 
unincorporated association, governmental entity or other entity, whether or 
not having legal status. 

“Pontax Agreement” means the property purchase agreement dated July 25, 2016, as amended on 
November 27, 2017, among the Company, DG and Michael Sklavenitis. 
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“Pontax Lithium-Gold 
Property” 

means the 169 mineral claims covering three claim blocks, totalling 
approximately 8,996 ha located in the Eastmain Area, in the Province of 
Québec, which has been optioned to the Company pursuant to the terms and 
conditions of the Pontax Agreement, subject to the Pontax NSR. 

“Pontax NSR” means the 3% NSR granted by the Company to DG, with respect to the 
production of all materials from the Pontax Lithium-Gold Property, subject to 
the Pontax NSR Buyback Right. 

“Pontax NSR Buyback 
Right” 

means the right of the Company to repurchase 50% of the Pontax NSR for a 
period of 5 years following the TSXV’s approval of the Pontax Agreement for a 
purchase price of $2,000,000, thereby reducing the Pontax NSR payable to DG 
to a 1.5% NSR. 

“Qualified Person” means an individual who: 

(a) is an engineer or geoscientist with at least five years of experience in 
mineral exploration, mine development or operation or mineral project 
assessment, or any combination of these; and 

(b) has experience relevant to the subject matter of the ZimFrac-Will 
Property and of the Technical Report and is in good standing with a 
professional association and, in the case of a foreign association listed in 
Appendix A of NI 43-101, has the corresponding designation in Appendix 
A of NI 43-101. 

“Québec Properties” means, collectively, the Corvette Property, the Eastmain Property, and the Lac 
du Beryl Property. 

“Québec Properties 
Agreement” 

means the option agreement dated September 18, 2017 among the Company 
and the Québec Properties Optionors. 

“Québec Properties 
NSR” 

means the 2% NSR granted by the Company to DG, with respect to the 
production and sale of all ore, ore concentrates or other products from the 
Québec Properties, and which Québec Properties NSR may, at any time and for 
no additional cost, be assigned to Simon Dahrouge and Sydney Dahrouge, each 
as to 50% of the Québec Properties NSR. 

“Québec Properties 
Optionors” 

means, collectively, DG, Simon Dahrouge, Sydney Dahrouge, and Michael 
Sklavenitis. 

“Related Person” has the meaning ascribed to it in CSE Policy 1 – Interpretation. 

“Reporting Issuer” has the meaning ascribed to it in the Securities Act (British Columbia), as 
amended. 

“SEDAR” means the System for Electronic Document Analysis and Retrieval. 
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“Shareholders” means the holders of Common Shares from time to time. 

“Silver Sands 
Agreement” 

means the property purchase agreement dated November 13, 2018 between 
the Company and DG. 

“Silver Sands 
Vanadium Property” 

means the 5 mineral claims comprising a total of approximately 3,735 ha 
located in the Pine Pass area of eastern British Columbia, approximately 200 
km north of Prince George, British Columbia, which was acquired by the 
Company pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Silver Sands Agreement, 
subject to a 2% NSR. 

“Stock Option Plan” means the stock option plan adopted by the Board on February 21, 2014. 

“Technical Report” means the technical report of the Author dated March 28, 2018 entitled 
“Technical Report of Exploration Activities on the ZimFrac-Will Property” 
prepared in accordance with the requirements of NI 43-101. 

“TSX” means the Toronto Stock Exchange. 

“TSXV” means the TSX Venture Exchange Inc. 

“United States” or 
“US” 

means the United States of America. 

“Warrants” means Common Share purchase warrants of the Company. 

“ZimFrac Agreement” means the purchase and sale agreement dated January 27, 2014 among the 
Company, Cannon Bridge Capital Corp. and Zimtu Capital Corp. 

“ZimFrac Property” means the silica claim of approximately 807.77 ha located 3 to 5 km northeast 
of the town of Golden in south-eastern British Columbia, Canada, covering over 
4 km of the Mt. Wilson Quartzite Formation, which was acquired by the 
Company pursuant to the terms and conditions of the ZimFrac Agreement, 
subject to a 2% NSR. 

“ZimFrac-Will 
Property” 

means the 5 mineral claims covering approximately 3332 ha located 4 and 15 
km east of the town of Golden in south-eastern British Columbia, Canada, 
which were acquired by the Company pursuant to the terms and conditions of 
the ZimFrac Agreement and the Golden Frac Sand Agreement, subject to a 2% 
gross over-riding royalty. 

CURRENCY 

Unless otherwise indicated, all references to “dollars” and “$” are to Canadian dollars and all references 
to “USD”, “USD$” or “US$” are to United States dollars. 
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 

Certain statements in this Listing Statement may constitute “forward-looking” statements that involve 
known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause the Company’s actual results, 
performance or achievement or industry results to be materially different from any future results, 
performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward looking statements. Such 
statements can be identified by the use of words such as “may”, will”, “expect”, “should”, “believe”, 
“intend”, “plan”, “anticipate”, “potential” and other similar terminology. These forward-looking 
statements reflect current expectations of management regarding future events and speak only as of 
the date of this Listing Statement. Forward-looking statements involve significant risks and 
uncertainties, should not be read as guarantees of future performance or results, and will not 
necessarily be accurate indications of whether or not such results will be achieved. A number of factors 
could cause actual results to differ materially from the results discussed in the forward-looking 
statements, including, but not limited to, the factors discussed under “Risk Factors”. Forward-looking 
statements in this Listing Statement include, but are not limited to, statements with respect to: 

• expectations as to future operations of the Company; 

• the Company’s ability to satisfy the conditions of its various option agreements; 

• the Company’s dependence on management; 

• the Company’s plans in respect of development and operations; 

• the cost and timing of the Company’s services; 

• potential environmental issues and liabilities associated with exploration, development and 
mining activities; 

• First Nations land claims, title risks, and the obtaining and renewing of material licences and/or 
permits 

• the Company’s capital and funding requirements; 

• the ability of the Company to obtain future financing on acceptable terms or at all; 

• the Company's risks associated with economic conditions, including those related to ongoing 
COVID-19 pandemic; and 

• other statements under the heading “Management’s Discussion and Analysis”. 

These forward-looking statements are based upon certain material factors, assumptions and analyses 
that were applied in drawing a conclusion or making a forecast or projection, including management’s 
experience and perceptions of historical trends, current market conditions and expected future 
developments, the timing and amount of capital and other expenditures, and other factors believed to 
be reasonable in the circumstances. 

By their nature, forward-looking statements are subject to inherent risks and uncertainties which give 
rise to the possibility that expectations, forecasts, predictions, projections or conclusions will not prove 
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to be accurate, that assumptions may not be correct, and that objectives, strategic goals and priorities 
will not be achieved. A variety of material factors, many of which are beyond the control of the 
Company, could cause actual results to differ materially from current expectations of estimated or 
anticipated events or results. The risks, uncertainties and other factors that could influence actual 
results include, but are not limited to: 

• the Company’s inability to efficiently manage its operations; 

• general economic and business conditions, including those resulting from the effects of the 
ongoing COVID-19 pandemic; 

• the Company’s negative operating cash flow; 

• the Company’s ability to obtain additional financing to fund the activities stated in this Listing 
Statement; 

• increases in the Company’s capital and operating costs; 

• volatility of commodity prices and the Company’s Common Shares; 

• general risks associated with mineral exploration industry; 

• the ability to comply with applicable governmental regulations and standards; 

• risks relating to regulatory changes or actions; 

• competition within the mineral exploration industry; 

• general risks relating to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic; and 

• other factors as more particularly described under the heading “Risk Factors”. 

Readers are cautioned that the foregoing list of factors is not exhaustive and that other factors may 
emerge from time to time. It is not possible for management to predict all such factors and to assess in 
advance the impact of each such factor on the business of the Company, or the extent to which any 
factor or combination of factors may cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in 
any forward-looking statement. Readers are also cautioned to consider these and other factors, 
uncertainties and potential events carefully and not to put undue reliance on forward-looking 
statements. Although the forward-looking statements contained in this Listing Statement are based 
upon what management of the Company currently believe to be reasonable assumptions, actual results, 
performance or achievements could differ materially from those expressed in, or implied by, the 
forward-looking statements and, accordingly, no assurance can be given that any of the events 
anticipated by the forward-looking statements will transpire or occur. The forward-looking statements 
contained herein are made as of the date of this Listing Statement and, other than as specifically 
required by law, the Company does not assume any obligation to update or revise any forward-looking 
statement to reflect events or circumstances after the date on which such statement is made, or to 
reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events, whether as a result of new information, future events or 
results, or otherwise. 
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MARKET AND INDUSTRY DATA 

This Listing Statement includes market and industry data that has been obtained from third party 
sources, including industry publications. We believe that this industry data is accurate and that the 
estimates and assumptions are reasonable, but there is no assurance as to the accuracy or 
completeness of this data. Third party sources generally state that the information contained therein 
has been obtained from sources believed to be reliable, but there is no assurance as to the accuracy or 
completeness of included information. Although the data is believed to be reliable, we have not 
independently verified any of the data from third party sources referred to in this Listing Statement or 
ascertained the underlying economic assumptions relied upon by such sources. 

TECHNICAL INFORMATION 

This Listing Statement contains disclosure of scientific or technical information for the Company’s 
mineral projects that is based the Technical Report for the Company’s material mineral property, the 
ZimFrac-Will Property. The Technical Report is identified under “Narrative Description of the Business – 
Mineral Projects”. The Technical Report was prepared in accordance with NI 43-101, by or under the 
supervision of Qualified Persons. 

Any mineral reserve or resource figures, and scientific, technical or projected economic information or 
estimates referred to in this Listing Statement are estimates, and no assurances can be given that the 
information will materialize. Such information is based on expressions of judgment based on knowledge, 
mining experience, analysis of drilling results and industry practices. Valid estimates made at a given 
time may significantly change when new information becomes available. While the Company believes 
that the information included in this Listing Statement is well established, the information by its nature 
is imprecise and depends, to a certain extent, upon statistical inferences which may ultimately prove 
unreliable. If such estimates of such information are inaccurate or are reduced in the future, this could 
have a material adverse impact on the Company. 

Reference should be made to the full text of the Technical Report which has been filed with Canadian 
securities regulatory authorities pursuant to NI 43-101 and are available for review under the 
Company’s profile on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. 
  

http://www.sedar.com/
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2. CORPORATE STRUCTURE 

2.1 Corporate Name and Head and Registered Office  

The Company’s name is “Gaia Metals Corp.” The head and principal business office of the Company is 
located at 666 Burrard Street, Suite 500, Vancouver, British Columbia, V6C 3P6, and its registered office 
is located at Clark Wilson LLP of 800-885 West Georgia Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V6C 3H1. 

The Company is a reporting issuer in the provinces of Alberta and British Columbia, and trades on the 
CSE under the trading symbol “GMC”. 

2.2 Jurisdiction of Incorporation 

The Company was incorporated on May 10, 2007 pursuant to the provisions of the BCBA under the 
name “Rio Grande Mining Corp.”. 

Effective June 10, 2014 17, the Company filed articles of amendment changing its name from “Rio 
Grande Mining Corp.” to “92 Resources Corp.”. Effective on October 17, 2019, the Company filed articles 
of amendment changing its name from “92 Resources Corp.” to “Gaia Metals Corp.” and completed the 
Consolidation, whereby it consolidated the Company’s Common Shares on the basis of 10 pre-
consolidation Common Shares for 1 post-consolidation Common Share. 

2.3 Inter-corporate Relationships 

As of the date of this Listing Statement, the Company has one wholly-owned subsidiary, Metals Nevada 
Corp. Metals Nevada was incorporated on February 25, 2021 pursuant to the laws of the State of 
Nevada. 

Prior to its dissolution during the period ended December 31, 2020, the Company had another wholly-
owned subsidiary, Petro Grande Energy Inc. (“Petro Grande”). Petro Grande was incorporated on 
September 10, 2012. 

2.4 Fundamental Change 

This section is not applicable to the Company. 

2.5 Incorporation Outside Canada 

This Section 2.5 is not applicable to the Company. 

3. GENERAL DEVELOPMENT OF THE BUSINESS 

3.1 General Development of the Business 

The Company is a reporting issuer in the Provinces of Alberta and British Columbia and, at the time of 
Listing, became a reporting issuer in Ontario. The Common Shares trade on the CSE under the stock 
symbol “GMC” and the OTCQB operated by the OTC Markets Group in the United States under the stock 
symbol “RGDCF”. Prior to having its Common Shares listed on the CSE, the Company had its Common 
Shares traded on the TSXV under the symbol “GMC” since October 17, 2019. 
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Business of Gaia 

The principal business of the Company is the identification, evaluation and acquisition of exploration 
and evaluation properties located in British Columbia, Northwest Territories, Québec, and Idaho, USA, 
and once acquired the exploration of those properties. At as the date of this Listing Statement, the 
Company had not yet determined whether any properties contain ore reserves that are economically 
recoverable. The recoverability of amounts shown for exploration and mineral properties is dependent 
upon the discovery of economically recoverable reserves, confirmation of the Company's interest in the 
underlying mineral claims, the ability of the Company to obtain the necessary financing to complete the 
development of and future profitable production from the properties or realizing proceeds from their 
disposition. 

Mineral Properties 

Canada 

British Columbia 

ZimFrac-Will Property 

On January 27, 2014, the Company entered into the ZimFrac Agreement with Cannon Bridge Capital 
Corp. and Zimtu Capital Corp. (together, the “ZimFrac Vendors”), pursuant to which the Company 
acquired a 100% undivided interest in one silica claim known as the ZimFrac Property, subject to a 2% 
NSR with respect to the production of all materials from the ZimFrac Property. The ZimFrac Property 
comprises an area of 807.77 ha located 3 to 5 km northeast of the town of Golden in south-eastern 
British Columbia, Canada, and covers over 4 km of the Mt. Wilson Quartzite Formation. In consideration 
for the ZimFrac Property, the Company issued 200,000 Common Shares to the ZimFrac Vendors. The 
Company was granted the right to purchase up to 1% of the NSR by paying an aggregate sum of 
$1,000,000 to the ZimFrac Vendors. 

The ZimFrac Agreement received regulatory approval on February 6, 2014. 

On March 3, 2017, the Company entered into the Golden Frac Sand Agreement with Dahrouge 
Geological Consulting Ltd. and DG (together, the “Golden Frac Sand Vendors”), pursuant to which the 
Company acquired a 100% undivided interest in certain mineral claims located near Golden, British 
Columbia, to expand the size of the ZimFrac Property (the “Golden Frac Sand Property” and, together 
with the ZimFrac Property, the “ZimFrac-Will Property”). In consideration the Golden Frac Sand 
Property, the Company paid $40,000 in cash to the Golden Frac Sand Vendors. 

The Golden Frac Sand Property has a gross over-riding royalty (“GORR”) of 2% payable to the Golden 
Frac Sand Vendors on revenue from the sale of production from the Golden Frac Sand Property. The 
Company can purchase 1% of the GORR from the Golden Frac Sand Vendors for $2,000,000 at any time. 

Between 25th and 28th of July, 2018, the Company completed a geologic mapping and sampling program 
on the ZimFrac-Will Property targeting the Mt. Wilson Formation. A total of 18 samples of quartzite 
were collected with 8 returning greater than 98% SiO2 and 5 returning less than 0.1% Fe2O3. Large areas 
of the ZimFrac-Will Property remain to be assessed. 
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No field exploration was completed at ZimFrac-Will Property in 2019 or 2020. Due to restrictions as a 
result of COVID-19, British Columbia’s Ministry of Energy, Mines, and Petroleum Resources has 
extended the expiry date of all active mineral titles in the province until December 31, 2021, and 
therefore includes the mineral claims which comprise the ZimFrac-Will Property. 

The ZimFrac-Will Property currently consists of 8 mineral claims totalling 5,296 ha as additional ground 
was staked subsequent to the ZimFrac Agreement. 

See “Narrative Description of Business – Companies with Mineral Properties – ZimFrac-Will Property” for 
more information on the ZimFrac-Will Property. 

Silver Sands Vanadium Property 

On November 13, 2018, the Company entered into the Silver Sands Agreement with DG, pursuant to 
which the Company acquired a 100% undivided interest in Silver Sands Vanadium Property for staking 
costs of $15,000. The Silver Sands Vanadium Property consists of 5 mineral claims and covers 
approximately 3735 ha directly located in the Pine Pass area of eastern British Columbia, approximately 
200 km north of Prince George, British Columbia. DG retains a 2% NSR on the Silver Sands Vanadium 
Property. 

In March of 2019, the Company was informed by the Province of British Columbia that it was an 
impacted stakeholder with respect to Silver Sands Vanadium Property through a recently negotiated 
agreement between several local First Nations groups, and the Provincial and Federal governments. The 
agreement outlines proposed measures for conservation and recovery efforts for caribou and includes 
the area of Silver Sands Vanadium Property. The Company is assessing the potential 
impacts/resolutions. The Silver Sands Vanadium Property is considered a non-core asset by the 
Company. 

No field exploration was completed at Silver Sands in 2019 or 2020. Due to restrictions as a result of 
COVID-19, British Columbia’s Ministry of Energy, Mines, and Petroleum Resources has extended the 
expiry date of all active mineral titles in the province until December 31, 2021, and therefore includes 
the mineral claims which comprise the Silver Sands Vanadium Property. 

Québec 

On September 18, 2017, the Company entered into the Québec Properties Agreement with the Québec 
Properties Optionors, whereby the Company was granted an option to acquire a 100% undivided right, 
title, ownership and beneficial interest in the 115 mineral claims comprising each of the Eastmain 
Property, Lac du Beryl Property, and Corvette Property, located in the James Bay Region, Québec, 
subject to the Québec Properties NSR. 

Under the terms of the Québec Properties Agreement, the Company may acquire a 100% interest in the 
mineral claims comprising the Québec Properties by paying a total of $45,000 and issuing an aggregate 
of 150,000 Warrants as follows: 
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Date for Completion 
Cash 

Payment 

No. of 
Warrants 

to be Issued(1) 

Entry into of the Québec Properties 
Agreement 

$12,500 
(paid) - 

Earlier of TSXV Approval of the Québec 
Properties Agreement and 60 days of the 
execution of the Québec Properties 
Agreement 

$32,500 
(paid) - 

Upon TSXV Approval of the Québec 
Properties Agreement - 1,500,000 

(issued) 

TOTAL: $45,000 1,500,000 
(1) Each Warrant entitles the holder thereof to purchase one Common Share at an exercise price of $0.10 

per Common Share for a period of 3 years from the date of issue. 

TSXV approval for the Québec Properties Agreement was obtained on September 26, 2017. 

The Québec Properties are subject to the Québec Properties NSR, a 2%NSR granted by the Company to 
DG, with respect to the production and sale of all ore, ore concentrates or other products from the 
Québec Properties, and which Québec Properties NSR may, at any time and for no additional cost, be 
assigned to Simon Dahrouge and Sydney Dahrouge, each as to 50% of the Québec Properties NSR. 

The Corvette Property 

The Corvette Property is comprised of 76 mining claims totaling approximately 3,891 ha and located in 
the James Bay region of Québec, in the Province of Québec, less than 12 km south of the Trans-Taiga all-
weather gravel highway, within the Lac Guyer Greenstone Belt. The Corvette Property has been 
optioned to the Company pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Québec Properties Agreement 
and is subject to the Québec Properties NSR. 

On October 5, 2017, a one-day site visit to the Corvette Property confirmed the presence of spodumene-
bearing pegmatite. Two sub-parallel trending pegmatites were found with the largest estimated at 150 
m in length by 30 in width. Samples returned 3.48% Li2O from the larger pegmatite, and 1.22% Li2O from 
the smaller one. 

On September 11, 2018, the Company announced channel sampling results from the Corvette Property, 
including 2.28% Li2O over 6 m and 1.54% Li2O over 8 m, with a new spodumene-bearing discovery on the 
Corvette Property returning 1.61% Li2O. The discovery prompted the acquisition of additional claims and 
the Corvette Property is now comprised one contiguous claim block consisting of 172 mineral claims 
totaling approximately 8,808 ha. The program also identified significant grades of tantalum from the 
pegmatites. The 2018 program focused on lithium exploration and not the gold or base metal potential 
of the Corvette Property. 

See “General Development of the Business Canada – Mineral Properties – The Québec Properties – FCI 
Property (East and West Blocks)” below for additional information. 
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FCI Property (East and West Blocks) 

On August 27, 2018, as amended on September 11, 2018, April 23, 2019, July 6, 2020, and January 26, 
2021, the Company entered into an FCI Property Option Agreement with Osisko pursuant to which the 
Company was granted the right to acquire up to a 75% interest in the 28 mineral claims which comprise 
the FCI East Claims, directly adjoining the Corvette Property. The FCI East Claims comprise the eastern 
portion of Osisko’s FCI property and are located in the James Bay Region of Québec, approximately 10 
km south of the all-season Trans-Taiga Road and powerline infrastructure corridor. 

Under the terms of the FCI Property Option Agreement, the Company may acquire a 50% interest in the 
FCI East Claims by issuing 200,000 Common Shares to Osisko and incurring an aggregate of $2,250,000 in 
exploration expenditures as follows: 

Date for Completion 

No. of 
Common 

Shares 
to be Issued 

Minimum Exploration 
Expenditures to be 

Incurred Earned Interest 

September 14, 2018 100,000 

(issued) - - 

September 14, 2019 100,000(1) 

(issued) 
$250,000 

(completed) - 

November 3, 2021(2) - $800,000 25% 

November 3, 2022(2) - $1,200,000 25% 

TOTAL: 200,000 $2,250,000 50% 
(1) Issued on September 19 2019 at a deemed price of $0.30 per Common Share. 
(2) On July 6, 2020, the Company declared force majeure on the FCI Property due to COVID-19 and the 

commitments of the Company relating to the FCI Property Option Agreement and the FCI Property were 
paused for a period of approximately 50 days, resulting in a revised anniversary date of November 5, 
2020 for the second year of the agreement. On November 3, 2020, the Company declared force 
majeure due to COVID-19 and had engaged with O3 Mining to construct a mutually agreeable path 
forward for the parties with respect to the FCI Property Option Agreement. 

Pursuant to the terms of the FCI Property Option Agreement, Osisko agreed to act as operator of the FCI 
East Claims for the term of the 50% earn-in, with a steering committee of equal representation formed 
to provide advice and direction to Osisko. 

Upon achieving the 50% earn-in under the FCI Property Option Agreement, a corporate joint venture is 
to be formed with the Company retaining an option to acquire a further 25% interest, for a total of 75% 
undivided interest, through funding of the next $2,000,000 in exploration expenditures (the “Additional 
Expenditures”). The Company may become operator of the FCI East Claims upon notice to Osisko that it 
intends to incur the Additional Expenditures pursuant to which it will acquire a final aggregate undivided 
interest of 75%. Osisko’s remaining 25% interest may be further diluted if Osisko elects to not fund their 
proportionate share of any subsequent exploration or development work incurred on the FCI East 
Claims. If Osisko’s ownership falls below 10%, Osisko will have the right to convert its remaining interest 
into a 1% NSR, of which, the Company retains the right to buy for $5,000,000, payable in cash or by 
issuance of Common Shares, and thereby resulting in the Company obtaining a 100% undivided interest 
in the FCI East Claims. 
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The FCI East Claims are subject to a 1.5% to 3.5% sliding scale NSR from the production of precious 
metals. The royalty is primarily based on amount of production with 1.5% on the first 1M oz, 2.5% on 
the next 1M oz and 3.0% on the next 1M oz of and above (collectively, the “Sliding Scale NSR”). The 
remaining 0.5% NSR is based on the spot gold price starting at US$1,000 / oz and reaches the maximum 
at $2,000 / oz. A 2.0% NSR is present on all other products; provided however that if there is an existing 
NSR applicable on any portion of the property, then the percentages noted in the Sliding Scale NSR shall, 
as applicable, be adjusted so that the aggregate maximum NSR percentage on such portion shall not 
exceed and be capped to 3.5% at any time. 

On April 23, 2019, the Company and Osisko entered into an amended agreement (the “April 
Amendment Agreement”) to include an additional 83 mineral claims totaling approximately 4,253 ha 
(collectively, the “FCI West Claims”) under the same terms and conditions as the FCI Property Option 
Agreement. No additional Common Shares, cash, or work commitment is required by the Company 
under the terms of the April Amendment Agreement, apart from general claim maintenance. Following 
the April Amendment Agreement, the FCI Property was comprised of 111 mineral claims totaling 
approximately 5,688 ha. 

The FCI East Claims, FCI West Claims, and the Corvette Property are contiguous and, collectively, are 
referred to as the Corvette-FCI Property and extend for more than 25 km along the Lac Guyer 
Greenstone Belt within the James Bay Region of Québec, Canada. 

Subsequent to the entry of the FCI Property Option Agreement, the FCI Property was included in a 
corporate restructuring and spinout of assets from Osisko into a new public company called “O3 Mining 
Inc.”. O3 Mining was incorporated on June 28, 2019 and began trading on the TSX Venture Exchange on 
July 9, 2019. Accordingly, the FCI Property and FCI Proprty Option Agreement was transferred from 
Osisko to O3 Mining at this time and O3 Mining took the place of Osisko as both optionor under the 
agreement and as the operator of the FCI Property. 

Corvette-FCI Property 

On June 19, 2019, the Company announced its exploration plans for the Corvette-FCI Property, 
consisting of surface exploration comprised primarily of prospecting, rock sampling, and soil sampling 
along the gold and copper exploration trends identified from historical work (the “2019 Summer Field 
Program”). 

On each of the 10th, 17th, and 24th of September 2019, the Company announced assay results for its 2019 
Summer Field Program at the Corvette-FCI Property, along with several significant discoveries. The 
primary objectives of the 2019 Summer Field Program was to sample, expand upon, and rank the known 
historical prospects/showings, and to discover new areas of mineralization. The 2019 Summer Field 
Program highlights included: 

(1) Elsass copper-gold-silver prospect (the “Elsass Prospect”) – new discovery of well-
mineralized outcrops over an approximate 350-m strike length with assays including 
3.63% Cu, 0.64 g/t Au and 52.3 g/t Ag; 

(2) Lorraine copper-gold-silver prospect – new outcrop discovery approximately 2.3 km 
along trend of the Elsass Prospect with assays including 8.15% Cu, 1.33 g/t Au and 171 
g/t Ag; 
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(3) Several new high-grade copper-gold-silver areas discovered, including the Black Forrest 
Showing with 1.13% Cu, 0.05 g/t Au and 19.5 g/t Ag, and the Hund Showing with 3.28% 
Cu, 0.78 g/t Au and 30.1 g/t Ag; 

(4) Lac Bruno gold prospect – new outcrop discovery assaying 1.4 g/t Au located up-ice of 
boulder field (2019 sample of 11.9 g/t Au) with soil sample results providing further 
vectoring toward a potential source; 

(5) Golden Gap prospect (the “Golden Gap Prospect”) – potential western extension 
identified through several new gold discoveries in outcrop with assays including 1.87 g/t 
Au and 2.81 g/t Au; 

(6) Numerous lithium-bearing pegmatites occur within a corridor exceeding 25 km in 
length; 

(7) Southwest of CV1-2, newly discovered CV5 and CV6 pegmatites include a large, well 
mineralized exposure of approximately 220 m by 20 m to 40 m (CV5), with eight 
samples averaging 3% Li2O and 154 ppm Ta2O5, including a peak assay of 4.06% Li2O and 
564 ppm Ta2O5; 

(8) CV7 – discovery to the northwest of CV1 with assay of 4.44% Li2O and 195 ppm Ta2O5; 

(9) CV8 – large area of outcrop exposure with assay of 4.44% Li2O and 205 ppm Ta2O5; 

(10) CV9 and CV10 – located in northwest area of the FCI West Claims, with mineralized 
outcrops present over at least a 300 m strike length and multiple assays greater than 2% 
Li2O to a peak of 4.72% Li2O; and 

(11) CV11 – high-grade tantalum pegmatite with assay of 0.66% Li2O and 386 ppm Ta2O5. 

On December 11, 2019, the Company announced that it had initiated a review and re-processing of 
induced polarization (“IP”)-resistivity data using modern techniques for historical surveys completed at 
the Corvette-FCI Property. In addition to the IP resistivity work, a structural analysis of the 2005 airborne 
magnetic survey would also be completed to identify primary and secondary structures that may control 
gold mineralization. 

On February 4, 2020, the Company announced that a historical data compilation had outlined a strong 
potential for platinum group element mineralization on the FCI Property. This was highlighted by the Lac 
Long Sud Showing with a historical outcrop sample assay of 3.10 g/t Au, 1.06 g/t Pd, 0.005 g/t Pt, 7.5 g/t 
Ag, 0.24% Cu, 0.19% Ni, and 411 g/t Co. 

On April 16, 2020, the Company announced several significant findings had been made following the re-
processing of historical ground IP-resistivity data collected from the Golden Gap area on the FCI 
Property. The work highlighted: 

(1) A distinctly different and yet to be drill tested trend of mineralization at Golden Gap, 
compared to the historical interpretation; 

(2) Additional strike extensions were present; and 
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(3) Additional parallel to sub-parallel trends were present. 

On July 6, 2020, the Company declared force majeure on the FCI Property due to COVID-19 and the 
commitments of the Company relating to the FCI Property Option Agreement and the FCI Property were 
paused for a period of approximately 50 days, resulting in a revised anniversary date of November 5, 
2020 for the second year of the agreement. The Company has incurred approximately $412,000 of the 
aggregate $1,050,000 in exploration expenditures required to be incurred under the FCI Property Option 
Agreement by the second anniversary of the agreement. On November 3, 2020, the Company declared 
force majeure due to COVID-19 and had engaged with O3 Mining to construct a mutually agreeable path 
forward for the parties with respect to the FCI Property Option Agreement. 

On January 26, 2021 the Company and O3 Mining finalized an agreement whereby the second 
anniversary expenditure amount of $800,000 with an original deadline of November 3, 2020 was 
extended to November 3, 2021. Additionally, the Company will issue 500,000 common shares to O3 
upon exchange approval of the amended agreement. 

In addition, due to restrictions as a result of COVID-19, the Québec Minister of Energy and Natural 
Resources has extended the expiry date of all active mineral claims in the province by 12 months. This 
includes the mineral claims which comprise the Corvette Property and the FCI Property, which now all 
have expiry dates in summer 2021 or later. No field work was completed in 2020 on either of the 
Corvette Property or the FCI Property. 

Pontax Lithium-Gold Property 

On July 25, 2016, as amended on November 27, 2017, the Company entered into the Pontax Agreement 
with DG and Michael Sklavenitis, whereby the Company was granted an option to acquire a 100% 
undivided right, title, ownership and beneficial interest in the 104 mineral claims comprising the Pontax 
Lithium-Gold Property, located in the Eastmain Area of Québec, subject to the Pontax NSR. 

Under the terms of the Pontax Agreement, the Company may acquire a 100% interest in the mineral 
claims comprising the Pontax Lithium-Gold Property by paying a total of $50,000 and issuing an 
aggregate of 300,000 Common Shares as follows: 

Date for Completion 
Cash 

Payment 

No. of 
Common Shares 

to be Issued 

Entry into of the Pontax Agreement $12,500 
(paid) - 

Upon TSXV Approval of the Pontax 
Agreement - 150,000(1) 

(issued) 

On or before 60 days of TSXV Approval of 
the Pontax Agreement 

$12,500 
(paid  

On or before the first anniversary of TSXV 
Approval of the Pontax Agreement 

$25,000 
(paid) 

150,000(1) 
(issued) 

TOTAL: $50,000 3,000,000 
(1) Issued as to 1,000,000 to DG and 500,000 to Mr. Sklavenitis. 
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TSXV approval for the Pontax Agreement was obtained on September 20, 2016. 

The Pontax Agreement is subject to the Pontax NSR. The Pontax NSR is subject to the Pontax NSR 
Buyback Right, whereby the Company may reduce the Pontax NSR by 50% (from 3% to 1.5%) for a 
purchase price of $2,000,000 payable to DG for a period of 5 years following the TSXV’s approval of the 
Pontax Agreement. 

On June 12, 2018, the Company completed a 1,094 line-km high-resolution magnetic survey over the 
entire Pontax Lithium-Gold Property. The survey was completed at a tight line spacing of 60 m with lines 
oriented northwest-southeast, crossing perpendicular to the geology. The survey was successful and 
numerous target features identified. Subsequent to the survey, the Company expanded its land position, 
though online map designation, with the Pontax Lithium-Gold Property now comprised of 146 claims 
totaling 7,773 ha. 

On October 25, 2018, the Company announced the results of its 2018 surface exploration program. The 
program resulted in the discovery of a new lithium-bearing pegmatite occurrence on the Pontax 
Lithium-Gold Property (claim Block C). Two grab samples (129364 and 129366) of the pegmatite 
returned assays of 0.94% Li2O and 520 ppm Ta2O5, and 0.72% Li2O and 87 ppm Ta2O5, respectively. 
Spodumene is indicated to be the primary lithium-bearing mineral present based on other occurrences 
in the area. Initial reconnaissance-scale prospecting of gold targets was also carried out during the 
program. Assay results ranged from nil to 141 ppb Au with the peak assay returned from a gossanous 
wacke rock type. Several areas of the Pontax Lithium-Gold Property, as well as geophysical targets, 
remain to be assessed. 

No surface exploration was completed on the Pontax Lithium-Gold Property in 2019 or 2020. Due to 
restrictions as a result of COVID-19, the Québec Minister of Energy and Natural Resources has extended 
the expiry date of all active mineral claims in the province by 12 months. This includes the mineral 
claims which comprise the Pontax Lithium-Gold Property, which now all have expiry dates in the 
summer of 2021. 

In March 2021, the Pontax Lithium-Gold Property was expanded via map designation claim staking, and 
an additional 23 mineral claims (1,223.2 ha) were acquired. The new claims are situated directly 
adjacent to the east, west, and south of claim Block C, where in 2018 a new lithium-tantalum pegmatite 
was discovered. Two grab samples collected from the pegmatite occurrence assayed 0.94% Li2O and 520 
ppm Ta2O5, and 0.72% Li2O and 87 ppm Ta2O5, respectively. The Pontax Lithium-Gold Property now 
consists of 169 mineral claims totalling 8996.23 ha over three claim blocks. 

The Eastmain Property 

The Eastmain Property is comprised of 21 mining claims totaling approximately 1,109 ha and is located 
in the James Bay region of Québec, in the Province of Québec, less than 7 km from the James Bay all-
weather gravel highway. The Eastmain Property has been optioned to the Company pursuant to the 
terms and conditions of the Québec Properties Agreement and is subject to the Québec Properties NSR. 

The Lac du Beryl Property 

The Lac du Beryl Property is comprised of 18 mining claims totalling approximately 953 ha and is located 
in the James Bay region of Québec, in the Province of Québec, less than 16 km from an existing 
powerline associated with one of the hydroelectric power generation stations of the James Bay region of 
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Québec. The Lac du Beryl Property has been optioned to the Company pursuant to the terms and 
conditions of the Québec Properties Agreement and is subject to the Québec Properties NSR. 

Since the entry of the Québec Properties Agreement, the Lac du Beryl Property had been expanded to 
comprise an additional 12 mineral claims; however, these 12 claims were allowed to lapse in early 2020. 
The Lac du Beryl Property is currently comprised of the original 18 claim blocks. 

Both the Eastmain Property and the Lac du Beryl Property were preliminarily assessed in 2017 and 2018 
by the Company using a surface prospecting reconnaissance approach with pegmatite confirmed 
present on each, although not spodumene bearing. Areas of both properties remain to be assessed, 
including the gold potential of Lac du Beryl Property. 

No surface exploration was completed on the Eastmain or Lac du Beryl properties in 2019 or 2020. Due 
to restrictions as a result of COVID-19, the Québec Minister of Energy and Natural Resources has 
extended the expiry date of all active mineral claims in the province by 12 months. This includes the 
Eastmain and Lac du Beryl claims, which now all have expiry dates in summer 2021. 

Northwest Territories 

Hidden Lake Lithium Property 

On February 16, 2016, and as amended on November 27, 2017, the Company entered into the Hidden 
Lake Agreement with the Hidden Lake Optionors whereby the Company was granted an option to 
acquire a 100% undivided right, title, ownership and beneficial interest in the 5 mineral claims 
comprising the Hidden Lake Lithium Property, located just north of Highway 4, approximately 40 km 
northeast of the city of Yellowknife, Northwest Territories, subject to the Hidden Lake NSR. 

Under the terms of the Hidden Lake Agreement, the Company earned its 100% interest in the Hidden 
Lake Lithium Property by issuing 400,000 Common Shares valued at $380,000, making cash payments of 
$85,000, and incurring aggregate exploration expenditures of $500,000. 

TSXV approval for the Hidden Lake Lithium Agreement was obtained on April 21, 2016. 

The Hidden Lake Lithium Property is subject to the Hidden Lake NSR, a 2% NSR payable to DG with 
respect to the production of all materials from the Hidden Lake Lithium Property, of which 1% can be 
repurchased by the Company for a purchase price of $2,000,000 for a period of 5 years following the 
TSXV’s approval of the Hidden Lake Agreement. 

Hidden Lake Option-Out Agreement 

On January 22, 2018, the Company entered into the Hidden Lake Option-Out Agreement with Far 
Resources Ltd. (“Far”), whereby the Company granted Far the option to purchase up to 90% of their 
interest in the Hidden Lake Lithium Property, save and except for the Hidden Lake NSR, for following 
consideration: 



- 20 - 

Date for Completion 
Cash 

Payment 

No. of 
Shares of Far 
to be Issued 

Minimum Exploration 
Expenditures to be 

Incurred 
Earned 
Interest 

On the closing of the Hidden Lake 
Option-Out Agreement $50,000 555,555 

(issued) - - 

On or before January 25, 2019 - - $500,000 
(incurred) 60% 

Within 10 business days of 
January 25, 2019 - $250,000 in 

aggregate value(1) - - 

On or before January 25, 2020 - - $500,000 10% 

Within 10 business days of 
January 25, 2020 - $300,000 in 

aggregate value(1) - - 

On or before January 25, 2021 -  $600,000 10% 

Within 10 business days of 
January 25, 2021 - $400,000 in 

aggregate value(1) - - 

On or before January 25, 2022 - - $700,000 10% 

TOTAL: $50,000 - $2,300,000 90% 
(1) Such number of common shares in the capital of Far (each, a “Far Share”) as is equal to the above noted 

aggregate fair market value based on an issue price per Far Share equal to, the lesser of (A) the average 
closing price of the Far Shares on the CSE for the 20 trading days immediately preceding the date of 
issuance, and (B) $1.50 per Far Share. 

Pursuant to the terms of the Hidden Lake Option-Out Agreement, the Company received 555,555 Far 
Shares having an aggregate amount equal to $500,000 at deemed price of $0.90 per Far Share and 
expenditures of $500,000 were incurred by Far on or before February 28, 2019 earning Far a 60% 
interest in and to the Hidden Lake Lithium Property. 

On April 21, 2019, Far formally notified the Company of its intention to terminate its remaining earn-in 
for the Hidden Lake Lithium Property. Far maintains a 60% interest earned through satisfying the first 
year of conditions under the Hidden Lake Option-Out Agreement, while the Company maintains its 
remaining 40% interest. It is the intent of the Company and Far to enter into a joint venture with respect 
to future exploration of the Hidden Lake Lithium Property. Under the terms of the Hidden Lake Option-
Out Agreement, Far serves as operator on the Hidden Lake Lithium Property and is responsible for 
financing the joint venture’ initial $1,000,000 in exploration expenditures. 

Due to lithium market conditions, no field exploration was completed by either the Company or Far at 
the Hidden Lake Lithium Property during 2019 or 2020. The mineral claims which comprise the Hidden 
Lake Lithium Property are in good standing until September 30, 2026. 

USA 

Freeman Creek Property 

On July 24, 2020, the Company entered into the Freeman Creek Option Agreement with the Freeman 
Creek Optionors, whereby the Freeman Creek Optionors granted the Company the right to acquire a 
100% undivided interest in the Freeman Creek Property, subject to the Freeman Creek NSR. The 
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Freeman Creek Property initially consisted of 76 mineral claims comprising a total of 635 ha located 
approximately 15 km northeast of Salmon, Idaho, USA. The Freeman Creek Property has since been 
expanded by staking and currently consists of 106 mineral claims totaling 886 ha. 

Under the terms of the Freeman Creek Option Agreement, the Company may acquire a 100% interest 
in the mineral claims comprising the Freeman Creek Property by paying a total of $90,000 and issuing 
an aggregate 4,000,000 Common Shares and 2,000,000 transferable Warrants as follows: 

Date for Completion 
Cash 

Payment 

No. of 
Common Shares 

to be Issued 

No. of 
Warrants 

to be Issued(1) 

Entry into of the Freeman Creek Option 
Agreement 

$10,000 
(paid) - - 

Within 5 days of TSXV Approval of the 
Freeman Creek Option Agreement 

$40,000 
(paid) 

2,000,000 

(issued) 
1,000,000 
(issued) 

August 12, 2021 $40,000 2,000,000 
(issued) 

1,000,000 
(issued) 

TOTAL: $90,000 4,000,000 2,000,000 
(1) Each Warrant entitles the holder thereof to purchase one Common Share at an exercise price of $0.10 per 

Common Share for a period of 3 years from the date of issue. 

In addition the payments and issuances noted above, the Company is also required to pay to DG, in the 
event that a gold equivalent resource of more than 1,000,000 ounces is outlined within a NI 43-101 
compliant resource estimate on the Freeman Creek Option Agreement, $1,000,000, payable in Common 
Shares or cash or a combination of both, at the Company’s sole discretion. In the event of a share 
issuance, the Common Shares are to be issued at a price using the average market price of the previous 
30 trading days preceding the date of share issuance. 

TSXV approval for the Freeman Creek Option Agreement was obtained on August 12, 2020. 

The Freeman Creek Property is subject to the Freeman Creek NSR. The Freeman Creek NSR is subject to 
the Freeman Creek NSR Buyback Right, which Freeman Creek NSR Buyback Right provides that the 
Company may reduce the Freeman Creek NSR from 2.5% to 1.25% for a purchase price of $1,500,000 
payable to DG. 

The Freeman Creek Property is located approximately 15 km northeast of Salmon, Idaho, and is 
accessible via paved highway and a network of gravel roads and trails. The Freeman Creek Property 
hosts two major advanced targets; the Gold Dyke Prospect, with an historical drill intercept of 1.5 g/t Au 
and 12.1 g/t Ag over 44.2 m, and the Carmen Creek Prospect, with an historical outcrop sample assay of 
14.15 g/t Au, 63 g/t Ag, and 1.2% Cu. 

On August 31, 2020, the Company completed a Phase I surface exploration program at the Freeman 
Creek Property (the “Phase I Surface Program”). Field work included prospecting and rock sampling, soil 
sampling, and a ground magnetic survey. Based initial field interpretation, the Company expanded the 
Freeman Creek Property through staking of an additional 30 mineral claims totaling 251 ha. Following 
the addition of the 30 mineral claims, the Freeman Creek Property consists of an aggregate of 106 
mineral claims totalling approximately 886 ha. 
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On September 10, 2020, the Company found that the first batch of analytical results for samples 
collected during the Phase I Surface Program confirmed strong gold, silver, and copper mineralization, 
including grab samples of 10 g/t Au, 80.1 g/t Ag, and 0.72% Cu at the Gold Dyke Prospect, and 15.3 g/t 
Au, 41.0 g/t Ag, and 0.78% Cu at the Carmen Creek Prospect. The initial results also outlined a 
mineralized strike length at Carmen Creek of at least 350 m, as well as a parallel trending, potential 
mineralized structure. 

On October 6, 2020, the Company received official authorization from the Bureau of Land Management 
for Idaho to commence the first phase of drilling at the Freeman Creek Property. The drill program 
focused on the Gold Dyke Prospect, including a twinning of historical drill holes RDH-8. 

On October 13, 2020, the Company received the remaining analytical results for samples collected 
during the recently completed Phase I surface program at Freeman Creek. The new assays confirmed 
prospective target areas at both Gold Dyke Prospect and Carmen Creek Prospect that ere much larger 
than previously recognized. This included an extensive (800 m x 700 m) gold soil geochemical anomaly at 
Gold Dyke Prospect, and the discovery of multiple, closely spaced, parallel mineralized structures/vein(s) 
with high grades of precious metal mineralization at Carmen Creek Prospect, identified over a mapped 
strike length of at least 1.2 km, which remains open at both ends. 

On October 27, 2020, the Company had collared the first drill hole of its maiden diamond drill program 
at the Gold Dyke Prospect on the Freeman Creek Gold Property. 

On November 10, 2020, the Company completed a 3-day follow-up prospecting and rock sampling 
program at the Carmen Creek Prospect. The objective of the 3-day program was to follow-up and 
expand upon the high-grade rock samples collected along the Carmen Creek Prospect trend during the 
Phase I Surface Program; specifically, the Gallifrey Showing (2.02 g/t Au, 31.8 g/t Ag, and 0.76% Cu ), the 
Tardis Showing (25.5 g/t Au, 159 g/t Ag, and 9.75% Cu), and the Daleks Showing (2.00 g/t Au, 269 g/t Ag, 
and 11.4% Cu). 

On November 12, 2020, the Company completed its maiden diamond drill program at the Freeman 
Creek Property. The drill program consisted of 4 diamond drill holes of HQ size, totaling of 457 m. The 
program focused on the Gold Dyke Prospect and included a drill hole twin (FC20-003) of the historical 
drill hole RDH-8, which returned 1.5 g/t Au and 12.1 g/t Ag over 44.2 m. 

On November 24, 2020, the Company concluded its surface sample assay results from its follow-up 3-
day field program at the Carmen Creek Prospect. Results included 13.1 g/t Au, 83.6 g/t Ag, and 0.78% 
Cu, as well as a new mineralized vein discovery in the eastern most explored area of the Carmen Creek 
Trend. 

On January 7, 2021, the Company sampled 5.7 g/t Au and 49 g/t Ag in outcrop at the Gold Dyke 
Prospect. The samples were collected from new exposure created during drill access trail construction at 
the Gold Dyke Prospect. The Company believes the discovery highlights a new area of interest not 
previously recognized. The outcrop is located approximately 50 m east of the documented historical 
drilling and more than 100 m from the nearest 2020 drill hole. 

On January 12, 2021, the Company concluded its results of the 2020 drill program at the Gold Dyke 
Prospect. The program achieved its primary objective of locating and confirming the precious metal-
mineralized intersection reported from historical rotary drill hole RDH-8 with a 12 m intersection of 4.11 
g/t Au and 33 g/t Ag in FC20-003, within a wider interval of 1.12 g/t Au and 9.0 g/t Ag over 47.6 m, 
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starting from surface. The results of the drill program support the interpretation that a widespread, low-
grade, gold-mineralized envelope is present at the Gold Dyke Prospect, but which also contains a high-
grade component of unknown extent. 

On March 3, 2021, the Company and Freeman Creek Optionors agreed to accelerate the obligations 
under the Freeman Creek Option Agreement. On March 23, 2021, the Company issued 2,000,000 
Common Shares and 1,000,000 Warrants (originally due August 12, 2021) and issued a promissory note 
evidencing the $40,000 cash payment payable on or before August 12, 2021. Each Warrant entitles the 
holder thereof to purchase one Common Share at an exercise price of $0.10 per Common Share for a 
period of 3 years from the date of issue. The Common Shares and Warrant issued to the Freeman Creek 
Optionors under the amendment to the Freeman Creek Option Agreement are subject a voluntary 10 
month hold period. 

3.2 Significant Acquisition and Disposition 

Please refer to Section 3.1 – General Development of the Business. 

3.3 Trends, Commitments, Events or Uncertainties 

As a junior mining issuer, the Company is subject to the cycles of the mineral resource sector and the 
financial markets as they relate to junior companies. 

The Company’s financial performance is dependent upon many external factors. Both prices and 
markets for metals are volatile, difficult to predict and subject to changes in domestic and international, 
political, social and economic environments. Circumstances and events beyond the Company’s direct 
control could materially affect its financial performance. For a detailed discussion of these risk factors, 
refer to Section 17 – Risk Factors in this Listing Statement. 

4. NARRATIVE DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS 

4.1 General 

Overview 

The principal business of the Company is the identification, evaluation and acquisition of exploration 
and evaluation properties located in British Columbia, Québec, Northwest Territories, and Idaho, USA, 
and once acquired the exploration of those properties. At as the date of this Listing Statement, the 
Company had not yet determined whether any properties contain ore reserves that are economically 
recoverable. The recoverability of amounts shown for exploration and mineral properties is dependent 
upon the discovery of economically recoverable reserves, confirmation of the Company's interest in the 
underlying mineral claims, the ability of the Company to obtain the necessary financing to complete the 
development of and future profitable production from the properties or realizing proceeds from their 
disposition. 

See Section 3.1 “General Development of the Business – Mineral Properties” for more details on the 
various mineral properties held or optioned by the Company. 

Until the Company attains profitability, it will be necessary to raise additional financings for, amongst 
other things, general working capital and for exploration costs on various mineral properties, including 
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the ZimFrac-Will Property, Corvette-FCI Property, Hidden Lake Lithium Property, Pontax Lithium-Gold 
Property and the Freeman Creek Property. If the Company is unable to obtain financing in the amounts 
and on terms deemed acceptable, the future success of the business could be adversely affected. There 
is no assurance that the Company will be able to obtain adequate financing in the future or that such 
financing will be on terms advantageous to the Company. For a detailed discussion of these risk factors, 
refer to Section 17 – Risk Factors in this Listing Statement. 

Business Objectives and Milestones 

The Company’s principal business activities include acquiring and exploring exploration and evaluation 
assets. Accordingly, the Company has exploration and evaluation assets located in the British Columbia, 
Northwest Territories, Québec, and Idaho, USA. See Section 3.1 “General Development of Business – 
General – Overview – Mineral Properties” for more information. 

Over recent years, the Company has been focused on gold property exploration as a direct result of the 
market expectations. The gold market has been very buoyant over the past 12 months and, as such, the 
Company sought to focus on its gold properties to undertake further exploration work. In recent 
months, however, the lithium market has become very active due to a significant increase in 
government support, in Canada, the United States and elsewhere, for the electrification of 
transportation and the associated requirements for raw materials necessary for lithium ion battery 
manufacturing. In an effort to capitalize on these trends and optimize the lithium assets within its 
mineral property portfolio, the Company has deemed it advisable to direct its resources to these lithium 
assets in order to advance the properties through further exploration activities. A financing is 
anticipated to fund any future exploration activities on its lithium properties as and when these 
exploration activities are determined by the Board and management of the Company advisable. 

The following table sets out the Company’ s targeted business milestones, as well as the expected 
timeframe for, and cost of, achieving same: 

Timeframe Business Objective 
Estimated Costs 

($) 

0 to 6 months from 
Listing 

Conduct an equity financing to help fund further exploration 
activities, if and when desirable, and for general working 

capital purposes. 
- 

On or before 
November 3, 2021 

Incur the remainder of the required exploration 
expenditures under the FCI Property Option Agreement.(1) 638,000 

On or before August 
12, 2021 Final Freeman Creek Option Agreement cash payment. 40,000 

(1) The Company has incurred approximately $412,000 of the $800,000 in exploration expenditures required to be 
incurred under the FCI Property Option Agreement by the second anniversary of the agreement. 

In order to meet these business objectives, the Company will need to initiate or complete the following 
milestones in the same twelve-month period: 

• Objective #1 – Close an equity financing for gross aggregate proceeds of at least $2,000,000. 

• Objective #2 – Conduct the remainder of the required $388,000 in exploration on FCI Property; 
and 
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• Objective #3 – Exercise the Company’s option to acquire to acquire the Freeman Creek Property 
by making the final cash payment due under the terms of the Freeman Creek Option 
Agreement. 

Available Funds and Principal Purposes 

The Company estimates that it will have sufficient cash flow to carry out its business plan as currently 
contemplated for the 12-month period following the Listing. Accordingly, the Company had working 
capital of approximately $40,747 as at April 30, 2021. 

The estimated administration costs of the Company to achieve its stated business objectives for the 12-
month period following Listing are an aggregate of $1,369,800, with an average monthly cost of 
approximately $114,150. An estimated breakdown of these costs is as follows: 

 
Monthly 

($) 
Yearly 

($) 
Management fees(1) 26,500 318,000 
General and administrative expenses(2) 8,000 96,000 
FCI Property expenditures 66,667(3) 800,000 
Final Freeman Creek Option Agreement cash payment. 3,333(3) 40,000 
Rent and utilities 1,750 21,000 
Legal and audit fees 5,400 64,800 
CSE and transfer agent fees 2,500 30,000 

SUBTOTAL: 114,150 1,369,800 
Unallocated working capital 55,912 670,947 

TOTAL: 3,395(4) 40,747(4) 
(1) Comprised of $120,000 allocated to David Blair Way, the President and a director of the Company, for President and 

director services rendered by Mr. Way; $120,000 to Adrian Lamoureux, the CEO and a director of the Company, for 
CEO and director services rendered by Mr. Lamoureux; and $78,000 to Duster Capital Corp., a company controlled by 
Dusan Berka, the CFO and a director of the Company, for CFO and director services rendered by Mr. Berka. 

(2) Estimated general and administrative expenses for the next 12 months comprised of: $31,441 for consulting fees, 
$5,582 for travel related expenses; $1,913 for office related expenses; and $57,064 for miscellaneous expenses. 

(3) If such expensed were incurred in monthly increments. 
(4) Following the Listing, the Company intends to close an equity financing of at least $2,000,000 to help fund further 

exploration activities, if an when desirable, and for general working capital purposes. 

The Company intends to spend the funds available to it as stated in this Listing Statement. However, 
there may be circumstances where, for sound business reasons, a reallocation of the funds may be 
necessary. 

Principal Products or Services 

The Company is a mineral exploration issuer engaged in the business of the acquisition, exploration and, 
if warranted, development of mineral properties. The Company does not currently generate any 
revenues nor does it expect to generate consistent revenues from production of on its various mineral 
properties in the foreseeable future. The Company expects to continue to incur expenses as work is 
conducted to further explore and develop of its mineral properties, including those incurred on its 
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ZimFrac-Will Property, Freeman Creek Property, Corvette-FCI Property, and Hidden Lake Lithium 
Property. 

See Section 3.1 “General Development of the Business – Mineral Properties” for more information. 

Production and Sales 

This section is not applicable to the Company. 

Competitive Conditions and Position 

The mineral exploration industry is competitive, with many companies competing for the limited 
number of precious and base metals acquisition and exploration opportunities that are economic under 
current or foreseeable metals prices, as well as for available investment funds. Competition is also high 
for the recruitment of qualified personnel and equipment. Significant and increasing competition exists 
for mineral opportunities within Canada, specifically in regards to British Columbia, Québec, the 
Northwest Territories, and in the State of Idaho in the United States. There are a number of large 
established mineral exploration companies in these jurisdictions with substantial capabilities and greater 
financial and technical resources than the Company. 

Lending and Investment Policies and Restrictions 

This is not applicable to the Company. 

Bankruptcy and Receivership 

The Company has not been the subject of any bankruptcy or any receivership or similar proceedings 
against the Company or any voluntary bankruptcy, receivership or similar proceedings by the Company, 
within the three most recently completed financial years or the current financial year. 

Material Restructuring 

The Company has not undertaken a material restructuring as of the date of this Listing Statement. 

Social and Environmental Policies 

This section is not applicable to the Company. 

Employees 

As at the date of this Listing Statement, the Company has no employees. 

4.2 Asset Backed Securities 

This Section 4.2 is not applicable to the Company as it does not have any asset backed securities. 
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4.3 Companies with Mineral Projects 

The Company’s material property is the ZimFrac-Will Property. The mineral claims which comprise of the 
ZimFrac-Will Property are located in the Golden Mining Division, approximately 4 and 15 km east of the 
town of Golden in south-eastern British Columbia, Canada. 

ZimFrac-Will Property 

Nature and Extent of Title 

See Section 3.1 “General Development of the Business – Mineral Properties – Canada – British 
Columbia – ZimFrac-Will Property” for additional information. 

The following represents information summarized from the Technical Report on the ZimFrac-Will 
Property by the Author, a Qualified Person, prepared in accordance with the requirements of NI 43-101. 
All figures and tables from the Technical Report are reproduced in and form part of this Listing 
Statement; a complete copy of the Technical Report is available for review on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. 

Property Description and Location 

The 3332.58 ha ZimFrac-Will Property is located on Crown and privately owned land within the Golden 
Mining Division. The WIL 3 claim also underlies the TransCanada Highway (“TCH”), CPR (“CPR”) and 
Kicking Horse River. The claims cover portions of BCGS map sheet 082N026 and 036 and are centered at 
116O 54’ West, 51O 20’ North. The claims are located between 4 and 15 km east of Golden, British 
Columbia, and extend from the northern, eastern and southern sides of the Mt. Moberly Silica mine 
property and extend south and east from that location as shown in Figure 2 below. The WIL 1 claim is 
also located north of the Moberly mine claim block. The ZimFrac-Will Property claims are currently 100% 
beneficially owned by the Company. The WIL 4 claim connects the WIL1 with the remainder of the 
ZimFrac-Will Property. Additional details including the current expiry dates are presented in Table 1 
below. 

The ZimFrac-Will Property claims protect several exposures of high grade silica rich sandstone and 
orthoquartzite of the Mt. Wilson Formation. They also now cover past producing limestone and slate 
quarries in the Kicking Horse Canyon 10 t0 15 km east of Golden, British Columbia. 

Mineral claims in British Columbia may be kept in good standing by incurring assessment work or by 
paying cash-in-lieu of assessment work. The value of exploration and development required to maintain 
a mineral claim for one year is at least: 

• $5 per ha for each of the first and second anniversary years; 

• $10 per ha for each of the third and fourth anniversary years; 

• $15 per ha for each of the fifth and sixth anniversary years; and 

• $20 per ha for each subsequent anniversary year. 

Cash in lieu payments are for a minimum of 6 months and are double the physical or technical work 
requirements. 

http://www.sedar.com/
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Proposed exploration work causing mechanical disturbance normally requires that a Notice of Work and 
Reclamation be submitted at least 30 (realistically 60) days before work is planned to begin and usually a 
reclamation bond will have to be placed with the British Columbia Ministry of Energy Mines and 
Petroleum Resources. The Author is not aware of any extraordinary environmental liabilities that may be 
associated with the land comprising the ZimFrac-Will Property, and to the extent known, any other 
significant factors and risks that may affect access, title, or the right or ability to perform work on the 
ZimFrac-Will Property. 

Figure 1 – Location Map 
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Figure 2 – Mineral Tenures, Topography and Minfile Occurrences 
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Table 1 – Mineral Tenures 

 

Accessibility, Climate, Local Resources, Infrastructure and Physiography 

Access to the south half of the ZimFrac-Will Property is east from Golden on the TCH for 6 km from the 
Golden turnoff to the Glenogle Creek logging road and then north on to the Glenogle road. The road 
splits after nearly 3 km and, by taking the left fork, traverses up the east facing ridge hosting the 
southern exposures of the west body of the Mt. Wilson silica formation. The right fork accesses the 
lower, southern part of the formation. Road access to north half of the ZimFrac-Will Property is 1.5 km 
east on the TCH to the new interchange, then north on the Golden-Donald Upper Road for about 3 km, 
right on the Osler road for 600 m, right on the Barber road for 800 m, then finally right on the Glenogle 
Creek road east and south for 5 km. Here, access to the northern ½ of the west lobe and lower portions 
of the eastern exposures of the quartzite formation is available by foot. Alternate access to the 
northwest part of the West Lobe is via newly constructed logging road by Louisiana Pacific, which is on 
private land owned by Tom Batten. To use this access, take Lafontaine Road, which departs from the 
Golden Donald road at the TCH interchange. After following Lafontaine Road for 2 km, take the left turn 
onto the logging road and drive to the end which end 200 m west of the north exposures of the 
formation. 

The climate of the area is continental with cold winters and warm summers. Annual precipitation, due to 
the extreme topography, is quite variable. The town of Golden, British Columbia and the Columbia River 
valley are in the rain shadow of the Selkirk Mountains to the west and Rocky Mountains to the east. 
Precipitation averages 40 cm per year in Golden and much more at higher elevations. Snow free access 
at lower elevation is from early June to mid-October and above tree-line early August to early 
September. 

The ZimFrac-Will Property claims are close to and road accessible to the TCH, the CPR mainline, high and 
low tension power, gas and oil lines. The town of Golden, British Columbia hosts several grocery, 
hardware and vehicle repair facilities. The area has a diverse labour force in part due to CPR and TCH 
maintenance and repair facilities, as well as several logging and small quarrying, mining and aggregate 
operations. The Mt. Moberly (Heemskirk) and Hunt silica mines north and south of Golden are local 
mining employers. Tourism is an important contributor to the local economy. 

Other than local ranch and logging roads there are no facilities on the claim. Water via South Hospital 
and other local creeks is readily available. The claims host some merchantable timber and at least two 
timber leases occur here. The lower northern portion of the claims host cattle grazing areas.  

The claims cover a portion of the Beaverfoot range of the western Rocky Mountains. The terrain 
generally is increasingly steep to the east. The lowest point is the Kicking Horse River at 900 m about 
15 km east of Golden, British Columbia. The highest point is “Table Mountain” at about 2260 m. 

Title Number Claim Name Title Type Title Sub Type Map Number Issue Date Good To Date Area (ha)
1019452 ZIM FRAC Mineral Claim 082N 2013/MAY/11 2020/JUN/30 807.7693
1050286 WIL 1 Mineral Claim 082N 2017/FEB/24 2020/MAY/31 302.6096
1050287 WIL 2 Mineral Claim 082N 2017/FEB/24 2020/JUN/30 1534.9849
1050288 WIL 3 Mineral Claim 082N 2017/FEB/24 2020/MAY/31 566.1618
1057472 WIL 4 Mineral Claim 082N 2018/JAN/05 2020/MAY/31 121.05

TOTAL AREA 3332.5756
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History 

The lithologies underlying the ZimFrac-Will Property, in addition to the Mt. Wilson Formation, include 
Cambrian limestone, dolomite and slate. A slate quarry along the Kicking Horse River was developed 
about 10.5 km east of Golden ‘around the turn of the century’. The slate, due to its hardness and pyrite 
mineralization, was subsequently abandoned (Minfile 082N083). Dolomite exposures located nine km 
east of Golden were quarried for ballast by the CPR during `1940’s for construction and maintenance, 
due to their proximity, density and relative durability (Minfile 082N076). In the same area are growing 
tufa deposits (Rodgers, 2003) that have dimension stone and high purity calcium potential. However, 
the bulk of the deposits are currently within a TCH no-staking reserve. 

The southern end of Frenchman’s Ridge, along the TCH and the CPR 7 km east of Golden, British 
Columbia, were staked as the King David 1-16, Rose #2 claims in the mid 1950’s by International 
Germandites Ltd. Hydrothermally altered and marcasite mineralized rocks reportedly giving weakly 
anomalous scintillometer readings were subsequently examined for germanium, uranium, zirconium 
and platinum. No economic quantities of these elements were obtained, with values less than 1 ppm 
(Cohen, 1957). 

Exploration and mining of the Mt. Wilson quartzite exposures for sources of abrasive, decorative and 
metallurgical grade silica has been ongoing for at least the past 60 years. Undoubtedly most of the local 
deposits have been examined and sampled by investigators, however there are little to no public record 
of this work. 

The Dart two-post claims were staked over the ‘west exposure’ of silica on the ZimFrac-Will Property on 
Frenchman’s Ridge on August 6-8, 1997. Although several event numbers indicate physical work was 
completed, there are no easily accessible records of this work in public files. At the south end of the 
deposit, a reclaimed bulldozer created exploration trail leading to and around the north end of a 
previously unknown silica exposure was discovered. There are also old trails along the bottom edge of 
the exposure. The Dart Claims expired in 2005. 

In 2010, Canadian International Minerals Inc. staked the Solar and Silicon claims north and south of the 
Kicking Horse River, respectively, to cover known near-infrastructure exposures of the Mt. Wilson 
Formation. A program of geological observations of known exposures of the quartzite with a coincident 
effort to more accurately map the extent of the quartzite formations was completed (Lindinger 2010, a, 
b). Numerous bedrock and proximal float samples of the Mt. Wilson Formation were taken for total 
silica assay using whole rock analytical procedures. Due to very high grade nature of the silica formation, 
an accurate assay could not be completed by the chosen laboratory from the samples sizes taken. The 
only conclusion was that all samples returned over 98% silica. The claims expired in 2012. In most cases, 
the quartzite exposures were more extensive than government maps indicated. On the Silicon portion, 
many exposures occurred further west than government mapping indicated. 

There are no other records of exploration in the area. 

The ZIM FRAC claim, staked by Luke Schuss in late 2013, overlies the central portion of the former Solar 
claims, specifically the ‘west lobe’ exposure at Frenchman’s Ridge. It was later transferred to Zimtu 
Capital Corp. in February 2014 and finally to the Company in October, 2014. 

The following is excerpted from Lindinger, 2014: 
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“…” The 2014 program was confined to the 2 km long” … … “west exposure” …  …” Exposures 
underlying the northeast part of the property were much less favourably positioned and were 
not examined or sampled. 

On August 08, 2014, four rock samples were taken from the west exposure. Samples were taken 
across the strike of the central steeply east facing portion of the exposure at approximately every 
40 m vertically. Each station was GPS located with two hand held units. Due to the steep 
northeast aspect GPS signal strength was weak and locations are only approximate and mostly 
within a 10 m radius. Each station was marked on the ground by red flagging that was either 
nailed to the outcrop at or above the sample site or on a nearby tree. Two samples were taken 
from each site. Taken were an eight to ten kg sample for frac sand determination and a 0.6 to 1 
kg sample for metallurgical silica assay. 

The frac sand sample was placed into a 30 by 60 cm plastic bag and the metallurgical sample 
into a plastic 20 by 30 cm bag. Both had the sample identifier written on it. The samples were 
carried by foot to the nearest vehicle parking area within 300 m of the sample sites and there 
transported directly to the Renaissance Geoscience Services Inc’s preliminary sample preparation 
facility at 680 Dairy road, Kamloops, B.C. There the samples were pressure washed to remove all 
organic material, air dried and prepared for delivery to predetermine analytical facilities. 

The samples prepared for metallurgical analyses were delivered to ALS-G&T metallurgical facility 
in Kamloops, B.C. for Silica assay and 63 element analyses for deleterious element 
determination. The samples selected for frac sand analyses were packaged and sealed into 20 
litre plastic pails and shipped by Greyhound and UPS courier to the Stim Lab Inc. 7406 North 
HWY 81, Duncan, Oklahoma for Frac Sand quality determination. 

Table 2 - 2014 Zim-Frac Sample Locations 

SAMPLE 
CODE EASTING NORTHIN

G 
ELEVATIO

N 

ZIM14-01 506269 5685278 1307 

ZIM14-02 506305 5685425 1242 

ZIM14-03 506408 5685421 1180 

ZIM14-04 506499 5685434 1124 

Exploration Results 

Metallurgical Analyses 

…” The average reported silica grade was 98.6% with a range of 98.3% to 99% SiO2. Boron, a 
very important deleterious element, was analyzed by the Saskatchewan Research Council 
laboratory in Saskatoon. This element averaged 10 ppm with a range of 6 to 14 ppm. The 
average iron oxide grade was 0.28% with a range of 0.27% to 0.29%. 



- 33 - 

Figure 3 - Index Map of Historical Tenures 

 

Frac Sand Determination 

STIM-LAB, Inc. received 4 samples for ISO 13503-2:2006/API RP19C:2008 evaluations on August 
22, 2014. After initial determinations for friability, 3 samples were considered worth testing, 
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(Zim14-01, 02, 03), (personal communications with the author and Lisa O’Connell). Of those, two 
(ZIM-14-01 and ZIM-14-03) produced an appropriate sand size fraction (size ranges of over 65% 
in the 40 to 170 mesh size) worthy of compression testing. Both samples passed the 6000 PSI 
compressibility test with each producing 8.1% fines. At 7000 PSI, ZIM14-01 produced 10.5% and 
ZIM14-03 produced 11.2% fines respectively.” … 

Figure 4 – 2014 Geology and Rock Sample Locations 
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Table 3- 2014 Chemical Analyses 
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Geological Setting, Economic Deposits and Mineralization 

Regional Geology 

The geology of the region covers a portion of the western edge of the Continental Range, including the 
Kootenay Ranges portion of the Rocky Mountain Physiographic Region of the North American Foreland 
Belt. This belt is comprised of thick layers of late Proterozoic and Palaeozoic aged continentally derived 
marine sediments of the ancestral North American miogeocline. The dominant tectonic feature in the 
region is the southern Rocky Mountain Trench, a NNW striking fault zone hosting the upper Columbia 
River and, to the south, the upper Kootenay River. To the west of the Rocky Mountain Trench are the 
rocks assigned to the northern Selkirk Mountains portion of the Omineca Belt, which here are comprised 
of similar but usually older host rocks. These lithologies have been folded and thrust imbricated 
eastward by protracted Mesozoic contractive orogenic activity. The lithologies present comprise reefoid 
limestones, shallow and deep water clastic and bioclastic sediments, including silica rich quartzites. 

Metamorphic grades generally increase from east to west, ranging from zeolite grade east of the rocky 
mountain thrust belt to lower greenschist where the uplifted cores of thrust belts are exposed on both 
sides of the trench. 

Post Paleozoic intrusives and related contact metamorphic and hydrothermal alteration-mineralization 
are rare east of the Rock Mountain Trench. Straddling the Rocky mountain trench are Paleozoic aged 
alkaline diatremes, syenites and carbonatites that are prospective for rare earth, precious metal and 
copper mineralization and diamonds. Possibly related to this activity are small zinc-lead silver quartz and 
carbonate vein deposits. There is little known early to mid-Mesozoic intrusive activity. Isolated mid 
Cretaceous aged batholiths assigned to the Bayonne Intrusive Complex dot the western portions of the 
region some 30 km west of the trench axis. Mineralization peripherally associated with these rocks are 
copper silver +/- lead +/- silver+/- gold vein deposits. 

Bedded industrial mineral deposits are the most important economic mineral resource in the region. 
These include magnesite, gypsum, limestone, dolomite and silica. There are long standing operating 
mines or quarries for each of these deposit types. Minor placer gold claims occur in the region. 
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Figure 5- Regional Geology and Index Map 

 

Source MAPPLACE 2 – Legend Below 
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TABLE 4 - Simplified Geological Legend for Figures 5 and 6 

Kgd Cretaceous granodiorite Ice batholith 

OSMW Ordovician-Silurian 
sediments 

Includes Mt. Wilson 
quartzite 

COB Cambrian-Ordovician Mackay Group? 

CCB Cambrian  

CMBL Cambrian  

muCCu, muCS, muCA Middle upper Cambrian  

CDu   

uPHs (c, f) Upper Proterozoic-
Hadrynian. 

 

Local Geology 

The local geology of the area is dominated by the NNW trending southern Rocky Mountain Trench. East 
of the trench is the Kootenay Ranges portion including the Beaverfoot Range portion of the Rocky 
Mountains. West of the trench is the Dogtooth Range portion of the northern Selkirk Mountains. 

The Beaverfoot Range comprises thrust imbricated sets of upper Paleozoic continentally derived 
sediments including the Ordovician Mt. Wilson quartzite. Protracted Mesozoic compressive activity has 
folded, dismembered and truncated the sediments into an east dipping assemblage. The Beaverfoot 
Range hosts the uppermost stratigraphies that have been isoclinally folded with one of two synforms, 
forming the mountain range crests with deeper strata exposed both east and west of the range. 

The Dog Tooth Range is comprised of Cambrian to lower Ordovician sediments that are similarly folded 
and imbricated. This area has a slightly higher metamorphic grade than most of the areas to the east. No 
large intrusive bodies occur in the area. 

Epigenetic metallic mineral deposits are mesothermal to epithermal base and precious metal veins 
probably related to as yet unburied intrusive at depth and diatremes that are occasionally explored for 
diamonds. The Mt. Wilson-Wonah Silica Formation is continuously being explored for and locally mined 
for high grade silica is the most important industrial mineral in the area. There is potential for 
magnesite, limestone, dolomite and slate, with several small current and past producing quarries. 
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Figure 6 – Local Geology Source – MAPPLACE II 
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Figure 7 – Property Geology North Sheet 
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Figure 7A - Cross Section B-B - Looking NNW 
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Figure 8 – Property Geology South Sheet - Source GSC Map 1502A 
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Figure 8A - Cross Section E-E – Source GSC XS 1502A 
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Figure 9A – Regional, Local and Property Geology (Top Portion) Legends 
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Figure 9B – Property Geological Legend Bottom Portion 
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Figure 9C – Stratigraphic Section of Golden Area Lithologies 

 

Property Geology 

The ZIM FRAC-WIL claims are underlain by rocks of the Cambrian, Ordovician and early Devonian 
continentally derived sediments, including thick sequences of pure to very pure sandstone and quartzite 
of the Mt. Wilson Formation. The Mt. Wilson Formation occurs within NNW striking, moderately to 
steeply east dipping thrust panels. There are four structurally repeated exposures of sandstone-
quartzite on the ZimFrac-Will Property and all have possible economic potential in areas of the 
formation near local infrastructure. These are from west to east the “west lobe” on Frenchman’s Ridge, 
the east zone, west upper and east upper zones. 

The “west lobe” exposed over a large portion of the east side of Frenchman’s Ridge is a 2 long by up to 
0.6 km wide east dipping to flat at least 50 m thick high purity (locally very high purity) sandstone and 
quartzite body centered at UTM ZN 11 506000 E 5685800 N or 116O 54’ 50 West, 51O 19’ 40” North. Its 
western edges are within 4 km of Golden, British Columbia. The west lobe, based on observations made 
between 2010 to 2017, is at its upper areas moderately east dipping, and at lower elevations nearly flat 
lying. One tentative shape for the deposit is a doubly plunging synform with the long axis striking about 
330°, with its western, northern and southern edges possibly quite thin. The eastern edge is obscured by 
silica talus and, given the flat dips observed at least 1/3 up the hillside, implies the deposit is at least 50 
m thick in its central and eastern portions. 
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The east zone lies immediately east of the west lobe by 1 km across a small south draining valley from 
and at the same elevation as the west lobe; it may be an upthrust easterly extension of the west lobe 
(Figure 7). Further north and towards South Hospital Creek, the trace of the east zone is covered by thick 
glaciofluvial and debris flow deposits and it is probably structurally truncated in this area. It pinches out 
near the Kicking Horse River. It is a moderately to steeply east dipping deposit. 

The upper zones occur as at least two variably accessible beds higher up the Beaverfoot Range mountain 
sides and crests under the east parts of the claims. Northeast of the Kicking Horse River, the west upper 
zone extends southeast from the Moberly Silica Mine onto the original ZimFrac-Will Property to South 
Hospital Creek. The east upper zone originates northeast of the north end of the west upper zone and 
subparrallels the lower east zone; it then continues southeast for nearly 10 km, forming the core of 
Table Mountain continuing towards and under the Kicking Horse River for another 6 km as the south 
zone. It is interpreted that at the northern end, the zones are west and east limbs of a steeply east 
dipping syncline. This zone is not well road accessed except at the Kicking Horse River valley and on the 
Moberly Mine property. 

In addition to the silica formation are slate, limestone, and travertine and tufa deposits in the Kicking 
Horse River valley. There are several gravel quarries on benches above Golden, British Columbia. Locally 
there are also intrusion related hydrothermal precious and base metal deposits, however this potential 
appears relatively low. 

Deposit Types 

The ZimFrac-Will Property was acquired to protect possibly merchantable quantities of metallurgical 
grade silica and frac sand proppant from the Mt. Wilson sandstone-quartzite formation. The frac sand 
sources would be beds of relatively friable (only partially cemented) pure sandstone. These appear to be 
most common in the upper elevations of the formations that often have lower metamorphic grades. 
Below is the now somewhat dated BC mineral deposit profile. The Mt. Wilson Formation would be the 
sedimentary end member of the deposit model. 

R07 by Z.D. Hora Retired, British Columbia Geological Survey, Victoria, British Columbia, Canada 

IDENTIFICATION 

SYNONYMS:  High silica quartzite, quartz sandstone, silica rock silicastone. 

COMMODITIES:  Silica sand, lump silica. 

EXAMPLES (British Columbia (MINFILE #) - Canada/International):  Golden (082N001), (082N043), 
Longworth (093H038), Bridesville (082ESW144) – Selkirk, Manitoba, Badgley Island, Ontario, St. Canut, 
Québec; Oriskany sandstone, Pennsylvania and West Virginia, St. Peter sandstone, Illinois and Missouri. 

GEOLOGICAL CHARACTERISTICS 

CAPSULE DESCRIPTION:  Uniform, massive beds of siliceous sediments, such as sandstone and chert, or 
their metamorphic equivalents, like quartzite. These beds are commonly formed in sedimentary 
sequences, although some cherts can be found with volcanic rocks. They have high silica contents with 
very limited impurities, usually under 1%. 

http://minfile.gov.bc.ca/Summary.aspx?minfilno=082N++001
http://minfile.gov.bc.ca/Summary.aspx?minfilno=082N++043
http://minfile.gov.bc.ca/Summary.aspx?minfilno=093H++038
http://minfile.gov.bc.ca/Summary.aspx?minfilno=082ESW144
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TECTONIC SETTINGS:  Siliceous sediments formed on a shallow continental shelf or deposited in inland 
seas, large lacustrine basins or rift zones on the continent. Cherts form in oceanic environments 
associated with island arcs and spreading centers. Quartzites found in orogenic belts of all ages. 

DEPOSITIONAL ENVIRONMENT/GEOLOGICAL SETTING:  Siliceous sediments deposited into a low energy 
environment slowly sinking or stagnant sedimentary basin. Source area has to be rich in siliceous 
sedimentary, igneous or metamorphic rocks to provide a steady supply of well sorted and weathered 
clastic material to estuaries along the shoreline. Weathering conditions before and during transportation 
should be able to separate resistant quartz from less stable feldspars, hornblende and pyroxenes, 
transportation will separate the clay minerals and mica with heavy minerals from the silica particles. 
Cherts form in oceanic environments near and distal to spreading centres and rift zones and along 
volcanic belts as exhalative deposits. They can also form as biogenic and/or chemical precipitates of 
silica gel in an oceanic environment. 

AGE OF MINERALIZATION:  Precambrian to Tertiary. modern protolithic facies on the seafloor. 

HOST/ASSOCIATED ROCK TYPES: Siliceous sediments are found with a wide spectrum of clastic and 
carbonate rocks, including coal and associated with clay deposits. Cherts are found with felsic to mafic 
and ultramafic volcanics and associated greywacke and shale. Quartzites and metamorphic cherts are 
found with the metamorphic equivalents of the rocks listed previously. 

DEPOSIT FORM:  The siliceous sediments occur as metres thick beds that can extend more than tens of 
km, while the chert beds may be up to several tens of metres thick and laterally extend for hundreds of 
metres but are frequently discontinuous. 

TEXTURE/STRUCTURE:  Silica-rich sediments typically have uniform grain size, may be well lithified or 
friable, and can be layered, cross bedded or massive beds. Massive or rhythmically bedded chert is found 
sometimes with argillaceous interbeds and soft sediment deformation features. Quartzites as 
metamorphosed equivalents of sandstones or cherts usually display the structure of the original rock. 

ORE MINERALOGY [Principal and subordinate]:  Quartz; chert can also have other forms of amorphous 
and microcrystalline silica. 

GANGUE MINERALOGY [Principal and subordinate]:  Siliceous sediments can contain clay minerals, 
pyrite, mica and minor heavy minerals (rutile, sphene, ilmenite, zircon, etc.). Cherts can contain clay 
minerals, hematite, manganese oxides, pyrite; rhodonite, rhodochrosite, calcite, barite. 

ALTERNATE MINERALOGY: Fractures can have secondary Fe - Mn hydroxides and/or calcium carbonate.  

WEATHERING:  Usually weather resistant, resulting in morphological highs. Only some friable 
sandstones result in depressions. 

ORE CONTROLS: Source terrains that minimize impurities and dispositional environments that includes 
long or repeated transportation with intensive wear of particles which includes separation from other 
silicates like feldspars for example. This may occur both by physical as well as chemical weathering. 

GENETIC MODELS: Siliceous sediments form on the shallow continental shelf and in inland seas or large 
lacustrine basins with a relatively low energy environment and a steady supply of well sorted silica sand. 
After the deposition, the accumulated sediment will be cemented by compaction, a minor clay 
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component, or introduced secondary silica. Cherts form in deep water oceanic environment with 
hydrothermal activity and abundance of radiolarians suggest oceanic upwelling that enriches water in 
nutrients., or recrystallized under metamorphic conditions. 

ASSOCIATED DEPOSIT TYPES:  Siliceous sediments – building stone; cherts - Sedex and VMS deposits, 
marine diatomite. 

COMMENTS:  Crystalline silica in dust form is considered a carcinogenic health hazard. Mineral 
processing of alaskite feldspar rocks can produce a very high purity (10 to 200 ppm impurities) silica co-
product. 

EXPLORATION GUIDES 

GEOCHEMICAL SIGNATURE:  In general, more than 98% silica with traces of other elements. 

GEOPHYSICAL SIGNATURE:  Only where contrast with host rocks is significant. 

OTHER EXPLORATION GUIDES:  Look for resistant ridges and outcrops and absence of impurities in hand 
sample visible to the naked eye. 

ECONOMIC FACTORS 

TYPICAL GRADE AND TONNAGE:  Each use has its very specific requirement for the particle size and 
shape, physical strength and permissible amounts of different impurities. For lump silica the concerns are 
purity, sizing of crushed rock (fracture and bedding density) and contamination by Ca, Fe, Mn, Ti, Al, Na 
and K minerals or graphite and silica sand. They are friability and size of silica particles and 
contamination by Fe, Mn and Al minerals and refractory minerals of Al, Zr, Cr. Generally, silica contents 
have to be 98% with significant impurities removable by processing. Which depend on the end use. Even 
high purity orthoquartzite usually contains minute titanium minerals which are detrimental for silicon 
metal (even at 0.2% TiO2). Also, even trace of Ca can make silica unacceptable for specific end uses. 
Lasca grade silica may contain impurities in ppm only. Such contaminants may be absent in oceanic 
cherts. Individual deposits range from 1 million tonnes to 100 million tonnes. 

ECONOMIC LIMITATIONS:  While some very specific silica raw materials may be relatively expensive, the 
basic types of silica sand or lump silica are low priced, bulk commodities sensitive to transportation costs. 
For its main uses, silica sand from sandstones has a number of substitutes and their use depends on local 
or regional availability. Silica is available as a co-product or by-product of feldspar and residual kaolin 
mining and is produced locally from dune and beach sands. Foundry sand can be substituted by some 
other minerals, like olivine, for example.  

END USES:  Most silica is used in the form of sand to manufacture glass products and as foundry sand. In 
North America, about one third is used in glass and one-fifth as foundry sand. The remaining silica is 
divided among a multitude of metallurgical and chemical uses, including cement, ceramics, fillers and 
blasting sand. Very high quality silica is being used for a long list of synthetic silicas and silicon chemicals, 
silicon metal, ferrosilicon and silicon carbide, cultured silica crystals and silica glass. Silica sand for 
hydraulic fracturing has to be well rounded and to withstand very high pressures when pumped into oil 
and gas wells to enhance the recovery. The past widespread use of fine grained silica rocks was to make 
acid refractory bricks (dinas) used in iron metallurgy. These silica rocks were termed “dinas rock”. 
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IMPORTANCE:  In the year 2000 Canadian production was 2.0 million tonnes and the United States 
produced 28.5 million tonnes annually. Cement, glass and ceramics are unthinkable without silica, so is 
the use as a foundry sand. Most of other applications are less visible, but equally important for industrial 
societies. 
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The silica, due to its relative durability and low deleterious element and mineral composition, may have 
uses as ballast for road and railway construction, stream bed rehabilitation, dimension stone, and 
decorative white sand. 

Other potentially merchantable deposit types on the current ZimFrac-Will Property include limestone, 
slate, tuffa and gravel. 
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Exploration 

In February 2017, the Company enlarged the ZimFrac-Will Property to cover 14 km of the prospective 
Mt. Wilson quartzite-sandstone, including bracketing the Moberly mine property. In early June 2017, the 
Company retained a field crew from Dahrouge Geological Consulting Ltd. to complete a limited rock 
sampling program. A total of 60 metallurgical and 53 frac sand samples were taken. The samples were 
taken for metallurgical silica assay and deleterious element analyses and frac sand proppant 
determinations. The sampling was completed in three areas; the west lobe covering part of the east side 
of Frenchman’s Ridge (47 samples), a portion of the ‘west upper zone’ immediately south of the 
Moberly mine claim boundary (2 samples), and a portion of the east upper zone on Table Mountain that 
was exposed through the snowpack and helicopter accessible (11 samples). 

On the west lobe, a coarse grid pattern was chosen with samples taken approximately 75 m apart. At 
most chosen sample sites two samples were taken. One weighing at least 0.25 kgs for metallurgical silica 
assay and a minimum 1 kg sample for frac sand proppant determination. This frac sand sample size was 
based on requirements supplied by Loring Laboratories Ltd. of Calgary, Alberta, the chosen laboratory 
for this program. At each sample site at least 2 GPS readings were taken by the two technicians or 
geologists at the site. In addition to the sample location, basic information such as a determination of 
overall grain size, colour and silica purity of each sample were documented.  

All of this information was recorded into an excel spreadsheet and most also entered into Gemcom 
exploration software for creating the data viewed from Figures 10 to 13. 

The results of the metallurgical silica testing indicate that the west lobe and Table Mountain areas have 
blocks at least 200 by 300 m in extent reporting greater than 99% silica, with many samples returning 
greater than 99.5% silica (Figures 10 and 11). The west lobe in particular, given its very favourable road 
accessible position but visually hidden location with respect to Golden, presents a favourable 
exploration target. 

The frac sand proppant testing completed by Loring on the limited samples submitted for testing are 
discussed. Of 11 high silica grade samples submitted, 6 indicated suitability for additional testing based 
on initial friability testing. The results of this program are similar to that from Stimlab in 2014 and 
produced a pure quartz sand from 20 to 100 mesh with sphericity measurements of 0.7 to 0.9 and 
roundness measurements from 0.4 to 0.6. The 2014 testing by Stim Lab included unidirectional crush 
resistance testing on 2 samples with resulting K values of 6. The 2017 testing did not include crush 
resistance testing. Based on these preliminary results, the samples passed API PR19C specifications for 
frac sand proppant for purity, crush resistance and sphericity. The material does not make specifications 
for roundness, which requires a minimum roundness of 0.6. This is probably due to particles of still 
attached silica cement to the previously more spherical sand grains. 

Drilling 

No drilling has been completed by the Company. There is no record of any drilling on any area of the 
current or adjacent properties that are not within current mining leases. 

Sample Preparation, Analyses and Security 

The samples were prepared in the field by cleaning each one as much as practical of moss and soil. Each 
of the two samples taken at each site were given separate unique samples numbers from tag books with 
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two or three perforated ‘taglets’ for each uniquely numbered tag. Each sample was placed into a plastic 
bag with a numbered ‘taglet’ placed into the bag. The tag number was also written with a permanent 
marker onto the plastic bag. Hand samples were also taken from many sites. At each site, the location 
was ‘monumented’ by a flagged and numbered metal tag nailed to a nearby tree. No field blanks or 
standards were used for this program. This was due to the prospective nature of the program. 

The samples remained securely in the possession of employees of Dahrouge Geological Consulting Ltd. 
and were driven directly to Loring Laboratories Ltd. (“Loring”) at their Calgary facility for whole rock, 
multi-element and frac sand proppant determinations on June 9, 2017. 

In mid-December 2017, Loring was instructed by the Company to send the rejects of the samples chosen 
for metallurgical silica determinations to Activation Laboratories Ltd.’s (“Actlabs”) facility in Ancaster, 
Ontario for whole rock and multi-element analyses, including boron. They were shipped via commercial 
carrier. 

Both laboratories are ISO 9001:2008 accredited commercial laboratories and are independent of the 
Company. 

The samples were analyzed at Actlabs using their ‘Lithogeochemistry and Whole Rock Analysis’ package 
‘Code 4LITHO (11+) Major Elements Fusion ICP(WRA)/Trace Elements Fusion, ICP/MS(WRA4B2)’ and 
Boron assay ‘Code 5D-Peroxide Boron-MS Sodium Peroxide Fusion ICPMS’. 

This package’s whole rock package included SiO2, Cao. Cr2O3, Fe2O3, K2O, MgO, MnO, Na2O, P2O5, TiO2 
and LOI (loss on ignition) reported in percent and 53 element multi-element package reported in ppm 
except for Fe (%), The multi-element package included light and heavy rare earth element analyses. 

A set of samples deemed suitable for frac sand determinations were selected by Loring technicians with 
consultation with the Author. The criteria for choosing the samples was relative friability due to a visual 
determination made by scraping sand grains off the surface of the sample with a finger nail, at least 
medium average grain size, analytical silica purity exceeding 98.5% silica and low deleterious elements 
composition especially barium. For the 11 samples chosen for frac sand testing the entire sample was 
crushed to 100% passing 10 mesh (~7 mm) using conventional steel jaw crushers. A split was then 
disassociated with rubber mortar and pestle using direct pressure only with lateral motion avoided. 
After microscopically viewing the results, 8 samples were considered sufficiently easy to disaggregate to 
continue testing. Upon completion of washing and hydraulic baffling to further increase separation and 
rounding, the disaggregated fraction was weighed, then sieved to +20, 20-40, 40-40, 70-140 and -40 
mesh fractions. 2 samples were too fine grained and also did not disaggregate well in the + 70 size 
range. 6 samples passed to some degree, all tests and produced frac sand sized grains with sufficient 
roundness and sphericity to be considered potentially merchantable if roundness could be improved by 
additional processing. 

Images of the various fractions as well as a final report is presented in Appendix B to the Technical 
Report. 

Given its early stage of exploration, the Author is satisfied with the sample preparation, security, and 
analytical procedures utilized on the ZimFrac-Will Property for the metallurgical silica testing completed 
by Actlabs and the frac sand proppant testing completed by Loring Laboratory. The nearby presence of 
either active or former producing silica mines including the dormant HUNT metallurgical silica mine 
within lithologically identical but different locations, and the reported nearly identical silica and/or 
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deleterious element grades from three programs within various portions of the formation provide, in 
the opinion of the Qualified Person, a high degree of validity to the 2017 results. 

Data Verification 

Initial data verification of the metallurgical sample results received from Loring was comparison of the 
whole rock results from the 2014 program, and published information from nearby silica mines. The 
whole rock silica and minor elements compared very closely between the two programs. Loring was 
instructed to use a 30 element multi-element plus boron assay add on procedure. However, the boron 
assays did not compare well with past results and the entire suite of rejects was sent to Actlabs in 
Ancaster, Ontario for whole rock analysis (including silica), multi-element analyses and boron assay. 
Only the Actlabs results are presented and discussed below. 

The results of the frac sand proppant testing was compared with the 2014 results from StimLab. There 
were significant differences in preparing the samples. The Loring procedures are presented in Appendix 
A to the Technical Report. Most significant were the methods used for creating the finer rock fragments 
from the original sample submitted. Stimlab used a vertical hydraulic press to fracture the sample with 
minimum crushing and metal contamination. Loring initially used a steel jaw to crush the sample to 
100% passing 7 mm which was widened to 12 mm. This procedure is assumed to produce more fines 
and broken quartz grains than the Stimlab method. There is also an increased probability for minor 
metal contamination of fine metal shards being incorporated into the sample as well as welding to the 
sand and rock fragments. In spite of these process differences, the final sphericity and roundness results 
compared favourably with the Stimlab results. 

Of the -20 mesh sieved sand the 20-40 fraction ranged from 6.5% to 34%, 40-70 from 18% to 53%, 70-
140 from 16% to 30.5% and the -140 fraction from 8.4% to 36%. On a 0 to 10 scale, sphericity varied 
from 0.7 to 0.9 and roundness varied from 0.4 to 0.6. Generally, the larger size fractions have slightly 
greater sphericity values. 

The best results were from 2 samples adjacent to the Mt. Moberly silica mine property, with the 
remainder from the southern ½ of the Frenchman’s Ridge west lobe deposit. 

In the Author’s opinion, the data is adequate for the purposes to be used in the Technical Report. 

Mineral Processing and Metallurgical Testing 

The Company has not competed any mineral processing or metallurgical testing. 

Mineral Resource Estimates 

The Company has not completed any resource estimates. 

Mineral Reserve Estimates 

The Company has not completed any reserve estimates. 
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Mining Methods 

The Company has not completed any studies on mining methods. 

Recovery Methods 

The Company has not completed any studies on industrial mineral recovery methods. 

Project Infrastructure 

The Company has not completed any studies on mining project infrastructure. 

Market Studies and Contracts 

The Company has not completed any marketing or completed any contracts for processing ores. 

Environmental Studies, Permitting and Social or Community Impact 

The Company has not completed any environmental, permitting and social or community impact 
studies. 

Capital and Operating Costs 

The Company has not completed any capital and operating costs studies. 

Economic Analysis 

The Company has not completed any economic analysis studies. 

Adjacent Properties 

The Mt. Moberly silica mine, immediately adjacent to the northwest part of the ZimFrac-Will Property 
has been in operation for nearly 30 years, producing abrasive, decorative, metallurgical grade and 
recently frac sand silica mostly to US and western Canadian markets (Foye, 1987), public records and 
Northern Silica website. 

Foye, (p. 09) regarding the Moberly operation, states: 

“estimated reserves in 1985 amounted to 10 million tonnes of friable sandstone and 50 million 
tonnes of quartzite. Two grab samples collected in 1975 returned the following percentage 
values: 

SiO2  Fe2O3  CaO  Al2O3  LOI 

99.61  0.07  .005  0.13  0.01 

99.64  0.06  .005  0.10  0.02 

A more recent chemical analyses of washed sand by Mountain Minerals Company Ltd., returned 
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SiO2 Fe2O3 Al2O3 CaO MgO Na2O K2O TiO2 LOI 

99.67 0.02 0.06 0.06 0.02 0.01 0.02 0.01 0.12” 

The Moberly mine was operated by Heemskirk Canada for at least 10 years as a decorative and blast 
sand mine. In 2015, Heemskirk began construction of a frac sand plant at its processing area to take 
advantage of the recent explosive demand for frac sand proppant in the North American oil and gas 
industry. In 2016, Northern Silica Corp. (“Northern Silica”) of Calgary took over operation of the mine 
and advertise a 99.7% silica product (Northern Silica website). It is not known if they produce a 
metallurgical product. 

The Company has other claims covering portions of the silica formation (Figure 8 - south part) south of 
Golden and adjacent to the northwest and east to the former HUNT silica mine now being operated by 
HiTest Sand Inc. as a metallurgical silica source. Andres Kikauka has acquired some of the silica 
formation northwest of the Hunt Mine. 

There are small isolated claims acquired to protect precious metal showings. None of these are adjacent 
to or within the current ZimFrac-Will Property boundaries. 

Other Relevant Data and Information 

The Author is not aware of any other relevant data or information pertaining to the ZimFrac-Will 
Property that has not been reviewed or included in the Technical Report. 

Interpretation and Conclusions 

The reconnaissance mapping and sampling program confirmed the presence of both, and enlarged the 
prospective area of, potential metallurgical grade and quality silica and frac sand proppant on the 
enlarged the ZimFrac-Will Property. On the road accessible west lobe on Frenchman’s Ridge, the 
northern one third of the area sampled had the best silica and lowest boron values (Figure 10A and 
10B). The southern areas, tentatively due to limited sampling, have the best frac sand potential (Figure 
13). On the Table Mountain deposit area (Figure 11), the best values for metallurgical silica are present 
in the central NW striking silica ridge and the eastern extents. No frac sand testing was completed from 
samples taken from this area. The two samples from west upper deposit (Figure 12) which hosts the 
Moberly Silica Mine have favourable silica grades with low boron assays and very good frac sand 
determinations. 

In conclusion, the ZimFrac-Will Property in all areas sampled has proven it hosts potentially metallurgical 
grade silica with low deleterious elements, especially boron. Also, based on very limited sample 
determinations, a number of areas have shown favourable frac sand proppant results from the 
preliminary disaggregation testing completed to date for roundness and (2014) crush resistance 
(Lindinger 2014). Pictorial evidence from the 2014 samples (Lindinger 2014) and the pictorial and 
reported roundness results indicate sub API specifications for frac sand propant based on the limited 
testing and processing completed to date. The adjacent Moberly Silica mine of Northern Silica advertises 
a frac sand proppant product that “exceeds ISO 13503-2 and API specifications” from the same 
formation. The best metallurgical and frac sand areas overlap at surface thru the central area on the 
west lobe. The west lobe in particular has existing resource roads very close to the best areas of both 
deposit types. A tentative conclusion for the more friable frac sand areas is that they appear to be in 
possible pressure shadows from past glaciation where the more easily eroded material is preserved. 
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Recommendations 

The results of the 2017 and past metallurgical and frac sand proppant determination prove that areas of 
potentially merchantable silica and frac sand are present on the ZimFrac-Will Property and especially the 
road accessible west lobe near Golden, British Columbia. Additional exploration expenditures and 
property enlargements are warranted. A Phase 1 exploration program with a $1,200,000 budget is 
recommended based on the merits of exploration results to date. These are detailed below and in Table 
3 also below. 

(1) Frac sand determinations on remainder of 2017 samples. 

(a) All 2017 silica samples having medium or coarser grain size and over 95% silica 
passing a visual friability test (rubbing the sample by hand to see if grains come 
off) should be sent to an approved laboratory with experience in frac sand 
determinations including, unidirectional crushing and Krumbein durability 
testing. The 6 samples completed in 2017 that passed testing so far should also 
be sent to the same lab for Krumbein testing. Included in the testing should be 
acid leaching including HF to see if this would improve friability. An estimated 
16 samples are assumed to pass for complete testing in both the west lobe and 
Table Mountain (southern east upper) deposits. Included on samples with the 
highest roundness would be preliminary processing to improve final roundness 
values. 

(2) Rock sampling. There are many areas on the west lobe that have not yet received any 
sampling. These tend to be around the edges of the deposit on all sides. From 
preliminary surface examinations at the spacings used in 2017 as many as 40 samples 
may have to be taken to completely cover the surface of the west lobe. The lower east 
side upon recollection is very durable and grades into very coarse talus. 

(a) Concurrent with the sampling, mapping efforts to better track the edges of the 
deposit are required. Also recommended are bedding measurements if possible 
from as many locations as possible. 

(3) Due to the relative remoteness, lack of access and often extreme terrain of the 
remainder of the silica formations on the claim block, additional work here should be 
limited. Recommended is to prospect the areas not covered in 2017 and take samples 
from prospective quartzite outcrops that appear to possibly host metallurgical grade 
silica. This stage will have to be helicopter supported and timing should be late August 
to deal with minimum snow pack and favourable weather. Budgeted is 25 samples for 
metallurgical silica and deleterious element-mineral assay. 
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Figure 10A - West Lobe Silica Assay Values 
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WEST LOBE 
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Yellow polygon is estimated extent of the 
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500 m grid in UTM co-ordinates 
X is UTM easting, Y is UTM northing 
Resource Roads – heavy black lines 

Magenta spheres represent greater than 
99.4%, red 99 to 99.4% silica assays. 

Figure 10A 
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Figure 10B - West Lobe Boron Assay Values 
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Figure 11 - Upper East  Table Mountain Silica and Boron Results 
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based on government mapping. 
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Figure 12 - West Upper Zone Silica and Boron Results 
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Figure 13 - West Upper Silica Deposit and West Lobe Frac Sand Determinations 
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(4) Diamond drilling. 

(a) The west lobe, due to its relative road accessibility and more thorough level of 
sampling with zones indicating both favourable metallurgical and frac sand 
results to date, is ready for drill testing. Recommended in the area having the 
best silica and lowest boron is drilling at a 100 m spacing a 500 east west by 400 
m north south area totalling 30 holes centered at 506100 E 5685800 N (Figures 
10A and 10 B). The holes should be at least 50 m deep, or to the underlying 
mudstone-shale. In this area, it is assumed that the deposit is thickening to the 
east and south. The sampled material reporting higher boron values south of 
the area may be a thin overlying bed of silica with higher boron values with the 
better material to the north underlying this portion and partially reappearing 
again to the southwest. Total budgeted meterage is 1500. Recommended in the 
core sampling for metallurgical silica is a sample spacing of not more than 2 m. 
Budgeted here are 700 samples for metallurgical silica. 

(b) Prior to drilling the southern area for frac sand, completion of additional 
sampling is recommended for the southern areas not sampled. As the deposit 
extends off the southern claim boundary, sampling to at least that boundary is 
recommended. If the area provides additional evidence of favourable frac sand 
being present, then drill testing should be completed on the best 350 m by 350 
areas with 16 holes at a 100 m spacing, again to a depth of at least 50 m. Total 
meterage should be approximately 800. Prior to sampling the core for frac sand 
determination, field testing for friability should be completed. Assuming 60% of 
the core passes friability and a 5 m sample spacing, this accounts for 90 samples 
for frac sand determination. 

(5) Acquisition of CR2 claim and exploration 

(a) The Company has acquired a block of ground (CR2 claim, tenure #1057429) 
south and east of the HUNT silica mine south of Horse Creek about 13 to 17 km 
south east of Golden, British Columbia. Recommended, is that this claim, due to 
its favourable geology, access and historic good indications of metallurgical 
grade silica grades (Lindinger, 2010) be rolled into the project. Concurrent to 
that, a systematic sampling program for metallurgical silica be undertaken on 
the northwestern 2 km of the silica formation. Also recommended here is a 
more prospective sampling and mapping program on the remainder of the 
ZimFrac-Will Property. Budgeted is 70 metallurgical samples. The formation 
should also be examined for more friable locations, and if so found, additional 
sampling for frac sand determinations be completed. Budgeted is 5 samples for 
frac sand determinations including Krumbein durability testing. Based on 
expected favourable results, a Phase 2 drilling program of the best area totalling 
16 50 m holes would be recommended. 

(6) Based on positive exploration results from any or all areas tested by the phase 1 
programs Phase 2 expenditures would entail infill and zone extending drilling of the best 
areas determined, including thorough metallurgical and frac sand testing. The budget 
would be based on the sizes of the potentially merchantable zones outlined. 
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Table 5 - Recommended Phase 1 Budget 

 

COST ITEM AREA METRES NO OF SAMPLES MANDAYS RATE TOTALS
MAPPING WEST LOBE 2 900$     1,800$          

MET SAMPLING WEST LOBE 4 550$     2,200$          
MET ANALYSES WEST LOBE 40 60$       2,400$          

2017 FRAC SAMPLING WEST LOBE 16 1,200$ 19,200$       
STAGE 1 FRAC SAMPLING WEST LOBE 12 1,200$ 14,400$       

TECHNICIAN WEST LOBE 4 550$     2,200$          
VEHICLE WEST LOBE 12 550$     6,600$          

DRILLING METALLURGICAL WEST LOBE 1600 150$     240,000$     
MET ANALYSES WEST LOBE 700 60$       42,000$       

GEOLOGIST WEST LOBE 20 900$     18,000$       
CORE TECHNICIAN WEST LOBE 20 550$     11,000$       

CORE SAMPLER WEST LOBE 20 400$     8,000$          
VEHICLE WEST LOBE 40 100$     4,000$          

2017 FRAC SAMPLING TABLE MOUNTAIN 7 1,200$ 8,400$          
MAPPING REGIONAL 5 800$     4,000$          

MET SAMPLING REGIONAL 25 60$       1,500$          
HELICOPTER REGIONAL 6,000$          

VEHICLE REGIONAL 5 100$     400$             
MAPPING CR2 4 800$     3,200$          

MET SAMPLING CR2 70 60$       4,200$          
TECHNICIAN CR2 6 550$     3,300$          

FRAC SAMPLING CR2 5 1,200$ 6,000$          
MANAGEMENT 5% 25,000$       

REPORT 20,000$       
CONTINGENCY 60,000$       

513,800$    

DRILLING FRAC SAND WEST LOBE 800 150$     120,000$     
WEST LOBE 90 1,200$ 108,000$     

GEOLOGIST WEST LOBE 10 900$     9,000$          
CORE TECHNICIAN WEST LOBE 10 550$     5,500$          

CORE SAMPLER WEST LOBE 10 400$     4,000$          
VEHICLE WEST LOBE 20 100$     2,000$          

DRILLING METALLURGICAL CR2 1500 150$     225,000$     
MET ANALYSES CR2 700 60$       42,000$       

GEOLOGIST CR2 20 900$     18,000$       
CORE TECHNICIAN CR2 20 550$     11,000$       

CORE SAMPLER CR2 20 400$     8,000$          
VEHICLE CR2 40 100$     4,000$          

MANAGEMENT 5% CR2 30,000$       
REPORT CR2 20,000$       

CONTINGENCY CR2 80,000$       
686,500$     

1,200,300$ 

 TABLE 5 - RECOMMENDED STAGE 1 PHASE 1 BUDGET

RECOMMENDED STAGE 2 PHASE 1 BUDGET

GRAND TOTAL PHASE ONE EXPENDITURES
TOTAL STAGE 2 PHASE 1 EXPENDITURES

TOTAL STAGE 1 PHASE 1 EXPENDITURES
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References 

For a complete list of references used in the Technical Report, reference should be made to the full text 
of the Technical Report which has been filed with Canadian securities regulatory authorities pursuant to 
NI 43-101 and is available for review under the Company’s profile on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. 

4.4 Companies with Oil and Gas Operations 

This Section 4.4 is not applicable to the Company as it does not have any oil and gas operations. 

5. SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

5.1 Consolidated Financial Information – Annual Information 

The following selected financial information is subject to the detailed information contained in the 
financial statements of the Company and related notes thereto appearing elsewhere in this Listing 
Statement. This information should only be read in conjunction with the financial statements, and 
accompanying notes, included elsewhere in this Listing Statement. The selected financial information is 
derived from the audited financial statements of the Company for the years ended March 31, 2020, 
March 31, 2019, and March 31, 2018 and the interim financial statements for the nine month period 
ended December 31, 2020. This information should only be read in conjunction with the audited 
financial statements for the years ended March 31, 2020, March 31, 2019, and March 31, 2018 and the 
interim financial statements for the nine month period ended December 31, 2020, and accompanying 
notes, which are attached hereto as Schedule B. 

 

For the Interim 
Period Ended 

December 31, 2020 

For the Year Ended 
March 31 
(audited) 

2020 
($) 

2019 
($) 

2018 
($) 

Revenue - - -  

Total Expenses 563,294 760,338 888,016 988,534 

Net and comprehensive income (loss) (563,280) (528,956) (1,012,368) (953,579) 

Income (Loss) per Share – Basic and diluted (0.02) (0.04) (0.01) (0.02) 

Balance Sheet Data:  As at 
March 31, 

2020 
($) 

As at 
March 31, 

2019 
($) 

As at 
March 31, 

2018 
($) 

Total Assets 4,132,434 2,948,377 3,076,034 3,255,900 

Total Liabilities 69,036 43,244 297,477 238,512 

Total Current Assets 249,203 282,253 796,771 1,612,593 

Total Current Liabilities 69,036 43,244 297,477 238,512 

Shareholders’ Equity (deficit) 4,063,398 2,905,133 2,778,557 3,255,900 

http://www.sedar.com/
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5.2 Consolidated Financial Information – Quarterly Information 

The results of the Company for each of the eight most recently completed quarters ending at the end of 
the most recently competed fiscal year, namely March 31, 2020, are summarized below: 

Fiscal 2020 
(unaudited and prepared in accordance with GAAP) 

 March 31, 
2020 

($) 

December 31, 
2019 
($) 

September 30, 
2019 

($) 

June 30, 
2019 
($) 

Revenue - - - - 

Total Expenses 202,921 146,544 128,755 282,118 

Net and Comprehensive Income 
and (Loss) (198,041) (74,087) (38,738) (218,090) 

Income (Loss) per Share – Basic 
and diluted (0.04) (0.01) (0.00) (0.00) 

 
Fiscal 2019 

(unaudited and prepared in accordance with GAAP) 

 March 31, 
2019 

($) 

December 31, 
2018 
($) 

September 30, 
2018 

($) 

June 30, 
2018 
($) 

Revenue - - - - 

Total Expenses 177,060 177,005 329,94 204,010 

Net and Comprehensive Income 
and (Loss) (307,989) (175,444) (329,336) (199,599) 

Income (Loss) per Share – Basic 
and diluted (0.04) (0.04) (0.02) (0.03) 

5.3 Dividends 

The Company does not have a dividend policy and, as of the date of this Listing Statement, has not paid 
any dividends on its Common Shares to its Shareholders. 

5.4 Foreign Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) 

This Section 5.4 is not applicable to the Company. 

6. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

The Company’s management’s discussion and analysis of its financial statements for the years ended 
March 31, 2020, March 31, 2019 and March 31, 2018 and the interim financial statements for the nine 
month period ended December 31, 2020 are attached hereto as Schedule C. 
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7. MARKET FOR SECURITIES 

Prior to the Listing, the Common Shares were listed on the TSXV under the symbol “GMC”. The Common 
Shares are currently listed on the CSE under the symbol “GMC” and the OTCQB operated by the OTC 
Markets Group in the United States under the stock symbol “RGDCF”. 

8. CONSOLIDATED CAPITALIZATION 

The following table sets forth the capitalization of the Company as of March 31, 2020. This table should 
be read in conjunction with the Section 6 – “Management’s Discussion and Analysis” of this Listing 
Application and the consolidated financial statements and related notes appearing elsewhere in this 
Listing Application. 

Designation of 
Security 

Number of 
Authorized 

Number of Shares 
Issued and Outstanding 

Common Shares Unlimited number 
without par value 14,788,817(1)(2) 

(1) Does not include Shares reserved for issuance pursuant to outstanding stock options or other 
convertible securities of the Company. 

(2) Calculated on a post-Consolidation basis. 

Except as disclosed below, there have been no material changes in the Company’s share and loan capital 
since March 31, 2020. 

On July 17, 2020, the Company issued 8,040,000 units of the Company at a price of $0.075 per unit for 
gross aggregate proceeds of $603,000. Each unit consisted of one Common Share and one transferable 
Warrant. Each Warrant entitles the holder to purchase one additional Common Share at an exercise 
price of $0.12 for a period of 24 months from the date of issue. In connection with the private 
placement, the Company paid finder’s fees of $19,410 and issued 258,800 finder’s Warrants. Each 
finder’s Warrant entitles the holder to purchase one additional Common Share at an exercise price of 
$0.12 per Common Shares for a period of 24 months from the date of issue. 

On August 12, 2020, the Company issued 3,000,000 units of the Company at a price of $0.12 per unit for 
gross aggregate process of $360,000. Each unit consisted of one Common Share and one transferable 
Warrant. Each Warrant entitles the holder to purchase one additional Common Share at an exercise 
price of $0.12 for a period of 24 months from the date of issue. 

On August 12, 2020, the Company issued 2,000,000 Common Shares at a deemed price of $0.07125 per 
Common Share in connection with the acquisition of the Freeman Creek Property. See “General 
Development of the Business – Mineral Properties – USA – Freeman Creek Property” for more 
information. 

During the period ended December 31, 2020, there were 2,364,000 Common Shares issued due to the 
exercise of warrants. 

On February 25, 2021, the Company issued 500,000 Common Shares at a deemed price of $0.0825 per 
Common Shares to O3 Mining as consideration for the January 26, 2021 amendment to the FCI Property 
Option Agreement. See “General Development of the Business – Mineral Properties – Canada – Québec 
Properties – FCI Property (East and West Blocks)” for more information. 
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On March 23, 2021, the Company issued 2,000,000 Common Shares at a deemed price of $0.07125 per 
Common Share and 1,000,000 Warrants in order to acceleration the exercise of the Company’s option to 
acquire the Freeman Creek Property in accordance with the terms of the Freeman Creek Option 
Agreement. Each warrant entitles the holder thereof to purchase one Common Share at an exercise 
price of $0.10 per Common Share for a period of 3 years from the date of issue. See “General 
Development of the Business – Mineral Properties – USA – Freeman Creek Property” for more 
information. 

As of the date of this Listing Statement, the outstanding capital of the Company consists of: 

Designation of Security Authorized 
Number of Securities 

Issued or Reserved 
Percentage of Fully Diluted 

Issued and Outstanding 

Common Shares Unlimited 32,692,817 61.37% 

Stock Options(1)(2) - 2,657,400 4.99% 
Warrants(2) - 17,917,451 33.64% 

Total: 53,267,668 100% 
(1) See “Options to Purchase Securities” and for more information. 
(2) See “Capitalization – Convertible Securities” for more information. 

9. OPTIONS TO PURCHASE SECURITIES 

On February 21, 2014, the Board adopted and approved the Stock Option Plan. Pursuant to the terms of 
the Stock Option Plan, the Board may grant options (each, and “Option”) to purchase Common Shares 
to officers, directors and employees of the Company or affiliated corporations and to consultants 
retained by the Company. 

The purpose of the Stock Option Plan is to attract, retain, and motivate officers, directors, employees 
and other service providers by providing them with the opportunity, through options, to acquire an 
interest in the Company and benefit from the Company’s growth. Under the Stock Option Plan, the 
maximum number of Common Shares reserved for issuance, including Options currently outstanding, is 
equal to 10% of the Common Shares outstanding from time to time (the “10% Maximum”). The 10% 
Maximum is an “evergreen” provision, meaning that, following the exercise, termination, cancellation or 
expiration of any Options, a number of Common Shares equivalent to the number of options so 
exercised, terminated, cancelled or expired would automatically become reserved and available for 
issuance in respect of future Option grants. 

The number of Common Shares which may be the subject of Options on a yearly basis to any one person 
cannot exceed 5% of the number of issued and outstanding Common Shares at the time of the grant. 
Options may be granted to any employee, officer, director, consultant, affiliate or subsidiary of the 
Company exercisable at a price which is not less than the market price of Common Shares of the 
Company on the date of the grant. The directors of the Company may, by resolution, determine the time 
period during which any Option may be exercised (the “Exercise Period”), provided that the Exercise 
Period does not contravene any rule or regulation of such exchange on which the Common Shares may 
be listed. 

All Options will terminate on the earliest to occur of: (A) the expiry of their term; the date of termination 
of an optionee’s employment, office or position as director, if terminated for just cause; (c) 90 days (or 
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such other period of time as permitted by any rule or regulation of such exchange on which the 
Common Shares may be listed) following the date of termination of an optionee’s position as a director 
or NEO (as defined below), if terminated for any reason other than the optionee’s disability or death; (d) 
30 days following the date of termination of an optionee’s position as a consultant engaged in investor 
relations activities, if terminated for any reason other than the optionee’s disability, death, or just cause; 
and (e) the date of any sale, transfer or assignment of the Option. 

Options are non-assignable and are subject to early termination in the event of the death of a 
participant or in the event a participant ceases to be a NEO, director, employee, consultant, affiliate, or 
subsidiary of the Company, as the case may be. Subject to the foregoing restrictions, and certain other 
restrictions set out in the Stock Option Plan, the Board is authorized to provide for the granting of 
Options and the exercise and method of exercise of options granted under the Stock Option Plan. 

The full text of the Stock Option Plan is attached as Schedule C to the Company’s Management 
Information Circular dated August 8, 2017 and filed on SEDAR at www.sedar.com on August 18, 2017. 

As at the date of this Listing Statement, there are 2,657,400 stock options outstanding as follows: 

Persons who hold Options 
Number of Stock 

Options 

Exercise 
Price 

($) Expiry Date 

Current Market 
Value of 

Common Shares 
under Option(1) 

All officers of the Company, 
as a group (3 persons) 

275,000 0.14 July 24, 2022 $26,125 

375,000 0.60 January 14, 2023 $35,625 

650,000 0.10 November 19, 2023 $61,750 

All directors and past 
directors of the Company 
who are not also officers, as a 
group (4 person) 

50,000 0.60 July 11, 2021 $4,750 

60,000 0.60 May 2, 2022 $5,700 

125,000 0.14 July 24, 2022 $11,875 

300,000 0.60 January 14, 2023 $28,500 

80,000 0.09 February 3, 2023 $7,600 

250,000 0.10 November 19, 2023 $23,750 

All other employees and past 
employees of the Company 
(Nil persons) 

- - - - 

All consultants of the 
Company (3 persons) 

392,400 0.14 July 24, 2022 $37,278 

100,000 0.10 November 19, 2023 $9,500 

All other persons (Nil 
persons) - - - - 

Total: 2,657,400  $252,453 
(1) Based on a market price of $0.95 per Common Share on the TSXV on March 27, 2021. 

The full text of the Stock Option Plan is attached as Schedule C to the Company’s Management 
Information Circular dated August 8, 2017 and filed on SEDAR at www.sedar.com on August 18, 2017. 

http://www.sedar.com/
http://www.sedar.com/


- 69 - 

10. DESCRIPTION OF THE SECURITIES 

10.1 Description of Company’s Securities 

Common Shares 

The Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of Common Shares without par value, which, 
as of the date of this Listing Statement, there are 32,692,817 fully paid and non-assessable Common 
Shares issued and outstanding. 

The holders of Common Shares are entitled to dividends if, as and when declared by the Board. The 
holders of the Common Shares shall be entitled to vote at all meetings of Shareholders of the Company 
and at all such meetings each such holder has one (1) vote for each Common Share held. Each holder of 
Common Shares is, upon liquidation, entitled to share equally in such assets of the Company as are 
distributable to the holders of Common Shares. 

In the event of a liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company, whether voluntary or 
involuntary, or other distribution of assets or property of the Company amongst its Shareholders for the 
purpose of winding up its affairs, Shareholders will be entitled to receive all property and assets of the 
Company properly distributable to the Shareholders. 

There are no pre-emptive rights, no conversion or exchange rights, no redemption, retraction, purchase 
for cancellation or surrender provisions. There are no sinking or purchase fund provisions, no provisions 
permitting or restricting the issuance of additional securities or any other material restrictions, and 
there are no provisions which are capable of requiring a security holder to contribute additional capital. 

10.2 Debt Securities 

This Section 10.2 is not applicable to the Company. 

10.3 Not numbered in the Form 2A. 

10.4 Other Securities 

This Section 10.4 is not applicable to the Company. 

10.5 Modification Terms 

This Section 10.5 is not applicable to the Company. 

10.6 Other Attributes 

This Section 10.6 is not applicable to the Company. 

10.7 Prior Sales of Common Shares 

In the 12 months prior to the date of this Listing Statement, the Company issued the following 
securities: 
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Date of Issue Type of Security Price Number 

July 17, 2020 Units(1) $0.075 8,040,000 

August 12, 2020 Units(2) $0.12 3,000,000 

August 12, 2020 Common Shares(3) $0.07125 2,000,000 

February 25, 2021 Common Shares(4) $0.0825 500,000 

March 23, 2021 Common Shares(5) $0.0825 2,000,000 
(1) Each unit consisted of one Common Share and one transferable Warrant. Each Warrant entitles the holder to purchase 

one additional Common Share at an exercise price of $0.12 for a period of 24 months from the date of issue. 
(2) Each unit consisted of one Common Share and one transferable Warrant. Each Warrant entitles the holder to purchase 

one additional Common Share at an exercise price of $0.12 for a period of 24 months from the date of issue. 
(3) These Common Shares were issued pursuant to the Freeman Creek Option Agreement at a deemed price of $0.07125 

per Common Share. See “General Development of the Business – Mineral Properties – USA – Freeman Creek Property” 
for more information. 

(4) These Common Shares were issued pursuant to the FCI Property Option Agreement at a deemed price of $0.0825 per 
Common Share. See “General Development of the Business – Mineral Properties – Canada – Québec Properties – FCI 
Property (East and West Blocks)” for more information. 

(5) These Common Shares were issued pursuant to the Freeman Creek Option Agreement at a deemed price of $0.07125 
per Common Share. See “General Development of the Business – Mineral Properties – USA – Freeman Creek Property” 
for more information. 

10.8 Stock Exchange Price 

The Common Shares are currently listed on the CSE under the symbol “GMC” and on the OTCQB 
operated by the OTC Markets Group in the United States under the stock symbol “RGDCF”. Previously, 
the Company had its Common Shares traded on the TSXV under the symbol “GMC” from October 17, 
2019. 

The following table sets out the high, low and closing trading prices and total trading volume of Gaia’ 
Common Shares on the TSXV on a monthly basis for each month of the current quarter, for each month 
of the quarter immediately preceding the current quarter, and on a quarterly basis for the next 
preceding seven quarters: 

TSXV 

Period High Low Close Volume Traded 
May 1, 2021 to May 27, 2021 $0.095 $0.08 $0.095 1,150,252 

Month ended April 30, 2021 $0.10 $0.075 $0.08 1,274,878 

Quarter ended March 31, 2021 $0.13 $0.085 $0.095 7,617,370 

Quarter ended December 31, 2020 $0.14 $0.075 $0.10 4,213,375 

Quarter ended September 30, 2020 $0.175 $0.09 $0.12 5,338,696 

Quarter ended June 30, 2020 $0.12 $0.03 $0.10 4,275,023 

Quarter ended March 31, 2020 $0.105 $0.055 $0.055 1,727,300 

Quarter ended December 31, 2019 $0.23 $0.08 $0.085 1,538,304 
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TSXV 

Period High Low Close Volume Traded 
Quarter ended September 30, 2019 The Common Shares began trading on the TSXV on October 17, 2019. 

The following table sets out the high, low and closing trading prices and total trading volume of Gaia’ 
Common Shares on the OTCQB on a monthly basis for each month of the current quarter, for each 
month of the quarter immediately preceding the current quarter, and on a quarterly basis for the next 
preceding seven quarters: 

OTCQB 

Period High Low Close Volume Traded 
May 1, 2021 to May 27, 2021 US$0.078 US$0.0645 US$0.075 111,204 

Month ended April 30, 2021 US$0.0847 US$0.0579 US$0.0696 267,859 

Quarter ended March 31, 2021 US$0.112 US$0.0688 US$0.0704 4,739.093 

Quarter ended December 31, 2020 US$0.116 US$0.058 US$0.0825 111,858 

Quarter ended September 30, 2020 US$0.133 US$0.65 US$0.897 313,497 

Quarter ended June 30, 2020 US$0.082 US$0.0263 US$0.082 74,242 

Quarter ended March 31, 2020 US$0.0773 US$0.055 US$0.055 30,508 

Quarter ended December 31, 2019 US$0.0821 US$0.0619 US$0.0744 4,450 

Quarter ended September 30, 2019 US$0.3354 US$0.141 US$0.181 10,795 

11. ESCROWED SECURITIES AND POOLING AGREEMENTS 

As at the date of this Listing Statement, the Company has no shares subject to escrow or pooling 
agreements. 

12. PRINCIPAL SHAREHOLDERS 

12.1 Principal Shareholders 

To the knowledge of the directors and senior officers of the Company, no person or company 
beneficially owns, directly or indirectly, or exercises control or direction over, common shares of the 
Company carrying more than 10% of the voting rights attached to all outstanding common shares of the 
Company. 

13. DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS 

13.1 13.2, 13.3, 13.5 Directors and Officers 

The following table sets the name, residence and principal occupation of each director and executive 
officer of the Company. In addition, the table shows the date on which each individual first became a 
director and/or officer and the number of common shares of the Company that each individual 
beneficially owns, or exercises control or direction over, directly or indirectly, as of the date of this 
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Listing Statement. The information as to shares owned beneficially, not being within the knowledge of 
the Company, has been forwarded by the directors and officers individually. 

Name, 
Place of Residence 

and Position(s) 
with the Company 

Principal Occupation, 
Business or Employment 

for Last Five Years(1) 
Director and/or 

Officer Since 

No. of  
Common 

Shares 
Owned(1) 

Percentage of 
Common 
Shares(2) 

David Blair Way 
Newport, QLD 
President and 
Director 

President, CEO and a director of 
Leading Edge Materials Corp. from 

2013 to 2019; director of Aguila 
American Gold Limited from 2012 to 

present. 

President since 
December 3, 2020 

Director since 
November 3, 2020 

317,000(4) * 

Adrian Lamoureux(3) 
New Westminster, 
BC 
CEO and Director 

CEO of the Company. 
CEO and director 
since January 15, 

2014 
55,000 * 

Dusan Berka 
Vancouver, BC 
CFO and Director 

Professional Engineer; CFO of the 
Company; director of several public 

companies. 

CFO since 
March 28, 2013 
Director since 
March 2, 2012 

580,000(5) 1.77% 

Kelly Pladson 
Bowen Island, BC 
Corporate Secretary  

Self-Employed Administrative 
Consultant. February 28, 2017 10,000(6) * 

Paul Chung(3) 
Richmond, BC 
Director 

Director of BOA Services Ltd., a 
privately held consulting company; 

director and officer of several public 
companies. 

September 2, 2009 Nil - 

Todd Hanas(3) 
Coquitlam, BC 
Director 

Consultant, director and/or officer to 
various publicly traded companies. January 13, 2020 Nil - 

Darren Smith 
Québec, QB 
Vice President of 
Exploration 

Registered Professional Geologist May 14, 2019 235,000 * 

* Means less than 1%. 
(1) Information has been furnished by the respective officers/directors individually. 
(2) Based on 32,692,817 Common Shares outstanding as at the date hereof. 
(3) Member of the Audit Committee and the Investment Committee. 
(4) Common Shares held by Ironbark Enterprises Ltd., a company controlled Mr. Way. 
(5) Comprised of 450,000 Common Shares held by Duster Capital Corp., a company controlled Mr. Berka. 
(6) Common Shares held by Nia Capital Corp., a company controlled Ms. Pladson. 

See “Directors and Officers – Other Directorships” and “Directors and Officers – Management” for more 
details on the principal occupation, business and employment of each director and officer of the 
Company over the last five years. 
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As of the date of this Listing Statement, the directors and executive officers of the Company beneficially 
own, directly or indirectly, as a group 1,197,000 Common Shares representing approximately 3.66% of 
all outstanding Common Shares on a non-dilutive basis. 

13.4 Board Committees 

Audit Committee 

The Company’s only committee is the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee’s role is to act in an 
objective, independent capacity as a liaison between the auditors, management and the Board and to 
ensure the auditors have a facility to consider and discuss governance and audit issues with parties not 
directly responsible for operations. NI 52-110, NI 41-101 and Form 52-110F1 require the Company to 
disclose certain information relating to the Company’s Audit Committee and its relationship with the 
Company’s independent auditors. 

Audit Committee Charter 

Pursuant to NI 52-110, the Company’s Audit Committee is required to have a charter. The Company’s 
Audit Committee Charter is attached hereto as Schedule D to this Listing Statement. The Audit 
Committee fulfills its responsibilities primarily by carrying out the activities enumerated in the Audit 
Committee charter. 

Composition of Audit Committee 

The members of the Company’s Audit Committee are: 

Name Independent(1) Financially Literate(2) 

Adrian Lamoureux No Yes 

Paul Chung Yes Yes 

Todd Hanas Yes Yes 
(1) A member of an audit committee is independent if the member has no direct or indirect material relationship 

with the Company, which could, in the view of the Board, reasonably interfere with the exercise of a 
member’s independent judgment. 

(2) An individual is financially literate if he has the ability to read and understand a set of financial statements 
that present a breadth of complexity of accounting issues that are generally comparable to the breadth and 
complexity of the issues that can reasonably be expected to be raised by the Company’s financial statements. 

Adrian Lamoureux, the CEO of the Company, is not “independent” as defined in NI 52-110 as Mr. 
Lamoureux is an executive officer of the Company. Messrs. Chung and Hanas are independent and, 
therefore, a majority of the members of the Audit Committee are independent directors. The Company 
is relying on the exemption provided by section 6.1 of NI 52-110 which provides that the Company, as a 
venture issuer, is not required to comply with Part 3 (Composition of the Audit Committee) and Part 5 
(Reporting Obligations) of NI 52-110. 

All of the Audit Committee members are “financially literate”, as defined in NI 52-110, as all of the Audit 
Committee members have the ability to read and understand a set of financial statements that present 
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a breadth and level of complexity of accounting issues that are generally comparable to the breadth and 
complexity of the issues that can reasonably be expected to be raised by the Company’s financial 
statements. 

Relevant Education and Experience 

The education background or experience of the following Audit Committee members has enabled each 
to perform his responsibilities as an Audit Committee member and has provided the member with an 
understanding of the accounting principles used by the Company to prepare its financial statements, the 
ability to assess the general application of such accounting principles in connection with the accounting 
for estimates, accruals and reserves as well as experience preparing, auditing, analyzing or evaluating 
financial statements that present a breadth and level of complexity of accounting issues that are 
generally comparable to the breadth and complexity of issues that can reasonably be expected to be 
raised by the Company’s financial statements, or experience actively supervising one or more individuals 
engaged in such activities and an understanding of internal controls and procedures for financial 
reporting: 

Adrian Lamoureux 

Mr. Lamoureux has more than ten years of experience in management and finance of both 
private and public companies, specializing in the design and implementation of market 
strategies and corporate development. Mr. Lamoureux has also assisted several public 
companies with building and executing their business plans and has financed a number of 
successful private and public companies. 

Paul Chung 

Mr. Chung has approximately 24 years of professional experience in the management of public 
companies. He is a director of several reporting issuers. Mr. Chung is the President of BOA 
Services Ltd., a private consulting company. 

Mr. Chung holds a Bachelor of Science from the University of British Columbia and a Master of 
Business Administration from the University of Athabasca, Alberta, and is a Fellow of the 
Geological Association of Canada. 

Todd Hanas 

Mr. Hanas has served as an officer and/or director of several publicly traded and private 
companies over the past 10 years. 

Audit Committee Oversight 

At no time since the commencement of the Company’s most recently completed financial year was a 
recommendation of the Audit Committee to nominate or compensate an external auditor not adopted 
by the Board. 
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Reliance on Certain Exemptions 

At no time since the commencement of the Company’s most recently completed financial year has Gaia 
relied on the exemption in Sections 2.4, 6.1.1(4), 6.1.1(5), or 6.1.1(6) or Part 8 of NI 52-110. Section 2.4 
(De Minimis Non-audit Services) provides an exemption from the requirement that the Audit Committee 
must pre-approve all non-audit services to be provided by the auditor, where the total amount of fees 
related to the non-audit services are not expected to exceed 5% of the total fees payable to the auditor 
in the financial year in which the non-audit services were provided. Sections 6.1.1(4) (Circumstance 
Affecting the Business or Operations of the Venture Issuer), 6.1.1(5) (Events Outside Control of Member) 
and 6.1.1(6) (Death, Incapacity or Resignation) provide exemptions from the requirement that a 
majority of the members of the Audit Committee must not be executive officers, employees or control 
persons of the Company or of an affiliate of the Company. Part 8 (Exemptions) permits a company to 
apply to a securities regulatory authority or regulator for an exemption from the requirements of NI 52-
110 in whole or in part. 

Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures 

The Audit Committee has adopted specific policies and procedures for the engagement of non-audit 
services. Subject to the requirements of NI 52-110, the engagement of non-audit services is considered 
by the Audit Committee on a case-by-case basis. 

External Auditor Service Fees 

In the following table, “audit fees” are fees billed by Manning Elliott LLP, the Company’s external 
auditor, for services provided in auditing the Company’s annual financial statements for the subject 
year. 

The aggregate fees billed by the Company’s external auditor in the last two fiscal years ended March 31, 
2020 and 2019, by category, are as follows: 

Financial Year Ending Audit Fees Audit Related Fees(1) Tax Fees(2) All Other Fees(3) 

March 31, 2020 $22,500 Nil Nil Nil 

March 31, 2019 $20,000 Nil Nil Nil 
(1) Audit-related fees are fees not included in audit fees that are billed by the auditor for assurance and related services 

that are reasonably related to the performance of the audit review of the Company’s financial statements. 
(2) Tax fees are fees billed by the auditor for professional services rendered for tax compliance, tax advice and tax planning. 
(3) All other fees are fees billed by the auditor for products and services not included in the foregoing categories. 

Other Directorships 

The following directors are currently directors of other reporting issuers as set out below: 
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Name of Director Names of Other Reporting Issuers 

David Blair Way Aguila American Gold Ltd. (TSXV: AGL, FSE: A2DR6E, OTCQB: AGLAF) 

Dusan Berka 

Madoro Metals Corp. (TSXV: MDV, FSE: M5QN, OTC Grey: MSTXF) 

Aguila American Gold Ltd. (TSXV: AGL, FSE: A2DR6E, OTCQB: AGLAF) 

Eloro Resources Ltd. (TSXV: ELO, FSE: P2QM, OTCQX: ELRRF) 

Straightup Resources Inc. (CSE: ST) 

Paul Chung Troubadour Resources Inc. (TSXV: TR, OTC Pink: TROUF) 

Orientation and Continuing Education 

The Board briefs all new directors with respect to the policies of the Board and other relevant corporate 
and business information. The Board does not provide any continuing education. That said, Board 
members are encouraged to communicate with management, auditors and technical consultants, to 
keep themselves current with industry trends and developments and changes in legislation with 
management’s assistance and to attend related industry seminars and visit the Company’s operations. 

Ethical Business Conduct 

The Board views good corporate governance as an integral component to the success of the Company 
and to meet responsibilities to Shareholders. The Board has adopted a Code of Conduct and has 
instructed its management and employees to abide by the Code of Conduct. 

In addition to the Code of Conduct, the Board has found that the fiduciary duties placed on individual 
directors by the Company’s governing corporate legislation and the common law and the restrictions 
placed by applicable corporate legislation on an individual director’s participation in decisions of the 
Board in which the director has an interest have been sufficient to ensure that the Board operates 
independently of management and in the best interests of the Company. 

Nomination of Directors 

The Board has responsibility for identifying potential Board candidates. The Board assesses potential 
Board candidates to fill perceived needs on the Board for required skills, expertise, independence and 
other factors. Members of the Board and representatives of the Company’s industry are consulted for 
possible candidates. 



- 77 - 

Compensation 

To determine compensation payable, the independent directors review compensation paid for directors 
and executive officers of companies of similar size and stage of development in the mineral exploration 
industry and determine an appropriate compensation reflecting the need to provide incentive and 
compensation for the time and effort expended by the directors and senior management while taking 
into account the financial and other resources of the Company. In setting the compensation, the 
independent directors annually review the performance of the President, CEO and CFO in light of the 
Company’s objectives and consider other factors that may have impacted the success of the Company in 
achieving its objectives. 

Other Board Committees 

As the directors are actively involved in the operations of the Company and the size of the Company’s 
operations does not warrant a larger board of directors, the Board has determined that additional 
committees beyond the Audit Committee are not necessary at this stage of the Company’s 
development. See “Board Committees – Audit Committee” for more details with respect to the Audit 
Committee. 

Assessments 

The Board does not consider that formal assessments would be useful at this stage of the Company’s 
development. The Board conducts informal annual assessments of the Board’s effectiveness, the 
individual directors and each of its committees. To assist in its review, the Board conducts informal 
surveys of its directors. 

Nomination and Assessment 

The Board determines new nominees to the Board, although a formal process has not been adopted. 
The nominees are generally the result of recruitment efforts by the Board members, including both 
formal and informal discussions among Board members and the President and CEO. The Board monitors 
but does not formally assess the performance of individual Board members or committee members or 
their contributions. 

Expectations of Management 

The Board expects management to operate the business of the Company in a manner that enhances 
Shareholder value and is consistent with the highest level of integrity. Management is expected to 
execute the Company’s business plan and to meet performance goals and objectives 

13.5 Director and Officer Principal Occupations 

The principal occupation of the Company’s directors and officers is disclosed in the table above. 

13.6 Corporate Cease Trade Orders or Bankruptcies 

To the knowledge of the Company, no director, officer or promoter of the Company, or a securityholder 
holding a sufficient number of securities of the Company to affect materially the control of the 
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Company, has been, within 10 years before the date of this Listing Statement, a director, officer or 
promoter of any person or company that, while that person was acting in that capacity: 

(a) was the subject of a cease trade or similar order, or an order that denied the issuer access to 
any exemptions under applicable securities laws, for a period of more than 30 consecutive days; 
or  

(b) became bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or 
was subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors or had 
a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold its assets. 

13.7 Penalties or Sanctions 

To the knowledge of the Company, no proposed director, officer or promoter of the Company, or a 
securityholder anticipated to hold sufficient securities of the Company to affect materially the control of 
the Company, has 

(a) been subject to any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to securities legislation or 
by a securities regulatory authority or has entered into a settlement agreement with a securities 
regulatory authority; or 

(b) been subject to any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body, 
including a self-regulatory body, that would be likely to be considered important to a reasonable 
securityholder making a decision about the Transaction. 

13.8 Settlement Agreements 

This Section 13.9 is not applicable to the Company. 

13.9 Personal Bankruptcies 

To the knowledge of the Company, no proposed director, officer or promoter of the Company, or a 
securityholder anticipated to hold sufficient securities of the Company to affect materially the control of 
the Company, or a personal holding company of any such persons, has, within the 10 years before the 
date of this Listing Statement, become bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to 
bankruptcy or insolvency, or been subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise 
with creditors, or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold the assets of the 
director, officer or promoter. 

13.10 Existing or Potential Conflicts of Interest 

The directors of the Company are required by law to act honestly and in good faith with a view to the 
best interest of the Company and to disclose any interests with they may have in any project or 
opportunity of the Company. If a conflict of interest arises at a meeting of the Board, any director in a 
conflict will disclose his interest and abstain from voting on such matter. In determining whether or not 
the Company will participate in any project or opportunity, that director will primarily consider the 
degree of risk to which the Company may be exposed and its financial position at that time. 
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Except as described in “Interest of Management and Others in Material Transactions” below, to the 
knowledge of the Company, there are no known existing or potential conflicts of interest among the 
Company and its promoters, directors, officers or other members of management, as a result of their 
outside business interests except that certain of the directors, officers, promoters and other members of 
management serve as directors, officers, promotes and members of management of other public 
companies, and therefore it is possible that a conflict may arise between their duties as a director, 
officer, promoter or member of management of such other companies. 

13.11 Management 

The following is a brief description of the proposed key members of management of the Company. In 
addition to the information below, see the table in Section 13.1 – Directors and Officers – Name, 
Occupation and Security Holding for more information. 

David Blair Way – President and Director 

Mr. Way, age 58, was appointed as President and as a director of the Company on December 3, 2020 
and as a director of the Company on November 3, 2020. 

Mr. Way is a seasoned resource professional with a career spanning over 25 years that has 
encompassed exploration, development, and mining construction throughout Australia, Asia, Canada, 
the United States and Europe. Mr. Way has been successful in building and managing teams that have 
commissioned mines into production. Mr. Way served as President, CEO and director of Leading Edge 
Materials Corp. from September 2013 to January 2019. Prior to Leading Edge Mr. Way was CEO of Strike 
Graphite and CEO of Aguila American Gold Ltd. Prior to that he held executive positions with TSX listed 
Ventana Gold Corp. and OceanaGold Corporation. Mr. Way holds a Bachelor of Science (Geology) from 
Acadia University in Nova Scotia, Canada, an MBA from the University of Queensland, Australia, and is a 
Fellow of the Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy. 

Mr. Way devotes approximately 50% of his time to perform the work required in connection with acting 
as President and as a director of the Company. Mr. Way is an independent contractor of the Company 
and has entered into a non-competition and non-disclosure agreement with the Company. See 
“Executive Compensation – Employment, Consulting and Management Agreements” for more 
information. 

Adrian Lamoureux – CEO and Director 

Mr. Lamoureux, age 45, was appointed as CEO and as a director of the Company on January 15, 2014. 
Previously, Mr. Lamoureux served as President of the Company from January 15, 2014 to December 3, 
2020. 

Mr. Lamoureux has worked in the venture capital markets since 2010, involved in the design and 
implementation of market strategies and corporate development. Mr. Lamoureux has an interest in the 
mineral exploration and development sector. During his time working in the venture capital markets, 
Mr. Lamoureux has financed a number of successful private and public companies. 

Mr. Lamoureux devotes approximately 50% of his time to perform the work required in connection with 
acting as CEO and as a director of the Company. Mr. Lamoureux is an independent contractor of the 
Company and has entered into a non-competition and non-disclosure agreement with the Company. See 
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“Executive Compensation – Employment, Consulting and Management Agreements” for more 
information. 

Dusan Berka – CFO and Director 

Mr. Berka, age 75, has served as CFO of the Company since December 4, 2018. Prior to his appointment 
as CFO, Mr. Berka had been the controller of the Company since October 2017. 

Mr. Berka has extensive experience in the management, marketing, promotion and administration of 
public companies as well as in corporate communication, shareholders information, public relations and 
contract negotiation. Mr. Berka has served as a director and/or officer of various public companies 
traded on the TSX and TSXV, the CSE and the NASDAQ in the USA. Currently, Mr. Berka serves as a 
director of Aguila American Gold Ltd., Eloro Resources Inc., Madoro Metals Corp. and Straightup 
Resources Inc. Mr. Berka holds a degree in engineering with a M.Sc. (Dipl. Ing.) degree from the Slovak 
Technical University, Bratislava, Slovakia (1968). Mr. Berka is currently a Life Member (non-practicing) of 
the Association of Professional Engineers and Geoscientists of British Columbia, having been a member 
of the association since 1977. 

Mr. Berka devotes approximately 25% of his time to perform the work required in connection with 
acting as CFO and as a director of the Company. Mr. Berka is an independent contractor of the Company 
and has entered into a non-competition and non-disclosure agreement with the Company. See 
“Executive Compensation – Employment, Consulting and Management Agreements” for more 
information. 

Kelly Pladson – Corporate Secretary 

Ms. Pladson, age 38, has served as the Corporate Secretary of the Company since February 28, 2017 
where she works with the Company’s management and legal counsel in maintaining corporate records, 
material filings, and day to day operations. Since 2009, Ms. Pladson has provided corporate governance 
and regulatory compliance services to various TSX-V listed companies and CSE-listed companies, 
including Nova Mentis Life Science Corp. (Formerly Liberty Leaf Holdings Ltd.) and Alchemist Mining 
Incorporated . Ms. Pladson is a self-employed administrative consultant. 

Ms. Pladson devotes approximately 20% of her time to perform the work required in connection with 
acting as Corporate Secretary of the Company. Ms. Pladson has not entered into a non-competition or 
non-disclosure agreement with the Company. 

Paul Chung – Director 

Mr. Chung, age 63, has served as a director of the Company since September 2, 2009. 

Mr. Chung has more than 23 years of experience in the exploration and mining sector. Mr. Chung 
currently serves as a director of Troubadour Resources Inc. and formerly served as a director of Red Pine 
Petroleum Inc. until May 31, 2019 and as a director of TNR Gold Corp until January 25, 2017. Mr. Chung 
has over 22 years of international experience and expertise in the management of public companies. 

Mr. Chung devotes approximately 5% of his time to perform the work required in connection with acting 
as a director of the Company. Mr. Chung has not entered into a non-competition or non-disclosure 
agreement with the Company. 
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Todd Hanas – Director 

Mr. Hanas, age 53, has served as a director of the Company since January 13, 2020. 

Todd Hanas is the Founder, CEO and a director of New Target Mining Corp. Mr. Hanas is also the 
President and CEO of Bluesky Corporate Communications Ltd., a business communications, corporate 
finance and investor relations/consulting firm for both private and public companies with its primary 
focus on the resource sector. 

Mr. Hanas devotes approximately 5% of his time to perform the work required in connection with acting 
as a director of the Company. Mr. Hanas has not entered into a non-competition or non-disclosure 
agreement with the Company. 

Darren Smith – Vice President of Exploration 

Mr. Smith, age 41, has served as the Company’s Vice President of Exploration since May 14, 2019. 

Mr. Smith’ experience spans high-level project management, including program design and 
implementation, technical reporting, land management, community engagement, and corporate 
disclosure. Mr. Smith has provided technical oversight for PEA, PFS, and FS level project advancement 
and has setup and monitored complex metallurgical programs for various commodities. 

As a registered Professional Geologist with the Ordre des Géologues du Québec, Mr. Smith has over 13 
years of experience in the mineral exploration industry and holds a master’s degree in Geology from 
Carleton University in Ottawa. Mr. Smith currently works out of Québec City, QC, as a Senior Geologist 
and Project Manager with Dahrouge Geological Consulting Ltd. and has worked on a variety of projects 
and commodities throughout his career, including carbonatite complexes and associated rare metals 
(tantalum, niobium, scandium), rare earth elements, lithium pegmatite, graphite, phosphate, fluorspar, 
uranium, cobalt, as well as base and precious metals. 

Mr. Smith devotes approximately 10% of his time to perform the work required in connection with 
acting as the Company’s Vice President of Exploration. Mr. Smith has not entered into a non-
competition or non-disclosure agreement with the Company. 

14. CAPITALIZATION 

14.1 Issued Capital 

The following tables provide information about the capitalization of the Company as of the date of this 
Listing Statement: 
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Issued 
Capital(1) 

Number of 
Securities 

(non-diluted) 

Number of 
Securities 

(fully-diluted) 
% of Issued 

(non-diluted) 
% of Issued 

(fully diluted) 

Public Float 

Total Outstanding (A) 32,692,817 53,267,668 100% 100% 

Held by Related Persons or employees of the 
Company or Related Person of the Company, 
or by persons or companies who beneficially 
own or control, directly or indirectly, more 
than a 5% voting position in the Company (or 
who would beneficially own or control, 
directly or indirectly, more than a 5% voting 
position in the Company upon exercise or 
conversion of other securities held) (B) 

5,146,500 7,076,500 15.74% 13.28% 

Total Public Float (A-B) 27,546,317 46,191,168 84.26% 86.72% 

Freely-Tradeable Float 

Number of outstanding securities subject to 
resale restrictions, including restrictions 
imposed by pooling or other arrangements or 
in shareholder agreement and securities held 
by control block holders (C) 

- - - - 

Total Tradeable Float (A-C) 32,692,817 53,267,668 100% 100% 
(1) Figures are reported to the best of the knowledge of management of the Company. 

Public Securityholders (Registered) 

The following table sets forth information regarding the number of registered “public securityholders” 
of the Company, being persons other than persons enumerated in section (B) of the Issued Capital table 
above: 

 
Size of Holding Number of Holders Total Number of Securities 

1 – 99 securities   

100 – 499 securities   

500 – 999 securities   

1,000 – 1,999 securities   

2,000 – 2,999 securities   

3,000 – 3,999 securities   

4,000 – 4,999 securities   

5,000 or more securities 22 27,546,317 

TOTAL: 22 27,546,317 

Public Securityholders (Beneficial) 

The following table sets forth information regarding the number of beneficial “public securityholders” of 
the Company(1), being persons other than persons enumerated in section (B) of the Issued Capital table 
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above who either: (i) hold securities in their own name as registered Shareholders; or (ii) hold securities 
through an intermediary where the Company has been given written confirmation of shareholdings: 

Size of Holding Number of Holders Total Number of Securities 

1 – 99 securities 330 5,137 

100 – 499 securities 223 48,307 

500 – 999 securities 114 70,113 

1,000 – 1,999 securities 170 204,522 

2,000 – 2,999 securities 100 224,801 

3,000 – 3,999 securities 51 160,620 

4,000 – 4,999 securities 35 147,692 

5,000 or more securities 378 26,595,125 

TOTAL: 6,2640 27,456,317 
(1) The amounts included in this table are based on a share range report dated January 25, 2021 and a 

registered Shareholders list dated January 25, 2021. The Company may have other beneficial holders of its 
securities that it is not aware of. Certain of the Shareholders in this table may be insiders of the Company, 
however such information is not distinguished in the share range report and accordingly is outside the 
knowledge of the Company. 

Non-Public Securityholders (Registered) 

For the purposes of this chart, “non-public securityholders” are persons enumerated under (B) in the 
Issued Capital table above. 

Size of Holding Number of Holders Total Number of Securities 

1 – 99 securities - - 

100 – 499 securities - - 

500 – 999 securities - - 

1,000 – 1,999 securities - - 

2,000 – 2,999 securities - - 

3,000 – 3,999 securities - - 

4,000 – 4,999 securities - - 

5,000 or more securities 5 5,146,500 

TOTAL: 5 5,146,500 

14.2 Convertible Securities 

The following table summarizes the outstanding securities convertible into common shares in the 
Company’s authorized capital as of the date of this Listing Statement: 
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Description of Security 
(include conversion/exercise terms, 
including conversion/exercise price) 

Number of 
convertible/exchangeable 

securities outstanding(1) 

Number of listed 
securities issuable upon 
conversion/exercise(1) 

Options(2) 2,657,400 2,657,400 

Warrants(3) 17,917,451 17,917,451 
(1) Calculated on a post-Consolidation basis. 
(2) Consists of 50,000 stock options exercisable at a price of $0.50 until July 11, 2021; 60,000 stock options exercisable at a 

price of $0.60 until May 2, 2022; 675,000 stock options exercisable at a price of $0.09 until January 14, 2023; 792,400 
stock options exercisable at a price of $0.14 until July 24, 2022; 80,000 stock options exercisable at a price of $0.09 until 
February 3, 2023; and 1,000,000 stock options exercisable at a price of $0.10 until November 19, 2023. 

(3) Consists of 704,080 Warrants exercisable into one additional Common Share at an exercise price of $1.00 until December 
27, 2021; 150,000 Warrants exercisable into one additional Common Share at an exercise price of $1.50 until September 
25, 2022; 3,813,571 Warrants exercisable into one additional Common Share at an exercise price of $0.09 per Common 
Share in the first year, $0.15 per Common Share in the second year, and $0.20 per Common Share until December 2, 
2022; 8,298,800 Warrants exercisable into Common Share at an exercise price of $0.12 until July 17, 2022; 711,000 
Warrants exercisable into Common Share at an exercise price of $0.10 until August 13, 2023; 3,240,000 Warrants 
exercisable into Common Share at an exercise price of $0.18 until August 26, 2023; and 1,000,000 Warrants exercisable 
into Common Share at an exercise price of $0.10 until March 23, 2024. 

14.3 Other Listed Securities 

The Company has no other listed securities reserved for issuance that are not included in Section 14.2. 

15. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 

Executive Compensation 

For the purposes of this Section 15: 

“Compensation Securities” includes stock options, convertible securities, exchangeable securities and 
similar instruments including stock appreciation rights, deferred share units and restricted share units 
granted or issued by a company or one of its subsidiaries (if any) for services provided or to be provided, 
directly or indirectly to a company or any of its subsidiaries (if any). 

“NEO” means, in relation to a company, each of the following individuals: 

(a) any individual who acted as CEO of the company, or acted in a similar capacity, for any 
part of the most recently completed financial year, 

(b) any individual who acted as CFO of the company, or acted in a similar capacity, for any 
part of the most recently completed financial year, 

(c) each of the three most highly compensated executive officers, or the three most highly 
compensated individuals acting in a similar capacity, other than the CEO and CFO, at the 
end of the most recently completed financial year whose total compensation was, 
individually, more than $150,000, as determined in accordance with subsection 1.3(6) of 
Form 51-102F6 – Statement of Executive Compensation – Venture Issuers, for that 
financial year, and 
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(d) each individual who would be a NEO under paragraph (c) but for the fact that the 
individual was neither an executive officer of the company, nor acting in a similar 
capacity, at the end of that financial year; and 

“plan” includes any plan, contract, authorization or arrangement, whether or not set out in any formal 
document, where cash, compensation securities or any other property may be received, whether for 
one or more persons; and 

“underlying securities” means any securities issuable on conversion, exchange or exercise of 
compensation securities. 

Director and Named Executive Officer Compensation, Excluding Compensation Securities 

The following table sets out details of all payments, grants, awards, gifts and benefits paid or awarded to 
each director and NEO in the two most recently completed financial years: 

Name and 
Position 

Year 
Ended 
March 

31 

Salary, 
Consulting 

Fee, 
Retainer or 
Commission 

($) 
Bonus 

($) 

Committee 
or Meeting 

Fees 
($) 

Value of 
Perquisites(1)  

($) 

Value of All 
Other 

Compensation  
($) 

Total 
Compensation 

($) 

Adrian Lamoureux(2) 

CEO, Director and 
former President 

2020 
2019 

104,387 
90,000 

Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 

104,387 
90,000 

Dusan Berka(3) 
CFO and Director 

2020 
2019 

74,156 
60,000 

Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 

74,156 
60,000 

Paul Chung(4) 
Director 

2020 
2019 

Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 

Todd Hanas(5) 
Director 2020 Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil 

Robert Findlay(6) 
Former Director 

2020 
2019 

Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 

Nil 
Nil 

(1) “Perquisites” include perquisites provided to a NEO or director that are not generally available to all employees and that, 
in aggregate, are: (a) $15,000, if the NEO or director’s total salary for the financial year is $150,000 or less, (b) 10% of the 
NEO or director’s salary for the financial year if the NEO or director’s total salary for the financial year is greater than 
$150,000 but less than $500,000, or (c) $50,000 if the NEO or director’s total salary for the financial year is $500,000 or 
greater. 

(2) Adrian Lamoureux was appointed as President, CEO and as a director of the Company on January 15, 2014. Mr. Lamoureux 
resigned as President of the Company on December 3, 2020. 

(3) Dusan Berka was appointed as CFO of the Company on March 28, 2013 and as a director of the Company on March 2, 
2012. 

(4) Paul Chung was appointed as a director of the Company on September 2, 2009. 
(5) Todd Hanas was appointed as a director of the Company on January 13, 2020. 
(6) Robert Findlay was appointed as a director of the Company on June 25, 2012 and resigned from the position on September 

10, 2019. 
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Stock Options and Other Compensation Securities 

The following table sets out all compensation securities granted or issued to each director and NEO by 
the Company or any subsidiary thereof in the year ended April 30, 2020 for services provided, or to be 
provided, directly or indirectly, to the Company or any subsidiary thereof: 

Name and 
Position 

Type of 
Compensati
on Security 

No. of 
Compensation 

Securities, 
Number of 
Underlying 

Securities and 
Percentage of 

Class(1) 
Date of Issue 

or Grant 

Issue, 
Conversion or 

Exercise 
Price(1) 

Closing Price 
of Security or 

Underlying 
Security on 

Date of 
Grant(1) 

Closing Price 
of Security or 

Underlying 
Security at 
Year End(1) Expiry Date 

Adrian 
Lamoureux 

CEO, Director and 
former President 

Stock 
Options 

75,000 May 2, 2019 $0.60 $0.60 $0.55 May 2, 
2022 

200,000 January 14, 
2020 $0.09 $0.09 $0.55 January 14, 

2023 

Dusan Berka 
CFO and Director 

Stock 
Options 

75,000 May 2, 2019 $0.60 $0.60 $0.55 May 2, 
2022 

175,000 January 14, 
2020 $0.09 $0.09 $0.55 January 14, 

2023 

Paul Chung 
Director 

Stock 
Options 

25,000 May 2, 2019 $0.60 $0.60 $0.55 May 2, 
2022 

100,000 January 14, 
2020 $0.09 $0.09 $0.55 January 14, 

2023 

Todd Hanas) 
Director 

Stock 
Options 100,000 January 14, 

2020 $0.09 $0.09 $0.55 January 14, 
2023 

Robert Findlay 
Former Director 

Stock 
Options 15,000 May 2, 2019 $0.60 $0.60 $0.55 May 2, 

2022 

(1) Calculated on a post-Consolidation basis. 

Exercise of Compensation Securities by Directors and NEOs 

During the financial year ended March 31, 2020, no NEO or directors of the Company exercised 
compensation securities. 

Stock Option Plans and Other Incentive Plans 

On February 21, 2014, the Board adopted and approved the Stock Option Plan. Pursuant to the terms of 
the Stock Option Plan, the Board may grant Options to purchase Common Shares to NEOs, directors and 
employees of the Company or affiliated corporations and to consultants retained by the Company. 

The purpose of the Stock Option Plan is to attract, retain, and motivate officers, directors, employees 
and other service providers by providing them with the opportunity, through options, to acquire an 
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interest in the Company and benefit from the Company’s growth. Under the Stock Option Plan, the 
maximum number of Common Shares reserved for issuance, including Options currently outstanding, is 
equal to the 10% Maximum from time to time. The 10% Maximum is an “evergreen” provision, meaning 
that, following the exercise, termination, cancellation or expiration of any Options, a number of 
Common Shares equivalent to the number of options so exercised, terminated, cancelled or expired 
would automatically become reserved and available for issuance in respect of future Option grants. 

The number of Common Shares which may be the subject of Options on a yearly basis to any one person 
cannot exceed 5% of the number of issued and outstanding Common Shares at the time of the grant. 
Options may be granted to any employee, officer, director, consultant, affiliate or subsidiary of the 
Company exercisable at a price which is not less than the market price of Common Shares of the 
Company on the date of the grant. The directors of the Company may, by resolution, determine Exercise 
Period during which any Option may be exercised, provided that the Exercise Period does not 
contravene any rule or regulation of such exchange on which the Common Shares may be listed. 

All Options will terminate on the earliest to occur of: (A) the expiry of their term; the date of termination 
of an optionee’s employment, office or position as director, if terminated for just cause; (c) 90 days (or 
such other period of time as permitted by any rule or regulation of such exchange on which the 
Common Shares may be listed) following the date of termination of an optionee’s position as a director 
or NEO (as defined below), if terminated for any reason other than the optionee’s disability or death; (d) 
30 days following the date of termination of an optionee’s position as a consultant engaged in investor 
relations activities, if terminated for any reason other than the optionee’s disability, death, or just cause; 
and (e) the date of any sale, transfer or assignment of the Option. 

Options are non-assignable and are subject to early termination in the event of the death of a 
participant or in the event a participant ceases to be a NEO, director, employee, consultant, affiliate, or 
subsidiary of the Company, as the case may be. Subject to the foregoing restrictions, and certain other 
restrictions set out in the Stock Option Plan, the Board is authorized to provide for the granting of 
Options and the exercise and method of exercise of options granted under the Stock Option Plan. 

The full text of the Stock Option Plan is attached as Schedule C to the Company’s Management 
Information Circular dated August 8, 2017 and filed on SEDAR at www.sedar.com on August 18, 2017. 

Employment, Consulting and Management Agreements 

Other than disclosed below, the Company does not have any employment, consulting or management 
agreements or arrangements with any other of the Company’s current NEOs or directors. 

The Company has entered into the following agreements with management: 

• David Blair Way – On January 14, 2021, the Company entered into a management agreement 
with Ironbark Enterprises Ltd. (“Ironbark”) and David Blair Way, whereby Mr. Way, as principal 
of Ironbark., agreed to act as the President of the Company (the “Way Management 
Agreement”), in consideration of management fee of $10,000 plus GST, effective December 1, 
2020. The Way Management Agreement is in good standing. In the event of a Change of Control 
(as such term defined in the Way Management Agreement), the contractor is entitled to an 
amount equal to the annual base salary in effect as at the date of termination. Mr. Way may 
terminate the Way Management Agreement: (a) at any time during the term of the agreement 
upon 60 days’ written notice to the Company; (b) upon a material breach of any term of the 

http://www.sedar.com/
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agreement by the Company not rectified for a period of 30 days; and (c) at any time with 12 
months after a Change of Control, upon 30 days’ written notice to the Company. 

• Adrian Lamoureux – On May 1, 2018, as amended on January 14, 2021, the Company entered 
into a management consulting agreement with Adrian Lamoureux, whereby Mr. Lamoureux 
agreed to act as the President, CEO and as a director of the Company (the “Lamoureux 
Management Agreement”), in consideration of management fee of $7,500 plus GST and 
expenses per month. On January 14, 2021, the Company and Mr. Lamoureux amended the 
terms of the Lamoureux Management Agreement to increase the base salary payable to Mr. 
Lamoureux from $7,500 plus GST to $10,000 plus GST, effective January 1, 2021. The Lamoureux 
Management Agreement is in good standing. 

• Dusan Berka – On May 1, 2018, as amended on January 14, 2021, the Company entered into a 
management consulting agreement with Duster Capital Corp. (“Duster Capital”), whereby Dusan 
Berka, as principal of Duster Capital, agreed to act as the CFO and as a director of the Company 
(the “Duster Capital Management Agreement” and, together with the Lamoureux Management 
Agreement, the “Management Agreements”), in consideration of management fee of $5,000 
plus GST and expenses per month. On January 14, 2021, the Company and Duster Capital 
amended the terms of the Duster Capital Management Agreement to increase the base salary 
payable to Duster Capital from $5,000 plus GST to $6,500 plus GST, effective January 1, 2021. 
The Duster Capital Management Agreement is in good standing. 

The Management Agreements may be terminated: (a) by the Company if the consultant commits a 
material breach of any of the terms and conditions of their respective Management Agreement which 
the consultant fails to remedy within 30 days after receipt of a written notice from the Company giving 
the particulars of the breach and requiring it to be remedied; and (b) without notice in the event the 
consultant dies, become permanently, or for a period longer than 60 days disabled, and for cause in 
certain scenarios further enumerated in the Management Agreements. In the event a Change in Control 
(as such term is defined in the Management Agreements) occurs, defined as the acquisition of Common 
Shares or other voting securities of the Company such that a person or persons come to hold, of record 
or beneficially, at least twenty percent (20%) of the voting securities and act in concert with respect to 
voting such voting securities, and if a Triggering Event (as such term is defined in the Management 
Agreements) subsequently occurs within one (1) year of the Change of Control, the NEO shall be entitled 
to elect to terminate its engagement with the Company and receive a lump sum Termination Payment 
(as such term is defined in the Management Agreements) from the Company in an amount equal to 2 
times the annual base salary in effect as of the Termination Date (as such term is defined in the 
Management Agreements); plus the average of the annual bonuses or other cash incentive payments, if 
any, paid by the Company to the NEO for the 2 calendar years immediately preceding the year in which 
the Termination Date occurs. In the event of termination without cause by the Company, the Company 
is required to pay the consultant a lump sum payment in the amount equal to 3 times the annual base 
salary in effect as of the Termination Date (as such term is defined in the Management Agreements); 
plus the average of the annual bonuses or other cash incentive payments, if any, paid by the Company 
to the NEO for the 2 calendar years immediately preceding the year in which the Termination Date 
occurs. 

Management functions of the Company are not, to any substantial degree, performed other than by 
directors or NEOs of the Company. 
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Oversight and Description of Director and NEO Compensation 

Compensation of Directors 

Compensation of directors of the Company is reviewed annually and determined by the Board. The level 
of compensation for directors is determined after consideration of various relevant factors, including the 
expected nature and quantity of duties and responsibilities, past performance, comparison with 
compensation paid by other issuers of comparable size and nature, and the availability of financial 
resources. In the Board’s view, there is, and has been, no need for the Company to design or implement 
a formal compensation program for directors. While the Board considers Option grants to directors 
under the Stock Option Plan from time to time, the Board does not employ a prescribed methodology 
when determining the grant or allocation of Options. Other than the Stock Option Plan, as discussed 
above, the Company does not offer any long-term incentive plans, share compensation plans or any 
other such benefit programs for directors. 

Compensation of NEOs 

Compensation of NEOs is reviewed annually and determined by the Board. The level of compensation 
for NEOs is determined after consideration of various relevant factors, including the expected nature 
and quantity of duties and responsibilities, past performance, comparison with compensation paid by 
other issuers of comparable size and nature, and the availability of financial resources. In the Board’s 
view, there is, and has been, no need for the Company to design or implement a formal compensation 
program for NEOs. 

Elements of NEO Compensation 

Salary 

The Company’s CEO and CFO receive consulting/management fees pursuant to the terms of the 
Management Agreements. The Board reviews salaries annually to ensure that they reflect each 
respective NEO’s performance and experience in fulfilling his/her role. Due to the relatively small size of 
the Company, limited cash resources, and the early stage and scope of the Company’s operations, NEOs 
receive limited salaries relative to industry standards. The Board does not currently have any plan in 
place to materially increase NEOs’ salaries. 

See “Executive Compensation – Employment, Consulting and Management Agreements” for more 
details. 

Stock Option Plan 

The Company provides a Stock Option Plan to motivate NEOs by providing them with the opportunity, 
through Options, to acquire an interest in the Company and benefit from the Company’s growth. The 
Board does not employ a prescribed methodology when determining the grant or allocation of Options 
to NEOs. Other than the Stock Option Plan, the Company does not offer any long-term incentive plans, 
share compensation plans, retirement plans, pension plans, or any other such benefit programs for 
NEOs. 
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Retirement, Pension or Similar Benefit Plans 

No pension, retirement or deferred compensation plans, including defined contribution plans, have 
been instituted by the Company and none are proposed at the date of this Listing Statement. 

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans 

The following table sets forth the Company’s compensation plans under which equity securities are 
authorized for issuance as at the end of financial year ended March 31, 2020: 

Plan Category 

No. of securities to be issued 
upon exercise of outstanding 
options, warrants and rights 

(a) 

Weighted-average exercise 
price of outstanding options, 

warrants and rights 
(b) 

No. of securities remaining 
available for future issuance 
under equity compensation 
plans (excluding securities 

reflected in column (a)) 
(c) 

Equity compensation plans 
approved by security 
holders 

1,437,500 $2.06 41,381 

Equity compensation plans 
not approved by security 
holders 

Nil Nil Nil 

Total: 1,437,500 $2.06 41,381 

The full text of the Stock Option Plan is attached as Schedule C to the Company’s Management 
Information Circular dated August 8, 2017 and filed on SEDAR at www.sedar.com on August 18, 2017. 

16. INDEBTEDNESS OF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS 

16.1 Aggregate Indebtedness 

As at the date of this Listing Statement, no directors, executive officers or employees, and no former 
directors, executive officers or employees, are indebted to the Company as at the date of this Listing 
Statement or were indebted to the Company since the beginning of the most recently completed 
financial year of the Company. 

16.2 Indebtedness of Directors and Executive Officers under Securities Purchase and Other 
Programs 

No directors or executive officers of the Company, or Associates of such directors or executive officers, 
are indebted to the Company as at the date of this Listing Statement or were indebted to the Company 
since the beginning of the most recently completed financial year of the Company, nor is any 
indebtedness of any such person to another entity the subject of a guarantee, support agreement, letter 
of credit or other similar arrangement or understanding provided by the Company. 

17. RISK FACTORS 

An investment in the Common Shares is considered to be speculative due to the nature of the 
Company’s business and the present stage of its development. The following risk factors, as well as risks 

http://www.sedar.com/
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not currently known to the Company could materially adversely affect the Company’s future business, 
operations and financial condition and could cause them to differ materially from estimates described in 
forward-looking statements relating to the Company. A prospective investor should carefully consider 
the risk factors set out below. 

A purchase of any of the securities of the Company involves a high degree of risk and should be 
undertaken only by purchasers whose financial resources are sufficient to enable them to assume such 
risks and who have no need for immediate liquidity in their investment. An investment in the securities 
of the Company should not constitute a major portion of an individual’s investment portfolio and should 
only be made by persons who can afford a total loss of their investment. Prospective purchasers should 
evaluate carefully the following risk factors associated with an investment in the Company’s securities 
prior to purchasing any of the securities. 

The Company is in the business of exploring mineral properties, which is a highly speculative endeavor. 

The following is a summary of risks and uncertainties that management believes to be material to the 
Company’s business and therefore the value of the Common Shares. It is possible that other risks and 
uncertainties that affect the business of the Company will arise or become material from time to time. 

Risks Related to the Business of the Company 

Insufficient Capital 

The Company does not currently have any revenue producing operations and may, from time to time, 
report a working capital deficit. To maintain its activities, the Company will require additional funds 
which may be obtained either by the sale of equity capital or by entering into an option or joint venture 
agreement with a third party providing such funding. There is no assurance that the Company will be 
successful in obtaining such additional financing; failure to do so could result in the loss or substantial 
dilution of the Company’s interests in its various mineral properties, including the ZimFrac-Will Property, 
Corvette-FCI Property, Hidden Lake Lithium Property, Pontax Lithium-Gold Property or the Freeman 
Creek Property, as applicable. The Company’s unallocated working capital may not suffice to fund its 
business goals and objects as stated elsewhere in the Listing Statement. See “Narrative Description of 
Business – General – Business Objectives and Milestones” for more information. 

Limited Operating History 

The Company is an early stage company and its mineral properties are exploration stage properties. As 
such, the Company will be subject to all of the business risks and uncertainties associated with any new 
business enterprise, including under-capitalization, cash shortages, limitations with respect to 
personnel, financial and other resources and lack of revenues. Accordingly, the current state of the 
mineral properties, including the ZimFrac-Will Property, Corvette-FCI Property, Hidden Lake Lithium 
Property, Pontax Lithium-Gold Property and the Freeman Creek Property, requires significant additional 
expenditures before any cash flow may be generated. There is no assurance that the Company will be 
successful in achieving a return on shareholders’ investment and the likelihood of success of the 
Company must be considered in light of the problems, expenses, difficulties, complications and delays 
frequently encountered in connection with the establishment of any business. 

Lack of Operating Cash Flow 
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The Company currently has no source of operating cash flow and is expected to continue to do so for 
the foreseeable future. The Company’s failure to achieve profitability and positive operating cash flows 
could have a material adverse effect on its financial condition and results of operations. If the Company 
sustains losses over an extended period of time, it may be unable to continue its business. Further 
exploration and development of the Company’s various mineral properties, including the ZimFrac-Will 
Property, Corvette-FCI Property, Hidden Lake Lithium Property, Pontax Lithium-Gold Property and the 
Freeman Creek Property, will require the commitment of substantial financial resources. It may be 
several years before the Company may generate any revenues from operations, if at all. There can be no 
assurance that the Company will realize revenue or achieve profitability. 

Resale of Common Shares 

The continued operation of the Company will be dependent upon its ability to generate operating 
revenues and to procure additional financing. There can be no assurance that any such revenues can be 
generated or that other financing can be obtained. If the Company is unable to generate such revenues 
or obtain such additional financing, any investment in the Company may be lost. In such event, the 
probability of resale of the Common Shares purchased would be diminished. 

Exploration of Mineral Property Interests 

Although substantial benefits may be derived from the discovery of a major mineralized deposit, no 
assurance can be given that minerals will be discovered in sufficient quantities to justify commercial 
operations or that the funds required for development can be obtained on a timely basis. The discovery 
of mineral deposits is dependent upon a number of factors. The commercial viability of a mineral 
deposit once discovered is also dependent upon a number of factors, some of which relate to particular 
attributes of the deposit, such as size, grade and proximity to infrastructure, and some of which are 
more general such as metal prices and government regulations, including environmental protection. 
Most of these factors are beyond the control of the Company. In addition, because of these risks, there 
is no certainty that the expenditures to be made by the Company on the exploration of its various 
mineral properties as described herein will result in the discovery of commercial quantities of ore. The 
Company has no history of operating earnings and the likelihood of success must be considered in light 
of problems, expenses, etc. which may be encountered in establishing a business. 

Mineral exploration and development involves a high degree of risk and few properties that are 
explored are ultimately developed into producing mines. There is no assurance that the Company’s 
mineral exploration and development programs at its various mineral properties, including the ZimFrac-
Will Property, Corvette-FCI Property, Hidden Lake Lithium Property, Pontax Lithium-Gold Property and 
the Freeman Creek Property, will result in the definition of bodies of commercial mineralization. The 
discovery of bodies of commercial mineralization is dependent upon a number of factors, not the least 
of which is the technical skill of the exploration personnel involved. Most of the above factors are 
beyond the Company’s control. 

Exploration, Development and Production Risks 

The exploration for and development of minerals involves significant risks, which even a combination of 
careful evaluation, experience and knowledge may not eliminate. Few properties that are explored are 
ultimately developed into producing mines. There can be no guarantee that the estimates of quantities 
and qualities of minerals disclosed will be economically recoverable. With all mining operations there is 
uncertainty and, therefore, risk associated with operating parameters and costs resulting from the 
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scaling up of extraction methods tested in pilot conditions. Mineral exploration is speculative in nature 
and there can be no assurance that any minerals discovered will result in an increase in the Company’s 
resource base. 

The Company’s operations will be subject to all of the hazards and risks normally encountered in the 
exploration, development and production of minerals. These include unusual and unexpected geological 
formations, rock falls, seismic activity, flooding and other conditions involved in the extraction of 
material, any of which could result in damage to, or destruction of, mines and other producing facilities, 
damage to life or property, environmental damage and possible legal liability. In addition, operations are 
subject to hazards that may result in environmental pollution, and consequent liability that could have a 
material adverse impact on the business, operations and financial performance of the Company. 

Substantial expenditures are required to establish ore reserves through drilling, to develop metallurgical 
processes to extract the metal from the ore and, in the case of new properties, to develop the mining 
and processing facilities and infrastructure at any site chosen for mining. Although substantial benefits 
may be derived from the discovery of a major mineralized deposit, no assurance can be given that 
minerals will be discovered in sufficient quantities to justify commercial operations or that funds 
required for development can be obtained on a timely basis. The economics of developing gold and 
other mineral properties is affected by many factors including the cost of operations, variations in the 
grade of ore mined, fluctuations in metal markets, costs of processing equipment and such other factors 
as government regulations, including regulations relating to royalties, allowable production, importing 
and exporting of minerals and environmental protection. The remoteness and restrictions on access of 
properties in which the Company has an interest will have an adverse effect on profitability as a result of 
higher infrastructure costs. There are also physical risks to the exploration personnel working in the 
terrain in which the Company’s properties will be located, often in poor climate conditions. 

The long-term commercial success of the Company depends on its ability to explore, develop and 
commercially produce minerals from its properties and to locate and acquire additional properties 
worthy of exploration and development for minerals. No assurance can be given that the Company will 
be able to locate satisfactory properties for acquisition or participation. Moreover, if such acquisitions or 
participations are identified, the Company may determine that current markets, terms of acquisition 
and participation or pricing conditions make such acquisitions or participation uneconomic. 

Mineral Resources and Reserves 

Because the Company has not defined or delineated any proven or probable reserves on any of its 
properties, mineralization estimates for the Company’s properties may require adjustments or 
downward revisions based upon further exploration or development work or actual production 
experience. In addition, the grade of ore ultimately mined, if any, may differ from that indicated by 
drilling results. There can be no assurance that minerals recovered in small-scale tests will be duplicated 
in large-scale tests under on-site conditions or in production scale. 

Unless otherwise indicated, mineralization figures presented in this Listing Statement are based upon 
estimates made by the Company, personnel and independent geologists. These estimates are imprecise 
and depend upon geological interpretation and statistical inferences drawn from drilling and sampling 
analysis which may prove to be unreliable. There can be no assurance that these estimates will be 
accurate; resource or other mineralization figures will be accurate; or such mineralization could be 
mined or processed profitably. 
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Obtaining and Renewing Licenses and Permits 

In the ordinary course of business, the Company will be required to obtain and renew governmental 
licenses or permits for exploration, development, construction and commencement of mining at its 
various mineral properties, including the ZimFrac-Will Property, Corvette-FCI Property, Hidden Lake 
Lithium Property, Pontax Lithium-Gold Property and the Freeman Creek Property. Obtaining or renewing 
the necessary governmental licenses or permits is a complex and time consuming process involving 
public hearings and costly undertakings on the part of the Company. The duration and success of the 
Company’s efforts to obtain and renew licenses or permits are contingent upon many variables not 
within the Company’s control, including the interpretation of applicable requirements implemented by 
the licensing authority. The Company may not be able to obtain or renew licenses or permits that are 
necessary to its operations, including, without limitation, an exploitation license, or the cost to obtain or 
renew licenses or permits may exceed what the Company believes they can recover from its 
aforementioned mineral properties. Any unexpected delays or costs associated with the licensing or 
permitting process could delay the development or impede the operation of a mine, which could 
adversely impact the Company’s operations and profitability. 

No Assurances 

There is no assurance that economic mineral deposits will ever be discovered, or if discovered, 
subsequently put into production. Most exploration activities do not result in the discovery of 
commercially mineable deposits. The Company’s future growth and profitability will depend, in part, on 
its ability to identify and expand its mineral reserves through additional exploration of its various 
mineral property and on the costs and results of continued exploration and development programs. 
Mining exploration is highly speculative in nature, involves many risks and frequently is not productive. 
Most exploration projects do not result in the discovery of commercially mineable ore deposits and no 
assurance can be given that any anticipated level of recovery of mineral reserves will be realized or that 
any identified mineral deposit will ever qualify as a commercially mineable (or viable) ore body which 
can be legally and economically exploited. There can be no assurance that the Company’s exploration 
efforts at its mineral properties, including including the ZimFrac-Will Property, Corvette-FCI Property, 
Hidden Lake Lithium Property, Pontax Lithium-Gold Property or the Freeman Creek Property, will be 
successful. 

Aboriginal Title 

The Supreme Court of Canada decision of June 26, 2014 in Tsilhqot’in Nation v. British Columbia 
(the “Tsilhqot’in Decision”), which declares aboriginal title for the first time in a certain area in Canada 
and outlines the rights associated with aboriginal title, could potentially have a significant impact on the 
Company’s Canadian mineral properties, including the ZimFrac-Will Property, the Québec Properties, 
the Corvette-FCI Property, and the Hidden Lake Lithium Property. 

While the Company’s properties are not located within the areas involved in the Tsilhqot’in Decision, 
there is a risk that the Tsilhqot’in Decision may lead other communities or groups to pursue similar 
claims in areas where the Company’s Canadian mineral properties are located. Although the Company 
relies on the Crown to adequately discharge its obligations in order to preserve the validity of its actions 
in dealing with public rights, including the grant of mineral titles and associated rights, the Company 
cannot accurately predict whether aboriginal claims will have a material adverse effect on the 
Company’s ability to carry out its intended exploration and work programs on its properties. 
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Given this, the Companies Canadian mineral properties may now or in the future be the subject of First 
Nations land claims. The legal nature of Aboriginal land claims is a matter of considerable complexity. 
The impact of any such claim on the Company’s material interests in its Canadian mineral properties 
and/or potential ownership interests therein in the future, cannot be predicted with any degree of 
certainty and no assurance can be given that a broad recognition of Aboriginal rights in the areas in 
which these properties are located, by way of a negotiated settlement or judicial pronouncement, 
would not have an adverse effect on the Company’s activities. Even in the absence of such recognition, 
the Company may at some point be required to negotiate with and seek the approval of holders of 
Aboriginal interests in order to facilitate exploration and development work on its various Canadian 
mineral properties, there is no assurance that the Company will be able to establish a practical working 
relationship with the First Nations in the area which would allow it to ultimately develop such 
properties. 

Many lands in Canada and elsewhere are or could become subject to Aboriginal land claim to title, which 
could adversely affect the Company’s title to its properties. 

Title Risks 

Although the Company has exercised the usual due diligence with respect to determining title to 
properties in which it has a material interest, there is no guarantee that title to such properties will not 
be challenged or impugned. The Company’s mineral property interests may be subject to prior 
unregistered agreements or transfers or native land claims and title may be affected by undetected 
defects. Surveys have not been carried out on any of the Company’s mineral properties, therefore, in 
accordance with the laws of the jurisdiction in which such properties are situated; their existence and 
area could be in doubt. Until competing interests in the mineral lands have been determined, the 
Company can give no assurance as to the validity of title of the Company to those lands or the size of 
such mineral lands. 

Loss of Interest in Properties 

The FCI Property is subject to the FCI Property Option Agreement which requires the Company to incur 
exploration and development expenditures in order to maintain and/or earn its interest. The Company’s 
ability to maintain and/or earn its interest in the FCI Property may be dependent on its ability to raise 
additional funds by equity financings. Failure to obtain additional financing may result in the Company 
being unable to make periodic payments required for the maintenance or acquisition of the FCI Property 
and could result in a delay or postponement of further exploration and the partial or total loss of the 
Company’s interest in the FCI Property and/or termination of the FCI Property Option Agreement. 

Uninsurable Risks 

In the course of exploration, development and production of mineral properties, certain risks, and in 
particular, unexpected or unusual geological operating conditions including rock bursts, cave-ins, fires, 
flooding and earthquakes may occur. It is not always possible to fully insure against such risks and the 
Company may decide not to take out insurance against such risks as a result of high premiums or other 
reasons. Should such liabilities arise, they could reduce or eliminate any future profitability and result in 
increasing costs and a decline in the value of the securities of the Company. 

Additional Funding Requirements 
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The exploration and development of the Company’s mineral properties will require substantial 
additional capital. When such additional capital is required, the Company will need to pursue various 
financing transactions or arrangements, including joint venturing of projects, debt financing, equity 
financing or other means. Additional financing may not be available when needed or, if available, the 
terms of such financing might not be favorable to the Company and might involve substantial dilution to 
existing shareholders. The Company may not be successful in locating suitable financing transactions in 
the time period required or at all. A failure to raise capital when needed would have a material adverse 
effect on the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations. Any future issuance of 
securities to raise required capital will likely be dilutive to existing shareholders. In addition, debt and 
other debt financing may involve a pledge of assets and may be senior to interests of equity holders. The 
Company may incur substantial costs in pursuing future capital requirements, including investment 
banking fees, legal fees, accounting fees, securities law compliance fees, printing and distribution 
expenses and other costs. The ability to obtain needed financing may be impaired by such factors as the 
capital markets (both generally and in the gold and copper industries in particular), the Company’s 
operating history, the location of its Canadian and US mineral properties, the price of commodities 
and/or the loss of key management personnel. Further, if the price of gold, copper, and other metals on 
the commodities markets decreases, then potential revenues from the Company’s mineral properties 
will likely decrease and such decreased revenues may increase the requirements for capital. Failure to 
obtain sufficient financing will result in a delay or indefinite postponement of development or 
production at one or more of the Company’s mineral properties. 

Dilution 

Shares, including rights, warrants, special warrants, subscription receipts and other securities to 
purchase, to convert into or to exchange into Common Shares, may be created, issued, sold and 
delivered on such terms and conditions and at such times as the Board may determine. In addition, the 
Company may issue additional Common Shares from time to time pursuant to Common Share purchase 
warrants and the options to purchase Common Shares issued from time to time by the Board. The 
issuance of these Common Shares could result in dilution to holders of Common Shares. 

Environmental Risks 

All phases of the Company’s operations with respect to the Company’s mineral properties, in Canada or 
elsewhere, will be subject to environmental regulation. Environmental legislation involves strict 
standards and may entail increased scrutiny, fines and penalties for non-compliance, stringent 
environmental assessments of proposed projects and a high degree of responsibility for companies and 
their officers, directors and employees. Changes in environmental regulation, if any, may adversely 
impact the Company’s operations and future potential profitability. In addition, environmental hazards 
may exist on the Company’s various mineral properties, including the ZimFrac-Will Property, Corvette-
FCI Property, Hidden Lake Lithium Property, Pontax Lithium-Gold Property or the Freeman Creek 
Property, that are currently unknown. The Company may be liable for losses associated with such 
hazards, or may be forced to undertake extensive remedial cleanup action or to pay for governmental 
remedial cleanup actions, even in cases where such hazards have been caused by previous or existing 
owners or operators of the properties, or by the past or present owners of adjacent properties or by 
natural conditions. The costs of such cleanup actions may have a material adverse impact on the 
Company’s operations and future potential profitability. 
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Failure to comply with applicable laws, regulations, and permitting requirements may result in 
enforcement actions thereunder, including orders issued by regulatory or judicial authorities causing 
operations to cease or be curtailed, and may include corrective measures requiring capital expenditures, 
installation of additional equipment, or remedial actions. Parties engaged in mining operations may be 
required to compensate those suffering loss or damage by reason of the mining activities and may have 
civil or criminal fines or penalties imposed for violations of applicable laws or regulations and, in 
particular, environmental laws. 

The Company may be subject to reclamation requirements designed to minimize long-term effects of 
mining exploitation and exploration disturbance by requiring the operating Company to control possible 
deleterious effluents and to re-establish to some degree pre-disturbance landforms and vegetation. Any 
significant environmental issues that may arise, however, could lead to increased reclamation 
expenditures and could have a material adverse impact on the Company’s financial resources. 

Regulatory Requirements 

Even if one or more of the Company’s mineral properties is proven to host economic reserves of 
precious or non-precious metals, factors such as governmental expropriation or regulation may prevent 
or restrict mining of any such deposits. Exploration and mining activities may be affected in varying 
degrees by government policies and regulations relating to the mining industry. Any changes in 
regulations or shifts in political conditions are beyond the control of the Company and may adversely 
affect its business. Operations may be affected in varying degrees by government regulations with 
respect to restrictions on production, price controls, export controls, income taxes, expropriation of 
such mineral properties, environmental legislation and mine safety. 

Volatility of Mineral Prices 

The Company’s revenues, if any, are expected to be in large part derived from the extraction and sale of 
precious and base minerals and metals. Factors beyond the control of the Company may affect the 
marketability of metals discovered, if any. Metal prices have fluctuated widely, particularly in recent 
years. Consequently, the economic viability of any of the Company’s exploration projects cannot be 
accurately predicted and may be adversely affected by fluctuations in mineral prices. In addition, 
currency fluctuations may affect the cash flow which the Company may realize from its operations, since 
most mineral commodities are sold in a world market in US dollars. 

Infrastructure 

Exploration, development and processing activities depend, to one degree or another, on adequate 
infrastructure. Reliable roads, bridges, power sources and water supply are important elements of 
infrastructure, which affect access, capital and operating costs. The lack of availability on acceptable 
terms or the delay in the availability of any one or more of these items could prevent or delay 
exploration or development on the Company’s various mineral properties, including the ZimFrac-Will 
Property, Corvette-FCI Property, Hidden Lake Lithium Property, Pontax Lithium-Gold Property and the 
Freeman Creek Property. If adequate infrastructure is not available in a timely manner, there can be no 
assurance that the exploration or development will be commenced or completed on a timely basis on 
these properties, if at all. Furthermore, unusual or infrequent weather phenomena, sabotage, 
government or other interference in the maintenance or provision of necessary infrastructure could 
adversely affect our operations. 
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Risks Associated with Acquisitions 

If appropriate opportunities present themselves, the Company may acquire mineral claims, material 
interests in other mineral claims, and companies that the Company believes are strategic. The Company 
currently has no understandings, commitments or agreements with respect to any other material 
acquisition and no other material acquisition is currently being pursued. There can be no assurance that 
the Company will be able to identify, negotiate or finance future acquisitions successfully, or to 
integrate such acquisitions with its current business. The process of integrating an acquired Company or 
mineral claims into the Company may result in unforeseen operating difficulties and expenditures and 
may absorb significant management attention that would otherwise be available for ongoing 
development of the Company’s business. Future acquisitions could result in potentially dilutive 
issuances of equity securities, the incurrence of debt, contingent liabilities and/or amortization expenses 
related to goodwill and other intangible assets, which could materially adversely affect the Company’s 
business, results of operations and financial condition. 

Executive Employee Recruitment and Retention 

The success of the Company will be dependent upon the performance of its management and key 
employees. The loss of any key executive or manager of the Company may have an adverse effect on the 
future of the Company’s business. The number of persons skilled in acquisition, exploration and 
development of mining properties is limited and competition for such persons is intense. As the 
Company’s business activity grows, it will require additional key financial, administrative, geologic and 
mining personnel as well as additional operations staff. There is no assurance that it will be successful in 
attracting, training and retaining qualified personnel as competition for persons with these skill sets 
increases. If the Company is not successful in attracting, training and retaining qualified personnel, the 
efficiency of its operations could be impaired, which could have an adverse impact on its future cash 
flows, earnings, results of operations and financial condition. 

Adverse General Economic Conditions 

The unprecedented events in global financial markets in the past several years have had a profound 
impact on the global economy. Many industries, including the mineral exploration sector, were 
impacted by these market conditions. Some of the key impacts of the financial market turmoil included 
contraction in credit markets resulting in a widening of credit risk, devaluations, high volatility in global 
equity, commodity, foreign exchange and precious metal markets, a lack of market liquidity, natural 
disasters, public health crisis (such as the ongoing and evolving COVID-19 pandemic) and other events 
outside of the Company’s control. A similar slowdown in the financial markets or other economic 
conditions, including but not limited to, inflation, fuel and energy costs, lack of available credit, the state 
of the financial markets, interest rates and tax rates, may adversely affect the Company’s operations. 
Specifically, a global credit/liquidity crisis could impact the cost and availability of financing and our 
overall liquidity, the volatility of mineral prices would impact the Company’s prospects, volatile energy, 
commodity and consumables prices and currency exchange rates would impact costs and the 
devaluation and volatility of global stock markets would impact the valuation of its equity and other 
securities. These factors could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition and 
results of operations. 

In recent years, the securities markets in Canada, as well as in other countries around the world, have 
experienced a high level of price and volume volatility, and the market prices of securities of many 
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companies have experienced wide fluctuations in price that have not necessarily been related to the 
operating performance, underlying asset values or prospects of such companies. There can be no 
assurance that continual fluctuations in price will not occur. It may be anticipated that any quoted 
market for the Common Shares will be subject to market trends and conditions generally, 
notwithstanding any potential success of the Company in developing assets, adding additional 
resources, establishing feasibility of deposits or creating revenues, cash flows or earnings. The value of 
securities will be affected by market volatility. An active public market for the Common Shares might not 
develop or be sustained. If an active public market for the Common Shares does not develop or 
continue, the liquidity of a shareholder’s investment may be limited and the price of the Common 
Shares may decline. 

COVID-19 Coronavirus Outbreak 

The current global uncertainty with respect to the spread of the COVID-19, the rapidly evolving nature of 
the pandemic and local and international developments related thereto and its effect on the broader 
global economy and capital markets may have a negative effect on the Company and the advancement 
of the Company’s mineral projects. While the precise impact of the COVID-19 outbreak on the Company 
remains unknown, rapid spread of COVID-19 and declaration of the outbreak as a global pandemic has 
resulted in travel advisories and restrictions, certain restrictions on business operations, social 
distancing precautions and restrictions on group gatherings which are having both direct and indirect 
impacts on businesses in Canada and around the world and could result in travel bans, closure of assay 
labs, work delays, difficulties for contractors and employees getting to site, and diversion of 
management attention all of which in turn could have a negative impact on development of the 
Company’s various mineral properties or the Company in general. The spread of COVID-19 may also 
have a material adverse effect on global economic activity and could result in volatility and disruption to 
global supply chains and the financial and capital markets, which could affect the business, financial 
condition, results of operations and other factors relevant to the Company, including its ability to raise 
additional financing. 

Force Majeure 

The Company’s mineral properties now or in the future may be adversely affected by risks outside the 
control of the Company, including the price of gold on world markets, labour unrest, civil disorder, war, 
subversive activities or sabotage, fires, floods, explosions or other catastrophes, epidemics or 
quarantine restrictions, including those related to the evolving COVID-19 pandemic. 

Uncertainty of Use of Proceeds 

Although the Company has set out its intended use of proceeds in the Company’s Final Prospectus, 
these intended uses are estimates only and subject to change. While management does not 
contemplate any material variation, management does retain broad discretion in the application of such 
proceeds. The failure by the Company to apply these funds effectively could have a material adverse 
effect on the Company’s business, including the Company’s ability to achieve its stated business 
objectives. 

Competition 

All aspects of the Company’s business will be subject to competition from other parties. Many of the 
Company’s competitors for the acquisition, exploration, production and development of mineral 
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properties, and for capital to finance such activities, will include companies that have greater financial 
and personnel resources available to them than the Company. Competition could adversely affect the 
Company’s ability to acquire suitable properties or prospects in the future. 

Conflicts of Interest 

Certain of the directors and officers of the Company will be engaged in, and will continue to engage in, 
other business activities on their own behalf and on behalf of other companies (including mineral 
resource companies) and, as a result of these and other activities, such directors and officers of the 
Company may become subject to conflicts of interest. The BCBCA provides that in the event that a 
director has a material interest in a contract or proposed contract or agreement that is material to the 
issuer, the director shall disclose his interest in such contract or agreement and shall refrain from voting 
on any matter in respect of such contract or agreement, subject to and in accordance with the BCBCA. 
To the extent that conflicts of interest arise, such conflicts will be resolved in accordance with the 
provisions of the BCBCA. 

Dividends 

To date, the Company has not paid any dividends on their outstanding shares. Any decision to pay 
dividends on the shares of the Company will be made by the Board on the basis of the Company’s 
earnings, financial requirements and other conditions. 

Reporting Issuer Status 

As a reporting issuer, the Company will be subject to reporting requirements under applicable securities 
law and stock exchange policies. Compliance with these requirements will increase legal and financial 
compliance costs, make some activities more difficult, time consuming or costly, and increase demand 
on existing systems and resources. Among other things, the Company will be required to file annual, 
quarterly and current reports with respect to its business and results of operations and maintain 
effective disclosure controls and procedures and internal controls over financial reporting. In order to 
maintain and, if required, improve disclosure controls and procedures and internal controls over 
financial reporting to meet this standard, significant resources and management oversight may be 
required. As a result, management’s attention may be diverted from other business concerns, which 
could harm the Company’s business and results of operations. 

The Company may need to hire additional employees to comply with these requirements in the future, 
which would increase its costs and expenses. 

Management of the Company expects that being a reporting issuer will make it more expensive to 
maintain director and officer liability insurance. This factor could also make it more difficult for the 
Company to retain qualified directors and executive officers. 

Tax Issues 

Income tax consequences in relation to the Common Shares will vary according to the circumstances by 
each purchaser. Prospective purchasers should seek independent advice from their own tax and legal 
advisors prior to subscribing for Common Shares. 
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Operating Hazards, Risks and Insurance 

The ownership, exploration, operation and development of a mine or mineral property involves many 
risks which even a combination of experience, knowledge and careful evaluation may not be able to 
overcome. These risks include environmental hazards, industrial accidents, explosions and third-party 
accidents, the encountering of unusual or unexpected geological formations, ground falls and cave-ins, 
mechanical failure, unforeseen metallurgical difficulties, power interruptions, flooding, earthquakes and 
periodic interruptions due to inclement or hazardous weather conditions. These occurrences could 
result in environmental damage and liabilities, work stoppages, delayed production and resultant losses, 
increased production costs, damage to, or destruction of, mineral properties or production facilities and 
resultant losses, personal injury or death and resultant losses, asset write downs, monetary losses, 
claims for compensation of loss of life and/or damages by third parties in connection with accidents (for 
loss of life and/or damages and related pain and suffering) that occur on Company property, and 
punitive awards in connection with those claims and other liabilities. 

It is not always possible to fully insure against such risks, and the Company may decide not to take out 
insurance against such risks as a result of high premiums or other reasons. Should such liabilities arise 
they could reduce or eliminate any future profitability and result in an increase in costs and a decline in 
value of our securities. Liabilities that the Company incurs may exceed the policy limits of insurance 
coverage or may not be covered by insurance, in which event the Company could incur significant costs 
that could adversely impact its business, operations, potential profitability or value. Despite efforts to 
attract and retain qualified personnel, as well as the retention of qualified consultants, to manage the 
Company’s interests, even when those efforts are successful, people are fallible and human error could 
result in significant uninsured losses. These could include loss or forfeiture of mineral interests or other 
assets for non-payment of fees or taxes, significant tax liabilities in connection with any tax planning 
effort the Company might undertake and legal claims for errors or mistakes by personnel. 

18. PROMOTER CONSIDERATION 

David Blair Way, the President and a director of the Company, may be considered to be the promoter of 
the Company as he primarily responsible for organizing and managing the business of the Company. Mr. 
Way beneficially owns 317,000 Common Shares representing less than 1% of the issued and outstanding 
Common Shares and has been granted an aggregate of 400,000 stock options. Mr. Way has not 
received, and is not expected to receive, anything of value, including money, property, contracts, 
options or rights of any kind, directly or indirectly, from the Company in his capacity as the promoter of 
the Company and the Company has not received, nor is expected to receive, any assets, services or 
other consideration in return. 

Mr. Way is not, as at the date of this Listing Statement, nor has been, within ten years before the date 
hereof: 

(i) a director, CEO or CFO of any Person that was subject to an order that was issued: 

(a) while he was acting in the capacity as director, CEO or CFO, or 

(b) after he ceased to be a director, CEO or CFO and which resulted from an event that 
occurred while he was acting in the capacity as director, CEO or CFO; 
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(ii) a director or executive officer of any Person that, while he was acting in that capacity, or 
within a year of him ceasing to act in that capacity, became bankrupt, made a proposal 
under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or was subject to or instituted any 
proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a receiver, receiver 
manager or trustee appointed to hold its assets; 

(iii) bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, or 
was subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors, or 
had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold his assets; 

(iv) subject to any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to provincial and territorial 
securities legislation or by a provincial and territorial securities regulatory authority or has 
entered into a settlement with a provincial and territorial securities regulatory authority; or 

(v) subject to any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body that 
would be likely to be considered important to a reasonable investor in making an 
investment decision. 

19. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 

In the normal course of business, the Company may be subject to lawsuits, claims, regulatory 
proceedings, and litigation for amounts not covered by liability insurance. These proceedings could 
result in significant costs. As of the date of this Listing Statement, to the Company’s knowledge, no 
material claims or litigation have been brought against the Company. 

20. INTEREST OF MANAGEMENT AND OTHERS IN MATERIAL TRANSACTIONS 

No director or executive officer of the Company, no security holder disclosed in this Listing Statement as 
a principal securityholder, and no Associate or Affiliate of any of them, has or has had any material 
interest, direct or indirect, in any transaction in the three years preceding the date of the Listing 
Statement or in any proposed transaction that has materially affected or will materially affect the 
Company. 

21. AUDITORS, TRANSFER AGENTS AND REGISTRARS 

21.1 Auditors 

The Company’s auditor is Manning Elliott LLP, Chartered Professional Accountants, at its office at 1700 – 
1030 West Georgia Street, Vancouver, British Columbia V6E 2Y3. 

21.2 Transfer Agent and Registrar 

TSX Trust Company., at its office located at 50 West Georgia Street, Suite 2700, Vancouver, British 
Columbia V6B 4N9, is the transfer agent and registrar for the Common Shares. 
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22. MATERIAL CONTRACTS 

Except for contracts made in the ordinary course of business, the following are the only material 
contracts entered into by the Company since May 27, 2019 to the date hereof which are currently in 
effect and considered to be currently material: 

1. the FCI Property Option Agreement dated August 27, 2018, as amended on September 11, 2018, 
April 23, 2019, July 6, 2020, and January 26, 2021, between the Company and Osisko, referred 
to under ““General Development of the Business Canada – Mineral Properties –Québec– FCI 
Property”; 

2. the Freeman Creek Option Agreement dated July 22, 2020, as amended on March 3, 2021, 
among the Company the Freeman Creek Optionors, referred to under “General Development of 
the Business Canada – Mineral Properties – USA – Freeman Creek Property”; 

3. the Golden Frac Sand Agreement dated March 3, 2017 among the Company, Dahrouge 
Geological Consulting Ltd. and DG, referred to under “General Development of the Business 
Canada – Mineral Properties – Canada – British Columbia – ZimFrac-Will Property”; 

4. the Hidden Lake Agreement dated February 16, 2016, and as amended on November 27, 2017, 
among the Company and the Hidden Lake Optionors, referred to under “General Development 
of the Business Canada – Mineral Properties – Canada – Northwest Territories – Hidden Lake 
Lithium Property”; 

5. the Hidden Lake Option-Out Agreement dated January 22, 2018 between the Company and Far 
Resources Ltd., referred to under “General Development of the Business Canada – Mineral 
Properties – Canada – Northwest Territories – Hidden Lake Lithium Property”; 

6. the Pontax Agreement dated July 25, 2016, as amended on November 27, 2017, among the 
Company, DG and Michael Sklavenitis, referred to under referred to under “General 
Development of the Business Canada – Mineral Properties – Canada –Québec– Pontax Lithium-
Gold Property”; 

7. the Silver Sands Agreement dated November 13, 2018 between the Company and DG, referred 
to under referred to under “General Development of the Business Canada – Mineral Properties – 
Canada – British Columbia – Silver Sands Vanadium Property”; 

8. the Lamoureux Management Agreement date May 1, 2018, as amended January 14, 2021, 
referred to under “Executive Compensation – Employment, Consulting and Management 
Agreements”; 

9. the Duster Capital Management Agreement date May 1, 2018, as amended January 14, 2021, 
referred to under “Executive Compensation – Employment, Consulting and Management 
Agreements”; and 

10. the Way Management Agreement dated January 14, 2021, referred to under “Executive 
Compensation – Employment, Consulting and Management Agreements”. 
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Copies of these agreements may be inspected without charge during regular business hours at the 
offices of the Company. 

23. INTEREST OF EXPERTS 

No person or company whose profession or business gives authority to a statement made by the person 
or company and who is named as having prepared or certified a part of this Listing Statement or as 
having prepared or certified a report or valuation described or included in this Listing Statement holds 
any beneficial interest, direct or indirect, in any securities or property of the Company or of an Associate 
or Affiliate of the Company and no such person is expected to be elected, appointed or employed as a 
director, senior officer or employee of the Company or of an Associate or Affiliate of the Company and 
no such person is a promoter of the Company or an Associate or Affiliate of the Company. Manning 
Elliott LLP, Chartered Professional Accountants is independent of the Company in accordance with the 
rules of professional conduct of the Chartered Professional Accountants of British Columbia. 

24. OTHER MATERIAL FACTS 

Other than as set out elsewhere in this Listing Statement, there are no other material facts about the 
Company and its securities which are necessary in order for this Listing Statement to contain full, true 
and plain disclosure of all material facts relating to the Company and its respective securities. 

25. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The Company’s audited financial statements, with the accompanying notes, for the years ended March 
31, 2020, March 31, 2019 and March 31, 2018 and the interim financial statements for the nine month 
period ended December 31, 2020 are attached hereto as Schedule B. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 

To the Shareholders and Directors of Gaia Metals Corp. (formerly 92 Resources Corp.). 

Opinion 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Gaia Metals Corp. (the "Company") which 
comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at March 31, 2020 and 2019, and the 
consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss, changes in equity and cash flows for the years 
then ended, and the related notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information. 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of the Company as at March 31, 2020 and 2019, and its financial performance and 
its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as 
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit 
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in 
accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audits of the consolidated financial 
statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. 

Emphasis of Matter - Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern 

We draw attention to Note 1 of the accompanying consolidated financial statements, which describes 
matters and conditions that indicate the existence of a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt 
about the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this 
matter. 

Other Information 

Management is responsible for the other information, which comprises the information included in the 
Company's Management Discussion & Analysis to be filed with the relevant Canadian securities 
commissions. 

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audits of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the 
other information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audits or 
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 



If, based on the work we have performed on this other information, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in 
this regard. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated 
Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to 
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 
Company's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate 
the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company's financial reporting 
process. 

Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements 
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors' 
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards 
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and 
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence 
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Company's internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. If 
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors' report 
to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the 
date of our auditors' report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to 
continue as a going concern. 



Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the Company to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain 
solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related 
safeguards. 

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditors' report is Fernando J. Costa. 

CHARTERED PROFESSIONAL ACCOUNTANTS 
Vancouver, Canada 
July 9, 2020 



r.~ Gaia 
,.. Metals 
GAIA METALS CORP. (Formerly 92 Resources Corp.) 
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 

Notes March 31, 2020 

ASSETS 
Current assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 4 $ 255,889 
Amounts receivable 5 8,185 
Prepaid expenses 6 18,179 

282,253 

Exploration and evaluation properties 8 2,666,124 

Total assets $ 2,948,377 

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY AND 
LIABILITIES 

Current liabilities 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 9 $ 43,244 
Flow-through premium liability 17 -
Total liabilities 43,244 

Shareholders' equity 
Share capital 10 9,811,299 
Reserves 10 1,206,537 
Deficit (8,112,703) 

Total equity 2,905,133 

Total shareholders' equity and liabilities $ 2,948,377 

March 31,2019 

$ 698,446 
7,258 

91,067 

796,771 

2,279,263 

$ 3,076,034 

$ 71,086 
226,391 

297,477 

9,359,987 
1,002,317 

(7,583,747) 

2,778,557 

$ 3,076,034 

Corporate Information and Going Concern (Note 1), Commitments (Note 16), and Events 
after the Reporting Period (Note 19) 

APPROVED ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD: 

"Todd Hanas" "Paul Chung" 
Director Director 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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'~ Metals 
GAIA METALS CORP. (Formerly 92 Resources Corp.) 
Consolidated Statements of Loss and Comprehensive Loss 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 

Year ended 

Notes March 31,2020 

Expenses 
Advertising $ 35,140 $ 
Bank and interest charges 2,179 

Consulting 14 149,660 

Interest 17 6,325 

Investor communications 11,380 

Management and administration fees 14 178,544 

Meals and entertainment 5,433 

Office and miscellaneous 9,106 

Professional fees 57,698 
Rent and property taxes 16,340 

Share-based compensation 12, 14 211,172 

Transfer agent and filing fees 50,791 

Travel 26,570 

Net loss for the year before other items (760,338) 

Other items 
Other income 17 249,834 

Interest income 140 

Impairment loss 8 (18,592) 
Realized loss on sale of short-term investment 7 -
Reclassification at sale of short-term investment 7 -

Net loss and comprehensive loss for the year $ (528,956) $ 

Loss per common share 

Basic and diluted 11 $ (0.049) $ 

March 31, 2019 

104,620 

1,465 

367,048 

-
9,676 

157,826 

6,481 

5,386 

65,527 
13,659 

93,038 
44,566 

18,724 

(888,016) 

23,540 
4,094 

-
(163,097) 

11,111 

(1,012,368) 

(0.132) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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I!.. I Gaia 
·~ Metals 

GAIA METALS CORP. (Former!~ 92 Resources Corp.) 
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity 
(Exprcsocd in Canadian dollars) 

Number of Share 
shares1 capital 

Balances, April I, 2018 6,959,246 $ 8,717,774 
Shares issued for: 

Cash 1,571,000 555,050 
Mineral properties 250,000 142,500 

Share issue costs - (55,337) 
Share-based payments - -
Reclassification on the sale of securities - -
Net loss for the year - -
Balances, March31, 2019 8,780,246 $ 9,359,987 

Balances, April l, 2019 8,780,246 $ 9,359,987 
Shares issued for: 

Cash 5,888,571 412,200 
Mineral properties 100,000 30,000 

Share issue costs - (7,840) 
Stock options exercised 20,000 10,000 
Fair value of options exercised - 6,952 
Share-based payments - -
Net loss and comprehensive loss for the year - -

Balances, March 31, 2020 14,788,817 s 9,811,299 

Reserves 
$ 859,882 

33,500 

-
15,897 
93,038 

-
-

$ 1,002,317 

$ 1,002,317 

-
-
-
-

(6,952) 
211,172 

-

s 1,206 537 
Shares were adJusted to reflect the share consohdatwn on October 17,2019 (Note 10) 

Accumulated 
other 

comprehensive 
income 

$ 11,111 $ 

-
-
-
-

(11,111) 
-

$ -
$ -

-
-
-
-
-
-
-

s -

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Deficit Total 
(6,571 ,379) $ 3,017,388 

- 588,550 
- 142,500 
- (39,440) 
- 93,038 

11,111 -
(I ,023,4 79) (I ,023,479) 

$ (7,583,747) $ 2,778,557 

$ (7,583,747) $ 2,778,557 

- 412,200 
- 30,000 
- (7,840) 

- 10,000 

- -
211,172 

(528,956) (528,956) 

s (8,112,703) s 2,905,133 



,~Gaia 
'~ Metals 
GAIA METALS CORP. (Formerly 92 Resources Corp.) 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 

OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

Net loss for the year 
Adjustments for: 

Interest income 
Other income 
Impairment loss 
Share based payment 
Realized loss on sales of short-term investment 
Reclassification at sale of short-term investment 

Changes in non-cash working capital items 
Decrease (Increase) in amounts receivable 
Decrease in accounts payables and accrued liabilities 
Decrease in prepaid expenses 

Cash used in operating activities 

INVESTING ACTIVITIES 

Government grants and credits received (paid) 
Cash received for sale of investment 
Exploration and evaluation property expenditures 

Cash used in investing activities 

FINANCING ACTIVITIES 

Proceeds from issuance of common shares 
Share issue costs 

Cash provided by financing activities 

Decrease in cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 

Supplemental cash flow information (Note 15) 

Year ended 
March 31,2020 March 31,2019 

$ (528,956) $ (1,012,368) 

(140) (116) 
(226,391) (23,540) 

18,592 -
211,172 93,038 

- 163,097 
- (11,111) 

(787) 30,155 
(27,842) (164,696) 

72,888 122,427 

(481,464) (803,114) 

94,511 (81,590) 
- 75,791 

(469,964) (411,866) 

(375,453) (417,665) 

422,200 835,750 
(7,840) (39,440) 

414,360 796,310 

(442,557) (424,469) 
698,446 1,122,915 

$ 255,889 $ 698,446 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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GAIA METALS CORP. (Formerly 92 RESOURCES CORP.) 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
As at and for the years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION 

Gaia Metals Corp. (the "Company") was incorporated on May 10, 2007 under the British 
Columbia Business Corporations Act. On September 10, 2012, the Company incorporated a 
wholly owned subsidiary, Petro Grande Energy Inc. The principal business of the Company is the 
identification, evaluation and acquisition of exploration and evaluation properties, as well as 
exploration of those properties once acquired. The Company is domiciled in Canada and is a 
reporting issuer with its common shares publicly traded on the TSX Venture Exchange (the 
"TSXV''). The address of its head office is Suite 500, 666 Burrard Street, Vancouver, British 
Columbia, Canada, V6C 3P6. 

On October 7, 2019, the Company announced the change of its name from 92 Resources Corp. to 
Gaia Metals Corp. and the consolidation of the Company's common shares on the basis of one ( 1) 
post-consolidated share for every ten (10) pre-consolidated shares. These two became effective 
on October 15,2019. On October 17,2019, the shares of the Company commenced trading on 
TSXV on a consolidated basis under the name Gaia Metals Corp. and stock symbol "GMC". 

As at March 31, 2020, the Company has not yet determined whether the properties contained ore 
reserves that are economically recoverable. The recoverability of amounts shown for exploration 
and evaluation properties is dependent upon the discovery of economically recoverable reserves, 
confirmation of the Company's interest in the underlying mineral claims, the ability of the 
Company to obtain the necessary financing to complete the development of and future profitable 
production from the properties or realizing proceeds from their disposition. 

For the year ended March 31,2020, the Company incurred a net loss of$528,956. As at March 
31, 2020, the Company had an accumulated deficit of $8,112,703 which has been funded by the 
issuance of equity. The Company's ability to continue its operations and to realize its assets at 
their carrying values are dependent upon obtaining additional financing sufficient to cover its 
operating costs. 

Although management is currently seeking additional sources of equity or debt financing, there is 
no assurance these activities will be successful. If the Company is unable to raise additional 
capital in the future, management expects that the Company will need to curtail operations, 
liquidate assets, seek additional capital on less favorable terms and/or pursue other remedial 
measures. Management is aware, in making its assessment, of material uncertainties related to 
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company's ability to continue as a 
going concern as described. These consolidated financial statements (the "Financial Statements") 
do not give effect to any adjustments which would be necessary should the Company be unable to 
continue as a going concern and therefore be required to realize its assets and discharge its 
liabilities in other than the normal course of business and at amounts different from those 
reflected in the accompanying Financial Statements. 
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GAIA METALS CORP. (Formerly 92 RESOURCES CORP.) 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
As at and for the years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 

2.1 Basis ofpresentation 

These Financial Statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned 
subsidiary, Petro Grande Energy Inc. All material inter-company balances and transactions have 
been eliminated upon consolidation. 

The Company's Financial Statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for 
certain financial instruments which are measured at fair value, as explained in Note 13, and are 
presented in Canadian dollars except where otherwise indicated. 

The functional currency of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiary is the Canadian dollar. 

2.2 Statement of compliance 

The Financial Statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with and using 
accounting policies in full compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS") 
and International Accounting Standards ("lAS") issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board ("IASB"). 

These Financial Statements were approved and authorized for issue m accordance with a 
resolution from the Board of Directors on July 9, 2020. 

2.3 Adoption of new and revised standards and interpretations 

The IASB issued a number of new and revised lASs, International Financial Reporting Standards 
("IFRS"), amendments and related IFRICs which are effective for the Company's financial year 
beginning on April 1, 2019. The Company has adopted all the following new standards relevant 
to the Company for the years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019. 

• IFRS 7 - 'Financial instruments: Disclosure' was amended to require additional disclosures 
on transition from lAS 39 to IFRS 9. The standard is effective on adoption ofiFRS 9, which 
is effective for annual periods commencing on or after January 1, 2018. IFRS 16 - 'Leases' 
was issued on January 13, 2016 and will be effective for accounting periods beginning on or 
after January 1, 2019. Early adoption is permitted, provided the Company has adopted IFRS 
15. This standard sets out a new model for lease accounting. 

• IFRIC 23 - 'Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments' is interpretation that clarifies how to 
_apply the recognition and measurement requirements in lAS 12 'Income Taxes' when there is 
uncertainty over tax treatments. The effective date for IFRIC 23 is for annual periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2019. 

• IFRS 16 - 'Leases' is a new standard that sets out the principles for recogmtwn, 
measurement, presentation, and disclosure of leases including guidance for both parties to a 
contract, the lessee and the lessor. The new standard eliminates the classification of leases as 
either operating or finance leases as is required by lAS 17 and instead introduces a single 
lessee accounting model. IFRS 15 is applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or 
after January 1, 2019. 
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GAIA METALS CORP. (Formerly 92 RESOURCES CORP.) 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
As at and for the years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 
(Expressed m Canadim1 dollars) 

The adoption of the above standards did not have a material impact on the Company's Financial 
Statements. 

The IASB and IFRIC have issued the following new and revised standards and amendments, 
which are not yet effective for the year ended March 31, 2020. 

• IFRS 10 'Consolidated Financial Statements' amendments relate to sale or contribution of 
assets between and investor and its associate or joint venture and are applicable for annual 
periods beginning on or after a date to be determined by the IASB. Earlier application is 
permitted if disclosed. 

• lAS 1 'Presentation of Financial Statements' ("lAS 1 ") and lAS 8 'Accounting Policies, 
Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors' ("lAS 8") were amended in October 2018 to 
refine the definition of materiality and clarify its characteristics. The revised definition 
focuses on the idea that information is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could 
reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the primary users of general-purpose 
financial statements make on the basis of those financial statements. The amendments are 
effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2020. Earlier adoption 
is permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the potential impact of these amendments 
on the Company's Financial Statements. 

The Company has not early adopted these standards and amendments and anticipates that the 
application of these standards, amendments and interpretations will not have a material impact on 
the financial position and financial performance of the Company. 

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

3.1 Significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions 

The preparation of these financial statements requires management to make certain estimates, 
judgments and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of 
the Financial Statements and reported amounts of expenses during the reporting period. Actual 
outcomes could differ from these estimates. These Financial Statements include estimates, 
which, by their nature, are uncertain. The impacts of such estimates are pervasive throughout the 
Financial Statements and may require accounting adjustments based on future occurrences. 

Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised 
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. These estimates are 
based on historical experience, current and future economic conditions and other factors, 
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. 

Significant assumptions about the future and other sources of estimation uncertainty that 
management has made at the financial position reporting date that could result in a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities, in the event that actual results differ 
from assumptions made, relate to, but are not limited to, the following: 
Critical accounting estimates 

i. the inputs used in accounting for share-based payment expense in profit or loss; 
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GAIA METALS CORP. (Formerly 92 RESOURCES CORP.) 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
As at and for the years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 

ii. the assessment of indications of impairment of exploration and evaluation properties and 
related determination of net realizable values and write-down of the properties where 
applicable; 

111. the amount of decommissioning liabilities at year end; 

iv. expected future tax rates used in the deferred income tax disclosures. 

Critical accounting judgments 

i. the determination of categories of financial assets and financial liabilities has been 
identified as an accounting policy which involves judgments or assessments made by 
management; 

u. the determination of whether it is likely that future taxable profits will be available to 
utilize against any deferred tax assets; and 

m. the determination of the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. 

3.2 Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and liquid investments, which are readily convertible 
into cash with maturities of three months or less when purchased. The Company's cash and cash 
equivalents are invested with major fmancial institutions and are not invested in any asset-backed 
deposits or investments. 

3.3 Exploration and evaluation properties 

All costs related to the acquisition, exploration and development of exploration and evaluation 
properties ("E&E assets") are capitalized. Upon commencement of commercial production, the 
related accumulated costs are amortized against projected income using the units of production 
method over estimated recoverable reserves. Management annually assesses carrying values of 
properties for which events and circumstances may indicate possible impairment. Impairment of a 
property is generally considered to have occurred if (1) the property has been abandoned; (2) 
there are unfavorable changes in the property economics; (3) there are restrictions on 
development; or (4) when there has been an undue delay in development, which exceeds three 
years. In the event that estimated discounted cash flows expected from its use or eventual 
disposition is determined by management to be insufficient to recover the carrying value of the 
property, the carrying value is written down to the estimated recoverable amount. 

The recoverability of exploration and evaluation properties and exploration and development 
costs is dependent on the existence of economically recoverable reserves, the ability to obtain the 
necessary financing to complete the development of the reserves, and the profitability of future 
operations. The Company has not yet determined whether or not any of its future exploration and 
evaluation properties contain economically recoverable reserves. Amounts capitalized to 
exploration and evaluation properties as exploration and development costs do not necessarily 
reflect present or future values. When options are granted on exploration and evaluation 
properties or when properties are sold, proceeds are credited to the cost of the property. 

Page 110 



GAIA METALS CORP. (Formerly 92 RESOURCES CORP.) 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
As at and for the years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 

If no future capital expenditure is required and proceeds exceed costs, the excess proceeds are 
reported as a gain. 

Government grants related to exploration and evaluation properties 

Government grants are recognized when there is reasonable assurance that the Company will 
comply with the conditions and requirements of the approved grant program and there is 
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received. Government grants are recorded as a 
reduction of carrying value of the exploration and evaluation properties acquired and shall be 
amortized to profit or loss as a reduced depreciation expense. 

3.4 Income taxes 

Income tax on the profit or loss for the periods presented comprises current and deferred tax. 
Income tax is recognized in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognized 
directly in equity, in which case it is recognized in equity. 

Current tax expense is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates 
enacted or substantively enacted at year-end, adjusted for amendments to tax payable with 
regards to previous years. 

Taxes on income in the periods are accrued using the tax rate that would be applicable to 
expected total annual earnings. The tax rate used is the rate that is enacted or substantively 
enacted. 

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method, providing for temporary differences between 
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts 
used for taxation purposes. The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner 
of realization or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted 
or substantively enacted at the financial position reporting date applicable to the period of 
expected realization or settlement. 

A deferred tax asset is recognized only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits 
will be available against which the asset can be utilized. 

3.5 Decommissioning, restoration and similar liabilities 

An obligation to incur restoration, rehabilitation and environmental costs arises when 
environmental disturbance. is caused by the exploration or development of an exploration and 
evaluation property interest. Such costs arising from the decommissioning of plant and other site 
preparation work, discounted to their net present value, are provided for and capitalized at the 
start of each project to the carrying amount of the asset, along with a corresponding liability as 
soon as the obligation to incur such costs arises. The timing of the actual rehabilitation 
expenditure is dependent on a number of factors such as the life and nature of the asset, the 
operating license conditions and, when applicable, the environment in which the mine operates. 

Discount rates using a pre-tax rate that reflects the time value of money are used to calculate the 
net present value. These costs are charged against profit or loss over the economic life of the 
related asset, through amortization using either the unit-of-production or the straight-line method. 
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GAIA METALS CORP. (Formerly 92 RESOURCES CORP.) 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
As at and for the years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 
(Expressed in Canadi<m dollars) 

The corresponding liability is progressively increased as the effect of discounting unwinds 
creating an expense recognized in profit or loss. 

Decommissioning costs are also adjusted for changes in estimates. Those adjustments are 
accounted for as a change in the corresponding capitalized cost, except where a reduction in costs 
is greater than the unamortized capitalized cost of the related assets, in which case the capitalized 
cost is reduced to nil and the remaining adjustment is recognized in profit or loss. 

The operations of the Company have been, and may in the future be, affected from time to time in 
varying degree by changes in environmental regulations, including those for site restoration costs. 
Both the likelihood of new regulations and their overall effect upon the Company are not 
predictable. 

The Company has no material restoration, rehabilitation and environmental obligations as the 
disturbance to date is immaterial. 

3.6 Share-based payments 

Share-based payments to employees and others providing similar services are measured at the 
estimated fair value of the instruments issued on the grant date and amortized over the vesting 
periods. Share-based payments to non-employees are measured at the fair value of the goods or 
services received or the fair value of the equity instruments issued if it is determined the fair 
value of the goods or services cannot be reliably measured, and are recorded at the date the goods 
or services are received. The amount recognized as an expense is adjusted to reflect the number 
of awards expected to vest. The offset to the recorded cost is to equity settled share-based 
payment reserve. 

Consideration received on the exercise of stock options is recorded as share capital and the 
related equity settled share-based payment reserve is transferred to share capital. Charges for 
options that are forfeited before vesting are reversed from equity settled share-based payment 
reserve. 

3. 7 Loss per share 

Basic loss per share is computed by dividing net loss available to common shareholders by the 
weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the year. The Company applies 
the treasury stock method in calculating diluted loss per share. Diluted loss per share excludes all 
dilutive potential common shares if their effect is anti-dilutive. 

3.8 Share issue costs 

Professional, consulting, regulatory and other costs directly attributable to financing transactions 
are recorded as deferred financing costs until the financing transactions are completed, if the 
completion of the transaction is considered likely; otherwise they are expensed as incurred. Share 
issue costs are charged to share capital when the related shares are issued. Deferred financing 
costs related to financing transactions that are not completed are expensed. 
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GAIA METALS CORP. (Formerly 92 RESOURCES CORP.) 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
As at and for the years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 

3.9 Warrants issued in equity financing 

The Company engages in equity financing transactions to obtain the funds necessary to continue 
operations and explore and evaluate resource properties. These equity financing transactions may 
involve issuance of common shares or units. A unit comprises a certain number of common 
shares and a certain number of share purchase warrants. 

Depending on the terms and conditions of each financing agreement, the warrants are exercisable 
into additional common shares prior to expiry at a price stipulated by the agreement. Warrants 
that are part of units are accounted for using the residual method, following an allocation of the 
unit price to the fair value of the common shares that were concurrently issued. Warrants that are 
issued as payment for an agency fee or other transactions costs are accounted for as share-based 
payments. 

3.10 Flow-through shares 

Current Canadian tax legislation permits a company to issue securities referred to as flow-through 
shares whereby the Company assigns the tax deductions arising from the related resource 
expenditures to the shareholders. The issue of flow-through shares is in substance an issue of 
ordinary shares and the sale of tax deductions. At the time the Company issues flow-through 
shares, the sale of tax deductions is deferred and presented as other liabilities in the statement of 
financial position to recognize the obligation to incur and renounce eligible resource exploration 
and evaluation expenditures. The tax deduction is measured as the difference between the current 
market price of the Company's common shares and the issue price of the flow-through share. 
Upon incurring and renouncing eligible resource exploration and evaluation expenditures, the 
Company recognizes the sale of tax deductions as a tax deduction recovery on the statement of 
comprehensive loss and reduces the other liability. 

To the extent that the Company has deferred tax assets in the form of tax loss carry-forwards and 
other unused tax credits as at the reporting date, the Company may use them to reduce its deferred 
tax liability relating to tax benefits transferred through flow-through shares. 

3.11 Impairment of non-financial assets 

At the end of each reporting period, the Company assesses each cash-generating unit to determine 
whether there is any indication that those assets are impaired. If any such indication exists, the 
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment, if 
any. The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. Fair 
value is determined as the amount that would be obtained from the sale of the asset in an arm's 
length transaction between knowledgeable and willing parties. In assessing value in use, the 
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discounted rate 
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the 
asset. If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the 
carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount and the impairment loss is 
recognized in profit or loss for the period. 

For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is 
determined for the cash generating unit to which the asset belongs. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
As at and for the years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 
(Expressed in C anadiun dollars) 

When impairment subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash generating 
unit) is increased to the revised estimate and its recoverable amount, but to an amount that does 
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been 
recognized for the asset (or cash generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss 
is recognized immediately in profit or loss. 

3.12 Financial assets 

At initial recognition, financial assets are classified as subsequently measured at amortized cost, 
fair value through other comprehensive income ("FVTOCI") or fair value through profit or loss 
("FVTPL"). Financial assets are recognized initially at fair value, unless they are trade 
receivables that do not contain a significant financing component in accordance with IFRS 15, 
which shall be measured at their transaction price. The subsequent measurement of financial 
assets depends on their classification based on both the Company's business model for managing 
the financial assets and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets as follows: 

Amortized Cost 

The financial asset is subsequently measured at amortized cost if both the financial asset is held 
within a business model whose objective is to hold the financial assets in order to collect 
contractual cash flows and the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates 
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount 
outstanding. Such assets are carried at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Gains 
and losses are recognized in profit or loss when the fmancial assets are derecognized or impaired, 
as well as through the amortization process. Transaction costs are included in the initial carrying 
amount of the asset. Amounts receivable are included in this category of financial assets. 

Financial Assets at FVTOCJ 

The financial asset is subsequently measured at FVTOCI if both the financial asset is held within 
a business model whose objectives achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling 
financial assets and the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash 
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on principal amount outstanding or if an 
irrevocable election was made for certain equity instruments at initial recognition. After initial 
recognition, the financial assets are measured at fair value, with gains or losses recognized within 
other comprehensive income except for impairment gains (losses) and foreign exchange gain 
(losses). Accumulated changes in fair value are recorded as a separate component of equity until 
the financial asset is derecognized, at which point, they are reclassified from equity to profit or 
loss as a reclassification adjustment. Transaction costs are included in the initial carrying amount 
of the asset. The Company does not have any assets measured at FVTOCI. 

Financial Assets at FVTPL 

A financial asset shall be measured at FVTPL if it is not measured at amortized cost or at 
FVTOCI. If the fmancial asset that would otherwise be measured at FVTPL is not acquired or 
incurred principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the near term, not part of a 
portfolio of identified fmancial instruments that are managed together and for which there is 
evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking or a derivative, the Company may 
make an irrevocable election at initial recognition to present subsequent fair value changes of the 
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equity instrument in OCI. Transaction costs associated with financial assets at FVTPL are 
expensed as incurred. These assets are carried at fair value with gains or losses recognized in 
profit or loss. Cash and cash equivalents are included in this category of financial assets. 

3.13 Impairment of financial assets 

The Company shall recognize a loss allowance for expected credit losses on financial assets 
measured at amortized cost or FVTOCI, a lease receivable, a contract asset or a loan 
commitment. If the credit risk on the financial instrument has increased significantly since initial 
recognition, the loss allowance shall be measured at an amount equal to the lifetime expected 
credit losses, otherwise, it shall be measured at an amount equal to the 12-month expected credit 
losses. 

3.14 Financialliabilities 

At initial recognition, financial liabilities are classified as financial liabilities measured at 
amortized cost unless they are financial liabilities at FVTPL (including derivatives that are 
liabilities), financial liabilities that arise when a transfer of financial asset does not qualify for 
derecognition, financial guarantee contracts, commitments to provide a loan at a below-market 
rate or contingent consideration recognized by an acquirer in a business combination. Financial 
liabilities are recognized initially at fair value. Transaction costs directly attributable to the issue 
of a financial liability are included in the initial carrying value of financial liabilities if they are 
not measured at FVTPL. The subsequent measurement of fmancial liabilities depends on their 
classification, as follows: 

Financial Liabilities Measured at Amortized Cost 

All other financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value, net of transaction costs. After 
initial recognition, other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost using 
the effective interest method. Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any issue costs, 
and any discount or premium on settlement. Gains and losses arising on the repurchase, 
settlement or cancellation of liabilities are recognized respectively in interest, other revenues and 
finance costs. Accounts payables are included in this category of financial liabilities. 

Financial Liabilities at FVTPL 

Financial liabilities are carried at fair value with gains or losses recognized in net income (loss). 
Where the financial liability is designated as at FVTPL, only the amount of change in the fair 
value of the financial liability that is attributable to the changes in the credit risk of that liability 
shall be presented in OCI and the remaining amount of changes in fair value presented in profit or 
loss. Transaction costs on financial liabilities at FVTPL are expensed as incurred. The Company 
does not have any liabilities measured at FVTPL. 

Other Financial Liabilities 

The Company does not hold or have any exposure to derivative instruments, financial liabilities 
that arise when a transfer of financial asset does not qualify for derecognition, financial guarantee 
contracts, commitments to provide a loan at a below-market rate or contingent consideration 
recognized by an acquirer in a business combination. 
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3.15 De-recognition of financial assets and liabilities 

Financial assets are derecognized when the contractual rights to receive cash flows from the 
assets expire or, the financial assets are transferred, and the Company has transferred 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial assets. On de-recognition of a 
financial asset, the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the sum of the 
consideration received, including any new asset obtained less any new liability assumed, is 
recognized in profit or loss. Where a transfer does not result in a derecognition due to continuing 
involvement, the Company shall continue to recognize the transferred asset and recognize a 
financial liability of the consideration received. 

For financial liabilities, they are derecognized when the obligation specified in the relevant 
contract is discharged, cancelled or expires. The difference between the carrying amount of the 
financial liability derecognized and the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets 
transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognized in profit or loss. 

3.16 Related party transactions 

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the 
other party or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating 
decisions. Parties are also considered to be related if they are subject to common control or 
common significant influence. Related parties may be individuals or corporate entities. A 
transaction is considered to be a related party transaction when there is a transfer of resources, 
services or obligations between related parties. 

4. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

As at March 31, 2020, total cash of $11,500 (March 31, 2019 - $11 ,500) is secured against the 
Company's credit cards and held in a Guaranteed Investment Certificate ("GIC") (Note 5). The 
GIC earns interest at prime rate minus 2.70%. 

5. AMOUNTS RECEIVABLE 

The Company's amounts receivable arises from Goods and Services Tax ("GST") and Quebec 
Sales Tax ("QST") due from the government taxation authorities and accrued interest calculated 
on the GIC (Note 4). 
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6. PREPAID EXPENSES 

The Company's prepaid expenses are as follows: 

March 31, 2020 

Prepaid management fees $ 13,205 
Prepaid rent 2,480 
Prepaid consulting services -
Others 2,494 
Total $ 18,179 

7. INVESTMENTS 

March 31,2019 

$ 5,931 
2,480 

82,656 
-

$ 91,067 

Far Resources Ltd. 

Number 
Value 

of Shares 

COST # $ 

As at March 31, 2018 555,555 227,777 

Dispositions (555,555) (227,777) 

As at March 31, 2019 - -

CHANGES IN FAIR VALUE $ 

As at March 31, 2018 11,111 
Reclassification of unrealized gain at 

11,111 
disposition 

Realized loss (163,097) 

As at March 31, 2019 (163,097) 

FAIR VALUE $ 

As at March 31,2018 238,888 

Proceeds on selling securities (75,791) 

Realized loss from sale (163,097) 

As at March 31, 2019 and 2020 -

On February 28, 2018, the Company received 555,555 common shares of Far Resources Ltd., 

valued at $227,777 related to the Hidden Lake Option Out Agreement (Note 8). The Company 

retrospectively and irrevocably elected to recognize changes in the fair value of the investments in 
other comprehensive income (Note 3). 

On February 15, 2019, the Company sold 555,555 common shares of Far Resources Ltd. for 
$75,791 and recognized a loss of$163,097 on sale of securities. 
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8. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION PROPERTIES 

The Company's exploration and evaluation properties expenditures for the year ended March 31, 2020 are as follows: 

Hidden Lake 
Pontax 

Upper Ross Golden Silica Quebec 
Lithium 

Lithium Property 
Property 

Lake Property Property Properties 

ACQUISITION COSTS 

Balance, March 31, 20 19 $ 177,223 $ 417,500 $ 3,256 $ 150,000 $ 251,580 

Additions - - - - 30,000 

Balance March 31 2020 $ 177,223 $ 417,500 $ 3,256 $ 150,000 $ 281,580 

EXPLORATION AND 
EVALUATION COSTS 

Balance, March 31, 20 19 $ 551,474 $ 210,773 $ 15,336 $ 160,188 $ 329,052 

Additions - 3,752 - 5,176 563,207 

Exploration tax credits received - (26,282) - - (68,670) 

Advancements - - - - (103,625) 

Balance March 31 2020 $ 551,474 $ 188,243 $ 15,336 $ 165,364 $ 719,964 

IMPAIRMENT . - (18,592) - -
Total, March 31, 2020 $ 728,697 $ 605,743 $ - $ 315,364 $ 1,001,544 

Silver Sands 
Total 

Vanadium 

$ 12,643 $ 1,012,202 

- 30,000 

$ 12,643 $ 1,042,202 

$ 238 $ 1,267,061 

1,895 574,030 

- (94,952) 

- (103,625) 

$ 2,133 $ 1,642,514 

- (18,592) 

$ 14,776 $ 2,666,124 
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8. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 

Hidden Lake 
Pontax 

Upper Ross 
Lithium 

Lithium Property 
Property 

Lake Property 

ACQUISITION COSTS 

Balance, March 31,2018 $ 177,223 $ 310,000 $ 3,256 

Additions - 107,500 -
Balance, March 31,2019 $ 177,223 $ 417,500 $ 3,256 

EXPLORATION AND 
EVALUATION COSTS 

Balance, March 31,2018 $ 551,474 $ 87,307 $ 14,750 

Additions 123,466 586 

Advancements - -
Balance, March 31, 2019 $ 551,474 $ 210,773 $ 15,336 

Total, March 31, 2019 $ 728 697 $ 628,273 $ 18,592 

Golden Silica 
Property 

$ 150,000 

-
$ 150,000 

$ 132,282 

27,906 

-
$ 160,188 

$ 310,188 

Quebec Silver Sands 
Total 

Properties Vanadium 

$ 191,580 $ $ 832,059 

60,000 12,643 180,143 

$ 251,580 $ 12,643 $ 1,012,202 

$ 25,435 $ $ 811,248 

199,992 238 352,188 

103,625 - 103,625 

$ 329,052 $ 238 $ I ,267,061 

$ 580,632 s 12 881 $ 2,279,263 
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8.1 Hidden Lake Lithium Property 

On February 16, 2016, and as amended on November 27, 2017, the Company entered into an 
Agreement (the "Agreement") with DG Resource Management Ltd. ("DG Resource"), Zimtu 
Capital Corp. ("Zimtu") and Michael V. Sklavenitis ("MS") for an option to acquire interest in 
two mineral claims consisting of 1,100 hectares, located northeast of Yellowknife, Northwest 
Territories. Under the terms of the Agreement, the Company earned 100% interest by paying cash 
of $85,000, issuing 400,000 common shares (4,000,000 pre-consolidation) and completing 
$500,000 in exploration expenditures as follows: 

Common 
Shares* Cash 

# $ 
Upon closing (paid) s,ooo<l) 
Upon regulatory approval of the Agreement (issued) 200,000(2) 

30 days after regulatory approval of Agreement 
(paid) - 45,000(3) 

12 months after regulatory approval of the 
Agreement (issued; paid) 200,000(2) 35,000(3) 

On or before September 30, 2016 (incurred) 
On or before May 31, 2018 (incurred) 

Total 400,000 85,000 

(t) Non-refundable deposit paid to DG Resources upon execution of the Agreement 
(
2
) Issuable 50% to DG Resource, 25% to Zimtu and 25% to MS 

<3l Payable to DG Resources 

Exploration 
Ex~enditures 

$ 

250,000 
250,000 

$500,000 

*Shares were adjusted to reflect the share consolidation on October 17, 2019 (Note 1 0) 

The regulatory approval related to the Hidden Lake Lithium Agreement was obtained from the 
TSXV on April 26, 2016. 

Hidden Lake Property is subject to 2% Net Smelter Royalty with respect to the production of all 
material from the property, 1% of which can be purchased back from DG Resource by the 
Company within 5 years of the regulatory approval for $2,000,000 (the "DGRM Royalty"). 

Joint Venture with Far Resources Ltd. 

On January 22, 2018, the Company entered into an agreement to option out up to 90% of their 

interest in the Hidden Lake Property to Far Resources Ltd. ("Far") (the "Hidden Lake Option Out 
Agreement"), except for the DGRM Royalty. The Company then received $50,000 in cash and 

555,555 Far common shares with a fair value of $227,777 (Note 7). Expenditures of $500,000 
were also incurred by February 28, 2019. 

On May 16,2019, the Company announced that Far had formally notified them of its intention to 

terminate its remaining earn-in for the Hidden Lake Property, originally announced on January 

23, 2018. Under the terms of the new agreement, a joint venture between the companies will be 
formed for future exploration of the property. Far maintains a 60-percent interest earned through 
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satisfying the year 1 conditions of the Option Agreement and the Company maintains a 40-
percent interest in Hidden Lake. Far will remain as Operator and is responsible for financing the 

Joint Venture's initial $1 million in expenditures. 

8.2 Pontax Lithium Property 

On July 25, 2016, and as amended on November 27, 2017, the Company entered into an 
agreement (the "Pontax Agreement") with DG Resource and MS for an option to acquire 100% 
interest in 104 mineral claims consisting of 5,536 hectares near Eastmain, Quebec by paying cash 
of $50,000 and issuing 300,000 common shares (3,000,000- pre-consolidation) as follows: 

Upon execution (paid) 
Upon regulatory approval of the agreement (issued) 
Within 60 days of regulatory approval (paid) 
On or before May 31, 2018 (paid and issued) 

Total 

Common 
Shares* 

# 

150,000(2) 

150,000(2
) 

300,000 

Cash 
$ 

12,500(1) 

12 500(3) 

25, 000(3) 

' 
50,000 

(I) Non-refundable deposit paid to DG Resource upon execution of the Pontax Lithium Agreement 
(
2

) #100,000 issuable (1,000,000- pre-consolidation) to DG Resource and #50,000 issuable (500,000 
-pre-consolidation) to MS 
<
3l Payable to DG Resource 
*Shares were adjusted to reflect the share consolidation on October 17, 2019 (Note 10) 

Regulatory approval for the Pontax Agreement was obtained on September 20, 2016. 

The Pontax Agreement is subject to a 3% Net Smelter Royalty ("NSR"). The Company can 
purchase 1.5% NSR within 5 years of regulatory approval by paying $2,000,000 to DG Resource. 

The Company has since expanded its land position, though online map designation, with the 
Pontax Property now comprised of 146 claims totaling 7,773 ha. 

8.3 Upper Ross Lake Property 

On July 7, 2016, the Company staked 2 claims totaling 57 hectares in Upper Ross Lake, 

Northwest Territories. The Company decided to strategically focus on its other lithium assets and 

the Property has since lapsed. During the year ended March 31, 2020, the Company recognized 
impairment loss of $18,592 relating to this property. 

8.4 Golden Silica Property (formerly referred to as "ZimFrac" or "Golden Frac Sand") 

On January 27, 2014, the Company entered into a sale and purchase agreement (the "ZirnFrac 
Agreement") with Cannon Bridge Capital Corp. ("Cannon") and Zimtu Capital Corp. ("Zimtu") 
(collectively, the "Vendors") and purchased from the Vendors a 100% interest in certain silica 
claims located near Golden, BC (the "ZirnFrac Property"). In consideration, the Company issued 
40,000 common shares (20,000 common shares to each of Cannon and Zimtu issued on February 
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6, 2014-200,000 each- pre-consolidation), subject to a 2% Net Smelter Royalty ("NSR"). The 
Company also issued 4,000 common shares (40,000- pre-consolidation) in 2014 with a fair 
value of$2.50 per share as a fmder's fee. 

The Company can purchase up to 1% NSR by paying an aggregate sum of $1,000,000 ($500,000 
to each of Cannon and Zimtu). 

The ZimFrac Agreement received regulatory approval on February 6, 2014. 

On March 3, 2017, the Company entered into an agreement (the "Golden Frac Sand Agreement") 
with Dahrouge Geological Consulting Ltd. ("Dahrouge") and DG Resource Management Ltd. 
("DG Resource") to purchase a I 00% interest in certain mineral claims located near Golden, BC 
(the "Golden Frac Sand Property") to expand the size of the ZimFrac Property. In consideration, 
the Company paid $40,000 ($20,000 payable to Dahrouge and $20,000 payable to DG Resource) 
within five days of signing the Golden Frac Sand Agreement on March 17, 2017. 

The property has a Gross Over-Riding Royalty of 2% payable to DG Resource in the revenue 
from the sale of the production. The Company can purchase 1% of the GORR for $2,000,000 at 
any time. 

8.5 Quebec Properties 

On September 18, 2017, the Company entered into an agreement (the "Quebec Properties 
Agreement") with DG Resource Management Ltd. ("DG Resource"), Simon Dahrouge ("SCD"), 
Sydney Dahrouge ("SAD") and Michael V. Sklavenitis ("MS") for an option to acquire interest in 
115 mineral claims in the Eastrnain Property, Lac Du Beryl Property and Corvette Property, 
located in the James Bay Region, Quebec. Under the terms of the Agreement, the Company 
earned 100% interest by paying cash of $45,000 to DG Resource and issuing 150,000 share 
purchase warrants (50,000 each to SCD, SAD and MS - 500,000 each pre-consolidation) as 
follows: 

Upon closing (paid) 
Earlier of regulatory approval or within 60 days of closing (paid) 
Upon regulatory approval (issued) 

Total 

<
1
> Payable to DG Resource 

<
2
> Issued 50,000 each to SCD, SAD and MS 

Warrants* 

# 

150,000(2) 

150,000 

*Warrants were adjusted to reflect the share consolidation on October 17, 2019 (Note 10) 

Cash 
$ 

12,500(1) 

32,500(1) 

45,000 

The regulatory approval related to the Quebec Properties Agreement was obtained from the 
TSXV on September 26, 2017. 
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On October 19, 2017, in connection with the Quebec Properties· Agreement, the Company paid 
reimbursement costs to DG Resource of $2,220 incurred on the properties 2 months prior to 
signing the Quebec Properties Agreement. 
The Quebec Properties Agreement is subject to a 2% Net Smelter Return with respect to the 
production of all materials from the properties. 

The Lac du Beryl Property has since been expanded and is now comprised of 30 claims totaling 

1,588 ha, forming two claim blocks. 

The Corvette Property has since been expanded and is now comprised of 172 claims totaling 

8,808 ha, forming one contiguous claim block. 

FCI Property (East and West blocks) 

On September 4, 2018, the Company entered into an Option Agreement (the "Agreement") with 
Osisko Mining Inc. ("Osisko") to acquire up to a 75% interest in 28 mineral claims ("FCI East") 
directly adjoining the Company's 100% owned Corvette Property. 

Under the terms of the Agreement, the Company would earn an initial 50% interest by issuing 
200,000 common shares (2,000,000 pre-consolidation) to Osisko and incurring $2,250,000 work 
exploration expenditures as follows: 

Upon closing date of the Agreement (issued) (September 
14, 2018) 
On or before the 1st anniversary date of closing (issued) 
(September 14, 2019) 

To earn an initial 25% undivided interest 
On or before the 2"d anniversary date of closing 
(September 14, 2020) 

To earn an additional 25% undivided interest (50% 
interest in total) 
On or before the 3rd anniversary date of closing 
(September 14, 2021) 

Total 

Common 
Shares* 

# 

100,000 

100,000 

200,000 

Work exploration 
expenditures 

$ 

250,000 

800,000 

1,200,000 

2,250,000 
*Shares were adjusted to reflect the share consolidation on October 17, 2019 (Note 1 0) 

Osisko will act as Operator of the FCI Property for the term of the 50% earn-in, with a Steering 
Committee of equal representation formed to provide advice and direction to the Operator. Upon 
completion of the 50% earn-in (September 14, 2021), a Joint Venture Corporation will be formed 
with the Company retaining an Option to acquire a further 25% interest, for a total of 75% 
undivided interest, through funding of the next $2,000,000 in exploration expenditures. The 
Company may become Operator upon notice to Osisko that it intends to incur the $2,000,000 in 
work expenditures for a final undivided interest of75%. Osisko's remaining 25% interest may be 
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further reduced through dilution if they elect to not fund their portion of subsequent 
exploration/development. If ownership falls below 10%, Osisko will have the right to convert this 
remaining interest into a 1% Net Smelter Royalty (NSR), of which, the Company retains the right 
to buy for $5,000,000, and thereby, would obtain a 100% undivided interest in the FCI Property. 

On April 24, 2019, the Company and Osisko entered into an amended agreement to include an 
additional 83 claims ("FCI West") under the same terms and conditions as the original agreement. 
No additional shares, cash, or work commitment is required by the Company, apart from general 
claim maintenance (i.e. renewal fees). Therefore, the FCI Property (East and West blocks) is 
currently comprised of 5,687 ha over 111 claims. 

Subsequent to the Agreement, the FCI Property was included in a corporate restructuring and 
spin-out of assets from Osisko into a new public company called 03 Mining Inc. ("03 Mining"). 
The FCI Agreement was transferred from Osisko to 03 Mining at this time. Therefore, 03 
Mining is now the Optionor and Operator of the Property and all other terms and conditions of 
the Agreement remaining unchanged. 

During the year end March 31, 2020, the Company provided a total of $297,701 (total from the 
start cumulative of $412,448) as cash call to Osisko/03 Mining. As of March 31, 2020, total 
expenditures amounted to $412,448 (payable to Osisko/03 Mining amounted to $3,693 as at 
March 31, 2020). Both parties have completed sufficient work expenditures to satisfy Year I of 
the Agreement. On September 19, 2019, the Company issued 100,000 common shares (1,000,000 
-pre-consolidation) at $0.03 per share (Note 10). 

8.6 Silver Sands Vanadium Property 

On November 13, 2018, the Company entered into an agreement with DG Resource Management 
Ltd. to acquire 100% interest in Silver Sands Vanadium Property (the "Silver Sands"), located in 
the Pine Pass area of eastern British Columbia. Silver Sands covers 3,735 hectares directly east of 
the Pine Pass Vanadium Property held by Ethos Gold Corp., which is located about 200 km north 
of Prince George, British Columbia. 

Pursuant to the agreement, the Company will acquire a 100% interest in Silver Sands by paying 
staking costs of $15,000. The vendor will retain a 2% Net Smelter Return on the Property. 

As at March 31, 2020, the Company has incurred $14,776 (March 31, 2019- $12,881) mineral 
expenditures pursuant to the agreement. 

9. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES 

The Company's accounts payable and accrued liabilities are principally comprised of amounts 
outstanding for trade purchases relating to administrative activities. The usual credit period taken 
for trade purchases is between 30 to 90 days. As at March 31, 2020, the Company had 
$9,194 (March 31,2019- $40,196) in accounts payable and $34,050 (March 31,2019- $30,890) 
in accrued liabilities. 
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10. SHARE CAPITAL 

10.1 Authorized share capital 

The Company has authorized an unlimited number of common shares with no par value. 

As at March 31, 2020, the Company had 14,788,817 common shares outstanding 
(March 31,2019- 8,780,246). 

10.2 Shares issuances 

On December 2, 2019, the Company closed a non-brokered private placement financing for gross 
proceeds of $412,200 by issuing 5,888,571 units at a price of $0.07 per unit. Each Unit is 
comprised of one common share and one transferable share purchase warrant, with each warrant 
entitling the holder to purchase one additional common share of the Company for a period of up 
to thirty-six months at a price of $0.09 in the first year, $0.15 in the second year and $0.20 in the 
third year. In connection with the private placement, the Company paid a finder's fee of $7,840 in 
cash. 

On September 19, 2019, the Company issued 100,000 common shares 
(1,000,000 - pre-consolidation) at $0.30 per share for the acquisition of the Corvette-FCI 
Property (Note 8). 

On April 26, 2019, the Company issued 20,000 common shares (200,000 pre-consolidation) 
valued at $0.50 per share for 20,000 (200,000 pre-consolidation) stock options exercised. 

During the year ended March 31, 2019, the Company issued common shares as follows: 

On December 27, 2018, the Company closed a non-brokered private placement financing for 
gross proceeds of $618,000 by issuing 1,236,000 flow-through ("FT") units 
(12,360,000 - pre-consolidation) at a price of $0.50 per unit. Each FT unit consists of one FT 
common share and one-half of one non-transferable share purchase warrant. Each whole warrant 
will permit the holder to acquire one additional common share at a price of $1.00 per share until 
December 27, 2021. In connection with the private placement, the Company paid a finder's fee of 
$39,440 in cash and issued 86,080 agent warrants (860,800- pre-consolidation) (Note 15). Each 
agent warrant is exercisable to acquire one common share for a period of thirty-six months from 
the date of issuance at an exercise price of $1.00 per share. 

On September 17, 2018, the Company issued 100,000 common shares 
(1,000,000- pre-consolidation) valued at $0.60 per share for the acquisition ofthe Corvette-FCI 
Property (Note 8). 

On August 1, 2018, the Company closed a non-brokered private placement financing for gross 
proceeds of $217,750 by issuing 335,000 non-flow-through ("NFT") units 
(3,350,000 - pre-consolidation) at a price of $0.65 per unit. Each NFT unit consists of one NFT 
common share and one-half of one non-transferable share purchase warrant. Each whole warrant 
will permit the holder to acquire one additional NFT common share at a price of $1.00 per share 
until August 1, 2019. 
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On June 18, 2018, the Company issued 150,000 common shares (1,500,000- pre-consolidation) 
valued at $0.55 per share in accordance with the Pontax Agreement (Notes 8 and 15). 

10.3 Share purchase warrants 

A summary of changes in the Company's share purchase warrants outstanding as at March 31, 
2020 and March 31, 2019 is as follows: 

March 31,2020 March 31,2019 

Number of 
Weighted 

Number of 
Weighted 

warrants1 average 
warrants 

average 
exercise price exercise price 

Outstanding, beginning of year 1,021,580 $ 1.10 1,540,717 $ 1.50 

Granted 5,888,571 0.09 871,580 1.00 

Expired (167,500) 1.00 (1,390,717) 
1.50 

Outstanding, end of year 6,742,651 $ 0.22 1,021,580 $ 1.10 

1Warrants were adjusted to reflect the share consolidation on October 17,2019 (Note 10) 

For the year ended March 31, 2020: 

On August 1, 2019, 167,500 warrants (1,675,000- pre-consolidation) expired unexercised. 

On December 2, 2019, the Company granted 5,888,571 warrants in connection with a private 
placement. 

For the year ended March 31, 2019: 

On April 18, 2018, 51,400 warrants ( 514,000 -pre-consolidation) expired unexercised. 

On August 1, 2018, the Company granted 167,500 warrants (1,675,000- pre-consolidation) in 
connection with a private placement. 

On December 27, 2018, the Company granted 618,000 warrants (6,180,000- pre-consolidation) 
in connection with a private placement. 

On January 3, 2019, 586,900 warrants (5,869,000- pre-consolidation) expired unexercised. 

On February 24, 2019, 752,417 warrants (7,524,166- pre-consolidation) expired unexercised. 

During the year ended March 31, 2019, the Company recorded share issue costs of $15,897 for 
the 86,080 agent warrants (860,800 -pre-consolidation) granted pursuant to a private placement. 
The fair value of the agent warrants issued was estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing 
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model with the following weighted average assumptions: stock price of$0.30, volatility 138.13%, 
risk-free rate 1.91 %, dividend yield 0%, and expected life of3 years. 

The following table summarizes information regarding share purchase warrants outstanding as at 
March 31, 2020: 

Weighted 
Date issued Number of Exercise average 

warrants* price($) Expiry date remaining life 

September 25, 2017 150,000 $ 1.50 September 25, 2022 0.06 
December 27, 2018 704,080 1.00 December 27, 2021 0.18 
December 2, 2019 5,888,571 0.09 December 2, 2022 2.34 

6,742,651 $ 0.09 2.57 

*Warrants were adjusted to reflect the share consolidation on October 17, 2019 (Note 10) 

10.4 Stock options 

The Company has an incentive share option plan for granting options to directors, employees and 
consultants, under which the total outstanding options are limited 10% of the outstanding 
common shares at the time of each grant. Options granted may not exceed a term of ten years. All 
options vest when granted unless otherwise specified by the Board of Directors. 

For the year end March 31, 2020: 

On February 3, 2020, the Company has granted 80,000 incentive stock options to an officer of the 
Company (Note 14). Each option is exercisable into one additional common share at $0.09 per 
share until February 3, 2023 and vested immediately on the date of grant. The fair value of $5,240 
share-based payments was estimated using the Black-Scholes pricing model with the stock price 
of $0.08, volatility of 180.26%, risk-free rate of 1.46%, dividend yield of 0%, and expected life of 
3 years. 

On January 14, 2020, the Company has granted an aggregate of 675,000 incentive stock options 
to officers, directors and consultants of the Company. Each option is exercisable into one 
additional common share at $0.09 per share until January 24, 2023 and vested immediately on the 
date of grant. The fair value of $60,268 share-based payments was estimated using the Black
Scholes pricing model with a stock price of $0.1 0, volatility of 181.45%, risk-free rate of 1.69%, 
dividend yield of 0%, and expected life of 3 years. 

In January 2020, a total of 125,000 stock options were cancelled. 

On September 4, 2019, the Company granted a total of 100,000 stock options 
(1,000,000- pre-consolidation) to a consultant of the Company. Each stock option is exercisable 
into one common share at $0.50 per share until September 4, 2020 and vested immediately on the 
date of grant. The Company recognized $26,623 as share-based payments on the statement of 
comprehensive loss on the grant of the stock options. The fair value of $26,623 share-based 
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payments was estimated using the Black-Scholes pricing model with the stock price of $0.50, 
volatility 144.07%, risk-free rate 1.35%, dividend yield 0%, and expected life of 1 year. 

On May 2, 2019, the Company granted a total of 250,000 stock options 
(2,500,000 - pre-consolidation) to a consultant, officers and directors of the Company. Each 
stock option is exercisable into one common share at $0.60 per share until May 2, 2022 and 
vested immediately on the date of grant. The Company recognized $119,041 as share-based 
payments on the statement of comprehensive loss on the grant of the stock options. The fair value 
of $119,041 share-based payments was estimated using the Black-Scholes pricing model with the 
stock price of $0.60, volatility 144.22%, risk-free rate 1.61 %, dividend yield 0%, and expected 
life of 3 years. 

On April25, 2019, the Company issued 20,000 common shares (200,000- pre-consolidation) for 
gross proceeds of $10,000 for options exercised. 

For the year ended March 31, 2019: 

On July 11, 2018, the Company granted a total of 190,000 stock options 
(1,900,000 - pre-consolidation) to a consultant, officers and directors of the Company. Each 
stock option is exercisable into one additional common share at $0.50 per share until July 11, 
2021 and vested immediately on the date of grant. The Company recognized $66,043 as share
based payments on the statement of comprehensive loss on the grant of the stock options. The fair 
value of $66,043 share-based payments was estimated using the Black-Scholes pricing model 
with the stock price of $0.50, volatility 141%, risk-free rate 1.5%, dividend yield 0%, and 
expected life of 3 years. 

On August 1, 2018, the Company granted a total of 80,000 stock options 
(800,000 - pre-consolidation) to a consultant of the Company. Each stock option is exercisable 
into one additional common share at $0.55 per share until August 1, 2020 and vested immediately 
on the date of grant. The Company recognized $26,995 as share-based payments on the statement 
of comprehensive loss on the grant of the stock options. The fair value of $26,995 share-based 
payments was estimated using the Black-Scholes pricing model with estimated, stock price of 
$0.55, volatility 121%, risk-free rate 1.5%, dividend yield 0%, and expected life of 2 years. 

On January 17, 2019, 14,200 options (142,000- pre-consolidation) expired unexercised. 

On March 4, 2019, 86,000 options (860,000- pre-consolidation) cancelled unexercised. 

On March 21,2019, 2,500 options (25,000- pre-consolidation) cancelled unexercised. 

On August 1, 2019, 30,000 options (300,000 pre-consolidation) expired unexercised. 
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The following table summarizes information regarding stock options outstanding and exercisable 
as at March 31 2020· 

' 
Weighted-. Weighted 

average average 
Number of remaining exercise 

options contractual life price 
Exercise price outstandin2* (years) $ 
Options outstanding and exercisable 
$0.50 255,000 0.17 $ 0.09 
$0.80 97,500 0.01 0.05 
$0.09 755,000 1.47 0.05 
$1.00 95,000 0.07 0.07 
$0.60 235,000 0.34 0.10 

Total options outstanding and exercisable 1,437,500 2.06 $ 0.35 
*Options were adJusted to reflect the share consolidatiOn on October 17, 2019 (Note 1 0) 

The weighted average grant date fair value of the options granted during the year ended 
March 31, 2020 was $0.201 (March 31, 2019 - $0.30) per option using the Black-Scholes Option 
Pricing Model. The weighted average assumptions used for the calculation were: 

March 31,2020 March 31,2019 

Share price at grant date ($) $0.08 - $0.60 $0.50 - $0.55 
Risk free interest rate (%) 1.62% 1.50% 
Expected life (years) 2.82 2.70 
Expected volatility (%) 170% 135% 
Expected dividend per share - -
Fair market value of the option on grant date ($) $0.201 $0.30 

March 31,2020 March 31, 2019 

Number of 
Weighted 

Number of 
Weighted 

options1 average 
options 

average 
exercise price exerc1se pnce 

Outstanding, beginning of year 572,500 $ 0.80 405,200 $ 1.10 

Granted 1,105,000 0.24 270,000 0.50 

Exercised (20,000) 0.50 - -
Expired/Cancelled (220,000) 0.80 (102,700) 1.20 

Outstanding, end of year 1,437,500 $ 0.35 572,500 $ 0.80 

10ptions were adjusted to reflect the share consolidation on October 17, 2019 (Note 10) 
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11. LOSS PER SHARE 

The calculation of basic and diluted loss per share is based on the following data: 

March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019 

Net loss for the year $ (528,956) $ (1,012,368) 

Weighted average number of shares 
-basic and diluted* 10,777,054 7,675,047 

Loss per share, basic and diluted $ (0.049) $ (0.132) 
*Shares were adjusted to reflect the share consolidation on October 17, 2019 (Note 10) 

The basic loss per share is computed by dividing the net loss by the weighted average number of 
common shares outstanding during the year. The diluted loss per share reflects the potential 
dilution of common share equivalents, such as outstanding stock options, and share purchase 
warrants, in the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the year, if 
dilutive. All of the stock options and the share purchase warrants were anti-dilutive for year end 
March 31, 2020 and 2019 as the Company incurred a loss. 

12. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 
Share-based payments for options granted by the Company during the year ended 
March 31,2020 and 2019 are amortized over their vesting period as follows: 

Amount vested in Amount vested in 
Fair value the year ended the year ended 

Grant date March 31,2020 March 31, 2019 

July 11, 2018 $ 66,043 $ - $ 66,043 

August 1, 2018 26,995 - 26,995 

May 2, 2019 119,041 119,041 -
September 4, 2019 26,623 26,623 -
January 14, 2020 60,268 60,268 -
February 3, 2020 5,240 5,240 -

Total $ 304,210 $ 211,172 $ 93,038 
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13. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

13.1 Categories of financial instruments 

March 31,2020 
As at $ 
FINANCIAL ASSETS 

AtFVTPL 
Cash and cash equivalents 255.889 

Total financial assets 255,889 
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 

At amortized cost 
Trade payables 9.194 

Total financial liabilities 9,194 

13.2 Fair value 

March 31,2019 
$ 

698,446 
698,446 

40,196 
40,196 

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities at amortized cost is determined in 
accordance with generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis or 
using prices from observable current market transactions. The Company considers that the 
carrying amount of all its financial assets and financial liabilities recognized at amortized cost in 
the consolidated financial statements approximates their fair value due to the demand nature or 
short-term maturity of these instruments. 

The following table provides an analysis of the Company's financial instruments that are 
measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value, grouped into Level 1 to 3 based on the 
degree to which the inputs used to determine the fair value are observable. 

• Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices in active markets for 
identical assets or liabilities. 

• Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices 
included within Level 1, that are observable either directly or indirectly. 

• Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include 
inputs that are not based on observable market data. As at March 31, 2020, the Company 
does not have any Level 3 financial instruments. 
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Levell 
As at March 31, 2020 $ 
Financial assets at fair value 

Cash and cash equivalents 255,889 
Total financial assets at fair value 255,889 

Levell 
As at March 31, 2019 $ 

Financial assets at fair value 
Cash and cash equivalents 698,446 

Total financial assets at fair value 698,446 

Level2 Level3 Total 
$ $ $ 

- - 255,889 

- - 255,889 

Level2 Level3 Total 
$ $ $ 

- - 698,446 
- - 698,446 

There were no transfers between Level 1, 2 and 3 in the year end March 31, 2020 and 2019. 

13.3 Management of capital and financial risks 

The Company's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Company's ability to 
continue as a going concern in order to pursue the sourcing and exploration of mineral properties. 
The Company does not have any externally imposed capital requirements to which it is subject. 

The Company manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in 
economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust 
the capital structure, the Company may attempt to issue common shares or dispose of assets or 
adjust the amount of cash. 

The financial risk arising from the Company's operations are credit risk, liquidity risk, interest 
rate risk, currency risk and commodity price risk. These risks arise from the normal course of 
operations and all transactions undertaken are to support the Company's ability to continue as a 
going concern. The risks associated with these financial instruments and the policies on how to 
mitigate these risks are set out below. Management manages and monitors these exposures to 
ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner. 

Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk of loss associated with the counterparty's inability to fulfill its payment 
obligations. Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit 
risks consist principally of cash. To minimize the credit risk the Company places these 
instruments with a high-quality financial institution. 

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as 
they fall due. The Company manages liquidity risk through the management of its capital 
structure and financial leverage as outlined above. 
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The Company monitors its ability to meet its short-term exploration and administrative 
expenditures by raising additional funds through share issuance when required. As at 
March 31, 2020, all of the Company's trade payables of $9,194 (March 31, 2019- $40,196) have 
contractual maturities of 30 to 90 days are subject to normal trade terms. The Company's loans 
payables are due on demand. The Company does not have investments in any asset backed 
deposits. 

Foreign exchange risk 

The Company does not have significant foreign exchange risk as the majority of its transactions 
are in Canadian dollars. 

Interest rate risk 

The Company is not exposed to significant interest rate risk. 

14. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

The amounts due to related parties are amounts due to directors and officers. The balances are 
unsecured, non-interest bearing and have no specific terms for repayment. 

As at March 31, 2020, the Company has $3 79 due to related parties reported as part of accounts 
payable (Note 9). As at March 31, 2019, no amounts were due to key management, directors of 
the Company or companies controlled by management or directors of the Company. 

As at March 31,2020, $13,205 (March 31, 2019- $5,931) management fees and benefits were 
recorded as prepaid expenses (Note 6). 

14.1 Related party expenses 

During the year ended March 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company entered into the following 
transactions with related parties: 

Year ended March 31,2020 March 31, 2019 
Expenses paid or accrued to directors of the 
Company, senior officers and compames with 
common directors: 

Management and administration fees $ 178,544 $ 157,826 
Consulting fees 30,000 30,000 
Share based payments 146,572 57,354 

Total related party expenses by type $ 355,116 $ 245,180 
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The breakdown of the expenses by key management personnel is as follows: 

Year ended March 31, 2020 

Chief Executive Officer $ 157,956 $ 
ChiefFinancial Officer 125,494 
Corporate Secretary 50,833 
Directors 20,833 
Total related party expenses by key management 
personnel $ 355,116 $ 

14.2 Key management personnel compensation 

March 31, 2019 

111,430 
81,156 
38,690 
13,904 

245,180 

The Company has identified its directors and senior officers as its key management personnel. 
The remuneration of key management was as follows: 

Year ended March 31, 2020 March 31,2019 

Short-term benefits $ 208,544 $ 187,826 

Share-based payments 146,572 57,354 

Total key management personnel compensation $ 355,116 $ 245,180 

15. SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION 

15.1 Non-cash financing and investing activities 

The Company incurred the following non-cash investing and financing transactions during the 
year ended March 31, 2020 and 2019: 

Year ended March 31,2020 March 31,2019 
Non-cash financing activities: 

Share-based payments $ 211,172 $ 93,038 
Fair value of options exercised 6,952 -

Non-cash investing activities: 
Shares issued for exploration and evaluations assets 30,000 142,500 

16. COMMITMENTS 

The Company has certain commitments related to key management compensation for $12,500 per 
month with no specific expiry of terms (Note 14). 

The Company has certain commitments in connection with its mineral properties (Note 8). 
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Upon issuance of the Company's flow-through shares during the year ended March 31, 2019, the 
Company was required to spend approximately $618,000 in eligible exploration expenditures 
(Note 17). 

17. FLOW-THROUGH PREMIUM LIABILITY 

During the year ended March 31, 2019, the Company issued 1,236,000 flow-through units 
(12,360,000 -pre-consolidation) for gross proceeds of $618,000 and recognized a deferred flow
through premium of $247,200, non-cash, as the difference between the amounts recognized in 
common shares and the amounts the investors paid for the units. 

As at March 31, 2020, the flow-through premium liability outstanding relating to these flow
through shares was $Nil (March 31, 2019 - $226,391 ). The Company was required to spend 
$618,000 in eligible exploration expenditures in relation to the above flow-through issuance (all 
incurred as of March 31, 2020). 

During the year ended March 31, 2020, the Company recognized flow-through income of 
$226,391 (March 31, 2019- $23,540) and paid $6,325 in interest (2019- $Nil). 

18. TAXES 

18.1 Provision for income taxes 

March 31, March 31, 
2020 2019 

$ $ 

Loss before tax 528,956 1,012,368 
Statutory tax rate 27% 27.00% 

Expected tax recovery 142,818 273,339 
Non-deductible items and other 5,612 (9,615) 
Change in prior year provision to actual (96,386) (46,043) 
Change in enacted tax rates - 40,682 
Change in deferred tax assets not recognized (52,044) (258,363) 

Tax recovery for the year - -
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18.2 Deferred tax balances 

The tax effects of deductible temporary differences for which no deferred tax asset has been 
recognized are as follows: 

As at March 31 March 31, March 31, 
2020 2019 

$ $ 

Tax loss carry-forwards 1,799,885 1,836,218 
Net capital loss carry-forwards 43,603 45,103 
Exploration and evaluation properties (71,344) (164,387) 
Share issue costs 11,161 14,326 

Deferred tax assets not recognized 1,783,305 1,731,261 

18.3 Expiry dates 

The Company's unrecognized deferred tax assets related to unused tax losses have the following 
expiry dates: 

March 31, 
2020 

$ 

Non-capital losses 
2029 17,141 
2030 241,622 
2031 540,868 
2032 1,067,925 
2033 824,649 
2034 339,964 
2035 399,070 
2036 434,562 
2037 694,826 
2038 742,864 
2039 816,753 
2040 545,998 

Total non-capital losses 6,666,242 

Total resource-related deduction, no expiry 2,401,514 
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19. EVENTS AFfER THE REPORTING PERIOD 

In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared a global pandemic known as COVID-19. 
This is causing significant financial market and social dislocation. This has also resulted in 
significant economic uncertainty and consequently, it is difficult to reliably measure the potential 
impact of this uncertainty on the Company's future financial results. 

On May 15, 2020, 97,500 options expired unexercised. 

20. APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The Financial Statements of the Company for the year ended March 31, 2020 were approved and 
authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on July 9, 2020. 
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  Notes December 31, 2020  March 31, 2020  
        
ASSETS       
Current assets       
Cash and cash equivalents 4 $                 217,105   $            255,889  
Amounts receivable 5 9,229                    8,185  
Prepaid expenses 6 22,869                  18,179  
        
    249,203                282,253  
        
Exploration and evaluation properties 7, 9 3,883,231              2,666,124  
        
Total assets   $              4,132,434   $         2,948,377  
        
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND 
LIABILITIES       

        
Current liabilities       
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 8 $                   69,036   $             43,244  
        
Total liabilities   69,036                  43,244  
        
Shareholders’ equity       
Share capital 7, 9 11,206,060              9,811,299  
Reserves 7, 9 1,533,321              1,206,537  
Deficit    (8,675,983)           (8,112,703) 
        
Total equity   4,063,398              2,905,133  
        
Total shareholders’ equity and liabilities   $              4,132,434   $         2,948,377  
 
Corporate Information and Going Concern (Note 1), Commitments (Note 15), and Events 
after the Reporting Period (Note 17) 
 
APPROVED ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD: 
“Todd Hanas”  “Paul Chung” 
Director  Director 
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N
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ber 31, 2020 

D
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ber 31, 2019 
D

ecem
ber 31, 2020 

D
ecem

ber 31, 2019 

  
  

  
  

  
  

Expenses 
  

  
  

  
  

B
usiness developm

ent 
  

 $                  46,334  
 $                  26,011  

 $                   38,272  
 $                     4,722  

B
ank and interest charges 

  
                               -  

                       1,343  
                              -                               765  

C
onsulting 

13 
                   111,113  

                   140,160  
                      60,697  

                      44,535  
Investor com

m
unications 

  
                       3,684  

                     10,628  
                           189  

                           271  
M

anagem
ent and adm

inistration fees 
13 

                   157,431  
                   138,965  

                      38,894  
                      59,877  

M
eals and entertainm

ent 
  

                       3,700  
                       3,401  

                           870  
                           253  

O
ffice and m

iscellaneous 
  

                       8,833  
                       7,369  

                        2,051  
                        5,031  

Professional fees 
  

                     24,517  
                     19,146  

                      12,698  
                        4,579  

R
ent 

  
                     13,570  

                     11,549  
                        4,575  

                        3,877  
Share-based com

pensation 
11, 13 

                   140,349  
                   145,664  

                      83,561  
                               -  

Transfer agent and filing fees 
  

                     41,964  
                     40,696  

                      20,589  
                      19,860  

Travel 
  

                     11,799  
                     12,485  

                        6,199  
                        2,774  

  
  

  
  

  
  

N
et loss for the period before other item

s 
  

                  (563,294) 
 (557,417) 

                   (268,595) 
 (146,544) 

  
  

  
  

  
  

O
ther item

s 
  

  
  

  
  

O
ther incom

e, net 
  7  

                               -  
                   226,391  

                                -  
                      72,421  

Interest incom
e (expense) 

 5 
                            14  

                         111  
                                -  

                            36  

N
et loss and com

prehensive loss for the period 
  

 $               (563,280) 
$               (330,915) 

 $                (268,595) 
$                  (74,087) 

  
  

  
  

  
  

Loss per com
m

on share 
  

  
  

  
  

B
asic and diluted 

10 
 $                     (0.02) 

 $                    (0.03) 
 $                      (0.01) 

 $                     (0.01) 
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Share 

capital 
R

eserves 
D

eficit 
Total 

Balances, M
arch 31, 2019 

 
8,780,246  

$   9,359,987  
$   1,002,317  

 $   (7,583,747) 
$   2,778,557  

Shares issued for: 
 

  
  

  
  

  
Cash 

9 
5,888,571  

412,200  
                 -    

                 -    
412,200  

Exploration and evaluation properties 
7 

100,000  
30,000  

                 -    
                 -    

30,000  
Share issue costs 

9 
                 -    

 (7,840) 
                 -    

                 -    
 (7,840) 

Stock options exercised 
9 

20,000  
10,000  

                 -    
                 -    

10,000  
Fair value of options exercised 

9 
                 -    

6,952  
 (6,952) 

                 -    
                 -    

Share-based paym
ents 

9, 13 
                 -    

                 -    
145,664  

                 -    
145,664  

N
et loss and com

prehensive loss for the year 
 

                 -    
                 -    

                 -    
 (330,915) 

 (330,915) 
  

 
  

  
  

  
  

Balances, D
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ber 31, 2019 
 

14,788,817  
$   9,811,299  

$   1,141,029  
$  (7,914,662) 

$   3,037,666  
  

 
  

  
  

  
  

Balances, M
arch 31, 2020 

 
14,788,817  

$   9,811,299  
$   1,206,537  

$   (8,112,703) 
$   2,905,133  

Shares issued for: 
 

  
  

  
  

  
Cash 

9 
11,040,000  

963,000  
                 -    

                 -    
963,000  
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  Nine months ended December 31, 
  2020 2019 
      
OPERATING ACTIVITIES     
      
Net loss for the period $       (563,280) $         (330,915) 
Adjustments for:     

Interest income accruals   (14)                   (111) 
Other income                       -     (226,391) 
Share based payment            140,349               145,664  

Changes in non-cash working capital items     
Decrease (Increase) in amounts receivable  (1,030)              (27,179) 
Increase in trade payables and accrued liabilities              25,792                   5,274  
Decrease (Increase) in prepaid expenses  (4,690)                76,087  

      
Cash used in operating activities  (402,873)  (357,571) 
      
INVESTING ACTIVITIES     
      
Exploration and evaluation property expenditures  (766,351)  (467,453) 
      
Cash used in investing activities  (766,351)  (467,453) 
      
FINANCING ACTIVITIES     
      
Proceeds from issuance of common shares            963,000               414,360  
Proceeds from exercise of warrants            215,650                       -    
Share issue costs  (48,210)                      -    
      
Cash provided by financing activities         1,130,440               414,360  
      
      
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  (38,784)  (410,664) 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period            255,889               698,446  
      
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period  $        217,105   $          287,782  

 
 
Supplemental cash flow information (Note 14)
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1. CORPORATE INFORMATION 
 
Gaia Metals Corp. (the “Company”) was incorporated on May 10, 2007 under the British Columbia 
Business Corporations Act. On September 10, 2012, the Company incorporated a wholly owned 
subsidiary, Petro Grande Energy Inc. (the “subsidiary”). The subsidiary was dissolved during the 
period ended December 31, 2020. The principal business of the Company is the identification, 
evaluation and acquisition of exploration and evaluation properties, as well as exploration of those 
properties once acquired.  The Company is domiciled in Canada and is a reporting issuer with its 
common shares publicly traded on the TSX Venture Exchange (the “TSXV”).  The address of its 
head office and records office is Suite 500, 666 Burrard Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, 
Canada, V6C 3P6. The Company has mineral properties in British Columbia, Northwest Territories, 
Quebec, and Idaho, USA. 
   
During the year ended March 31, 2020, the Company changed its name from 92 Resources Corp. 
to Gaia Metals Corp. and consolidated its common shares on the basis of one (1) post-consolidated 
share for every ten (10) pre-consolidated shares. On October 17, 2019, the shares of the Company 
commenced trading on TSXV on a consolidated basis under the name Gaia Metals Corp. and stock 
symbol “GMC”. 
 
As at December 31, 2020, the Company has not yet determined whether the properties contained 
ore reserves that are economically recoverable. The recoverability of amounts shown for 
exploration and evaluation properties is dependent upon the discovery of economically recoverable 
reserves, confirmation of the Company’s interest in the underlying mineral claims, the ability of 
the Company to obtain the necessary financing to complete the development of and future 
profitable production from the properties or realizing proceeds from their disposition.  
 
For the period ended December 31, 2020, the Company incurred a net loss of $563,280. As at 
December 31, 2020, the Company had an accumulated deficit of $8,675,983 which has been funded 
by the issuance of equity. The Company’s ability to continue its operations and to realize its assets 
at their carrying values are dependent upon obtaining additional financing sufficient to cover its 
operating costs. In order to meet exploration expenditure requirements and option payment and 
compliance obligations, the Company may need to seek additional sources of equity financing. If 
the Company is unable to raise additional capital in the future, management expects that the 
Company will need to curtail operations, liquidate assets, seek additional capital on less favorable 
terms and/or pursue other remedial measures.   
 
During and after the nine months ended December 31, 2020, the COVID-19 pandemic has caused 
significant and negative impact to the global financial market. The approach to the Company’s 
exploration activities for the year 2021 have been adapted to fit with this evolving situation. Further, 
the exploration team is familiar with remote office work conditions as the exploration industry 
lends itself naturally to remote management. The Company continues to monitor and assess the 
impact on its business activities. The full impact is uncertain, and it is difficult to reliably measure 
the extent of the effect of the COVID-19 pandemic on future financial results.  
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1. CORPORATE INFORMATION (Continued) 
 
Management is aware, in making its assessment, of material uncertainties related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern as described.  These interim condensed consolidated financial statements (the “Financial 
Statements”) do not give effect to any adjustments which would be necessary should the Company 
be unable to continue as a going concern and therefore be required to realize its assets and discharge 
its liabilities in other than the normal course of business and at amounts different from those 
reflected in the accompanying Financial Statements. 

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 
 
2.1 Basis of presentation 
 

The Company’s Financial Statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for 
certain financial instruments which are measured at fair value, as explained in Note 12, and are 
presented in Canadian dollars except where otherwise indicated.  
 
The functional currency of the Company is the Canadian dollar. 

 
2.2 Statement of compliance 
 

The interim condensed consolidated financial statements of the Company, including comparative 
disclosure, have been prepared in accordance with International Accounting Standards (“IAS”) 34 
‘Interim Financial Reporting’ issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) 
and interpretations of the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”), 
and in accordance with the same accounting policies and methods of computation as compared 
with the most recent annual financial statements, being for the year ended March 31, 2020. 
 
These interim condensed consolidated financial statements were approved and authorized for issue 
in accordance with a resolution from the Board of Directors on April 21, 2021. 
 

2.3 Adoption of new and revised standards and interpretations 
 

The IASB issued a number of new and revised IASs, International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRS”), amendments and related IFRICs which are effective for the Company’s financial year 
beginning on April 1, 2019.  The Company has adopted all the following new standards relevant to 
the Company for the nine months ended December 31, 2020. 
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2.3 Adoption of new and revised standards and interpretations (Continued) 

• IAS 1 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’ (“IAS 1”) and IAS 8 ‘Accounting Policies, 
Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors’ (“IAS 8”) were amended in October 2018 to 
refine the definition of materiality and clarify its characteristics. The revised definition focuses 
on the idea that information is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably 
be expected to influence decisions that the primary users of general-purpose financial 
statements make on the basis of those financial statements. The amendments are effective for 
annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2020. 
 

The adoption of the above standard did not have a material impact on the Company’s Financial 
Statements. 

 
 

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

3.1 Significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions 
 
The preparation of these Financial Statements requires management to make certain estimates, 
judgments and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of 
the Financial Statements and reported amounts of expenses during the reporting period.  Actual 
outcomes could differ from these estimates.  These Financial Statements include estimates, which, 
by their nature, are uncertain. The impacts of such estimates are pervasive throughout the Financial 
Statements and may require accounting adjustments based on future occurrences.   
 
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised and 
future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. These estimates are based on 
historical experience, current and future economic conditions and other factors, including 
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 
 
Significant assumptions about the future and other sources of estimation uncertainty that 
management has made at the financial position reporting date that could result in a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities, in the event that actual results differ 
from assumptions made, relate to, but are not limited to, the following: 
 
Critical accounting estimates 
 
i. the inputs used in accounting for share‐based payment expense in profit or loss; 
ii. the assessment of indications of impairment of exploration and evaluation properties and 

related determination of net realizable values and write-down of the properties where 
applicable; 

iii. the amount of decommissioning liabilities at three months end; 
iv. expected future tax rates used in the deferred income tax disclosures.  
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3.1 Significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions (Continued) 
 
Critical accounting judgments 
 
i. the determination of categories of financial assets and financial liabilities has been        

identified as an accounting policy which involves judgments or assessments made by        
management;  
 

ii. the determination of whether it is likely that future taxable profits will be available to 
utilize against any deferred tax assets; and 

 
iii. the determination of the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. 

 
3.2 Cash and cash equivalents 
 

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and liquid investments, which are readily convertible 
into cash with maturities of three months or less when purchased. The Company’s cash and cash 
equivalents are invested with major financial institutions and are not invested in any asset-backed 
deposits or investments. 
 

3.3  Prepaid expenses 
  

Prepaid expenses consist of expenditures paid for future services which will occur within one year. 
Prepaid expenses include cash prepayments for management services, rent expense, and transfer 
agent fees which are being amortized over the terms of their respective agreements. 

 
3.4  Exploration and evaluation properties 

 
All costs related to the acquisition, exploration and development of exploration and evaluation 
properties (“E&E assets”) are capitalized. Upon commencement of commercial production, the 
related accumulated costs are amortized against projected income using the units of production 
method over estimated recoverable reserves. Management annually assesses carrying values of 
properties for which events and circumstances may indicate possible impairment. Impairment of a 
property is generally considered to have occurred if (1) the property has been abandoned; (2) there 
are unfavorable changes in the property economics; (3) there are restrictions on development; or 
(4) when there has been an undue delay in development, which exceeds three years. In the event 
that estimated discounted cash flows expected from its use or eventual disposition is determined 
by management to be insufficient to recover the carrying value of the property, the carrying value 
is written down to the estimated recoverable amount.  
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3.4  Exploration and evaluation properties (Continued) 

 
The recoverability of exploration and evaluation properties and exploration and development costs 
is dependent on the existence of economically recoverable reserves, the ability to obtain the 
necessary financing to complete the development of the reserves, and the profitability of future 
operations. The Company has not yet determined whether or not any of its future exploration and 
evaluation properties contain economically recoverable reserves. Amounts capitalized to 
exploration and evaluation properties as exploration and development costs do not necessarily 
reflect present or future values. When options are granted on exploration and evaluation properties 
or when properties are sold, proceeds are credited to the cost of the property.  
 
If no future capital expenditure is required and proceeds exceed costs, the excess proceeds are 
reported as a gain. 
 
Government grants related to exploration and evaluation properties 
 
Government grants are recognized when there is reasonable assurance that the Company will 
comply with the conditions and requirements of the approved grant program and there is reasonable 
assurance that the grant will be received. Government grants are recorded as a reduction of carrying 
value of the exploration and evaluation properties acquired and shall be amortized to profit or loss 
as a reduced depreciation expense.  
 

3.5 Income taxes 
 

Income tax on the profit or loss for the periods presented comprises current and deferred tax. 
Income tax is recognized in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognized 
directly in equity, in which case it is recognized in equity.  
 
Current tax expense is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates 
enacted or substantively enacted at year-end, adjusted for amendments to tax payable with regards 
to previous years. 
 
Taxes on income in the periods are accrued using the tax rate that would be applicable to expected 
total annual earnings. The tax rate used is the rate that is enacted or substantively enacted. 
 
Deferred tax is provided using the liability method, providing for temporary differences between 
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used 
for taxation purposes. The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of 
realization or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or 
substantively enacted at the financial position reporting date applicable to the period of expected 
realization or settlement. 
 
A deferred tax asset is recognized only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits 
will be available against which the asset can be utilized. 
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3.6  Decommissioning, restoration and similar liabilities 
 

An obligation to incur restoration, rehabilitation and environmental costs arises when 
environmental disturbance is caused by the exploration or development of an exploration and 
evaluation property interest. Such costs arising from the decommissioning of plant and other site 
preparation work, discounted to their net present value, are provided for and capitalized at the start 
of each project to the carrying amount of the asset, along with a corresponding liability as soon as 
the obligation to incur such costs arises. The timing of the actual rehabilitation expenditure is 
dependent on a number of factors such as the life and nature of the asset, the operating license 
conditions and, when applicable, the environment in which the mine operates. 
 
Discount rates using a pre-tax rate that reflects the time value of money are used to calculate the 
net present value. These costs are charged against profit or loss over the economic life of the related 
asset, through amortization using either the unit-of-production or the straight-line method. The 
corresponding liability is progressively increased as the effect of discounting unwinds creating an 
expense recognized in profit or loss. 
 
Decommissioning costs are also adjusted for changes in estimates. Those adjustments are 
accounted for as a change in the corresponding capitalized cost, except where a reduction in costs 
is greater than the unamortized capitalized cost of the related assets, in which case the capitalized 
cost is reduced to nil and the remaining adjustment is recognized in profit or loss. 
 
The operations of the Company have been, and may in the future be, affected from time to time in 
varying degree by changes in environmental regulations, including those for site restoration costs. 
Both the likelihood of new regulations and their overall effect upon the Company are not 
predictable. 
 
The Company has no material restoration, rehabilitation and environmental obligations as the 
disturbance to date is immaterial. 
 

3.7 Share-based payments 
 

Share-based payments to employees and others providing similar services are measured at the 
estimated fair value of the instruments issued on the grant date and amortized over the vesting 
periods. Share-based payments to non-employees are measured at the fair value of the goods or 
services received or the fair value of the equity instruments issued if it is determined the fair value 
of the goods or services cannot be reliably measured, and are recorded at the date the goods or 
services are received. The amount recognized as an expense is adjusted to reflect the number of 
awards expected to vest. The offset to the recorded cost is to equity settled share-based payment 
reserve. 
 
Consideration received on the exercise of stock options is recorded as share capital and the related 
equity settled share-based payment reserve is transferred to share capital. Charges for options that 
are forfeited before vesting are reversed from equity settled share-based payment reserve. 
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3.8  Loss per share 
 

Basic loss per share is computed by dividing net loss available to common shareholders by the 
weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the year. The Company applies 
the treasury stock method in calculating diluted loss per share. Diluted loss per share excludes all 
dilutive potential common shares if their effect is anti-dilutive. 
 

3.9 Share issue costs 

Professional, consulting, regulatory and other costs directly attributable to financing transactions 
are recorded as deferred financing costs until the financing transactions are completed, if the 
completion of the transaction is considered likely; otherwise they are expensed as incurred. Share 
issue costs are charged to share capital when the related shares are issued. Deferred financing costs 
related to financing transactions that are not completed are expensed. 

 
3.10 Warrants issued in equity financing  
  

The Company engages in equity financing transactions to obtain the funds necessary to continue 
operations and explore and evaluate resource properties. These equity financing transactions may 
involve issuance of common shares or units. A unit comprises a certain number of common shares 
and a certain number of share purchase warrants.  
 
Depending on the terms and conditions of each financing agreement, the warrants are exercisable 
into additional common shares prior to expiry at a price stipulated by the agreement. Warrants that 
are part of units are accounted for using the residual method, following an allocation of the unit 
price to the fair value of the common shares that were concurrently issued. Warrants that are issued 
as payment for an agency fee or other transactions costs are accounted for as share-based payments. 
 

3.11 Flow-through shares 
 

Current Canadian tax legislation permits a company to issue securities referred to as flow-through 
shares whereby the Company assigns the tax deductions arising from the related resource 
expenditures to the shareholders. The issue of flow-through shares is in substance an issue of 
ordinary shares and the sale of tax deductions. At the time the Company issues flow-through shares, 
the sale of tax deductions is deferred and presented as other liabilities in the statement of financial 
position to recognize the obligation to incur and renounce eligible resource exploration and 
evaluation expenditures. The tax deduction is measured as the difference between the current 
market price of the Company’s common shares and the issue price of the flow-through share. Upon 
incurring and renouncing eligible resource exploration and evaluation expenditures, the Company 
recognizes the sale of tax deductions as a tax deduction recovery on the statement of comprehensive 
loss and reduces the other liability. 

 
To the extent that the Company has deferred tax assets in the form of tax loss carry-forwards and 
other unused tax credits as at the reporting date, the Company may use them to reduce its deferred 
tax liability relating to tax benefits transferred through flow-through shares. 
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3.12 Impairment of non-financial assets 
 

At the end of each reporting period, the Company assesses each cash-generating unit to determine 
whether there is any indication that those assets are impaired. If any such indication exists, the 
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment, if 
any. The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. Fair value 
is determined as the amount that would be obtained from the sale of the asset in an arm’s length 
transaction between knowledgeable and willing parties. In assessing value in use, the estimated 
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discounted rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. If the 
recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount 
of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount and the impairment loss is recognized in profit or 
loss for the period. 
 
For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is 
determined for the cash generating unit to which the asset belongs. 
 
When impairment subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash generating unit) 
is increased to the revised estimate and its recoverable amount, but to an amount that does not 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been 
recognized for the asset (or cash generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss 
is recognized immediately in profit or loss. 
 

3.13 Financial assets 

At initial recognition, financial assets are classified as subsequently measured at amortized cost, 
fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) or fair value through profit or loss 
(“FVTPL”).  Financial assets are recognized initially at fair value, unless they are trade receivables 
that do not contain a significant financing component in accordance with IFRS 15, which shall be 
measured at their transaction price.  The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on 
their classification based on both the Company’s business model for managing the financial assets 
and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets as follows: 
 
Amortized Cost 
 
The financial asset is subsequently measured at amortized cost if both the financial asset is held 
within a business model whose objective is to hold the financial assets in order to collect contractual 
cash flows and the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows 
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.  Such assets 
are carried at amortized cost using the effective interest method.  Gains and losses are recognized 
in profit or loss when the financial assets are derecognized or impaired, as well as through the 
amortization process. Transaction costs are included in the initial carrying amount of the asset.  
Amounts receivable are included in this category of financial assets. 
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3.13 Financial assets (Continued) 

Financial Assets at FVTOCI 
 
The financial asset is subsequently measured at FVTOCI if both the financial asset is held within a 
business model whose objectives achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling 
financial assets and the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash 
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on principal amount outstanding or if an 
irrevocable election was made for certain equity instruments at initial recognition.  After initial 
recognition, the financial assets are measured at fair value, with gains or losses recognized within 
other comprehensive income except for impairment gains (losses) and foreign exchange gain 
(losses).  Accumulated changes in fair value are recorded as a separate component of equity until 
the financial asset is derecognized, at which point, they are reclassified from equity to profit or loss 
as a reclassification adjustment. Transaction costs are included in the initial carrying amount of the 
asset. The Company does not have any assets measured at FVTOCI. 
 
Financial Assets at FVTPL  
 
A financial asset shall be measured at FVTPL if it is not measured at amortized cost or at FVTOCI.  
If the financial asset that would otherwise be measured at FVTPL is not acquired or incurred 
principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the near term, not part of a portfolio of 
identified financial instruments that are managed together and for which there is evidence of a 
recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking or a derivative, the Company may make an 
irrevocable election at initial recognition to present subsequent fair value changes of the equity 
instrument in OCI. Transaction costs associated with financial assets at FVTPL are expensed as 
incurred. These assets are carried at fair value with gains or losses recognized in profit or loss. Cash 
and cash equivalents are included in this category of financial assets. 
 

3.14 Impairment of financial assets 
 

The Company shall recognize a loss allowance for expected credit losses on financial assets 
measured at amortized cost or FVTOCI, a lease receivable, a contract asset or a loan commitment.  
If the credit risk on the financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition, the 
loss allowance shall be measured at an amount equal to the lifetime expected credit losses, 
otherwise, it shall be measured at an amount equal to the 12-month expected credit losses. 

 
3.15 Financial liabilities 
 

At initial recognition, financial liabilities are classified as financial liabilities measured at amortized 
cost unless they are financial liabilities at FVTPL (including derivatives that are liabilities), 
financial liabilities that arise when a transfer of financial asset does not qualify for derecognition, 
financial guarantee contracts, commitments to provide a loan at a below-market rate or contingent 
consideration recognized by an acquirer in a business combination.  Financial liabilities are 
recognized initially at fair value.  Transaction costs directly attributable to the issue of a financial 
liability are included in the initial carrying value of financial liabilities if they are not measured at 
FVTPL.  The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification, as 
follows: 
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3.15 Financial liabilities (Continued) 
 

Financial Liabilities Measured at Amortized Cost 
 
All other financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value, net of transaction costs.  After 
initial recognition, other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the 
effective interest method. Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any issue costs, and 
any discount or premium on settlement.  Gains and losses arising on the repurchase, settlement or 
cancellation of liabilities are recognized respectively in interest, other revenues and finance costs.  
Accounts payable are included in this category of financial liabilities. 
 
Financial Liabilities at FVTPL  
 
Financial liabilities are carried at fair value with gains or losses recognized in net income (loss).  
Where the financial liability is designated as at FVTPL, only the amount of change in the fair value 
of the financial liability that is attributable to the changes in the credit risk of that liability shall be 
presented in OCI and the remaining amount of changes in fair value presented in profit or loss.  
Transaction costs on financial liabilities at FVTPL are expensed as incurred. The Company does 
not have any liabilities measured at FVTPL.  

Other Financial Liabilities 
 
The Company does not hold or have any exposure to derivative instruments, financial liabilities 
that arise when a transfer of financial asset does not qualify for derecognition, financial guarantee 
contracts, commitments to provide a loan at a below-market rate or contingent consideration 
recognized by an acquirer in a business combination. 
 

3.16 De-recognition of financial assets and liabilities 

Financial assets are derecognized when the contractual rights to receive cash flows from the assets 
expire or, the financial assets are transferred, and the Company has transferred substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership of the financial assets.  On de-recognition of a financial asset, the 
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received, including 
any new asset obtained less any new liability assumed, is recognized in profit or loss.  Where a 
transfer does not result in a derecognition due to continuing involvement, the Company shall 
continue to recognize the transferred asset and recognize a financial liability of the consideration 
received.  
 
For financial liabilities, they are derecognized when the obligation specified in the relevant contract 
is discharged, cancelled or expires.  The difference between the carrying amount of the financial 
liability derecognized and the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or 
liabilities assumed, is recognized in profit or loss. 
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3.17 Related party transactions 
 
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the 
other party or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating 
decisions. Parties are also considered to be related if they are subject to common control or common 
significant influence. Related parties may be individuals or corporate entities. A transaction is 
considered to be a related party transaction when there is a transfer of resources, services or 
obligations between related parties. 

4. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 
As at December 31, 2020, total cash of $11,500 (December 31, 2019 - $11,500) is secured against 
the Company’s credit cards and held in a Guaranteed Investment Certificate (“GIC”) (Note 5). The 
GIC earns interest at prime rate minus 2.25%. 

5. AMOUNTS RECEIVABLE 
 

The Company’s amounts receivable arises from Goods and Services Tax (“GST”) and Quebec 
Sales Tax (“QST”) due from the government taxation authorities and accrued interest calculated 
on the GIC (Note 4). 

6. PREPAID EXPENSES 
 

The Company’s prepaid expenses are as follows: 
 
  December 31, 2020 March 31, 2020 
      
Prepaid management fees  $                  12,500   $            13,205  
Prepaid rent                        2,480                  2,480  
Prepaid transfer agent and filing fees                        7,192                       -    
Others                              697                    2,494  
Total   $                  22,869   $            18,179  

 
Prepaid management fees and benefits are for management services provided by a company 
controlled by the  Chief Financial Officer amounting to $5,000 (March 31, 2020 - $5,348), and by 
the Chief Executive Officer amounting to $7,500 (March 31, 2020 - $7,857) (Note 13). 
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7. 
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TIO
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N
D

 EV
A
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O
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TIES 

 
The C

om
pany’s exploration and evaluation properties expenditures for the nine m

onths ended D
ecem

ber 31, 2020 are as follow
s: 

  
 Freem

an 
C

reek Property  

 H
idden Lake 
Lithium

 
Property  

 Pontax 
Lithium

 
Property  

 G
olden Silica 
Property  

 Q
uebec 

Properties  
 Silver Sands 

V
anadium

   
 Total  

A
C

Q
U

ISITIO
N

 C
O

STS 
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

Balance, M
arch 31, 2020 

 $                    -  
 $      177,223  

 $      417,500  
 $      150,000  

 $      281,580  
 $        12,643  

 $   1,038,946  
A

dditions 
            50,000  

                       -  
                       -  

                       -  
                       -  

                       -  
            50,000  

N
on-cash 

          450,756  
                       -  

                       -  
                       -  

                       -  
                       -  

         450,756  
Balance, D

ecem
ber 31, 2020 

 $      500,756  
 $      177,223  

 $      417,500  
 $      150,000  

 $      281,580  
 $        12,643  

 $   1,539,702  
EX

PLO
R

A
TIO

N
 A

N
D

 
EV

A
LU

A
TIO

N
 C

O
STS 

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
Balance, M

arch 31, 2020 
 $                    -  

 $      551,474  
 $      188,243  

 $      165,364  
 $      719,964  

 $           2,133  
 $   1,627,178  

A
dditions 

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
Exploration 

          282,601  
                       -  

                       -  
                       -  

                       -  
                       -  

         282,601  
Excavation 

          303,879  
                       -  

                       -  
                       -  

                       -  
                       -  

         303,879  
Testing 

            62,435  
                       -  

                       -  
                       -  

                       -  
                       -  

            62,435  
M

aintenance 
            16,733  

                       -  
                       -  

                       -  
                       -  

                       -  
            16,733  

A
dvances 

            50,703  
                       -  

                       -  
                       -  

                       -  
                       -  

            50,703  
Balance, D

ecem
ber 31, 2020 

 $      716,351  
 $      551,474  

 $      188,243  
 $      165,364  

 $      719,964  
 $           2,133  

 $   2,343,529  
Total, D

ecem
ber 31, 2020 

 $   1,217,107  
 $      728,697  

 $      605,743  
 $      315,364  

 $   1,001,544  
 $        14,776  

 $   3,883,231  
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ED
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  The C
om

pany’s exploration and evaluation properties expenditures for the year ended M
arch 31, 2020 are as follow

s: 

   
 H

idden Lake 
Lithium

 
Property  

 Pontax 
Lithium

 
Property  

 U
pper R

oss 
Lake 

Property  

 G
olden 

Silica 
Property  

 Q
uebec 

Properties  
 Silver Sands 

V
anadium

   
 Total  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

A
C

Q
U

ISITIO
N

 C
O

STS 
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

Balance, M
arch 31, 2019 

$         177,223  
$        417,500  

$            3,256  
$        150,000  

$        251,580  
$          12,643  

$     1,012,202  
A

dditions 
-  

-  
-  

-  
30,000  

-  
30,000  

Balance, M
arch 31, 2020 

$         177,223  
$        417,500  

$            3,256  
$        150,000  

$        281,580  
$          12,643  

$     1,042,202  
EX

PLO
R

A
TIO

N
 A

N
D

 
EV

A
LU

A
TIO

N
 C

O
STS 

  
  

  
  

  
  

  

Balance, M
arch 31, 2019 

$         551,474  
$        210,773  

$          15,336  
$        160,188  

$        329,052  
$               238  

$     1,267,061  
A

dditions 
-  

3,752  
-  

5,176  
563,207  

1,895  
574,030  

Exploration tax credits received 
-  

 (26,282) 
  

-  
 (68,670) 

-  
 (94,952) 

A
dvancem

ents 
-  

-  
-  

-  
 (103,625) 

-  
 (103,625) 

Balance, M
arch 31, 2020 

$         551,474  
$        188,243  

$          15,336  
$        165,364  

$        719,964  
$            2,133  

$     1,642,514  
IM

PA
IR

M
EN

T 
$                     -  

$                    -  
$        (18,592) 

$                    -  
$                    -  

$                    -  
$       (18,592) 

Total, M
arch 31, 2020 

$         728,697  
$        605,743  

$                    -  
$        315,364  

$     1,001,544  
$          14,776  

$     2,666,124  
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7.1 Hidden Lake Lithium Property 
 

On February 16, 2016, and as amended on November 27, 2017, the Company entered into an 
Agreement (the “Agreement”) with arm’s length parties for an option to acquire interest in two 
mineral claims located northeast of Yellowknife, Northwest Territories. Under the terms of the 
Agreement, the Company earned 100% interest by way of issuing 400,000 common shares valued 
at $380,000, cash of $85,000, and total exploration expenditures of $500,000.  
 
The Hidden Lake Property is subject to 2% Net Smelter Royalty with respect to the production of 
all material from the property, 1% of which can be purchased back from an arm’s length party by 
the Company within 5 years of the regulatory approval (April 26, 2016) for $2,000,000 (the 
“Royalty”). 
 
Joint Venture with Far Resources Ltd. 
 
On January 22, 2018, the Company entered into an agreement to option out up to 90% of their 
interest in the Hidden Lake Property to Far Resources Ltd. (“Far”) (the “Hidden Lake Option Out 
Agreement”), except for the Royalty. On May 16, 2019, Far had formally notified the Company of 
its intention to terminate its remaining earn-in for the Hidden Lake Property, originally announced 
on January 22, 2018. Under the terms of the new agreement, a joint venture between the companies 
will be formed for future exploration of the property. Far maintains a 60-percent interest earned 
through satisfying the year 1 conditions of the Option Agreement and the Company maintains a 40-
percent interest in Hidden Lake. Far will remain as Operator and is responsible for financing the 
Joint Venture's initial $1 million in expenditures. As of the date of this report, no JV agreement has 
been completed yet. 

7.2 Pontax Lithium - Gold Property 
 

On July 25, 2016, and as amended on November 27, 2017, the Company entered into an agreement 
(the “Pontax Agreement”) with arm’s length parties for an option to acquire 100% interest in 104 
mineral claims near Eastmain, Quebec by way of issuing 300,000 common shares (post-
consolidation) valued at $360,000 and cash of $50,000. 

 
Regulatory approval for the Pontax Agreement was obtained on September 20, 2016.  The Pontax 
Agreement is subject to a 3% Net Smelter Royalty (“NSR”). The Company can purchase 1.5% 
NSR within 5 years of regulatory approval by paying $2,000,000 to arm’s length party. 
 
The Company has since expanded its land position, though online map designation, with the Pontax 
Property now comprised of 146 claims totaling 7,773 hectares.    

7.3  Upper Ross Lake Property 
 

On July 7, 2016, the Company staked 2 claims totaling 57 hectares in Upper Ross Lake, Northwest 
Territories. The Company decided to strategically focus on its other lithium assets and the Property 
has since lapsed. During the year ended March 31, 2020, the Company recognized impairment loss 
of $18,592 relating to this property bringing down the net book value of this property to $Nil.   
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7.4 Golden Silica Property (formerly referred to as “ZimFrac” or “Golden Frac Sand”) 
 
On January 27, 2014, the Company entered into a sale and purchase agreement (the “ZimFrac 
Agreement”) with arm’s length parties (collectively, the “Vendors”) and purchased from the 
Vendors a 100% interest in certain silica claims located near Golden, BC (the “ZimFrac Property”). 
In consideration, the Company issued 40,000 common shares (20,000 common shares to each one 
of two arm’s length parties issued on February 6, 2014 – 200,000 each – pre-consolidation), subject 
to a 2% NSR.  The Company also issued 4,000 common shares (40,000 – pre-consolidation) in 
2014 with a fair value of $2.50 per share as a finder’s fee. 
 
The Company can purchase up to 1% NSR by paying an aggregate sum of $1,000,000 ($500,000 
to each one of two arm’s length parties). 

 
The ZimFrac Agreement received regulatory approval on February 6, 2014. 
 
On March 3, 2017, the Company entered into an agreement (the “Golden Frac Sand Agreement”) 
with arm’s length parties to purchase a 100% interest in certain mineral claims located near Golden, 
BC (the “Golden Frac Sand Property”) to expand the size of the ZimFrac Property. In consideration, 
the Company paid $40,000.  
 
The property has a Gross Over-Riding Royalty (“GORR”) of 2% payable to arm’s length party in 
the revenue from the sale of the production. The Company can purchase 1% of the GORR for 
$2,000,000 at any time. 
 

7.5 Quebec Properties 
 
On September 18, 2017, the Company entered into an agreement (the “Quebec Properties 
Agreement”) with arm’s length parties for an option to acquire interest in 115 mineral claims in the 
Eastmain Property, Lac Du Beryl Property and Corvette Property, located in the James Bay Region, 
Quebec. Under the terms of the Agreement, the Company earned 100% interest by way of 150,000 
share purchase warrants issued and cash of $45,000 to an arm’s length party. 

 
The Quebec Properties Agreement is subject to a 2% Net Smelter Return with respect to the 
production of all materials from the properties. 
 
Since the initial property agreement, the Lac du Beryl Property had been expanded to comprise an 
additional 12 claims; however, these 12 claims were allowed to lapse in early 2020 and the Property 
is currently comprised of the original 18 claim block.  
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7.5 Quebec Properties (Continued) 
 

The Corvette Property has since been expanded and is now comprised of 172 claims totaling 8,808 
hectares, forming one contiguous claim block.   

FCI Property (East and West blocks) 
 
On September 4, 2018, the Company entered into an Option Agreement (the “Agreement”) with 
Osisko Mining Inc. (“Osisko”) to acquire up to a 75% interest in 28 mineral claims (“FCI East”) 
directly adjoining the Company’s 100% owned Corvette Property. Under the terms of the 
Agreement, the Company would earn an initial 50% interest as follows: 
 

 Common 
Shares* 

Work exploration 
expenditures 

 # $ 
Upon closing date of the Agreement (issued) (September 
14, 2018)  100,000 - 
On or before the 1st anniversary date of closing (issued) 
(September 14, 2019) 100,000 250,000 
 
To earn an initial 25% undivided interest 
On or before the 2nd anniversary date of closing 
(November 3, 2021, as amended – Note 16) - 800,000 
 
To earn an additional 25% undivided interest (50% 
interest in total) 
On or before the 3rd anniversary date of closing 
(November 3, 2022, as amended – Note 16) - 1,200,000 
Total 200,000 2,250,000  

*Shares were adjusted to reflect the share consolidation on October 17, 2019  
 
Osisko will act as Operator of the FCI Property for the term of the 50% earn-in, with a Steering 
Committee of equal representation formed to provide advice and direction to the Operator. Upon 
completion of the 50% earn-in (September 14, 2021), a Joint Venture Corporation will be formed 
with the Company retaining an Option to acquire a further 25% interest, for a total of 75% 
undivided interest, through funding of the next $2,000,000 in exploration expenditures. The 
Company may become Operator upon notice to Osisko that it intends to incur the $2,000,000 in 
work expenditures for a final undivided interest of 75%. Osisko’s remaining 25% interest may be 
further reduced through dilution if they elect to not fund their portion of subsequent 
exploration/development. If ownership falls below 10%, Osisko will have the right to convert this 
remaining interest into a 1% NSR, of which, the Company retains the right to buy for $5,000,000, 
and thereby, would obtain a 100% undivided interest in the FCI Property. 

On April 24, 2019, the Company and Osisko entered into an amended agreement to include an 
additional 83 claims (“FCI West”) under the same terms and conditions as the original agreement. 
No additional shares, cash, or work commitment is required by the Company, apart from general 
claim maintenance (i.e. renewal fees). Therefore, the FCI Property (East and West blocks) is 
currently comprised of 5,687 hectares over 111 claims.  
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7.5 Quebec Properties (Continued) 
 
Subsequent to the Agreement, the FCI Property was included in a corporate restructuring and spin-
out of assets from Osisko into a new public company called O3 Mining Inc. (“O3 Mining”). The 
FCI Agreement was transferred from Osisko to O3 Mining at this time. Therefore, O3 Mining is 
now the Optionor and Operator of the Property and all other terms and conditions of the Agreement 
remaining unchanged. 

During the year ended March 31, 2020, the Company provided a total of $297,701 (total from the 
start cumulative of $412,448) as cash call to Osisko/O3 Mining. As of March 31, 2020, and 
December 31, 2020, total expenditures amounted to $412,448 (payable to Osisko/O3 Mining 
amounted to $3,693 as at March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2020). Both parties have completed 
sufficient work expenditures to satisfy Year 1 of the Agreement. On September 19, 2019, the 
Company issued 100,000 common shares (1,000,000 – pre-consolidation) at $0.03 per share. 

On July 6, 2020, the Company declared Force Majeure on the FCI Property due to COVID-19 and 
the agreement was paused for a period of approximately 50 days, resulting in a revised Anniversary 
Date of November 5, 2020 for Year 2.  

On November 3, 2020, the Company declared Force Majeure due to COVID-19 and engaged with 
O3 Mining to work with respect to the FCI Property Option Agreement.  

On January 26, 2021 the Company finalized an agreement with O3 Mining. Per the agreement, the 
exploration expenditure of $800,000 with an original deadline of November 3, 2020 was extended 
to November 3, 2021. In consideration of the extension of this deadline, the Company will issue 
500,000 common shares to O3.  

7.6 Silver Sands Vanadium Property 
 
On November 13, 2018, the Company entered into an agreement with an arm’s length party to 
acquire 100% interest in Silver Sands Vanadium Property (the “Silver Sands”), located in the Pine 
Pass area of eastern British Columbia. Silver Sands covers 3,735 hectares directly east of the Pine 
Pass Vanadium Property held by Ethos Gold Corp., which is located about 200 km north of Prince 
George, British Columbia.  
 
Pursuant to the agreement, the Company acquired a 100% interest in Silver Sands by paying staking 
costs of $15,000. The vendor will retain a 2% Net Smelter Return on the Property. 
 
As at December 31, 2020, the Company has incurred the total of $14,776 (March 31, 2020 - $14,776) 
mineral expenditures pursuant to the agreement. 
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7.7  Freeman Creek Property 
 

On June 4, 2020 the Company entered into an agreement with an arm’s length party to acquire a 
100% interest in the Freeman Creek Property (“Freeman Creek”). Freeman Creek consists of 76 
claims covering approximately 599 hectares located on Bureau of Land Management lands within 
Idaho, USA.  
 
Under the terms of the Agreement, the Company may acquire a 100% interest in Freeman Creek 
by paying a total of $90,000, issuing an aggregate 4,000,000 common shares and 2,000,000 
transferable common share purchase warrants, exercisable at $0.10 and expiring three years from 
issuance. Terms of the agreement are: 
 

 
Warrants 

 
Common shares Cash 

 # # $ 
Upon closing (paid) - - 10,000(1) 
Upon regulatory approval on August 12, 2020 
(issued and paid) 1,000,000(2) 2,000,000(2) 40,000(1) 
On March 23, 2021 (as amended, Note 17) 
(issued) 1,000,000 2,000,000 40,000(3)  
Total 2,000,000(2) 4,000,000(2) 90,000 

(1) Paid to three arm’s length parties 
(2) Issued to three arm’s length parties. The warrants expire August 12, 2023. 
(3) Payable to three arm’s length parties 

 
In the event that a gold equivalent resource of more than 1 million ounces is outlined within a NI 43-
101 Resource Estimate on the Property, the Company shall pay $1,000,000, payable in shares or cash 
or a combination of both, at the Company’s discretion. In the case of a share issuance, the shares shall 
be issued at a price using the average market price of the previous 30 trading days preceding the share 
issuance. 
 
The vendors shall retain a 2.5% Net Smelter Return royalty on the Property, of which the Company 
shall have the right to purchase half (1.25%) for $1,500,000. 
 
On March 4, 2021, the Company amended the agreement whereby the due date of the 1,000,000 
warrants and 2,000,000 common shares was accelerated from August 12, 2021 to March 23, 2021 
(Note 17). 

8. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES 
 
The Company’s accounts payable and accrued liabilities are principally comprised of amounts 
outstanding for trade purchases relating to administrative activities and some mineral property 
expenditures. The usual credit period taken for trade purchases is between 30 to 90 days.  As at 
December 31, 2020, the Company had $54,036 (March 31, 2020 - $9,194) in accounts payable and 
$10,000 (March 31, 2020 - $34,050) in accrued liabilities. 
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9. SHARE CAPITAL 
 
9.1 Authorized share capital 
 

The Company has authorized an unlimited number of common shares with no par value.  
 
As at December 31, 2020, the Company had 30,192,817 common shares outstanding  
(March 31, 2020 – 14,788,817).  
 

9.2 Share issuances 
 

During the period ended December 31, 2020 the Company issued common shares as follows: 
 

On July 17, 2020, the Company closed a non-brokered private placement, pursuant to which the 
Company issued 8,040,000 common shares at a price of $0.075 per unit for gross proceeds of 
$603,000.  Each unit is comprised of one common share and one transferable share purchase 
warrant, exercisable for a period of 24 months at a price of $0.12 per share. In relation to this private 
placement, the Company paid finder’s fees of $19,410 and issued 258,800 finder’s warrants. Each 
finder’s warrant is exercisable for a period of 24 months at a price of $0.12 per share. 

 
On August 26, 2020, the Company closed a non-brokered private placement, pursuant to which the 
Company issued 3,000,000 common shares at a price of $0.12 per unit for gross proceeds of 
$360,000.  Each unit is comprised of one common share and one transferable share purchase 
warrant, exercisable for a period of 36 months at a price of $0.18 per share. In relation to this private 
placement, the Company paid finder’s fees of $28,800 and issued 240,000 finder’s warrants. Each 
finder’s warrant is exercisable for a period of 36 months at a price of $0.18 per share. 
 
On August 12, 2020, the Company issued 2,000,000 shares at $0.155 per share for the acquisition 
of the Freeman Creek Property (Note 7). 
 
During the period ended December 31, 2020, there were 2,364,000 shares issued for warrants 
exercised. 

 
During the year ended March 31, 2020, the Company issued common shares as follows: 

 
On December 2, 2019, the Company closed a non-brokered private placement financing for gross 
proceeds of $412,200 by issuing 5,888,571 units at a price of $0.07 per unit. Each Unit is comprised 
of one common share and one transferable share purchase warrant, with each warrant entitling the 
holder to purchase one additional common share of the Company for a period of up to thirty-nine 
months at a price of $0.09 in the first year, $0.15 in the second year and $0.20 in the third year. In 
connection with the private placement, the Company paid a finder’s fee of $7,840 in cash.  
 
On September 19, 2019, the Company issued 100,000 common shares  
(1,000,000 – pre-consolidation) at $0.30 per share for the acquisition of the Corvette-FCI Property 
(Note 7). 
 
On April 26, 2019, the Company issued 20,000 common shares (200,000 pre-consolidation) valued 
at $0.50 per share for 20,000 (200,000 pre-consolidation) stock options exercised.  
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9.3 Share purchase warrants 
 
A summary of changes in the Company’s share purchase warrants outstanding as at December 31, 
2020 and March 31, 2020 is as follows: 
   

  Nine months ended  
December 31, 2020 Year ended March 31, 2020 

  Number of 
warrants1 

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price 

Number of 
warrants1 

Weighted 
average 

exercise price 

          
Outstanding, beginning of period       6,742,651  $              0.22  1,021,580  $               1.10  
Granted     12,538,800  0.12  5,888,571                   0.09  
Exercised  (2,364,000) 0.09  -     - 
Expired                    -                        -    (167,500)                  1.00  
          
Outstanding, end of period     16,917,451  $              0.19  6,742,651  $               0.22  
1Warrants were adjusted to reflect the share consolidation on October 17, 2019 (Note 10) 

 
During the nine months ended December 31, 2020: 
 
On July 17, 2020, the Company granted 8,040,000 warrants in connection with a private placement 
and 258,800 to finders. The fair value of the 258,800 finders warrants was $19,825 and was 
estimated using the Black-Scholes pricing model with a stock price of $0.095, volatility of 181.43%, 
risk-free rate of 0.27%, dividend yield of 0%, and expected life of 2 years.  
 
On August 12, 2020, the Company granted 1,000,000 warrants in connection with the Freeman 
Creek Property (Note 7). The warrants’ fair value of $140,756 was estimated using the Black-
Scholes pricing model with a stock price of $0.155, volatility of 181.64%, risk-free rate of 0.30%, 
dividend yield of 0%, and expected life of 3 years. 
 
On August 26, the Company granted 3,000,000 warrants in connection with a private placement 
and 240,000 to finders. The fair value of the 240,000 finders warrants was $25,854 and was 
estimated using the Black-Scholes pricing model with a stock price of $0.18, volatility of 181.43%, 
risk-free rate of 0.27%, dividend yield of 0%, and expected life of 3 years. 
 
A total of 2,364,000 warrants were exercised at an average price of $0.09 per share (total value of 
$215,650). 
 
During the year ended March 31, 2020: 
 
On August 1, 2019, 167,500 warrants (1,675,000 – pre-consolidation) expired unexercised. 
 
On December 2, 2019, the Company granted 5,888,571 warrants in connection with a private 
placement. 
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9.3 Share purchase warrants (continued) 
 

The following table summarizes information regarding share purchase warrants outstanding as at 
December 31, 2020:   

Date issued 
Number of 
warrants* 

Exercise 
price ($) Expiry date 

Weighted 
average 

remaining life 
          
September 25, 2017 150,000 $          1.50  September 25, 2022 0.02  
December 27, 2018 704,080 1.00  December 27, 2021 0.04  
December 2, 2019** 3,813,571 0.15  December 2, 2022 0.43  
July 17, 2020 8,298,800 0.12  July 17, 2022 0.76  
August 12, 2020 711,000 0.10  August 12, 2023 0.11  
August 26, 2020 3,240,000 0.18  August 26, 2023 0.51  
  16,917,451  $         0.19                     1.86  
*Warrants were adjusted to reflect the share consolidation on October 17, 2019 (Note 10). 
**Exercise price for this issuance is $0.09 in Year 1, $0.15 in Year 2 and $0.20 in Year 3. 

 

9.4 Stock options  
 

The Company has an incentive share option plan for granting options to directors, employees and 
consultants, under which the total outstanding options are limited 10% of the outstanding common 
shares at the time of each grant. Options granted may not exceed a term of ten years. All options 
vest when granted unless otherwise specified by the Board of Directors. 
 
During the nine months ended December 31, 2020: 
 
A total of 197,500 stock options expired unexercised. 
 
On July 27, 2020, the Company granted an aggregate of 792,400 incentive stock options to officers, 
directors, and consultants of the Company. Each option is exercisable into one additional common 
share at $0.14 per share until July 27, 2022 and vested immediately on the date of grant. The fair 
value of $56,788 in share-based payments was estimated using the Black-Scholes pricing model 
with a stock price of $0.10, volatility of 178.63%, risk-free rate of 0.28%, dividend yield of 0%, 
and expected life of 2 years. 
 
On October 13, 2020, 360,000 stock options were cancelled. These options were held by directors, 
a company controlled by the Chief Financial Officer, and a company controlled by the Corporate 
Secretary. 
 
On November 19, 2020, the Company granted an aggregate of 1,000,000 incentive stock options 
to officers, directors, and consultants of the Company. Each option is exercisable into one 
additional common share at $0.10 per share until November 19, 2023 and vested immediately on 
the date of grant. The fair value of $83,161 in share-based payments was estimated using the Black- 
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9.4 Stock options (continued) 
 
Scholes pricing model with a stock price of $0.10, volatility of 177.55%, risk-free rate of 0.3%, 
dividend yield of 0%, and expected life of 3 years. 

 
During the year ended March 31, 2020: 
 
On February 3, 2020, the Company has granted 80,000 incentive stock options to an officer of the 
Company (Note 13). Each option is exercisable into one additional common share at $0.09 per 
share until February 3, 2023 and vested immediately on the date of grant. The fair value of $5,240 
share-based payments was estimated using the Black-Scholes pricing model with the stock price of 
$0.08, volatility of 180.26%, risk-free rate of 1.46%, dividend yield of 0%, and expected life of 3 
years. 
 
On January 14, 2020, the Company has granted an aggregate of 675,000 incentive stock options to 
officers, directors and consultants of the Company. Each option is exercisable into one additional 
common share at $0.09 per share until January 24, 2023 and vested immediately on the date of 
grant. The fair value of $60,268 share-based payments was estimated using the Black-Scholes 
pricing model with a stock price of $0.10, volatility of 181.45%, risk-free rate of 1.69%, dividend 
yield of 0%, and expected life of 3 years. 
 
In January 2020, a total of 125,000 stock options were cancelled. 
 
On September 4, 2019, the Company granted a total of 100,000 stock options  
(1,000,000 – pre-consolidation) to a consultant of the Company. Each stock option is exercisable 
into one common share at $0.50 per share until September 4, 2020 and vested immediately on the 
date of grant. The Company recognized $26,623 as share-based payments on the statement of 
comprehensive loss on the grant of the stock options. The fair value of $26,623 share-based 
payments was estimated using the Black-Scholes pricing model with the stock price of $0.50, 
volatility 144.07%, risk-free rate 1.35%, dividend yield 0%, and expected life of 1 year. 
 
On May 2, 2019, the Company granted a total of 250,000 stock options  
(2,500,000 – pre-consolidation) to a consultant, officers and directors of the Company. Each stock 
option is exercisable into one common share at $0.60 per share until May 2, 2022 and vested 
immediately on the date of grant. The Company recognized $119,041 as share-based payments on  
the statement of comprehensive loss on the grant of the stock options. The fair value of $119,041 
share-based payments was estimated using the Black-Scholes pricing model with the stock price of 
$0.60, volatility 144.22%, risk-free rate 1.61%, dividend yield 0%, and expected life of 3 years. 
 
On April 25, 2019, the Company issued 20,000 common shares (200,000 – pre-consolidation) for 
gross proceeds of $10,000 for options exercised. 
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9.4 Stock options (continued) 
 

The following table summarizes information regarding stock options outstanding and exercisable 
as at December 31, 2020:  
 

Exercise price 
Number of options 

outstanding* 
Expiration date 

Weighted-
average 

remaining 
contractual life 

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price 
  (years) $ 

Options outstanding 
and exercisable         

$0.50  50,000 July 11, 2021 0.01  0.01  
$1.00  15,000 May 4, 2021 0.002  0.01  
$0.60  60,000 May 2, 2022 0.03  0.01  
$0.09  675,000 January 14, 2023 0.51  0.02  
$0.09  80,000 February 3, 2023 0.06  0.00  
$0.14  792,400 July 27, 2022 0.47  0.04  
$0.10 1,000,000 November 19, 2023 1.08 0.04 
Total options 
outstanding and 
exercisable 

2,672,400   2.16  $           0.13  

*Options were adjusted to reflect the share consolidation on October 17, 2019 (Note 10) 
 
The weighted average grant date fair value of the options granted during the nine months ended  
December 31, 2020 was $0.14 (December 31, 2019 - $0.04) per option using the Black-Scholes 
Option Pricing Model. The weighted average assumptions used for the calculation were:  

  December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019 
      
Share price at grant date ($)                           0.10   0.05 - 0.06  
Risk free interest rate (%) 0.28% 1.54% 
Expected life (years) 2.16                           1.86  
Expected volatility (%) 182% 144% 
Expected dividend per share                              -                                 -    
Fair market value of the option on grant date ($) $0.08 $0.04  
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9.4 Stock options (continued) 
 

  December 31, 2020 March 31, 2020 

  Number of 
options* 

Weighted 
average 

exercise price 

Number of 
options 

Weighted 
average  

exercise price 
          
Outstanding, beginning of period     1,437,500   $              0.35  572,500  $               0.80  
Granted 1,792,400  0.12    1,105,000                   0.24  
Exercised                  -                        -     (20,000)                  0.50  
Expired/Cancelled  (197,500)                  0.80   (220,000)                  0.80  
Forfeited (360,000) -   
          
Outstanding, end of period     2,672,400   $              0.13  1,437,500  $               0.35  

10. LOSS PER SHARE 
 
The calculation of basic and diluted loss per share is based on the following data: 

 

  Three months ended  Nine months ended  
  December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019 December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019 
          
Net loss for the period $             (258,595) $              (74,087) $              (563,280) $            (330,915) 
          
Weighted average 
number of shares  
– basic and diluted1              29,713,258              10,736,467  22,881,864                9,518,973  
          
Loss per share, basic 
and diluted $                   (0.01)  $                (0.01) $                    (0.02)  $                 (0.03) 

 
The basic loss per share is computed by dividing the net loss by the weighted average number of 
common shares outstanding during the year.  The diluted loss per share reflects the potential 
dilution of common share equivalents, such as outstanding stock options, and share purchase 
warrants, in the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the year, if dilutive.  
All of the stock options and the share purchase warrants were anti-dilutive for the nine month 
periods ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 as the Company incurred losses during these periods.  
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11. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 

Share-based payments for options granted by the Company during the nine months ended  
December 31, 2020 and 2019 are amortized over their vesting period as follows:  

 

12. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 
12.1 Categories of financial instruments 
 
  December 31, 2020 March 31, 2020 
As at $ $ 
FINANCIAL ASSETS     
      
At FVTPL     
  Cash and cash equivalents 217,105 255,889 
Total financial assets 217,105 255,889 
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES     
      
At amortized cost     
  Trade payables  54,036 9,194 
Total financial liabilities                    54,036                   9,194  

 
12.2 Fair value 
 

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities at amortized cost is determined in 
accordance with generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis or using 
prices from observable current market transactions.  The Company considers that the carrying 
amount of all its financial assets and financial liabilities recognized at amortized cost in the 
financial statements approximates their fair value due to the demand nature or short-term maturity 
of these instruments.  

  
Amount vested in the 

nine months ended 
Amount vested in the 

nine months ended 
Grant date December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019 
      
May 2, 2019                             -                        119,041  
September 4, 2019                             -                          26,623  
July 27, 2020                     57,269                              -    
November 19, 2020                     83,080    
      
Total   $               140,349  $                 145,664  
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12. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 
 

The following table provides an analysis of the Company’s financial instruments that are measured 
subsequent to initial recognition at fair value, grouped into Level 1 to 3 based on the degree to 
which the inputs used to determine the fair value are observable. 

 
• Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices in active markets for 

identical assets or liabilities. 
 

• Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices 
included within Level 1, that are observable either directly or indirectly.  

 
• Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include 

inputs that are not based on observable market data.  As at December 31, 2020, the Company 
does not have any Level 3 financial instruments. 

 

As at December 31, 2020 
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

$ $ $ $ 
Financial assets at fair value         
   Cash and cash equivalents      217,105  -    -         217,105  
Total financial assets at fair value      217,105  -     -       217,105  
          

As at March 31, 2020 
 Level 1   Level 2   Level 3   Total  

 $   $   $   $  
          
Financial assets at fair value         
   Cash and cash equivalents 255,889  -    -    255,889  
Total financial assets at fair value 255,889  -    -    255,889  

 
There were no transfers between Level 1, 2 and 3 in the nine months ended December 31, 2020 
and 2019. 
 

12.3 Management of capital and financial risks 
 

The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern in order to pursue the sourcing and exploration of mineral properties. 
The Company does not have any externally imposed capital requirements to which it is subject. 
 
The Company manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in 
economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the 
capital structure, the Company may attempt to issue common shares or dispose of assets or adjust 
the amount of cash. 
 
The financial risk arising from the Company’s operations are credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate 
risk, currency risk and commodity price risk.  These risks arise from the normal course of operations 
and all transactions undertaken are to support the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.  
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12. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 
 

The risks associated with these financial instruments and the policies on how to mitigate these risks 
are set out below.  Management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate 
measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner. 
 
Credit risk  

 
Credit risk is the risk of loss associated with the counterparty’s inability to fulfill its payment 
obligations. Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit 
risks consist principally of cash. To minimize the credit risk the Company places these instruments 
with a high-quality financial institution. 
 
Liquidity risk 

 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they 
fall due. The Company manages liquidity risk through the management of its capital structure and 
financial leverage as outlined above. 
 
The Company monitors its ability to meet its short-term exploration and administrative 
expenditures by raising additional funds through share issuance when required.  As at  
December 31, 2020, all of the Company’s trade payables of $54,036 (March 31, 2020 - $9,194) 
have contractual maturities of 30 to 90 days are subject to normal trade terms. The Company’s 
loans payables are due on demand. The Company does not have investments in any asset backed 
deposits. 
 
Foreign exchange risk 
 
Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the fair value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to 
changes in foreign exchange rates. 
 
The Company does not have significant foreign exchange risk as the majority of its transactions 
are in Canadian dollars. 
 
Interest rate risk 

 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market interest rates. 
 
The Company is not exposed to significant interest rate risk.  
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13. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 

The amounts due to related parties are amounts due to directors and officers. The balances are 
unsecured, non-interest bearing and have no specific terms for repayment. 
 
As at December 31, 2020, the Company has $5,590 (March 31, 2020 - $379) due to the Corporate 
Secretary reported as part of accounts payable (Note 8).  
 
As at December 31, 2020, $12,500 (March 31, 2020 - $13,205) management fees and benefits were 
recorded as prepaid expenses (Note 6). 

 
13.1 Related party expenses 
 

During the nine months ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company entered into the 
following transactions with related parties:  

 
Nine months ended December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019 

Management and administration fees  $                  197,431  $                   138,148  
Consulting fees                        22,500  22,500 
Share based payments                        91,218                         95,233  

Total related party expenses by type  $                  311,149  $                   255,881  
 
 

The breakdown of the expenses by key management personnel is as follows:  
  

Nine months ended December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019 
      
Chief Executive Officer  $                  105,523   $                   116,128  
Chief Financial Officer 82,976 93,444 
Corporate Secretary 32,074 34,404 
President 73,232                              -    
Directors                        17,344                         11,904  
Total related party expenses by key 
management personnel  $                  311,149   $                   255,881  
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13. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 
 
13.1 Related party expenses (continued) 
 

Management fees are broken down as follows: 
 

Nine months ended December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019 
CEO  $                    89,989   $                    80,416  
CFO                        67,441                         57,732  
President and Director 40,000 - 
Total management fees by key 
management personnel  $                  197,431  

 
$                   138,148  

 
Consulting fees of $22,500 are paid to the Corporate Secretary (2019 – $22,500). 
 
Share-based compensation is broken down as follows: 

 

Nine months ended December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019 
CEO  $                    15,535   $                    35,712  
CFO                        15,535                         35,712  
Corporate Secretary                          9,574                         11,904  
President and Director                        33,232                               -    
Directors                          17,342                         11,904  
Total share-based compensation 
by key management personnel  $                    91,218   $                    95,233  

 
13.2 Key management personnel compensation 
 

The Company has identified its directors and senior officers as its key management personnel. The 
remuneration of key management was as follows:  

 

Nine months ended December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019 
$ $ 

      
Short-term benefits  $                  219,931   $                   160,648  
Share-based payments                        91,218                         95,233  
Total key management personnel 
compensation  $                  311,149   $                   255,881  
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14. SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION 
 

The Company incurred the following non-cash investing and financing transactions during the nine 
months ended December 31, 2020 and 2019: 
 

 
 

15. COMMITMENTS 
 

The Company has certain commitments related to key management compensation for $26,500 per 
month with no specific expiry of terms (Note 13). 
 
The Company appointed a director as president and is bound by a consulting agreement (“the 
agreement”). Per the agreement, in the event of termination of the agreement, the Company will be 
liable to pay: the remaining balance of fees and a lump sum equal to 12 months of the standing 
monthly management fee expense.  
 
The Company has certain commitments in connection with its mineral properties (Note 7). 
 

  

Nine-month period ended December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019 
Non-cash financing activities:     

Share-based payments  $                140,349   $                 145,664  

Fair value of options exercised $                            -    
                

$                   6,952 
Non-cash investing activities:     

Shares issued for exploration and 
evaluations properties 

            
$                310,000   $                   30,000  

Warrants issued for exploration and 
evaluations properties $                140,756 $                            - 



GAIA METALS CORP. (Formerly 92 RESOURCES CORP.)  
Notes to the Interim Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the Nine Months Ended December 31, 2020  
(Unaudited – Prepared by Management) 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
 

Page | 36  

16. RESTATEMENT OF PREVIOUSLY REPORTED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
Subsequent to the issuance of the previously reported interim condensed consolidated financial 
statements for the period ended December 31, 2020, management determined that the value of the 
acquisition cost of the Freeman Creek Property was understated by $308,526. Of this amount, 
$167,500 was due to valuation of share capital and $140,756 was due to valuation of share purchase 
warrants issued for the said property. The following table summarizes the effects of these 
adjustments.  
 

   

 As At December 31, 
2020 Adjustment December 31, 

2020 

  Previously 
Reported   As restated 

Exploration and evaluation 
properties – Quebec Properties 
(Note 7) 

 $          3,574,975   $             308,256   $          3,883,231  

Share capital (Note 9)            11,038,560                  167,500             11,206,060  
Reserves (Note 9)              1,392,565                  140,756               1,533,321  

 
The statement of loss and comprehensive loss remains unchanged. 

17. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD  
 
On January 26, 2021, the Company and O3 Mining finalized an agreement whereby the second 
anniversary expenditure amount of $800,000 for the FCI Property with an original deadline of 
November 3, 2020 was further extended to November 3, 2021 (Note 7). Additionally, the Company 
issued 500,000 common shares to O3 on February 25, 2021 upon exchange approval of the 
amended agreement. The Year 2 Anniversary Date was changed to November 3, 2021. 
 
On March 3, 2021, the Company amended the Freeman Creek Option agreement to accelerate the 
due date for the issuance of the 1,000,000 warrants and 2,000,000 common shares from August 12, 
2021 to March 23, 2021. These warrants and shares were issued on March 23, 2021. In addition, a 
promissory note payable of $40,000 was issued on March 3, 2021 and is due on or before August 
12, 2021 (Note 7). If the promissory note is not paid by August 12, 2021, the Company will be 
obligated to issue 500,000 to the optionor in lieu of the cash payment. Pursuant to the issuance of 
the shares and warrants, the Company is deemed to have exercised the Option and have earned a 
100% interest in and to the Property which will vest to the Company, subject to the NSR Royalty. 
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July 9, 2020 
 
OVERVIEW 
 
The following is a management’s discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) of Gaia Metals Corp.  
(the “Company” or “Gaia Metals”), prepared as of July 9, 2020. This MD&A should be read together 
with the audited financial statements as at and for the year ended  
March 31, 2020 and related notes which are prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and the audited financial statements for the year ended March 31, 
2019, and related notes which are prepared in accordance with IFRS, copies of which are filed on 
the SEDAR website: www.sedar.com.  
 
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 

Certain information included in this MD&A may constitute forward-looking statements. Statements 
in this report that are not historical facts are forward-looking statements involving known and 
unknown risks and uncertainties, which could cause actual results to vary considerably from these 
statements. 
 
Forward-looking statements are statements about the future and are inherently uncertain, and 
actual achievements of the Company may differ materially from those reflected in forward-looking 
statements due to a variety of risks, uncertainties and other factors.  The Company’s forward-
looking statements are based on the beliefs, expectations and opinions of management on the date 
the statements are made, and the Company does not assume any obligation to update forward-
looking statements if circumstances or management’s beliefs, expectations or opinions should 
change except as required by law. For the reasons set forth above, investors should not place 
undue reliance on forward-looking statements.   
 
It is the Company’s policies that all forward-looking statements are based on the Company’s beliefs 
and assumptions that are based on information available at the time these assumptions are made.  
The forward-looking statements contained herein are as of July 9, 2020 and are subject to change 
after this date, and the Company assumes no obligation to publicly update or revise the statements 
to reflect new events or circumstances, except as may be required pursuant to applicable laws. 
Although management believes that the expectations represented by such forward-looking 
information or statements are reasonable, there is significant risk that the forward-looking 
information or statements may not be achieved, and the underlying assumptions thereto will not 
prove to be accurate. 
 
Actual results or events could differ materially from the plans, intentions and expectations 
expressed or implied in any forward-looking information or statements, including the underlying 
assumptions thereto, as a result of numerous risks, uncertainties and other factors such as those 
described above and in “Risks and Uncertainties” below. The Company has no policy for updating 
forward looking information beyond the procedures required under applicable securities laws. 
 
NATURE OF BUSINESS 
 
The Company was incorporated on May 10, 2007, under the British Columbia Business 
Corporations Act. On June 10, 2014, the Company’s common shares were consolidated on a five 
old for one new share basis and the Company’s name was changed from Rio Grande Mining Corp. 
to 92 Resources Corp. On October 7, 2019, the Company’s common shares were consolidated on 
a ten old for one new share basis and the Company’s name was changed from 92 Resources Corp. 
to Gaia Metals Corp. 
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The Company is domiciled in Canada and is a reporting issuer in British Columbia and Alberta, with 
its common shares publicly traded on the TSX Venture Exchange (the “Exchange”) under the stock 
symbol “GMC” (effective October 17, 2019).  The address of its head office is Suite 500, 666 
Burrard Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada, V6C 3P6. 
 
The principal business of the Company is the identification, evaluation and acquisition of 
exploration and evaluation properties, as well as exploration of those properties once acquired. At 
March 31, 2020, the Company had not yet determined whether any properties contain ore reserves 
that are economically recoverable. The recoverability of amounts shown for exploration and mineral 
properties is dependent upon the discovery of economically recoverable reserves, confirmation of 
the Company's interest in the underlying mineral claims, the ability of the Company to obtain the 
necessary financing to complete the development of and future profitable production from the 
properties or realizing proceeds from their disposition. 
 
MINERAL PROPERTY INTERESTS 
 
The technical information in this disclosure has been reviewed by Darren L. Smith, M.Sc., P.Geo., 
Vice President of Exploration for the Company, a Permit holder with the Ordre des Géologues du 
Québec and Qualified Person as defined by National Instrument 43-101. 
 
Hidden Lake Lithium Property 
 
On February 16, 2016, and as amended on November 27, 2017, the Company entered into an 
Agreement (the “Agreement”) with DG Resource Management Ltd. (“DG Resource”), Zimtu Capital 
Corp. (“Zimtu”) and Michael V. Sklavenitis (“MS”) for an option to acquire interest in two mineral 
claims consisting of 1,100 hectares, located northeast of Yellowknife, Northwest Territories.  Under 
the terms of the Agreement, the Company could earn 100% interest by paying cash of $85,000, 
issuing 400,000 (pre-consolidation - 4,000,000) common shares and completing $500,000 in 
exploration expenditures as follows: 

 
 Common 

Shares* 
 

Cash 
Exploration 

Expenditures 
 # $ $ 
Upon closing (paid)  - 5,000(1) - 
Upon regulatory approval of the Agreement (issued) (2) 200,000(2) - - 
30 days after regulatory approval of Agreement (paid)  45,000(3) - 
12 months after regulatory approval of the Agreement 
(issued; paid) 200,000(2) 35,000(3) - 
On or before September 30, 2016 (incurred) - - 250,000 
On or before May 31, 2018 (incurred) - - 250,000 
Total 400,000 85,000 500,000 

 

(1) Non-refundable deposit paid to DG Resources upon execution of the Agreement 
(2) Issuable 50% to DG Resource, 25% to Zimtu and 25% to MS 
(3) Payable to DG Resources 
*Shares were adjusted to reflect the share consolidation on October 17, 2019 
 
The regulatory approval related to the Hidden Lake Lithium Agreement was obtained from the 
Exchange on April 21, 2016.   
 
Hidden Lake Property is subject to 2% Net Smelter Royalty with respect to the production of all 
material from the property, 1% of which can be purchased back from DG Resource by the Company 
within 5 years of the regulatory approval for $2,000,000 (the “DGRM Royalty”). 
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Government Grant 
 
In 2017, the Government of the Northwest Territories conditionally approved a grant of $140,000 
relating to the Mining Incentive Program (the “Northwest Territories Grant”).  A condition of the 
Northwest Territories Grant was to incur $280,000 eligible expenses in the Northwest Territories, 
consisting of 2 phases of work, channel sampling and diamond drilling, during the period from April 
1, 2017 to March 31, 2018.  
 
During the year ended March 31, 2018, the Company received $119,000 as an advance from the 
Northwest Territories Grant, which was recorded as a reduction to the carrying amount of the 
Hidden Lake Lithium Property. As at March 31, 2018, the Company has not completed the second 
phase of the program within the required timeframe, and as a result, is required to repay a portion 
of the grant. On May 18, 2018, the Company repaid $81,590 to the Government of the Northwest 
Territories related to the Northwest Territories Grant.  
 
Throughout 2017 and early 2018, a scoping metallurgy program was completed by the Company 
on material from the Hidden Lake Pegmatites. Results culminated in a mini-pilot plant which 
produced over 40 kg of 6.11% Li2O mineral concentrate at high recovery (>80%).  
 
On January 12, 2018, the Company announced the completion of a channel sampling program at 
Hidden Lake. The program returned channel samples up to 2.57% Li2O and identified significant 
grades of tantalum, including 1 m of 233 ppm Ta2O5. 
 
Option-out Agreement 
 
On January 22, 2018, the Company entered into an agreement to option out up to 90% of their 
interest in the Hidden Lake Property to Far Resources Ltd. (“Far”) (the “Hidden Lake Option Out 
Agreement”), except for the DGRM Royalty. The Company then received 500,000 common shares 
of Far having an aggregate amount equal to $500,000 at an issue price of $0.90 per share. During 
the year ended March 31, 2018, 555,555 common shares were issued to the Company with a fair 
value of $227,777 (Note 7). In addition, expenditures of $500,000 were incurred on or before 
February 28, 2019 as part of the original agreement. 
 
On May 16, 2019, the Company announced that Far Resources Ltd. had formally notified them of 
its intention to terminate its remaining earn-in for the Hidden Lake Property, originally announced 
January 23, 2018, and therefore maintains a 60-per-cent interest earned through satisfying the year 
1 conditions of the Option Agreement. Therefore, the Company maintains a 40-per-cent interest in 
Hidden Lake and a joint venture between the companies will be formed for future exploration of the 
property. In addition, under the terms of the agreement, Far Resources will remain as Operator and 
is responsible for financing the Joint Venture's initial $1 million in expenditures. 
 
No field exploration was completed at Hidden Lake in 2019 and no field work is planned for 2020, 
primarily due to current lithium market conditions. The Hidden Lake claims are in good standing 
until June 30th, 2026.   
 
Upper Ross Lake Property  
 
On July 7, 2016, the Company staked 2 claims totaling 57 hectares in Upper Ross Lake, Northwest 
Territories. The Company decided to strategically focus on its other lithium assets and the Property 
has since lapsed. During the year ended March 31, 2020, the Company recognized impairment 
loss of $18,592 relating to this property.    
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Pontax Lithium Property 
 
On July 25, 2016, and as amended on November 27, 2017, the Company entered into an 
agreement (the “Pontax Agreement”) with DG Resource Management Ltd. (“DG Resources”) and 
Michael Sklavenitis (“MS”) for an option to acquire 100% interest in 104 mineral claims consisting 
of 5,536 hectares near Eastmain, Quebec by paying cash of $50,000 and issuing 300,000 common 
shares (3,000,000 – pre-consolidation)  as follows: 

 
 Common 

Shares* 
 

Cash 
 # $ 
Upon execution (paid) - 12,500(1) 
Upon regulatory approval of the agreement (issued) 150,000(2) - 
Within 60 days of regulatory approval (paid) - 12,500(3) 
On or before May 31, 2018 (issued; paid) 150,000(2) 25,000(3) 
Total 300,000 50,000  

(1) Non-refundable deposit paid to DG Resource upon execution of the Pontax Lithium Agreement 
(2) #100,000 (pre-consolidation - 1,000,000) issuable to DG Resource and #50,000 (pre-
consolidation - 500,000) issuable to MS 
(3) Payable to DG Resource 
* Shares were adjusted to reflect the share consolidation on October 17, 2019 

 
Regulatory approval for the Pontax Agreement was obtained on September 20, 2016.   
 
The Pontax Agreement is subject to a 3% Net Smelter Royalty (“NSR”). The Company can 
purchase 1.5% NSR within 5 years of regulatory approval by paying $2,000,000 to DG Resource. 
 
On June 12 ,2018, the Company announced that it had completed a 1,094 line-km high-resolution 
magnetic survey over the entire Pontax Property. The survey was completed at a tight line spacing 
of 60 m with lines oriented northwest-southeast, crossing perpendicular to the geology. The survey 
was successful and numerous target features identified. Subsequent to the survey, the Company 
expanded its land position, though online map designation, with the Pontax Property now 
comprised of 146 claims totaling 7,773 ha.    
 
On October 25, 2018, the Company announced results of its 2018 surface exploration program. 
The program resulted in the discovery of a new lithium-bearing pegmatite occurrence on the 
Property (claim Block C). Two grab samples (129364 and 129366) of the pegmatite returned 
assays of 0.94% Li2O and 520 ppm Ta2O5, and 0.72% Li2O and 87 ppm Ta2O5, respectively. 
Spodumene is indicated to be the primary lithium-bearing mineral present based on other 
occurrences in the area. Initial reconnaissance-scale prospecting of gold targets was also carried 
out during the program. Assay results ranged from nil to 141 ppb Au with the peak assay returned 
from a gossanous wacke rock type. Several areas of the Property, as well as geophysical targets, 
remain to be assessed.  
 
No surface exploration was completed on the Pontax Property in 2019 and no field work is planned 
for 2020. Due to restrictions as a result of COVID-19, the Quebec Minister of Energy and Natural 
Resources has extended the expiry date of all active mineral claims in the province by 12 months. 
This includes the Pontax claims, which now all have expiry dates in 2021.  
 
Golden Silica Property (formerly referred to as “ZimFrac” or “Golden Frac Sand”) 
 
On January 27, 2014, the Company entered into a sale and purchase agreement (the “ZimFrac 
Agreement”) with Cannon Bridge Capital Corp. (“Cannon”) and Zimtu Capital Corp. (“Zimtu”) 
(collectively, the “Vendors”) and purchased from the Vendors a 100% interest in certain silica claims 
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located near Golden, BC (the “ZimFrac Property”). In consideration, the Company issued 400,000 
common shares (20,000 common shares to each of Cannon and Zimtu issued on February 6, 2014 
– 200,000 each – pre-consolidation), subject to a 2% Net Smelter Royalty (“NSR”).  The Company 
also issued 40,000 common shares (400,000 – pre-consolidation) in 2014 with a fair value of $0.25 
per share as finder’s fee. 

 
The Company can purchase up to 1% NSR by paying an aggregate sum of $1,000,000 ($500,000 
to each of Cannon and Zimtu). 

 
The ZimFrac Agreement received regulatory approval on February 6, 2014. 
 
On March 3, 2017, the Company entered into an agreement (the “Golden Frac Sand Agreement”) 
with Dahrouge Geological Consulting Ltd. (“Dahrouge”) and DG Resource Management Ltd. (“DG 
Resource”) to purchase a 100% interest in certain mineral claims located near Golden, BC (the 
“Golden Frac Sand Property”) to expand the size of the ZimFrac Property. In consideration, the 
Company paid $40,000 ($20,000 payable to Dahrouge and $20,000 payable to DG Resource) 
within five days of signing the Golden Frac Sand Agreement on March 17, 2017. 

 
The Property has a Gross Over-Riding Royalty of 2% payable to DG Resource in the revenue from 
the sale of the production. The Company can purchase 1% of the GORR for $2,000,000 at any 
time. 
 
Between July 25 and 28, 2018, the Company completed a geologic mapping and sampling program 
on the property targeting the Mount Wilson Formation. A total of 18 samples of quartzite were 
collected with 8 returning greater than 98% SiO2 and 5 returning less than 0.1% Fe2O3. Large 
areas of the property remain to be assessed. 
 
No field exploration was completed at Golden Silica in 2019 and no field work is planned for 2020. 
Due to restrictions as a result of COVID-19, British Columbia’s Ministry of Energy, Mines, and 
Petroleum Resources has extended the expiry date of all active mineral titles in the province until 
December 31st, 2021, and therefore includes the Golden Silica claims.  
 
Quebec Properties 
 
On September 18, 2017, the Company entered into an agreement (the “Quebec Properties 
Agreement”) with DG Resource Management Ltd. (“DG Resource”), Simon Dahrouge (“SCD”), 
Sydney Dahrouge (“SAD”) and Michael V. Sklavenitis (“MS”) for an option to acquire interest in 115 
mineral claims comprising the Eastmain Property, Lac Du Beryl Property, and Corvette Property, 
located in the James Bay Region, Quebec.  Under the terms of the Agreement, the Company 
earned 100% interest by making a cash payment of $45,000 to DG Resource and issuing 150,000-
share purchase warrants (50,000 each to SCD, SAD, and MS – 500,000 each – pre-consolidation) 
as follows: 
 

 
 Warrants* 

 
Cash 

 # $ 
Upon closing (paid) - 12,500(1) 
Earlier of regulatory approval or within 60 days of closing 
(paid) - 32,500(1) 
Upon regulatory approval (issued) 150,000(2) - 
Total 150,000 45,000 

(1) Payable to DG Resource 
(2) Issuable 50,000 each to SCD, SAD and MS 
* Warrants were adjusted to reflect the share consolidation on October 17, 2019 
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The regulatory approval related to the Quebec Properties Agreement was obtained from the 
Exchange on September 26, 2017.  

 
On October 19, 2017, in connection with the Quebec Properties Agreement, the Company paid 
reimbursement costs to DG Resource of $2,220 incurred on the properties 2 months prior to signing 
the Quebec Properties Agreement. 

 
The Quebec Properties Agreement is subject to a 2% Net Smelter Return with respect to the 
production of all materials from the properties. 
 
Both the Eastmain and Lac du Beryl properties were preliminarily assessed in 2017/2018 by the 
Company using a surface prospecting reconnaissance approach with pegmatite confirmed present 
on each, although not spodumene bearing. Areas of both properties remain to be assessed, 
including the gold potential of Lac du Beryl. Since the initial property agreement, the Lac du Beryl 
Property had been expanded to comprise an additional 12 claims; however, these 12 claims were 
allowed to lapse in early 2020 and the Property is currently comprised of the original 18 claim block.  
 
On October 5, 2017, a one-day site visit to the Corvette Property confirmed the presence of 
spodumene-bearing pegmatite. Two sub-parallel trending pegmatites were found with the largest 
estimated at 150 m in length by 30 in width. Samples returned 3.48% Li2O from the larger 
pegmatite, and 1.22% Li2O from the smaller one.  
 
On September 11, 2018, the Company announced channel sampling results from Corvette, 
including 2.28% Li2O over 6 m and 1.54% Li2O over 8 m, with a new spodumene-bearing discovery 
on the Property returning 1.61% Li2O. The discovery prompted the acquisition of additional claims 
and the Corvette Property is now comprised of 172 claims totaling 8,808 ha, forming one 
contiguous claim block. The program also identified significant grades of tantalum from the 
pegmatites. The 2018 program focused on lithium exploration and not the gold or base metal 
potential of the Property.  
 
No surface exploration was completed on the Eastmain or Lac du Beryl properties in 2019 and no 
field work is planned for 2020. Due to restrictions as a result of COVID-19, the Quebec Minister of 
Energy and Natural Resources has extended the expiry date of all active mineral claims in the 
province by 12 months. This includes the Eastmain and Lac du Beryl claims, which now all have 
expiry dates in 2021.  
 
FCI Property (East and West blocks) 
 
On August 27, 2018, the Company entered into an Option Agreement (the “Agreement”) with 
Osisko Mining Inc. (“Osisko”) to acquire up to a 75% interest in 28 mineral claims (“FCI East”) 
directly adjoining the Company’s 100% owned Corvette Property. The claims comprise the eastern 
portion of Osisko’s FCI Property and located in the James Bay Region of Quebec, approximately 
10 kilometers’ south of the all-season Trans-Taiga Road and powerline infrastructure corridor.  
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Under the terms of the Agreement, the Company would earn an initial 50% interest by issuing 
200,000 common shares (2,000,000 pre-consolidated) to Osisko and incurring $2,250,000 work 
exploration expenditures as follows: 
 
 

Common 
Shares* 

 
Work exploration 

expenditures 
 # $ 
Upon closing date of the Agreement (issued) 100,000 - 
On or before the 1st anniversary date of closing (issued) 100,000 250,000 
 
To earn an initial 25% undivided interest 
On or before the 2nd anniversary date of closing - 800,000 
 
To earn an additional 25% undivided interest (50% interest 
in total) 
On or before the 3rd anniversary date of closing - 1,200,000 
Total 200,000 2,250,000  

 
Osisko will act as Operator of the FCI Property for the term of the 50% earn-in, with a Steering 
Committee of equal representation formed to provide advice and direction to the Operator. Upon 
completion of the 50% earn-in (third anniversary of TSX-V approval (or closing), a Joint Venture 
Corporation will be formed with the Company retaining an Option to acquire a further 25% interest, 
for a total of 75% undivided interest, through funding of the next $2,000,000 in exploration 
expenditures. The Company may become Operator upon notice to Osisko that it intends to incur 
the $2,000,000 in work expenditures for a final undivided interest of 75%. Osisko’s remaining 25% 
interest may be further reduced through dilution if they elect to not fund their portion of subsequent 
exploration/development. If ownership falls below 10%, Osisko will have the right to convert this 
remaining interest into a 1% Net Smelter Royalty (NSR), of which, the Company retains the right 
to buy for $5,000,000 (cash or shares), and thereby, would obtain a 100% undivided interest in the 
FCI Property. 
 
The FCI Property is subject to a 1.5% to 3.5% sliding scale NSR royalty from the production of 
precious metals. The royalty is primarily based on amount of production with 1.5% on the first 1M 
oz, 2.5% on the next 1M oz and 3.0% on the next 1M oz of and above. The remaining 0.5% royalty 
is based on the spot gold price starting at US$1,000 / oz and reaches the maximum at $2,000 / oz.  
 
A 2.0% NSR royalty is present on all other products; provided however that if there is an existing 
royalty applicable on any portion of the property, then the percentages noted above (i.e. the sliding 
scale NSR) shall, as applicable, be adjusted so that the aggregate maximum royalty percentage 
on such portion shall not exceed and be capped to 3.5% at any time. 
 
On April 24, 2019, the Company and Osisko entered into an amended agreement to include an 
additional 83 claims (“FCI West”) under the same terms and conditions as the original agreement. 
No additional shares, cash, or work commitment is required by the Company, apart from general 
claim maintenance (i.e. renewal fees). Therefore, the FCI Property (East and West blocks) is 
currently comprised of 5,687 ha over 111 claims.  
 
The FCI East, FCI West, and Corvette properties are contiguous and, collectively, are referred to 
as the Corvette-FCI Property and extend for more than 25 kilometres along the Lac Guyer 
Greenstone Belt within the James Bay Region of Quebec.  
 
Subsequent to the Agreement, the FCI Property was included in a corporate restructuring and spin-
out of assets from Osisko into a new public company called O3 Mining Inc. (“O3 Mining”), which 
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began trading on the TSX Venture Exchange on July 9th, 2019. The FCI Agreement was transferred 
from Osisko to O3 Mining at this time. Therefore, O3 Mining is now the Optionor and Operator of 
the Property and all other terms and conditions of the Agreement remaining unchanged.  
 
During the year ended March 31, 2020, the Company provided a total of $297,701 (total from the 
start cumulative of $414,698) as cash call to Osisko/O3 Mining. Both parties have completed 
sufficient work expenditures to satisfy Year 1 of the Agreement. On September 19, 2019, the 
Company issued 100,000 common shares (1,000,000 – pre-consolidation) at $0.30 per share. 
 
Exploration of the Corvette and FCI Properties 
 
On June 19, 2019, the Company announced its exploration plans for the Corvette and FCI 
properties (collectively, the “Corvette-FCI Property”), consisting of surface exploration comprised 
primarily of prospecting, rock sampling, and soil sampling along the gold and copper exploration 
trends identified from historical work 
 
On September 10th, 17th, and 24th, 2019, the Company announced assay results for its 2019 
summer field program at Corvette-FCI, along with several significant discoveries. The primary 
objectives of the program were to sample, expand upon, and rank the known historical 
prospects/showings, and to discover new areas of mineralization. Program highlights include: 

1. Elsass copper-gold-silver prospect -- new discovery of well-mineralized outcrops over an 
approximate 350-m strike length with assays including 3.63% Cu, 0.64 g/t Au and 52.3 g/t 
Ag; 

2. Lorraine copper-gold-silver prospect -- new outcrop discovery approximately 2.3 km 
along trend of the Elsass Prospect with assays including 8.15% Cu, 1.33 g/t Au and 171 
g/t Ag; 

3. Several new high-grade copper-gold-silver areas discovered, including the Black Forrest 
Showing with 1.13% Cu, 0.05 g/t Au and 19.5 g/t Ag, and the Hund Showing with 3.28% 
Cu, 0.78 g/t Au and 30.1 g/t  Ag. 

4. Lac Bruno gold prospect -- new outcrop discovery assaying 1.4 g/t Au located up-ice of 
boulder field (2019 sample of 11.9 g/t Au) with soil sample results providing further 
vectoring toward a potential source; 

5. Golden Gap prospect -- potential western extension identified through several new gold 
discoveries in outcrop with assays including 1.87 g/t Au and 2.81 g/t Au. 

6. Numerous lithium-bearing pegmatites occur within a corridor exceeding 25 kilometres in 
length; 

7. Southwest of CV1-2, newly discovered CV5 and CV6 pegmatites include a large, well-
mineralized exposure of approximately 220 m by 20 to 40 m (CV5), with eight samples 
averaging 3% Li2O and 154 ppm Ta2O5, including a peak assay of 4.06% Li2O and 564 
ppm Ta2O5; 

8. CV7 -- discovery to the northwest of CV1 with assay of 4.44% Li2O and 195 ppm Ta2O5; 

9. CV8 -- large area of outcrop exposure with assay of 4.44% Li2O and 205 ppm Ta2O5; 

10. CV9 and CV10 -- located in northwest area of FCI West, with mineralized outcrops 
present over at least a 300 m strike length and multiple assays greater than 2% Li2O to a 
peak of 4.72% Li2O; 

11. CV11 -- high-grade tantalum pegmatite with assay of 0.66% Li2O and 386 ppm Ta2O5 

 
On December 11th, 2019, the Company announced that it had initiated a review and re-processing 
of IP-resistivity data using modern techniques for historical surveys completed at the Corvette-FCI 
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Property. In addition to the IP resistivity work, a structural analysis of the 2005 airborne magnetic 
survey would also be completed to identify primary and secondary structures that may control gold 
mineralization. 
 
On February 4th, 2020, the Company announced that a historical data compilation had outlined a 
strong potential for platinum group element (PGE) mineralization on the FCI Property. This was 
highlighted by the Lac Long Sud Showing with a historical outcrop sample assay of 3.10 g/t Au, 
1.06 g/t Pd, 0.005 g/t Pt, 7.5 g/t Ag, 0.24% Cu, 0.19% Ni, and 411 g/t Co. 
 
On April 16th, 2020, the Company announced several significant findings had been made following 
the re-processing of historical ground IP-resistivity data collected from the Golden Gap area on the 
FCI Property. The work highlighted - 1) A distinctly different and yet to be drill tested trend of 
mineralization at Golden Gap, compared to the historical interpretation; 2) Additional strike 
extensions are present; and 3) Additional parallel to sub-parallel trends are present. 
 
Due to the impacts of COVID-19 pandemic and resulting governmental restrictions, conditions, and 
associated risks in accessing the FCI Property for 2020 field exploration this summer, the Company 
is actively engaged in a dialogue with O3 Mining Inc. and evaluating best strategies to ensure that 
the Company maintains its Option in the FCI Property in good standing, and provides certainty 
through these unprecedented times. The Company notes that it has already incurred approximately 
$160,000 of the $800,000 in exploration expenditures which are required under the current Option 
Agreement, to be spent by mid-September 2020 (Year 2 anniversary). 
 
In addition, due to restrictions as a result of COVID-19, the Quebec Minister of Energy and Natural 
Resources has extended the expiry date of all active mineral claims in the province by 12 months. 
This includes the Corvette and FCI claims, which now all have expiry dates in 2021 or later.  
 
Silver Sands Vanadium Property 
 
On November 13, 2018, the Company entered into an agreement with DG Resource Management 
Ltd. to acquire 100% interest in Silver Sands Vanadium Property (the “Silver Sands”), located in 
the Pine Pass area of eastern British Columbia. The Silver Sands Vanadium Property covers 3735 
hectares directly east of the Pine Pass Vanadium Project held by Ethos Gold Corp., which is located 
about 200 km north of Prince George, British Columbia. 
 
The Silver Sands Vanadium Property contains the same geological formations prospective for 
vanadium mineralization that is known within the region. Silver Sands is within close proximity to 
the well-established infrastructure corridor of Pine Pass, which includes the Highway 97, Canadian 
National Railway and high-voltage powerlines and natural gas pipelines. 
 
Pursuant to the agreement, the Company will acquire a 100% interest in Silver Sands by paying 
staking costs of $15,000. The vendor will retain a 2% Net Smelter Return on the Property. 
 
As at March 31, 2020, the Company has incurred $14,776 (March 31, 2019 - $12,643) mineral 
expenditures pursuant to the agreement. 
 
In March 2019, the Company was informed by the Province of British Columbia that it was an 
impacted stakeholder with respect to Silver Sands through a recently negotiated agreement 
between several local First Nations, and the Provincial and Federal governments. The agreement 
outlines proposed measures for conservation and recovery efforts for caribou and includes the area 
of Silver Sands. The Company is assessing the potential impacts/resolutions. Silver Sands is 
considered a non-core asset by the Company.   
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No field exploration was completed at Silver Sands in 2019 and no field work is planned for 2020. 
Due to restrictions as a result of COVID-19, British Columbia’s Ministry of Energy, Mines, and 
Petroleum Resources has extended the expiry date of all active mineral titles in the province until 
December 31st, 2021, and therefore includes the Silver Sands claims.  
 
 
SELECTED ANNUAL INFORMATION 
 
Year ended March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019 March 31, 2018 

  $ $ $ 
        
Total assets         2,948,377          3,076,034          3,255,900  
Mineral exploration and evaluation 
assets         2,666,124          2,279,263          1,643,307  
Working capital            239,009             499,294             1,374,081  
Shareholders' equity         2,905,133          2,778,557          3,017,388  
Revenues Nil Nil Nil 
Net Loss           (528,956)        (1,012,368)           (964,690) 
Basis and Diluted Loss Per Share                (0.05)                (0.13)                (0.20) 
        

  
 
The annual financial results reflect the Company’s level of activity over the past three years. Since 
2018, total assets have decreased by $307,523, mineral exploration and evaluation assets have 
increased by $1,022,817, and shareholders’ equity has decreased by $112,255. 
 
 
FOURTH QUARTER RESULTS 
 
During the quarter ended March 31, 2020, the Company had a net loss of $198,041 compared to 
a net loss of $307,989 for the quarter ended March 31, 2019. The operational expenses consist of: 
 

• Advertising of $9,129 (2019 - $8,149) 
• Bank and interest charges of $836 (2019 - $230) 
• Consulting fees of $9,500 (2019 - $80,944) 
• Investor communications of $752 (2019 - $1,344) 
• Management and administration fees of $39,579 (2019 - $39,544) 
• Meals and entertainment of $2,032 (2019 - $1,498) 
• Office and miscellaneous of $1,737 (2019 - $1,160) 
• Professional fees of $38,552 (2019 - $28,550) 
• Rent and property taxes of $4,791 (2019 - $4,526) 
• Share-based compensation of $65,508 (2019 - $Nil) 
• Transfer agent and filing fees of $10,095 (2019 - $9,687) 
• Taxes of $6,325 (2019 - $Nil) 
• Travel of $14,085 (2019 - $1,428) 

 
During the quarter ended March 31, 2020, the Company recognized an impairment loss of $18,592 
(2019 - $Nil). During the same quarter the previous year, the Company recognized loss on sale of 
investment of $151,986. 
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SUMMARY OF QUARTERLY RESULTS 
 
The following is a summary of the Company’s financial results for the eight most recent quarters:  
 

Quarter Ended   Revenue   
Loss for the 

period   
Basic and diluted loss per 

share 
              

June 30, 2018               -           (199,599)               (0.03) 
September 30, 2018               -           (329,336)               (0.04) 
December 31, 2018               -           (175,444)               (0.02) 

March 31, 2019               -           (307,989)               (0.04) 
June 30, 2019               -           (218,090)               (0.00) 

September 30, 2019               -             (38,738)               (0.00) 
December 31, 2019               -             (74,087)               (0.01) 

March 31, 2020               -             (198,041)               (0.04) 
              

 
 
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 
 
Operational activities: 
 
The Company incurred a net loss of $528,956 for the year ended March 31, 2020, as compared to 
$1,012,368 for the year ended March 31, 2019. Total expenses of $760,338 for the year ended 
March 31, 2020 (2019 - $888,016), related primarily to advertising, consulting, management and 
administration fees, professional fees, share-based compensation and transfer agent and filing 
fees.  
 
The decreased loss in the year ended March 31, 2020 was primarily due to the increase in other 
income of $226,294 ($249,834 in 2020 vs.$23,540 in 2019), decrease in advertising expenses of 
$69,480 ($35,140 in 2020 vs. $104,620 in 2019) and decrease in consulting fees of $217,388 
($149,660 in 2020 vs. $367,048 in 2019), partly offset by the increase in share-based compensation 
of $118,134 ($211,172 in 2020 vs. $93,038 in 2019).  
 
Flow-through income refers to the allocated value of the flow-through shares issued by the 
company for tax deductions arising from the related resource expenditures to shareholders (See 
Note 3 of the Financial Statements). Advertising and consulting fees relate to the Company’s 
current and prospective exploration projects. The increase in share-based compensation related to 
the grant of 1,105,000 stock options to officers, directors and consultants. 
 
All other costs in the current period are comparable to that of the corresponding period in 2019. 
 
Cash flow activities: 
 
For the year ended March 31, 2020, the Company experienced a net decrease in its cash position 
by $442,557 (2019 – $424,469). Cash inflows consisted of funds provided by financing activities 
totalling $414,360 (2019 – $796,310). The cash inflow is primarily attributed to the proceeds 
received from the private placement closed on December 2, 2019 and the options exercised during 
the year ended March 31, 2020. Last year, inflows for the same period were pursuant to proceeds 
of a private placement closed on August 1, 2018.  
 
Significant cash outflows consisted of the cash used in operating activities of $481,464 
(2019 – $803,114) and the cash used in investing activities of $375,453 (2019 - $417,665). The 
cash used in operating activities in 2020 decreased compared to 2018, primarily due to lower level 
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of cash expenses. The cash used in investing activities in 2020 increased compared to 2019, 
primarily due to an increase in mineral expenditures during the year. 
 
As the Company is an exploration company, it does not receive, nor does it anticipate receiving 
any revenue in the next fiscal year. The Company’s interests do not currently generate cash flow 
from operations and, in order to continue operations and fund its expenditure commitments, it is 
dependent on equity financing through existing and new shareholders, third party financing, and 
cost sharing arrangements to fund its work programs and operations. 
 
LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES 
 
As at March 31, 2020, the Company had cash and cash equivalents of $255,889 
(March 31, 2019 - $698,446) and working capital of $239,009 (March 31, 2019 – $499,294).  Some 
of the factors affecting the Company’s liquidity are: 
 

• The Company will have to incur ongoing costs to maintain its properties and plans to 
undertake exploration programs that will consume cash. 

• As disclosed in note 8 of the March 31, 2019 financial statements, the Company has 
commitments make option payments and complete minimum exploration expenditures if it 
is to retain its properties. 
 

As at March 31, 2020, there were 14,788,817 common shares, 1,437,500 stock options and 
6,742,651 warrants outstanding. As of report date, the Company has 14,788,817 common shares, 
1,340,000 stock options and 6,742,651 warrants outstanding. 
 
As at March 31, 2020, the Company had not advanced its exploration and evaluation properties to 
commercial production. The Company’s continuation as a going concern is dependent upon 
successful results from exploration activities on its mineral properties and its ability to attain 
profitable operations and generate cash from its operations in the foreseeable future.  As at March 
31, 2020, the Company has accumulated deficit of $8,112,703 since inception, and is expected to 
incur further losses in the development of its business. The Company will have to rely on the 
issuance of shares or the exercise of options and warrants to fund ongoing operations and 
investment. The ability of the Company to raise capital will depend on market conditions and it may 
not be possible for the Company to issue shares on acceptable terms or at all.   
 
Year ended March 31, 2020 
 
Shares and Warrants 
 
On December 2, 2019, the Company closed a non-brokered private placement financing for gross 
proceeds of $412,200 by issuing 5,888,571 units at a price of $0.07 per unit. Each unit is comprised 
of one common share and one transferable share purchase warrant, with each warrant entitling the 
holder to purchase one additional common share of the Company for a period of up to thirty-six 
months at a price of $0.09 in the first year, $0.15 in the second year and $0.20 in the third year. In 
connection with the private placement, the Company paid a finder’s fee of $7,840 in cash. 
 
On September 19, 2019, the Company issued 100,000 common shares (1,000,000 – pre-
consolidation) at $0.30 per share for the acquisition of the FCI Property (See MINERAL 
PROPERTY INTERESTS). 
 
On August 1, 2019, 167,500 warrants (1,675,000 – pre-consolidation) expired unexercised. 
 
On April 25, 2019, the Company issued 20,000 common shares (200,000 – pre-consolidation) for 
gross proceeds of $10,000 for options exercised. 
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Options 
 
On February 3, 2020, the Company has granted 80,000 incentive stock options to an officer of the 
Company. Each Option is exercisable into one additional common share at $0.09 per share until 
February 3, 2023 and vested immediately on the date of grant. The fair value of the options was 
determined to be $5,240. Share-based payments were estimated using the Black-Scholes pricing 
model with stock price of $0.08, volatility 180.26%, risk-free rate 1.69%, dividend yield 0%, and 
expected life of 3 years. 
 
On January 29, 2020, 80,000 stock options granted to a consultant were cancelled. 
 
On January 13, 2020, 45,000 stock options granted to a former director were cancelled. 
 
On January 14, 2020, the Company has granted an aggregate of 675,000 incentive stock options 
to officers, directors and consultants of the Company. Each Option is exercisable into one additional 
common share at $0.09 per share until January 24, 2023 and vested immediately on the date of 
grant. The fair value of the options was determined to be $60,268. Share-based payments were 
estimated using the Black-Scholes pricing model with stock price of $0.10, volatility 181.45%, risk-
free rate 1.69%, dividend yield 0%, and expected life of 3 years. 
 
On September 4, 2019, the Company granted a total of 100,000 stock options (1,000,000 – pre-
consolidation) to a consultant of the Company. Each stock option is exercisable into one additional 
common share at $0.05 per share until September 4, 2020 and vested immediately on the date of 
grant. The Company recognized $26,624 as share-based payments on the statement of 
comprehensive loss on the grant of the stock options. The fair value of $26,623 share-based 
payments was estimated using the Black-Scholes pricing model with estimated, stock price of 
$0.05, volatility 144.07%, risk-free rate 1.35%, dividend yield 0%, and expected life of 1 year. 
 
On August 1, 2019, 30,000 (300,000 – pre-consolidation) options expired unexercised. 
 
On May 2, 2019, the Company granted a total of 250,000 (pre-consolidation - 2,500,000) stock 
options to a consultant, officers and directors of the Company. Each stock option is exercisable into 
one additional common share at $0.60 per share until May 2, 2022 and vested immediately on the 
date of grant. The Company recognized $119,041 as share-based payments on the statement of 
comprehensive loss on the grant of the stock options. The fair value of $119,041 share-based 
payments was estimated using the Black-Scholes pricing model with estimated, stock price of 
$0.60, volatility 144.22%, risk-free rate 1.61%, dividend yield 0%, and expected life of 3 years. 
 
Year ended March 31, 2019 
 
Shares and Warrants 
 
On April 18, 2018, 51,400 warrants (514,000 – pre-consolidation) exercisable at $1.00 per share 
expired unexercised. 
 
On June 18, 2018, the Company issued 150,000 common shares (1,500,000 – pre-consolidation) 
valued at $0.55 per share in accordance to the Pontax Agreement. 
 
On August 1, 2018, the Company closed a non-brokered private placement financing for gross 
proceeds of $217,750 by issuing 335,000 non-flow-through (“NFT”) units (3,350,000 – pre-
consolidation) at a price of $0.65 per unit. Each NFT unit consists of one NFT common share and 
one-half of one non-transferable share purchase warrant. Each whole warrant will permit the holder 
to acquire one additional NFT common share at a price of $1.00 per share until August 1, 2019.  
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On September 17, 2018, the Company issued 100,000 common shares (1,000,000 – pre-
consolidation) valued at $0.60 per share for the acquisition of the Corvette-FCI Property. 
 
On December 27, 2018, the Company closed a non-brokered private placement financing for gross 
proceeds of $618,000 by issuing 1,236,000 flow-through (“FT”) units (12,360,000 – pre-
consolidation) at a price of $0.50 per unit. Each FT unit consists of one FT common share and one-
half of one non-transferable share purchase warrant. Each whole warrant will permit the holder to 
acquire one additional common share at a price of $1.00 per share until December 27, 2021. In 
connection with the private placement, the Company paid a finder’s fee of $39,440 in cash and 
issued 86,080 agent warrants (860,800 – pre-consolidation).  Each agent warrant is exercisable to 
acquire one common share for a period of thirty-six months from the date of issuance at an exercise 
price of $1.00 per share.  
 
During the year ended March 31, 2019, the Company granted 871,580 warrants (8,715,800 – pre-
consolidation) in connection with private placements 
 
On January 3, 2019, 586,900 warrants (5,869,000 – pre-consolidation) issued on January 3, 2018 
expired unexercised. 
 
On February 24, 2019, 752,417 warrants (7,524,166 – pre-consolidation) issued on February 24, 
2017 expired unexercised.  
 
Options 
 
On July 11, 2018, the Company granted a total of 190,000 stock options (1,900,000 – pre-
consolidation) to a consultant, officers and directors of the Company. Each stock option is 
exercisable into one additional common share at $0.50 per share until July 11, 2021 and vested 
immediately on the date of grant. The Company recognized $66,043 as share-based payments on 
the statement of comprehensive loss on the grant of the stock options. The fair value of $66,043 
share-based payments was estimated using the Black-Scholes pricing model with estimated, stock 
price of $0.50, volatility 141%, risk-free rate 1.5%, dividend yield 0%, and expected life of 3 years. 
 
On August 1, 2018, the Company granted a total of 80,000 stock options (800,000 – pre-
consolidation) to a consultant of the Company. Each stock option is exercisable into one additional 
common share at $0.55 per share until August 1, 2020 and vested immediately on the date of grant. 
The Company recognized $26,995 as share-based payments on the statement of comprehensive 
loss on the grant of the stock options. The fair value of $26,995 share-based payments was 
estimated using the Black-Scholes pricing model with estimated, stock price of $0.55, volatility 
121%, risk-free rate 1.5%, dividend yield 0%, and expected life of 2 years. 
 
On January 17, 2019, 14,200 options (142,000 – pre-consolidation) issued on January 17, 2014 
expired unexercised. 
 
On March 4, 2019, 86,000 options (860,000 – pre-consolidation) cancelled unexercised. 
 
On March 21, 2019, 2,500 options (25,000 – pre-consolidation) cancelled unexercised. 
 
 
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
During the year ended March 31, 2020, the Company incurred the following related party 
transactions measured at exchange amounts, which were the amounts agreed upon by the 
transacting parties and are on terms and conditions similar to those for arm’s length transactions: 
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Year ended March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019 
Expenses paid or accrued to directors of the 
Company, senior officers and companies 
with common directors: 

    

Management and administration fees  $                  178,544   $                   157,826 
Consulting fees                        30,000  30,000 
Share based payments                      146,572                         57,354  

Total related party expenses by type  $                  355,116   $                   245,180  

The amounts due to related parties are amounts due to directors and officers. The balances are 
unsecured, non-interest bearing and have no specific terms for repayment. 

As at March 31, 2020, the Company has $379 due to related parties reported as part of accounts 
payable. As at March 31, 2019, no amounts were due to key management, directors of the 
Company or companies controlled by management or directors of the Company. 
 
As at March 31, 2020, $13,205 (March 31, 2019 - $5,931) management fees and benefits were 
recorded as prepaid expense. 
 
Key management personnel compensation 
 
The Company considers its President, Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer and 
Corporate Secretary to be key management. During the year ended March 31, 2020, the Company 
incurred $355,116 (2018: $198,135) in compensation expenses broken down as follows. 
 
      
Year ended March 31, 2020 March 31, 2019 
      
Chief Executive Officer  $                  157,956   $                    111,430  
Chief Financial Officer 125,494 81,156 
Corporate Secretary 50,833 38,690 
Directors                        20,833                         13,904  
Total related party expenses by key 
management personnel  $                  355,116   $                   245,180  

 
COMMITMENTS 
 
The Company has certain commitments related to key management compensation for $12,500 per 
month with no specific expiry of terms. 
 
The Company has certain commitments in connection with its mineral properties as described in 
Note 8 to the financial statements. 
 
CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 
 
For a detailed summary of the Company’s significant accounting policies, the readers are directed 
to Note 3 of the Notes to the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended March 
31, 2020 that are available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. 
 
OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS 
 
The Company has not entered into any material off-balance sheet arrangements. 
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PROPOSED TRANSACTIONS 
 
The Company has no proposed transactions. 
 
CAPITAL DISCLOSURE 
 
The Company considers its capital structure to include net residual equity of all assets, less 
liabilities. The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to (i) maintain financial flexibility 
in order to preserve its ability to meet financial obligations and continue as a going concern; (ii) 
maintain a capital structure that allows the Company to finance its growth using internally-
generated cash flow and debt capacity; and (iii) optimize the use of its capital to provide an 
appropriate investment return to its shareholders commensurate with risk. 
 
The Company’s financial strategy is formulated and adapted according to market conditions in 
order to maintain a flexible capital structure that is consistent with its objectives and the risk 
characteristics of its underlying assets. The Company manages its capital structure and makes 
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of its 
underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may attempt to issue 
new shares, acquire or dispose of assets, or adjust the amount of cash and cash equivalents and 
receivables. 
 
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 
The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities at amortized cost is determined in 
accordance with generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis or 
using prices from observable current market transactions.  The Company considers that the 
carrying amount of all its financial assets and financial liabilities recognized at amortized cost in the 
financial statements approximates their fair value due to the demand nature or short-term maturity 
of these instruments. 
 

• Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices in active 
markets for identical assets or liabilities. 

• Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted 
prices included within Level 1, that are observable either directly or indirectly. 

• Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that 
include inputs that are not based on observable market data.  As at  
March 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company does not have any Level 3 financial 
instruments. 

 
The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, amounts receivable, 
accounts payable and accrued liabilities. 
 

 The Company’s financial instruments are exposed to certain financial risks. The risk exposures and 
the impact on the Company’s financial instruments are summarized below. 
 
Credit Risk 
 
Credit risk is the risk of loss associated with the counterparty’s inability to fulfill its payment 
obligations. Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit 
risks consist principally of cash. To minimize the credit risk the Company places these instruments 
with a high-quality financial institution. 
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Interest Rate Risk 
 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Company considers its exposure to 
interest rate risk to be not significant. 
 
Liquidity Risk 
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated 
with financial liabilities. The Company’s accounts payable and accrued liabilities are all current and 
due within 90 days of the balance sheet date. The Company ensures that it has sufficient capital to 
meet its short-term financial obligations. 
 
Foreign exchange risk 

The Company does not have significant foreign exchange risk as the majority of its transactions 
are in Canadian dollars. 

 
Interest rate risk 

The Company is not exposed to significant interest rate risk.  

 
RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES 
 
The more significant risks and uncertainties not discussed elsewhere in this MD&A include:  
 
Financing Risk  
 
The Company will need to continue raising funds to finance its operations and exploration activities. 
There is no certainty that the Company will be able to raise money on acceptable terms or at all.  
 
Exploration Risk  
 
Exploration for mineral resources involves a high degree of risk. The cost of conducting exploration 
programs may be substantial and the likelihood of success is difficult to assess. Few explored 
properties are ultimately developed into producing mines. The Company attempts to mitigate its 
exploration risk by maintaining a diversified portfolio that includes several different exploration 
prospects in a number of favorable geologic environments.  
 
Metal Price Risk  
 
Even if the Company’s exploration programs are successful in locating economic deposits of 
minerals or precious metals, factors beyond the Company’s control may affect the value and 
marketability of such deposits. Natural resource prices have wide historic fluctuations due to many 
factors, including inflation, currency fluctuations, interest rates, consumption trends and local and 
worldwide financial market conditions. The prices of such natural resources greatly affect the value 
of the Company and the potential value of its properties. This, in turn, greatly affects its ability to 
form joint ventures and the structure of any joint ventures formed.  
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Environmental Risk  
 
The Company seeks to operate within environmental protection standards that meet or exceed 
existing requirements in the countries in which the Company operates. Present or future laws and 
regulations, however, may affect the Company’s operations. Future environmental costs may 
increase due to changing requirements or costs associated with exploration and the developing, 
operating and closing of mines. Programs may also be delayed or prohibited in some areas. 
Although minimal at this time, site restoration costs are a component of exploration expenditures. 
 
Public Health Crisis 
 
In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared a global pandemic known as COVID-19. 
The expected implications on global commerce are expected to be far reaching. This has already 
had impact on the Company’s exploration activities as mentioned above. The duration and effect 
of the COVID-19 outbreak is unknown at this time and it is not possible to reliably estimate the 
length and severity of these developments and the impact on the financial results and condition of 
the Company in future periods. The management is closely evaluating the impact of COVID-19 on 
the Company’s business. 
 
ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURE FOR VENTURE ISSUERS WITHOUT SIGNIFICANT REVENUE 
 
Detailed listing of exploration expenditures and a breakdown of general and administrative 
expenses are provided in the financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2020. 
 
DIRECTORS  
 
Certain directors of the Company are also directors, officers and/or shareholders of other 
companies that are similarly engaged in the business of acquiring, developing and exploring natural 
resource properties. Such associations may give rise to conflicts of interest from time to time. The 
directors of the Company are required to act in good faith with a view to the best interests of the 
Company and to disclose any interest which they may have in any project opportunity of the 
Company. If a conflict of interest arises at a meeting of the board of directors, any director in a 
conflict will disclose his/her interest and abstain from voting in the matter(s). In determining whether 
or not the Company will participate in any project or opportunity, the directors will primarily consider 
the degree of risk to which the Company may be exposed and its financial position at the time.  
 
On May 14, 2019, the Company appointed Darren L. Smith as Vice President of Exploration for the 
Company.  
 
On September 10, 2019, Mr. Robert Findlay resigned as a Director of the Company. 
 
On January 13, 2020, the Company appointed Mr. Todd Hanas as a Director of the Company.  
 
Current Directors and Officers of the Company are as follows:  
 
Adrian Lamoureux, President/CEO and Director 
Dusan Berka, CFO and Director 
Paul Chung, Director 
Todd Hanas, Director 
Darren L. Smith, Vice President, Exploration 
Kelly Pladson, Corporate Secretary 
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OUTLOOK 
 
The Company's primary focus for the foreseeable future will be on reviewing its financial position, 
raising funds to support exploration and operational activities, continuing exploration activities on 
its mineral properties and financing business ventures in the mineral resource industry. 
 
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
 
Additional information related to the Company can be found on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.  
 
 
APPROVAL 

The Audit Committee of the Company has approved the disclosure contained in this Management 
Discussion and Analysis. A copy will be provided to anyone who requests it. 

 

On Behalf of Management,  

“Adrian Lamoureux” 

Adrian Lamoureux 
President, CEO and Director 
 
July 9, 2020 

http://www.sedar.com/
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April 21, 2021 
 
OVERVIEW 
 
The following is a management’s discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) of Gaia Metals Corp.  
(the “Company” or “Gaia Metals”), prepared as of April 21, 2021. This MD&A should be read together 
with the interim condensed consolidated financial statements (the “Financial Statements”) for the 
nine months ended December 31, 2020 and related notes which are prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and the audited consolidated financial 
statements for the year ended March 31, 2020, and related notes which are prepared in accordance 
with IFRS, copies of which are filed on the SEDAR website: www.sedar.com.  
 
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 

Certain information included in this MD&A may constitute forward-looking statements. Statements 
in this report that are not historical facts are forward-looking statements involving known and 
unknown risks and uncertainties, which could cause actual results to vary considerably from these 
statements. 
 
Forward-looking statements are statements about the future and are inherently uncertain, and actual 
achievements of the Company may differ materially from those reflected in forward-looking 
statements due to a variety of risks, uncertainties and other factors.  The Company’s forward-looking 
statements are based on the beliefs, expectations and opinions of management on the date the 
statements are made, and the Company does not assume any obligation to update forward-looking 
statements if circumstances or management’s beliefs, expectations or opinions should change 
except as required by law. For the reasons set forth above, investors should not place undue reliance 
on forward-looking statements.   
 
It is the Company’s policies that all forward-looking statements are based on the Company’s beliefs 
and assumptions that are based on information available at the time these assumptions are made.  
The forward-looking statements contained herein are as of February 22, 2021 and are subject to 
change after this date, and the Company assumes no obligation to publicly update or revise the 
statements to reflect new events or circumstances, except as may be required pursuant to applicable 
laws. Although management believes that the expectations represented by such forward-looking 
information or statements are reasonable, there is significant risk that the forward-looking 
information or statements may not be achieved, and the underlying assumptions thereto will not 
prove to be accurate. 
 
Actual results or events could differ materially from the plans, intentions and expectations expressed 
or implied in any forward-looking information or statements, including the underlying assumptions 
thereto, as a result of numerous risks, uncertainties and other factors such as those described above 
and in “Risks and Uncertainties” below. The Company has no policy for updating forward looking 
information beyond the procedures required under applicable securities laws. 
 
All of the Company’s public disclosure filings, including its most recent management information 
circular, material change reports, press releases and other information, may be accessed via 
www.sedar.com or the Company’s website at www.gaiametalscorp.com and readers are urged to 
review these materials, including the technical report filed with respect to the Company’s mineral 
property. 
 
The global outbreak of a novel coronavirus pandemic identified as “COVID-19”, has had a significant 
impact on businesses through the restrictions put in place by the Canadian, provincial and municipal 
governments regarding travel, business operations and isolation/quarantine orders.  At this time, it 
is unknown the extent of the impact the COVID-19 outbreak may have on the Company as this will 
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depend on future developments that are highly uncertain and that cannot be predicted with 
confidence. These uncertainties arise from the inability to predict the ultimate geographic spread of 
the disease and the duration of the outbreak, including the duration of travel restrictions, business 
closures or disruptions, and quarantine/isolation measures that are currently, or may be put in place 
by Canada and other countries in which the Company may conduct future mineral interests or 
business acquisitions to fight the virus. 
 
NATURE OF BUSINESS 
 
The Company was incorporated on May 10, 2007, under the British Columbia Business 

Corporations Act. On June 10, 2014, the Company’s common shares were consolidated on a five 
old for one new share basis and the Company’s name was changed from Rio Grande Mining Corp. 
to 92 Resources Corp. On October 7, 2019, the Company’s common shares were consolidated on 
a ten old for one new share basis and the Company’s name was changed from 92 Resources Corp. 
to Gaia Metals Corp. 
 
The Company is domiciled in Canada and is a reporting issuer in British Columbia and Alberta, with 
its common shares publicly traded on the TSX Venture Exchange (the “Exchange”) under the stock 
symbol “GMC” (effective October 17, 2019).  The address of its head office and records office is 
Suite 500, 666 Burrard Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada, V6C 3P6. 
 
The principal business of the Company is the identification, evaluation and acquisition of exploration 
and evaluation properties located in British Columbia, Northwest Territories, Quebec, and Idaho, 
USA., and exploration of those properties once acquired. At December 31, 2020, the Company had 
not yet determined whether any properties contain ore reserves that are economically recoverable. 
The recoverability of amounts shown for exploration and mineral properties is dependent upon the 
discovery of economically recoverable reserves, confirmation of the Company's interest in the 
underlying mineral claims, the ability of the Company to obtain the necessary financing to complete 
the development of and future profitable production from the properties or realizing proceeds from 
their disposition. 
 
MINERAL PROPERTY INTERESTS 
 
The technical information in this disclosure has been reviewed by Darren L. Smith, M.Sc., P.Geo., 
Vice President of Exploration for the Company, a Permit holder with the Ordre des Géologues du 
Québec and Qualified Person as defined by National Instrument 43-101. 
 
USA 
Freeman Creek Property 
 
On July 24, 2020, the Company signed an Option Agreement with arm’s length vendors whereby 
the Company may acquire a 100% undivided interest in the Freeman Creek Property. Freeman 
Creek Property initially consisted of 76 mineral claims comprising a total of 635 ha located 
approximately 15 km northeast of Salmon, Idaho, USA. The Property has since been expanded by 
staking and currently consists of 106 claims totaling 886 ha. Under the terms of the Agreement, the 
Company may acquire a 100% interest in the Property by paying a total of $90,000, issuing an 
aggregate 4,000,000 common shares (the “Consideration Shares”) and 2,000,000 transferable 
common share purchase warrants, exercisable at $0.10 and expiring three years from issuance (the 
“Consideration Warrants”) as follows: 
 

• $10,000 upon signing of an option agreement (paid); 
• $40,000, 2,000,000 common shares and 1,000,000 common share purchase warrants upon 

receipt of TSX Venture Exchange (“Exchange”) approval of the Option Agreement on 
August 12, 2020 (issued and paid); and 
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• $40,000 (promissory note issued on March 3, 2021), 2,000,000 common shares and 
1,000,000 common share purchase warrants on March 23, 2021 (as amended) (issued on 
March 23, 2021). 

 
In the event that a gold equivalent resource of more than 1 million ounces is outlined within a NI 43-
101 Resource Estimate on the Property, the Company shall pay $1,000,000, payable in shares or 
cash or a combination of both, at the Company’s discretion. In the case of a share issuance, the 
shares shall be issued at a price using the average market price of the previous 30 trading days 
preceding the share issuance. 
 
The vendors shall retain a 2.5% net smelter return royalty (“NSR”) on the Property, of which the 
Company shall have the right to purchase half (1.25%) for $1,500,000. 
 
The Freeman Creek Property is located approximately 15 km northeast of Salmon, Idaho, and is 
accessible via paved highway and a network of gravel roads and trails. The Property hosts two major 
advanced targets; the Gold Dyke Prospect, with an historical drill intercept of 1.5 g/t Au and 12.1 g/t 
Ag over 44.2 m, and the Carmen Creek Prospect, with an historical outcrop sample assay of 14.15 
g/t Au, 63 g/t Ag, and 1.2% Cu. 
 
On August 31, 2020 the Company completed a Phase I surface exploration program at the Freeman 
Creek Property. Field work included prospecting and rock sampling, soil sampling, and a ground 
magnetic survey. Based initial field interpretation, the Company expanded the Property through 
staking of an additional 30 claims totaling 251 ha (news release dated September 2nd, 2020). 
Following the additional of 30 mineral claims, the Freeman Creek Property consists of an aggregate 
of 106 mineral claims totalling approximately 886 ha. 
 
On September 10, 2020 the Company found that the first batch of analytical results for samples 
collected during the recently completed Phase I surface program at Freeman Creek confirmed 
strong gold, silver, and copper mineralization at the Property including grab samples of 10 g/t Au, 
80.1 g/t Ag, and 0.72% Cu at the Gold Dyke Prospect, and 15.3 g/t Au, 41.0 g/t Ag, and 0.78% Cu 
at the Carmen Creek Prospect. The initial results also outlined a mineralized strike length at Carmen 
Creek of at least 350 m, as well as a parallel trending, potential mineralized structure. 
 
On October 6, 2020, the Company received official authorization from the Bureau of Land 
Management to commence the first phase of drilling at the Freeman Creek Property. The drill 
program focused on the Gold Dyke Prospect, including a twinning of historical drill holes RDH-8. 
 
On October 13, 2020 the Company received the remaining analytical results for samples collected 
during the recently completed Phase I surface program at Freeman Creek. The new assays confirm 
prospective target areas at both Gold Dyke and Carmen Creek that are much larger than previously 
recognized. This includes an extensive (800 m x 700 m) gold soil geochemical anomaly at Gold 
Dyke, and the discovery of multiple, closely spaced, parallel mineralized structures/vein(s) with high 
grades of precious metal mineralization at Carmen Creek, identified over a mapped strike length of 
at least 1.2 kilometres, which remains open at both ends. 
 
On October 27, 2020 the Company had collared the first drill hole of its maiden diamond drill program 
at the Gold Dyke Prospect (“Gold Dyke”) on the Company’s Freeman Creek Gold Property.  

On November 10, 2020 the Company completed a 3-day follow-up prospecting and rock sampling 
program at the Carmen Creek Prospect on the Freeman Creek Property. The objective of the 3-day 
program was to follow-up and expand upon the high-grade rock samples collected along the Carmen 
Creek Trend during the recently completed August 2020 surface exploration program on the 
Property; specifically, the Gallifrey Showing (2.02 g/t Au, 31.8 g/t Ag, and 0.76% Cu ), the Tardis 
Showing (25.5 g/t Au, 159 g/t Ag, and 9.75% Cu), and the Daleks Showing (2.00 g/t Au, 269 g/t Ag, 
and 11.4% Cu). 
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On November 12, 2020 the Company completed its maiden diamond drill program at the Freeman 
Creek Property. The drill program consisted of four (4) diamond drill holes of HQ size, totaling of 
457 m. The program focused on the Gold Dyke Prospect (“Gold Dyke”) and included a drill hole twin 
(FC20-003) of the historical drill hole RDH-8, which returned 1.5 g/t Au and 12.1 g/t Ag over 44.2 m.  

On November 24, 2020, the Company concluded its surface sample assay results from its follow-up 
3-day field program at the Carmen Creek Prospect. Results included 13.1 g/t Au, 83.6 g/t Ag, and 
0.78% Cu, as well as a new mineralized vein discovery in the eastern most explored area of the 
Carmen Creek Trend.  

On January 7, 2021, the Company sampled 5.7 g/t Au and 49 g/t Ag in outcrop at the Gold Dyke 
Prospect. The samples were collected from new exposure created during drill access trail 
construction at the Prospect. The discovery is significant as it highlights a new area of interest not 
previously recognized. The outcrop is located approximately 50 metres east of the documented 
historical drilling and more than 100 m from the nearest 2020 drill hole. 

On January 12, 2021, the Company concluded its results of the 2020 drill program at the Gold Dyke 
Prospect. The program achieved its primary objective of locating and confirming the precious-metal-
mineralized intersection reported from historical rotary drill hole RDH-8 with a 12-metre intersection 
of 4.11 g/t Au and 33 g/t Ag in FC20-003, within a wider interval of 1.12 g/t Au and 9.0 g/t Ag over 
47.6 m, starting from surface. The results of the drill program support the interpretation that a 
widespread, low-grade, gold-mineralized envelope is present at the Gold Dyke Prospect, but which 
also contains a high-grade component of unknown extent. 

On March 3, 2021, the Company amended the Freeman Creek Option agreement to accelerate the 
due date for the issuance of the 1,000,000 warrants and 2,000,000 common shares from August 
12, 2021 to March 23, 2021. These warrants and shares were issued on March 23, 2021. In addition, 
a promissory note payable of $40,000 was issued on March 3, 2021 and is due on or before August 
12, 2021 (Note 7). If the promissory note is not paid by August 12, 2021, the Company will be 
obligated to issue 500,000 to the optionor in lieu of the cash payment. Pursuant to the issuance of 
the shares and warrants, the Company is deemed to have exercised the Option and have earned a 
100% interest in and to the Property which will vest to the Company, subject to the NSR Royalty.  

On March 10, 2021, the Company has planned to complete a 16-kilometer induced polarization and 
resistivity geophysical survey at the Freeman Creek Property. The objective of the survey is to locate 
any additional and yet to be discovered parallel trending mineralized structures, as well as further 
trace them along strike. In addition, the survey will probe to depths of approximately 120 m and allow 
for further discrimination of targets along the strike of the structures. The data obtained will be 
integrated with the Company’s existing datasets and used to confirm and prioritize the initial drill 
hole plan for the Carmen Creek Prospect. 
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CANADA 
Quebec Properties 
 
On September 18, 2017, the Company entered into an agreement (the “Quebec Properties 
Agreement”) with three arm’s length parties for an option to acquire interest in 115 mineral claims 
comprising the Eastmain Property, Lac Du Beryl Property, and Corvette Property, located in the 
James Bay Region, Quebec.  Under the terms of the Agreement, the Company earned 100% interest 
by making a cash payment of $45,000 to an arm’s length party and issuing 150,000-share purchase 
warrants (50,000 each to three arm’s length parties – 500,000 each – pre-consolidation) as follows: 
 

 
 Warrants* 

 
Cash 

 # $ 
Upon closing (paid) - 12,500(1) 
Earlier of regulatory approval or within 60 days of closing 
(paid) - 32,500(1) 
Upon regulatory approval (issued) 150,000(2) - 
Total 150,000 45,000 

(1) Payable to an arm’s length party 
(2) Issuable 50,000 each to three arm’s length parties 
* Warrants were adjusted to reflect the share consolidation on October 17, 2019 
 

The regulatory approval related to the Quebec Properties Agreement was obtained from the 
Exchange on September 26, 2017.  
 
The Quebec Properties Agreement is subject to a 2% Net Smelter Return with respect to the 
production of all materials from the properties. 
 
Both the Eastmain and Lac du Beryl properties were preliminarily assessed in 2017/2018 by the 
Company using a surface prospecting reconnaissance approach with pegmatite confirmed present 
on each, although not spodumene bearing. Areas of both properties remain to be assessed, 
including the gold potential of Lac du Beryl. Since the initial property agreement, the Lac du Beryl 
Property had been expanded to comprise an additional 12 claims; however, these 12 claims were 
allowed to lapse in early 2020 and the Property is currently comprised of the original 18 claim block.  
 
At the time of the agreement, the Corvette Property was comprised of 76 mining claims totaling 
approximately 3,891 ha, located in the James Bay region of Québec, in the Province of Québec, 
less than 12 km south of the Trans-Taiga all-weather gravel highway, within the Lac Guyer 
Greenstone Belt. The Corvette Property has been optioned to the Company pursuant to the terms 
and conditions of the Québec Properties Agreement and is subject to the Québec Properties NSR. 
 
On October 5, 2017, a one-day site visit to the Corvette Property confirmed the presence of 
spodumene-bearing pegmatite. Two sub-parallel trending pegmatites were found with the largest 
estimated at 150 m in length by 30 in width. Samples returned 3.48% Li2O from the larger pegmatite, 
and 1.22% Li2O from the smaller one.  
 
On September 11, 2018, the Company announced channel sampling results from Corvette, 
including 2.28% Li2O over 6 m and 1.54% Li2O over 8 m, with a new spodumene-bearing discovery 
on the Property returning 1.61% Li2O. The discovery prompted the acquisition of additional claims 
and the Corvette Property is now comprised of 172 claims totaling 8,808 ha, forming one contiguous 
claim block. The program also identified significant grades of tantalum from the pegmatites. The 
2018 program focused on lithium exploration and not the gold or base metal potential of the Property.  
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No surface exploration was completed on the Eastmain or Lac du Beryl properties in 2019 or 2020. 
Due to restrictions as a result of COVID-19, the Quebec Minister of Energy and Natural Resources 
has extended the expiry date of all active mineral claims in the province by 12 months. This includes 
the Eastmain and Lac du Beryl claims, which now all have expiry dates in summer 2021.  
 

FCI Property (East and West blocks) 

 
On September 4, 2018, the Company entered into an Option Agreement (the “Agreement”) with 
Osisko Mining Inc. (“Osisko”) to acquire up to a 75% interest in 28 mineral claims (“FCI East”) directly 
adjoining the Company’s 100% owned Corvette Property. The claims comprise the eastern portion 
of Osisko’s FCI Property and located in the James Bay Region of Quebec, approximately 10 
kilometers’ south of the all-season Trans-Taiga Road and powerline infrastructure corridor.  
 
Under the terms of the Agreement, the Company would earn an initial 50% interest by issuing 
200,000 common shares (2,000,000 pre-consolidated) to Osisko and incurring $2,250,000 work 
exploration expenditures as follows: 
 
 Common 

Shares* 
Work exploration 

expenditures 
 # $ 
Upon closing date of the Agreement (issued) 
(September 14, 2018)  100,000 - 
On or before the 1st anniversary date of closing 
(issued) (September 14, 2019) 100,000 250,000 
 

To earn an initial 25% undivided interest 
On or before the 2nd anniversary date of closing 
(November 3, 2021, as amended) - 800,000 
 

To earn an additional 25% undivided interest 

(50% interest in total) 
On or before the 3rd anniversary date of closing 
(November 3, 2022, as amended) - 1,200,000 
Total 200,000 2,250,000  

 
 
Osisko will act as Operator of the FCI Property for the term of the 50% earn-in, with a Steering 
Committee of equal representation formed to provide advice and direction to the Operator. Upon 
completion of the 50% earn-in (third anniversary of TSX-V approval (or closing), a Joint Venture 
Corporation will be formed with the Company retaining an Option to acquire a further 25% interest, 
for a total of 75% undivided interest, through funding of the next $2,000,000 in exploration 
expenditures. The Company may become Operator upon notice to Osisko that it intends to incur the 
$2,000,000 in work expenditures for a final undivided interest of 75%. Osisko’s remaining 25% 
interest may be further reduced through dilution if they elect to not fund their portion of subsequent 
exploration/development. If ownership falls below 10%, Osisko will have the right to convert this 
remaining interest into a 1% Net Smelter Royalty (NSR), of which, the Company retains the right to 
buy for $5,000,000 (cash or shares), and thereby, would obtain a 100% undivided interest in the FCI 
Property. 
 
The FCI Property is subject to a 1.5% to 3.5% sliding scale NSR royalty from the production of 
precious metals. The royalty is primarily based on amount of production with 1.5% on the first 1M 
oz, 2.5% on the next 1M oz and 3.0% on the next 1M oz of and above. The remaining 0.5% royalty 
is based on the spot gold price starting at US$1,000 / oz and reaches the maximum at $2,000 / oz.  
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A 2.0% NSR royalty is present on all other products; provided however that if there is an existing 
royalty applicable on any portion of the property, then the percentages noted above (i.e. the sliding 
scale NSR) shall, as applicable, be adjusted so that the aggregate maximum royalty percentage on 
such portion shall not exceed and be capped to 3.5% at any time. 
 
On April 23, 2019, the Company and Osisko entered into an amended agreement (the “April 
Amendment Agreement”) to include an additional 83 mineral claims totaling approximately 4,253 ha 
(collectively, the “FCI West Claims”) under the same terms and conditions as the FCI Property 
Option Agreement. No additional Common Shares, cash, or work commitment is required by the 
Company under the terms of the April Amendment Agreement, apart from general claim 
maintenance. Following the April Amendment Agreement, the FCI Property was comprised of 111 
mineral claims totaling approximately 5,687 ha. 
 
The FCI East, FCI West, and Corvette properties are contiguous and, collectively, are referred to as 
the Corvette-FCI Property and extend for more than 25 kilometres along the Lac Guyer Greenstone 
Belt within the James Bay Region of Quebec.  
 
Subsequent to the Agreement, the FCI Property was included in a corporate restructuring and spin-
out of assets from Osisko into a new public company called O3 Mining Inc. (“O3 Mining”), which 
began trading on the TSX Venture Exchange on July 9, 2019. The FCI Agreement was transferred 
from Osisko to O3 Mining at this time. Therefore, O3 Mining is now the Optionor and Operator of 
the Property and all other terms and conditions of the Agreement remaining unchanged.  
 
During the year ended March 31, 2020, the Company provided a total of $297,701 (total from the 
start cumulative of $414,698) as cash call to Osisko/O3 Mining. Both parties have completed 
sufficient work expenditures to satisfy Year 1 of the Agreement. On September 19, 2019, the 
Company issued 100,000 common shares (1,000,000 – pre-consolidation) at $0.30 per share. 
 
Exploration of the Corvette and FCI Properties 
 
On June 19, 2019, the Company announced its exploration plans for the Corvette and FCI properties 
(collectively, the “Corvette-FCI Property”), consisting of surface exploration comprised primarily of 
prospecting, rock sampling, and soil sampling along the gold and copper exploration trends identified 
from historical work 
 
On September 10th, 17th, and 24th, 2019, the Company announced assay results for its 2019 summer 
field program at Corvette-FCI, along with several significant discoveries. The primary objectives of 
the program were to sample, expand upon, and rank the known historical prospects/showings, and 
to discover new areas of mineralization. Program highlights include: 

1. Elsass copper-gold-silver prospect -- new discovery of well-mineralized outcrops over an 
approximate 350-m strike length with assays including 3.63% Cu, 0.64 g/t Au and 52.3 g/t 
Ag; 

2. Lorraine copper-gold-silver prospect -- new outcrop discovery approximately 2.3 km along 
trend of the Elsass Prospect with assays including 8.15% Cu, 1.33 g/t Au and 171 g/t Ag; 

3. Several new high-grade copper-gold-silver areas discovered, including the Black Forrest 
Showing with 1.13% Cu, 0.05 g/t Au and 19.5 g/t Ag, and the Hund Showing with 3.28% 
Cu, 0.78 g/t Au and 30.1 g/t  Ag. 

4. Lac Bruno gold prospect -- new outcrop discovery assaying 1.4 g/t Au located up-ice of 
boulder field (2019 sample of 11.9 g/t Au) with soil sample results providing further 
vectoring toward a potential source; 

5. Golden Gap prospect -- potential western extension identified through several new gold 
discoveries in outcrop with assays including 1.87 g/t Au and 2.81 g/t Au. 
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6. Numerous lithium-bearing pegmatites occur within a corridor exceeding 25 kilometres in 
length; 

7. Southwest of CV1-2, newly discovered CV5 and CV6 pegmatites include a large, well-
mineralized exposure of approximately 220 m by 20 to 40 m (CV5), with eight samples 
averaging 3% Li2O and 154 ppm Ta2O5, including a peak assay of 4.06% Li2O and 564 
ppm Ta2O5; 

8. CV7 -- discovery to the northwest of CV1 with assay of 4.44% Li2O and 195 ppm Ta2O5; 

9. CV8 -- large area of outcrop exposure with assay of 4.44% Li2O and 205 ppm Ta2O5; 

10. CV9 and CV10 -- located in northwest area of FCI West, with mineralized outcrops present 
over at least a 300 m strike length and multiple assays greater than 2% Li2O to a peak of 
4.72% Li2O; 

11. CV11 -- high-grade tantalum pegmatite with assay of 0.66% Li2O and 386 ppm Ta2O5 

 
On December 11, 2019, the Company announced that it had initiated a review and re-processing of 
IP-resistivity data using modern techniques for historical surveys completed at the Corvette-FCI 
Property. In addition to the IP resistivity work, a structural analysis of the 2005 airborne magnetic 
survey would also be completed to identify primary and secondary structures that may control gold 
mineralization. 
 
On February 4, 2020, the Company announced that a historical data compilation had outlined a 
strong potential for platinum group element (PGE) mineralization on the FCI Property. This was 
highlighted by the Lac Long Sud Showing with a historical outcrop sample assay of 3.10 g/t Au, 1.06 
g/t Pd, 0.005 g/t Pt, 7.5 g/t Ag, 0.24% Cu, 0.19% Ni, and 411 g/t Co. 
 
On April 16, 2020, the Company announced several significant findings had been made following 
the re-processing of historical ground IP-resistivity data collected from the Golden Gap area on the 
FCI Property. The work highlighted - 1) A distinctly different and yet to be drill tested trend of 
mineralization at Golden Gap, compared to the historical interpretation; 2) Additional strike 
extensions are present; and 3) Additional parallel to sub-parallel trends are present. 
 
On July 6, 2020, the Company declared Force Majeure on the FCI Property due to COVID-19 and 
the agreement was paused for a period of approximately 50 days, resulting in a revised Anniversary 
Date of November 5, 2020 for Year 2. The Company notes that it has already incurred approximately 
$412,000 of the $1,050,000 in exploration expenditures which are required under the current Option 
Agreement, to be spent by the Year 2 anniversary date.  
 
On November 3, 2020 the Company declared Force Majeure due to COVID-19 and had engaged 
with O3 Mining to construct a mutually agreeable path forward for the parties with respect to the FCI 
Property Option Agreement.  
 
On January 26, 2021 the Company and O3 Mining finalized an agreement whereby the second 
anniversary expenditure amount of $800,000 with an original deadline of November 3, 2020 was 
extended to November 3, 2021. Additionally, the Company will issue 500,000 common shares to O3 
upon exchange approval of the amended agreement. 
 
In addition, due to restrictions as a result of COVID-19, the Quebec Minister of Energy and Natural 
Resources has extended the expiry date of all active mineral claims in the province by 12 months. 
This includes the Corvette and FCI claims, which now all have expiry dates in summer 2021 or later. 
No field work was completed in 2020 on the Corvette or FCI claims 
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Pontax Lithium - Gold Property 
 
On July 25, 2016, and as amended on November 27, 2017, the Company entered into an agreement 
(the “Pontax Agreement”) with arm’s length parties for an option to acquire 100% interest in 104 
mineral claims near Eastmain, Quebec by way of issuing 300,000 common shares valued at 
$360,000 and cash of $50,000. 

 
Regulatory approval for the Pontax Agreement was obtained on September 20, 2016. The Pontax 
Agreement is subject to a 3% Net Smelter Royalty (“NSR”). The Company can purchase 1.5% NSR 
within 5 years of regulatory approval by paying $2,000,000 to an arm’s length party. 
 
On June 12 ,2018, the Company completed a 1,094 line-km high-resolution magnetic survey over 
the entire Pontax Property. The survey was completed at a tight line spacing of 60 m with lines 
oriented northwest-southeast, crossing perpendicular to the geology. The survey was successful 
and numerous target features identified. Subsequent to the survey, the Company expanded its land 
position, though online map designation, with the Pontax Property now comprised of 146 claims 
totaling 7,773 ha.   
 
On October 25, 2018, the Company announced results of its 2018 surface exploration program. The 
program resulted in the discovery of a new lithium-bearing pegmatite occurrence on the Property 
(claim Block C). Two grab samples (129364 and 129366) of the pegmatite returned assays of 0.94% 
Li2O and 520 ppm Ta2O5, and 0.72% Li2O and 87 ppm Ta2O5, respectively. Spodumene is 
indicated to be the primary lithium-bearing mineral present based on other occurrences in the area. 
Initial reconnaissance-scale prospecting of gold targets was also carried out during the program. 
Assay results ranged from nil to 141 ppb Au with the peak assay returned from a gossanous wacke 
rock type. Several areas of the Property, as well as geophysical targets, remain to be assessed.  
 
No surface exploration was completed on the Pontax Property in 2019 or 2020. Due to restrictions 
as a result of COVID-19, the Quebec Minister of Energy and Natural Resources has extended the 
expiry date of all active mineral claims in the province by 12 months. This includes the Pontax claims, 
which now all have expiry dates in the summer of 2021.  
 
In March 2021, the Pontax Lithium-Gold Property was expanded via map designation claim staking, 
and an additional 23 mineral claims (1,223.2 ha) were acquired. The new claims are situated directly 
adjacent to the east, west, and south of claim Block C, where in 2018 a new lithium-tantalum 
pegmatite was discovered. Two grab samples collected from the pegmatite occurrence assayed 
0.94% Li2O and 520 ppm Ta2O5, and 0.72% Li2O and 87 ppm Ta2O5, respectively. The Pontax 
Lithium-Gold Property now consists of 169 mineral claims totalling 8996.23 ha over three claim 
blocks. 
 
Northwest Territories 
 
Hidden Lake Lithium Property 
 
On February 16, 2016, and as amended on November 27, 2017, the Company entered into an 
Agreement (the “Agreement”) with three arm’s length parties for an option to acquire interest in two 
mineral claims located northeast of Yellowknife, Northwest Territories.  Under the terms of the 
Agreement, the Company earned 100% interest by way of issuing 400,000 common shares valued 
at $380,000, cash of $85,000, and total exploration expenditures of $500,000. At the time of the 
agreement, the Hidden Lake Lithium Property was comprised of two mineral claims totaling 1,100 
ha. The property now consists of five claims totaling 1,660 ha.  
 
The regulatory approval related to the Hidden Lake Lithium Agreement was obtained from the 
Exchange on April 21, 2016.   
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Hidden Lake Property is subject to 2% Net Smelter Royalty with respect to the production of all 
material from the property, 1% of which can be purchased back from an arm’s length party by the 
Company within 5 years of the regulatory approval for $2,000,000 (the “Royalty”). 
 

Option-out Agreement 

 

On January 22, 2018, the Company entered into an agreement to option out up to 90% of their 
interest in the Hidden Lake Property to Far Resources Ltd. (“Far”) (the “Hidden Lake Option Out 
Agreement”), except for the Royalty. The Company then received 500,000 common shares of Far 
having an aggregate amount equal to $500,000 at an issue price of $0.90 per share. During the year 
ended March 31, 2018, 555,555 common shares were issued to the Company with a fair value of 
$227,777 (Note 7). In addition, expenditures of $500,000 were incurred on or before February 28, 
2019 as part of the original agreement. 
 
On May 16, 2019, Far Resources Ltd. had formally notified the Company of its intention to terminate 
its remaining earn-in for the Hidden Lake Property, originally announced January 22, 2018, and 
therefore maintains a 60-per-cent interest earned through satisfying the year 1 conditions of the 
Option Agreement. Therefore, the Company maintains a 40-per-cent interest in Hidden Lake and a 
joint venture between the companies will be formed for future exploration of the property. In addition, 
under the terms of the agreement, Far Resources will remain as Operator and is responsible for 
financing the Joint Venture's initial $1 million in expenditures. 
 
No field exploration was completed at Hidden Lake in 2019 or 2020, primarily due to current lithium 
market conditions. The Hidden Lake claims are in good standing until September 30th, 2026.   
 
Upper Ross Lake Property  
 
On July 7, 2016, the Company staked 2 claims totaling 57 hectares in Upper Ross Lake, Northwest 
Territories. The Company decided to strategically focus on its other lithium assets and the Property 
has since lapsed. During the year ended March 31, 2020, the Company recognized impairment loss 
of $18,592 relating to this property.    
 
 
British Columbia 
 
Golden Silica Property (formerly referred to as “ZimFrac” or “Golden Frac Sand”) 
 
On January 27, 2014, the Company entered into a sale and purchase agreement (the “ZimFrac 
Agreement”) with two arm’s length parties (collectively, the “Vendors”) and purchased from the 
Vendors a 100% interest in certain silica claims located near Golden, BC (the “ZimFrac Property”). 
In consideration, the Company issued 40,000 common shares (20,000 common shares to each one 
of two arm’s length parties issued on February 6, 2014 – 200,000 each – pre-consolidation), subject 
to a 2% Net Smelter Royalty (“NSR”).  The Company also issued 4,000 common shares (40,000 – 
pre-consolidation) in 2014 with a fair value of $2.50 per share as finder’s fee. 

 
The Company can purchase up to 1% NSR by paying an aggregate sum of $1,000,000 ($500,000 
to each of two arm’s length parties). 

 
The ZimFrac Agreement received regulatory approval on February 6, 2014. 
 
On March 3, 2017, the Company entered into an agreement (the “Golden Frac Sand Agreement”) 
with two arm’s length parties to purchase a 100% interest in certain mineral claims located near 
Golden, BC (the “Golden Frac Sand Property”) to expand the size of the ZimFrac Property. In 
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consideration, the Company paid $40,000 ($20,000 payable to Dahrouge and $20,000 payable to 
an arm’s length party) within five days of signing the Golden Frac Sand Agreement on March 17, 
2017. 

 
The Property has a Gross Over-Riding Royalty of 2% payable to an arm’s length party in the revenue 
from the sale of the production. The Company can purchase 1% of the GORR for $2,000,000 at any 
time. 
 
Between July 25 and 28, 2018, the Company completed a geologic mapping and sampling program 
on the property targeting the Mount Wilson Formation. A total of 18 samples of quartzite were 
collected with 8 returning greater than 98% SiO2 and 5 returning less than 0.1% Fe2O3. Large areas 
of the property remain to be assessed. 
 
No field exploration was completed at Golden Silica in 2019 or 2020. Due to restrictions as a result 
of COVID-19, British Columbia’s Ministry of Energy, Mines, and Petroleum Resources has extended 
the expiry date of all active mineral titles in the province until December 31st, 2021, and therefore 
includes the Golden Silica claims.  
 
The Golden Silica Property (i.e. the “ZimFrac-Will Property”) currently consists of 8 claims totalling 
5,296 ha as additional ground was staked subsequent to the original option agreement.  

 
Silver Sands Vanadium Property 
 
On November 13, 2018, the Company entered into an agreement with an arm’s length party to 
acquire 100% interest in Silver Sands Vanadium Property (the “Silver Sands”), located in the Pine 
Pass area of eastern British Columbia. The Silver Sands Vanadium Property consists of five claims 
and covers 3,735 hectares directly east of the Pine Pass Vanadium Project held by Ethos Gold 
Corp., which is located about 200 km north of Prince George, British Columbia. 
 
The Silver Sands Vanadium Property contains the same geological formations prospective for 
vanadium mineralization that is known within the region. Silver Sands is within close proximity to the 
well-established infrastructure corridor of Pine Pass, which includes the Highway 97, Canadian 
National Railway and high-voltage powerlines and natural gas pipelines. 
 
Pursuant to the agreement, the Company will acquire a 100% interest in Silver Sands by paying 
staking costs of $15,000. The vendor will retain a 2% Net Smelter Return on the Property. 
 
As at December 31, 2020, the Company has incurred the total of $14,776 (March 31, 2019 - 
$12,643) mineral expenditures pursuant to the agreement. 
 
In March 2019, the Company was informed by the Province of British Columbia that it was an 
impacted stakeholder with respect to Silver Sands through a recently negotiated agreement between 
several local First Nations, and the Provincial and Federal governments. The agreement outlines 
proposed measures for conservation and recovery efforts for caribou and includes the area of Silver 
Sands. The Company is assessing the potential impacts/resolutions. Silver Sands is considered a 
non-core asset by the Company.   
 
No field exploration was completed at Silver Sands in 2019 or 2020. Due to restrictions as a result 
of COVID-19, British Columbia’s Ministry of Energy, Mines, and Petroleum Resources has extended 
the expiry date of all active mineral titles in the province until December 31st, 2021, and therefore 
includes the Silver Sands claims. 
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SUMMARY OF QUARTERLY RESULTS 
 
The following is a summary of the Company’s financial results for the eight most recent quarters:  
 

Quarter Ended   Revenue   
Loss for the 

period   

Basic and 
diluted loss per 

share 
              

March 31, 2019               -           (307,989)               (0.01) 
June 30, 2019               -           (218,090)               (0.00) 

September 30, 2019               -             (38,738)               (0.01) 
December 31, 2019               -             (74,087)               (0.01) 

March 31, 2020               -           (198,041)               (0.04) 
June 30, 2020               -             (69,547)               (0.00) 

September 30, 2020               -           (225,138)               (0.01) 
December 31, 2020               -           (268,595)               (0.01) 

              
  
 
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 
 
Operational activities: 
 

The Company incurred a net loss of $563,280 for the period ended December 31, 2020, as 
compared to $330,915 for the period ended December 31, 2019. Total expenses of $563,294 for 
the period ended December 31, 2020 (2019 - $557,417), related primarily to consulting, 
management and administration fees, rent, share-based compensation, and transfer agent and filing 
fees.  
 
The primary differences on the overall net loss between the period ended December 31, 2020 and 
2019 are: other income of $Nil (2019 - $226,391), business development expenses of $46,334 (2019 
- $26,011), consulting fees of $111,113 (2019 - $140,160), and management and administration 
fees of $157,431 (2019 - $138,965). 
 
During the period ended December 31, 2019, other income pertained to flow-through income from 
funds raised in 2018. There was no such income in the current period.  
 
Consulting fees relate to the Company’s current and prospective exploration projects as well as 
payments to the Corporate Secretary (see RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS). Consulting fees 
decreased as a result of lower level of activities due to the COVID-19 pandemic. 
 
Business development expenses relate to various advertising initiatives such as a feature on a 
website for news on mining companies.  
 
Management fees relate to both administrative and strategic management services for the 
Company. Management services are provided by the Chief Executive Officer and by a company 
controlled by the Chief Financial Officer (see RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS). The increase 
was due to additional compensation during the period. 
 
All other costs in the current period are comparable to that of the corresponding period in 2019. 
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Cash flow activities: 
 
For the period ended December 31, 2020, the Company experienced a net decrease in its cash 
position of $38,784 (2019 – $410,664). Cash inflows consisted of funds provided by financing 
activities totalling $1,130,440 (2019 – $414,360). The cash inflow is primarily attributed to the share 
subscription proceeds received relating to the private placements closed on July 17, 2020 and on 
August 26, 2020 (see Liquidity and Capital Resources). In addition, inflows can also be attributed to 
the warrant exercises that have occurred throughout the period. Last year, inflows for the same 
period were pursuant to proceeds received from options exercised.  
 
Significant cash outflows consisted of the cash used in operating activities of $402,873 
(2019 – $357,571). The cash used in operating activities is higher than that of the same period in 
2019 by 13%. This is primarily due to the Company incurring a greater loss than that of the same 
period in 2019    
 
Cash used in investing activities amounted to $766,351 (2019 - $467,453) consisting of exploration 
and evaluation expenditures. The cash used in investing activities is greater than that of the same 
period in 2019 by 64%. The increase in cash used in investing activities is primarily due to the 
addition of the new mineral property and its ongoing exploration activities.  
 
As the Company is an exploration company, it does not receive, nor does it anticipate receiving any 
revenue in the next fiscal year. The Company’s interests do not currently generate cash flow from 
operations and, in order to continue operations and fund its expenditure commitments, it is 
dependent on equity financing through existing and new shareholders, third party financing, and 
cost sharing arrangements to fund its work programs and operations. 
 

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES 
 
As at December 31, 2020, the Company had cash and cash equivalents of $217,105 
(March 31, 2020 - $255,889) and working capital of $180,167 (March 31, 2020 – $239,009).  Some 
of the factors affecting the Company’s liquidity are: 
 

• The Company will have to incur ongoing costs to maintain its properties and plans to 
undertake exploration programs that will consume cash. 

• As disclosed in note 7 of the December 31, 2020 financial statements, the Company has 
commitments to make option payments and complete minimum exploration expenditures if 
it is to retain its properties (see MINERAL PROPERTY INTERESTS). 
 

As at December 31, 2020, there were 30,192,817 common shares, 2,672,400 stock options and 
16,917,451 warrants outstanding.  
 
As of report date, the Company has 32,692,817 common shares, 2,672,400 stock options and 
17,917,451 warrants outstanding. 
 
As at December 31, 2020, the Company had not advanced its exploration and evaluation properties 
to commercial production. The Company’s continuation as a going concern is dependent upon 
successful results from exploration activities on its mineral properties and its ability to attain 
profitable operations and generate cash from its operations in the foreseeable future.  As at 
December 31, 2020, the Company has an accumulated deficit of $8,675,983 since inception, and is 
expected to incur further losses in the development of its business. The Company will have to rely 
on the issuance of shares or the exercise of options and warrants to fund ongoing operations and 
investment. The ability of the Company to raise capital will depend on market conditions and it may 
not be possible for the Company to issue shares on acceptable terms or at all.  
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During and after the nine months ended December 31, 2020, the COVID-19 pandemic has caused 
significant and negative impact to the global financial market. The approach to the Company’s 
exploration activities for the year 2020 have been adapted to fit with this evolving situation. Further, 
the exploration team is familiar with remote office work conditions as the exploration industry lends 
itself naturally to remote management. The Company is now in the late stages of planning its 
summer-fall field programs and with the COVID-19 conditions and restrictions for exploration of its 
properties now well known, the Company has been able to adapt its programs to ensure team safety, 
and local community safety, while maintaining its exploration objectives. The Company continues to 
monitor and assess the impact on its business activities. The full impact is uncertain, and it is difficult 
to reliably measure the extent of the effect of the COVID-19 pandemic on future financial results. 
 
Transactions during the period ended December 31, 2020: 
 
Shares and Warrants 

 
On July 17, 2020, the Company closed a non-brokered private placement, pursuant to which the 
Company issued 8,040,000 units at a price of $0.075 per unit for gross proceeds of $603,000.  Each 
unit is comprised of one common share and one transferable share purchase warrant, exercisable 
for a period of 24 months at a price of $0.12 per share. In relation to this private placement, the 
Company paid finder’s fees of $19,410 and issued 258,800 finder’s warrants. Each finder’s warrant 
is exercisable for a period of 24 months at a price of $0.12 per share. 
 
On August 26, 2020, the Company closed a non-brokered private placement, pursuant to which the 
Company issued 3,000,000 common shares at a price of $0.12 per unit for gross proceeds of 
$360,000.  Each unit is comprised of one common share and one transferable share purchase 
warrant, exercisable for a period of 36 months at a price of $0.18 per share.  
 
On August 12, 2020, the Company issued 2,000,000 shares at $0.155 per share and 1,000,000 3-
year share purchases warrants exercisable at $0.10 for the acquisition of the Freeman Creek 
Property (Note 7). 
 
During the period ended December 31, 2020, there were 2,364,000 shares issued for warrants 
exercised at an average price of $0.09. 
 
Options 

 

On July 27, 2020, the Company has granted 792,400 incentive stock options to officers, directors 
and consultants of the Company. The Options are exercisable at $0.14 per share for a period of two 
years from the date of grant.  The Options have been granted under and are governed by the terms 
of the Company's incentive stock option plan. 
 
On October 13, 2020, 360,000 stock options were cancelled. These options were held by directors, 
a company controlled by the Chief Financial Officer, and a company controlled by the Corporate 
Secretary. 
 
On November 19, 2020, the Company granted an aggregate of 1,000,000 incentive stock options to 
officers, directors, and consultants of the Company. Each option is exercisable into one additional 
common share at $0.10 per share until November 19, 2023 and vested immediately on the date of 
grant. 
 
During the nine months ended December 31, 2020, a total of 197,500 stock options expired 
unexercised. 
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Year ended March 31, 2020 
 
Shares and Warrants 

 
On December 2, 2019, the Company closed a non-brokered private placement financing for gross 
proceeds of $412,200 by issuing 5,888,571 units at a price of $0.07 per unit. Each unit is comprised 
of one common share and one transferable share purchase warrant, with each warrant entitling the 
holder to purchase one additional common share of the Company for a period of up to thirty-nine 
months at a price of $0.09 in the first year, $0.15 in the second year and $0.20 in the third year. In 
connection with the private placement, the Company paid a finder’s fee of $7,840 in cash. 
 
On September 19, 2019, the Company issued 100,000 common shares (1,000,000 – pre-
consolidation) at $0.30 per share for the acquisition of the FCI Property (See MINERAL PROPERTY 
INTERESTS). 
 
On August 1, 2019, 167,500 warrants (1,675,000 – pre-consolidation) expired unexercised. 
 
On April 25, 2019, the Company issued 20,000 common shares (200,000 – pre-consolidation) for 
gross proceeds of $10,000 for options exercised. 
 
Options 

 
On February 3, 2020, the Company has granted 80,000 incentive stock options to an officer of the 
Company. Each Option is exercisable into one additional common share at $0.09 per share until 
February 3, 2023 and vested immediately on the date of grant. The fair value of the options was 
determined to be $5,240. Share-based payments were estimated using the Black-Scholes pricing 
model with stock price of $0.08, volatility 180.26%, risk-free rate 1.69%, dividend yield 0%, and 
expected life of 3 years. 
 
On January 29, 2020, 80,000 stock options granted to a consultant were cancelled. 
 
On January 13, 2020, 45,000 stock options granted to a former director were cancelled. 
 
On January 14, 2020, the Company has granted an aggregate of 675,000 incentive stock options to 
officers, directors and consultants of the Company. Each Option is exercisable into one additional 
common share at $0.09 per share until January 24, 2023 and vested immediately on the date of 
grant. The fair value of the options was determined to be $60,268. Share-based payments were 
estimated using the Black-Scholes pricing model with stock price of $0.10, volatility 181.45%, risk-
free rate 1.69%, dividend yield 0%, and expected life of 3 years. 
 
On September 4, 2019, the Company granted a total of 100,000 stock options (1,000,000 – pre-
consolidation) to a consultant of the Company. Each stock option is exercisable into one additional 
common share at $0.50 per share until September 4, 2020 and vested immediately on the date of 
grant. The Company recognized $26,623 as share-based payments on the statement of loss and 
comprehensive loss on the grant of the stock options. The fair value of $26,623 share-based 
payments was estimated using the Black-Scholes pricing model with estimated, stock price of $0.50, 
volatility 144.07%, risk-free rate 1.35%, dividend yield 0%, and expected life of 1 year. 
 
On August 1, 2019, 30,000 (300,000 – pre-consolidation) options expired unexercised. 
 
On May 2, 2019, the Company granted a total of 250,000 (pre-consolidation - 2,500,000) stock 
options to a consultant, officers and directors of the Company. Each stock option is exercisable into 
one additional common share at $0.60 per share until May 2, 2022 and vested immediately on the 
date of grant. The Company recognized $119,041 as share-based payments on the statement of 
comprehensive loss on the grant of the stock options. The fair value of $119,041 share-based 
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payments was estimated using the Black-Scholes pricing model with estimated, stock price of $0.60, 
volatility 144.22%, risk-free rate 1.61%, dividend yield 0%, and expected life of 3 years. 
 
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
During the period ended December 31, 2020, the Company incurred the following related party 
transactions measured at exchange amounts, which were the amounts agreed upon by the 
transacting parties and are on terms and conditions similar to those for arm’s length transactions: 
 
Nine months ended December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019 
Expenses paid or accrued to directors of the Company, 
senior officers and companies with common directors:     

Management and administration fees  $                  197,431   $                138,148  
Consulting fees                        22,500  22,500 
Share based payments                        91,218  95,233                         

Total related party expenses by type  $                  311,149   $                255,881  

The amounts due to related parties are amounts due to directors and officers. The balances are 
unsecured, non-interest bearing and have no specific terms for repayment. 

As at December 31, 2020, the Company has $5,590 (March 31, 2020 - $379) due to the Corporate 
Secretary reported as part of accounts payable.  

As at December 31, 2020, management fees and benefits paid to a company controlled by the  Chief 
Financial Officer amounting to $5,000 (2019 - $5,348), and to the Chief Executive Officer amounting 
to $7,500 (2019 - $7,857) were recorded as prepaid expenses. 
 
 
Key management personnel compensation 

 
The Company considers its President, Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer and 
Corporate Secretary to be key management. During the period ended December 31, 2020, the 
Company incurred $311,149 (2019 – $255,881) in compensation expenses broken down as follows: 
 

Nine months ended December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019 
CEO  $                  105,523  $                   116,128  
CFO                        82,976                         93,444  
Corporate Secretary                        32,074                         34,404  
President and Director                        73,232                               -    
Paul Chung, Director                          9,574                         11,904  
Todd Hanas, Director                          7,770                               -    

Total related party expenses by key 
management personnel  $                  311,149   $                   255,881  
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Management fees are broken down as follows: 
 

Nine months ended December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019 
CEO  $                    89,989   $                    80,416  
CFO                        67,441                         57,732  
President and Director 40,000 - 

Total management fees by key 
management personnel  $                  197,431   $                   138,148  

 
Consulting fees of $22,500 are paid to the Corporate Secretary (2019 – $22,500). 
 
Share-based compensation is broken down as follows: 
 

Nine months ended December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019 
Adrian Lamoureux, CEO  $                    15,535   $                    35,712  
Dusan Berka, CFO                        15,535                         35,712  
Kelly Pladson, Corporate Secretary                          9,574                         11,904  
Blair Way, President and Director                        33,232                               -    
Paul Chung, Director                          9,574                         11,904  
Todd Hanas, Director                          7,768                               -    

Total share-based compensation by 
key management personnel  $                    91,218   $                    95,233  

 
COMMITMENTS 
 
The Company has certain commitments related to key management compensation for $26,500 per 
month with no specific expiry of terms. 
 
The Company appointed a director as president and is bound by a consulting agreement (“the 
agreement”). Per the agreement, in the event of termination of the agreement, the Company will be 
liable to pay: the remaining balance of fees and a lump sum equal to 12 months of the standing 
monthly management fee expense. 
 
The Company has certain commitments in connection with its mineral properties as described in 
Note 7 to the financial statements. 
 
CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 
 
For a detailed summary of the Company’s significant accounting policies, the readers are directed 
to Note 3 of the Notes to the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended March 31, 
2020 that are available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. 
 
OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS 
 

The Company has not entered into any material off-balance sheet arrangements. 
 
PROPOSED TRANSACTIONS 
 

The Company has no proposed transactions. 
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CAPITAL DISCLOSURE 
 
The Company considers its capital structure to include net residual equity of all assets, less liabilities. 
The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to (i) maintain financial flexibility in order to 
preserve its ability to meet financial obligations and continue as a going concern; (ii) maintain a 
capital structure that allows the Company to finance its growth using internally-generated cash flow 
and debt capacity; and (iii) optimize the use of its capital to provide an appropriate investment return 
to its shareholders commensurate with risk. 
 
The Company’s financial strategy is formulated and adapted according to market conditions in order 
to maintain a flexible capital structure that is consistent with its objectives and the risk characteristics 
of its underlying assets. The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in 
light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of its underlying assets. To 
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may attempt to issue new shares, acquire or 
dispose of assets, or adjust the amount of cash and cash equivalents and receivables. 
 
 
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 
The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities at amortized cost is determined in 
accordance with generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis or using 
prices from observable current market transactions.  The Company considers that the carrying 
amount of all its financial assets and financial liabilities recognized at amortized cost in the financial 
statements approximates their fair value due to the demand nature or short-term maturity of these 
instruments. 
 

• Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices in active 
markets for identical assets or liabilities. 

• Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted 
prices included within Level 1, that are observable either directly or indirectly. 

• Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that 
include inputs that are not based on observable market data.  As at  
December 31, 2020 and March 31, 2020, the Company does not have any Level 3 
financial instruments. 

 
The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, amounts receivable, 
accounts payable and accrued liabilities. 
 

 The Company’s financial instruments are exposed to certain financial risks. The risk exposures and 
the impact on the Company’s financial instruments are summarized below. 
 
Credit Risk 
 
Credit risk is the risk of loss associated with the counterparty’s inability to fulfill its payment 
obligations. Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit 
risks consist principally of cash. To minimize the credit risk the Company places these instruments 
with a high-quality financial institution. 
 
Interest Rate Risk 
 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Company considers its exposure to 
interest rate risk to be not significant. 
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Liquidity Risk 
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated 
with financial liabilities. The Company’s accounts payable and accrued liabilities are all current and 
due within 90 days of the balance sheet date. The Company ensures that it has sufficient capital to 
meet its short-term financial obligations. 
 
Foreign exchange risk 

Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the fair value of financial instruments will fluctuate due to 
changes in foreign exchange rates. The Company does not have significant foreign exchange risk 
as the majority of its transactions are in Canadian dollars. 

 
RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES 
 
The more significant risks and uncertainties not discussed elsewhere in this MD&A include:  
 
Financing Risk  
 
The Company will need to continue raising funds to finance its operations and exploration activities. 
There is no certainty that the Company will be able to raise money on acceptable terms or at all.  
 
Exploration Risk  
 
Exploration for mineral resources involves a high degree of risk. The cost of conducting exploration 
programs may be substantial and the likelihood of success is difficult to assess. Few explored 
properties are ultimately developed into producing mines. The Company attempts to mitigate its 
exploration risk by maintaining a diversified portfolio that includes several different exploration 
prospects in a number of favorable geologic environments.  
 
Metal Price Risk  
 
Even if the Company’s exploration programs are successful in locating economic deposits of 
minerals or precious metals, factors beyond the Company’s control may affect the value and 
marketability of such deposits. Natural resource prices have wide historic fluctuations due to many 
factors, including inflation, currency fluctuations, interest rates, consumption trends and local and 
worldwide financial market conditions. The prices of such natural resources greatly affect the value 
of the Company and the potential value of its properties. This, in turn, greatly affects its ability to 
form joint ventures and the structure of any joint ventures formed.  
 
Environmental Risk  
 
The Company seeks to operate within environmental protection standards that meet or exceed 
existing requirements in the countries in which the Company operates. Present or future laws and 
regulations, however, may affect the Company’s operations. Future environmental costs may 
increase due to changing requirements or costs associated with exploration and the developing, 
operating and closing of mines. Programs may also be delayed or prohibited in some areas. 
Although minimal at this time, site restoration costs are a component of exploration expenditures. 
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Public Health Crisis 
 
In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared a global pandemic known as COVID-19. 
The expected implications on global commerce are expected to be far reaching. This has already 
had some impact on the Company’s exploration activities as mentioned above. However, mineral 
exploration activities have been allowed in the jurisdictions where the company operates, notably 
Quebec, Canada and Idaho, USA, and conditions/restrictions on such activities have been well 
defined. The Company is confident it can complete its exploration activities in compliance with all 
jurisdictional requirements.  Part of this compliance and best practices includes an internal COVID-
19 Management Plan with exploration activities adapted to comply (e.g. physical distancing, 
questionnaires). Management continues to closely evaluate the impact of COVID-19 on the 
Company’s business. The duration and effect of the COVID-19 outbreak is unknown at this time and 
it is not possible to reliably estimate the length and severity of these developments and the impact 
on the financial results and condition of the Company in future periods. However, based on the 
framework outlined in the current environment, the Company is confident it may operate safely to 
carry out its planned exploration activities for the remainder of calendar 2020 and 2021.   
 
ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURE FOR VENTURE ISSUERS WITHOUT SIGNIFICANT REVENUE 
 
Detailed listing of exploration expenditures and a breakdown of general and administrative expenses 
are provided in the financial statements for the nine months ended December 31, 2020. 
 
 
DIRECTORS  
 
Certain directors of the Company are also directors, officers and/or shareholders of other companies 
that are similarly engaged in the business of acquiring, developing and exploring natural resource 
properties. Such associations may give rise to conflicts of interest from time to time. The directors 
of the Company are required to act in good faith with a view to the best interests of the Company 
and to disclose any interest which they may have in any project opportunity of the Company. If a 
conflict of interest arises at a meeting of the board of directors, any director in a conflict will disclose 
his/her interest and abstain from voting in the matter(s). In determining whether or not the Company 
will participate in any project or opportunity, the directors will primarily consider the degree of risk to 
which the Company may be exposed and its financial position at the time.  
 
On May 14, 2019, the Company appointed Darren L. Smith as Vice President of Exploration for the 
Company.  
 
On September 10, 2019, Mr. Robert Findlay resigned as a Director of the Company. 
 
On January 13, 2020, the Company appointed Mr. Todd Hanas as a Director of the Company. 
 
On November 3, 2020, the Company appointed Mr. Blair Way as a Director of the Company. 
 
On December 3, 2020, the Company appointed Mr. Blair Way as President while Adrian Lamoureux 
resigned as President.  
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Current Directors and Officers of the Company are as follows:  
 
Adrian Lamoureux, CEO and Director, Audit Committee member 
Dusan Berka, CFO and Director 
Blair Way, President and Director 
Paul Chung, Director, Audit Committee Chair 
Todd Hanas, Director, Audit Committee member 
Darren L. Smith, Vice President, Exploration 
Kelly Pladson, Corporate Secretary 
 
OUTLOOK 
 
The Company's primary focus for the foreseeable future will be on reviewing its financial position, 
raising funds to support exploration and operational activities, continuing exploration activities on its 
mineral properties and financing business ventures in the mineral resource industry. 
 
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
 
Additional information related to the Company can be found on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.  
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APPROVAL 

The Audit Committee of the Company has approved the disclosure contained in this Management 
Discussion and Analysis. A copy will be provided to anyone who requests it. 

 

On Behalf of Management,  

“Adrian Lamoureux” 

Adrian Lamoureux 
CEO and Director 
April 21, 2021 
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SCHEDULE D 

AUDIT COMMITTEE CHARTER 

[See Attached] 



SCHEDULE "A" 
AUDIT COMMITTEE CHARTER 

 

I.! Mandate 
 

The primary function of the audit committee (the “Committee”) is to assist the Board of Directors in fulfilling its financial 
oversight responsibilities by reviewing the financial reports and other financial information provided by the Company to 
regulatory authorities and Shareholders, the Company’s systems of internal controls regarding finance and accounting, 
and the Company’s auditing, accounting and financial reporting processes. Consistent with this function, the Committee 

will encourage continuous improvement of, and should foster adherence to, the Company’s policies, procedures and 
practices at all levels.  The Committee’s primary duties and responsibilities are to: 

 

•! Serve as an independent and objective party to monitor the Company’s financial reporting and internal control 
system and review the Company’s financial statements. 

•! Review and appraise the performance of the Company’s external auditors. 

•! Provide an open avenue of communication among the Company’s auditors, financial and senior management and 
the Board of Directors. 

 
II.! Composition 

 

The Committee shall be comprised of three directors as determined by the Board of Directors, the majority of whom shall 
be free from any relationship that, in the opinion of the Board of Directors, would interfere with the exercise of his or her 
independent judgment as a member of the Committee. 

 

At least one member of the Committee shall have accounting or related financial management expertise. All members of 
the Committee that are not financially literate will work towards becoming financially literate to obtain a working 
familiarity with basic finance and accounting practices. For the purposes of the Company’s Charter, the definition of 

“financially literate” is the ability to read and understand a set of financial statements that present a breadth and level of 
complexity of accounting issues that are generally comparable to the breadth and complexity of the issues that can 
presumably be expected to be raised by the Company’s financial statements. 

 

The members of the Committee shall be elected by the Board of Directors at its first meeting following the annual 
Shareholders’ meeting. Unless a Chair is elected by the full Board of Directors, the members of the Committee may 
designate a Chair by a majority vote of the full Committee membership. 

 

III.! Meetings 
 

The Committee shall meet a least twice annually, or more frequently as circumstances dictate. As part of its job to foster 

open communication, the Committee will meet at least annually with the Chief Financial Officer and the external auditors 
in separate sessions. 

 
IV.! Responsibilities and Duties 

 

To fulfill its responsibilities and duties, the Committee shall: 
 

Documents/Reports Review 
 

1.! Review and update this Charter annually. 
 

2.! Review the Company’s financial statements, MD&A and any annual and interim earnings, press releases before 
the Company publicly discloses this information and any reports or other financial information (including 

quarterly financial statements), which are submitted to any governmental body, or to the public, including any 
certification, report, opinion, or review rendered by the external auditors. 

 
External Auditors 

 

3.! Review annually the performance of the external auditors who shall be ultimately accountable to the Board of 
Directors and the Committee as representatives of the Shareholders of the Company. 

 
4.! Obtain annually, a formal written statement of external auditors setting forth all relationships between the 

external auditors and the Company, consistent with Independence Standards Board Standard 1. 



 

 

 
5.! Review and discuss with the external auditors any disclosed relationships or services that may impact the 

objectivity and independence of the external auditors. 
 

6.! Take, or recommend that the full Board of Directors take, appropriate action to oversee the independence of 
the external auditors. 

 

7.! Recommend to the Board of Directors the selection and, where applicable, the replacement of the external 
auditors nominated annually for Shareholder approval. 

 

8.! At each meeting, consult with the external auditors, without the presence of management, about the quality of 
the Company’s accounting principles, internal controls and the completeness and accuracy of the Company’s 
financial statements. 

 

9.! Review and approve the Company’s hiring policies regarding partners, employees and former partners and 
employees of the present and former external auditors of the Company. 

 
10.! Review with management and the external auditors the audit plan for the year-end financial statements and 

intended template for such statements. 

 
11.! Review and pre-approve all audit and audit-related services and the fees and other compensation related thereto, 

and any non-audit services, provided by the Company’s external auditors. The pre-approval requirement is 
waived with respect to the provision of non-audit services if: 
i.! the aggregate amount of all such non-audit services provided to the Company constitutes not more 

than five percent of the total amount of revenues paid by the Company to its external auditors during 

the fiscal year in which the non-audit services are provided; 
ii.! such services were not recognized by the Company at the time of the engagement to be non-audit 

services; and 
iii.! such services are promptly brought to the attention of the Committee by the Company and approved 

prior to the completion of the audit by the Committee or by one or more members of the Committee 
who are members of the Board of Directors to whom authority to grant such approvals has been 
delegated by the Committee. 

 
Provided the pre-approval of the non-audit services is presented to the Committee’s first scheduled meeting 
following such approval such authority may be delegated by the Committee to one or more independent 
members of the Committee. 

 
Financial Reporting Processes 

 

12.! In consultation with the external auditors, review with management the integrity of the Company’s financial 
reporting process, both internal and external. 

 

13.! Consider the external auditors’ judgments about the quality and appropriateness of the Company’s accounting 
principles as applied in its financial reporting. 

 
14.! Consider and approve, if appropriate, changes to the Company’s auditing and accounting principles and 

practices as suggested by the external auditors and management. 
 

15.! Review significant judgments made by management in the preparation of the financial statements and the view 
of the external auditors as to appropriateness of such judgments. 

 

16.! Following completion of the annual audit, review separately with management and the external auditors any 
significant difficulties encountered during the course of the audit, including any restrictions on the scope of 

work or access to required information. 
 

17.! Review any significant disagreement among management and the external auditors in connection with the 
preparation of the financial statements. 

 
18.! Review with the external auditors and management the extent to which changes and improvements in financial 

or accounting practices have been implemented. 
 

19.! Review any complaints or concerns about any questionable accounting, internal accounting controls or auditing 
matters. 

 

20.! Review certification process. 



 

 

 
 

21.! Establish a procedure for the confidential, anonymous submission by employees of the Company of concerns 
regarding questionable accounting or auditing matters. 

 
Risk Management 

 

22.! To review, at least annually, and more frequently if necessary, the Company’s policies for risk assessment and 
risk management (the identification, monitoring, and mitigation of risks). 

 

23.! To inquire of management and the independent auditor about significant business, political, financial and 
control risks or exposure to such risk. 

 
24.! To request the external auditor’s opinion of management’s assessment of significant risks facing the Company 

and how effectively they are being managed or controlled. 
 

25.! To assess the effectiveness of the over-all process for identifying principal business risks and report thereon to 
the Board. 

 

Other 
 

26.! Review any related-party transactions. 
 

V.! Annual Work Plan 
Spring Fall 

Review audit plan and year-end statements template ! " 

Review accounting systems and procedures ! " 

Review auditors’ letter of recommendation ! " 

Review financial and accounting human resources ! " 

Review Committee’s charter and membership ! " 

Review and recommend year-end financial statements ! " 

Review MD&A ! " 

Review external auditors’ work, independence and fees ! " 

Recommend auditors for the ensuing year ! " 

Review Risk Management Performance " ! 

Review and reassess the adequacy of the Code of Ethics for " ! 

Financial Reporting Officers 

Review any proposed prospectus filings or similar filings 
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